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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”) contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks 
and uncertainties. Such statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors and undue reliance should 
not be placed thereon. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but rather are current expectations, estimates, 
and projections of Fidelity Private Credit Fund (the “Fund,” “we,” “us” or “our”) and/or Fidelity Diversifying Solutions LLC 
(“FDS” or the “Adviser”) about the Fund, our current and prospective portfolio investments, our industry, our beliefs and 
opinions, and our assumptions. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as 
“may,” “will,” “should,” “seek,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “project,” “estimate,” “intend,” “continue,” “target,” or “believe” or the 
negatives thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology. Due to various risks and uncertainties, actual events or 
results or the actual performance of the Fund may differ materially from those reflected or contemplated in such forward-looking 
statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors, 
some of which are beyond our control and are difficult to predict, that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements including, without limitation, the risks, uncertainties and other factors 
we identify in the section entitled “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report and in our filings with the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).  

Although we believe that the assumptions on which these forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, any of those 
assumptions could prove to be inaccurate, and as a result, the forward-looking statements based on those assumptions also could 
be inaccurate. In light of these and other uncertainties, the inclusion of a projection or forward-looking statement in this Annual 
Report should not be regarded as a representation by us that our plans and objectives will be achieved. These risks and 
uncertainties include those described or identified in the section entitled “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual 
Report. Investors should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date of this 
Annual Report. We do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements or any other information 
contained herein, except as required by applicable law. 

The following factors are among those that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted 
in the forward-looking statements:

• our future operating results;

• our business prospects and the prospects of our portfolio companies;

• our ability to raise capital;

• geo-political conditions, including revolution, insurgency, terrorism or war, including those arising out of the ongoing 
conflict in Ukraine and Israel;

• the ability of our portfolio companies to achieve their objectives;

• our current and expected financing arrangements and investments;

• changes in the general interest rate environment;

• the adequacy of our cash resources, financing sources and working capital;

• the timing and amount of cash flows, distributions and dividends, if any, from our portfolio companies;

• our contractual arrangements and relationships with third parties;

• actual and potential conflicts of interest with the Adviser and its affiliates;

• the elevating levels of inflation, and its impact on our portfolio companies and on the industries in which we invest;

• the dependence of our future success on the general economy and its effect on the industries in which we may invest;

• the use of borrowed money to finance a portion of our investments;

• the ability of the Adviser to identify suitable investments and to monitor and administer our investments;

• the ability of the Adviser and its affiliates to attract and retain highly talented professionals;

• our ability to maintain our qualification as a regulated investment company (“RIC”) and as a business development 
company (“BDC”) under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended;

• the impact on our business of U.S. and international financial reform legislation, rules and regulations;
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• the effect of changes in tax laws and regulations and interpretations thereof; and

• the tax status of the enterprises in which we may invest.

You are advised to consult any additional disclosures that we make directly to you or through reports that we have filed or 
in the future file with the SEC including annual reports on Form 10-K, registration statements on Form N-2, quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K. This Annual Report contains statistics and other data that have been obtained from 
or compiled from information made available by third-party service providers. We have not independently verified such statistics 
or data. The safe harbor provisions of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), 
which preclude civil liability for certain forward-looking statements, do not apply to the forward-looking statements in this 
Annual Report because we are an investment company.

Risk Factor Summary

The following is only a summary of the principal risks that may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows. The following should be read in conjunction with the more complete discussion of the risk 
factors we face, which are set forth in the section entitled “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this Annual Report.

Risks Relating to an Investment in the Fund

• We are a relatively new company with limited operating history and the Adviser and the portfolio managers have 
limited prior experience managing a BDC.

• An investment in the Fund is suitable only for certain sophisticated investors that have no need for immediate liquidity 
in respect of their investment and who can accept the risks associated with investing in illiquid investments. 

• The Fund is managed exclusively by the Adviser and Fund investors should expect to rely solely on the ability of the 
Adviser with respect to the Fund’s operations. 

• The Fund may seek to obtain indebtedness on an investment-by-investment basis, and leverage may not be available or 
may be available on less desirable terms in connection with particular investments. 

• The greater the total leverage of the Fund relative to its assets, the greater the risk of loss and possibility of gain due to 
changes in the values of its investments. 

• Fair value pricing is based on subjective judgments, and it is possible that fair value of a security may differ materially 
from the value that would be realized if the security were sold. 

• When conducting due diligence and making an assessment regarding a potential investment, the due diligence process 
may at times rely on limited or incomplete information. 

• To prevent portfolio managers of the Fund from receiving material, non-public information that may prevent them 
from being able to trade in investments in other accounts the portfolio managers manage, portfolio management 
personnel may be subject to information barriers and prevented from accessing certain information regarding Fund 
investments to which investors are otherwise entitled. 

• The Fund may be exposed to losses resulting from default and foreclosure of any such loans or interests in loans in 
which it has invested. 

• The Fund’s Board of Trustees has the authority to modify or waive certain of the Fund’s operating policies and 
strategies without prior notice and without investor approval, the effects of which may be adverse to the Fund’s 
business and impact its ability to make distributions. 

• The Fund cannot guarantee that it will achieve investment results that will allow it to make a specified level of cash 
distributions or year-to-year increases in cash distributions. 

• Widespread disease, pandemics and epidemics, and natural or environmental disasters have been and can be highly 
disruptive to economies and markets and may have a materially adverse impact on the Fund’s financial condition and 
results of operations. 

Risks Relating to the Fund’s Investments

• We generally will not control our portfolio companies and our investments in prospective portfolio companies may be 
risky.
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• Portfolio companies may be highly leveraged, and there is no restriction on the amount of debt a portfolio company can 
incur. 

• Of paramount concern in originating loans is the possibility of material misrepresentation or omission on the part of 
borrowers or guarantors.  

• We will be exposed to risks associated with changes in interest rates.

• Economic recessions or downturns could impair our portfolio companies and adversely affect our operating results.

Risks Relating to Certain Regulatory and Tax Matters

• If the Fund does not maintain its status as a BDC, the Fund would be subject to substantially more regulatory 
restrictions under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended which would significantly decrease its operating 
flexibility. 

• Any new or changed U.S. federal, state, and local laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on the 
Fund’s business. 

• The inability of the Fund or the Adviser to obtain necessary licenses or authorizations, the structuring of an investment 
in an inefficient or otherwise disadvantageous manger, or changes in licensing requirements, could adversely affect the 
Fund’s ability to implement its investment program and achieve its intended results. 

• Any significant changes in governmental policies could have a material adverse impact on the Fund and its 
investments. 

• Under certain circumstances it would be possible for the Fund to obtain a controlling interest in certain portfolio 
companies, thus, the Fund could be treated as a single employer with one or more of its portfolio companies for 
purposes of controlled group rules under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. 

• If we do not qualify for or maintain RIC tax treatment and are subject to corporate income tax, the resulting corporate 
taxes could substantially reduce our net assets, the amount of income available for distribution and the amount of our 
distributions. 

• The Fund expects to invest in debt securities that are rated below investment grade or that would be rated below 
investment grade if they were rated, which may present special tax issues. 

Website Disclosure

We use our website (fidcredit.com) as a channel of distribution of Fund information. The information we post through this 
channel may be deemed material. Accordingly, investors should monitor this channel, in addition to following our press releases 
and SEC filings. The contents of our website are not, however, a part of this Annual Report.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

Our Company

Fidelity Private Credit Fund (the “Fund,” “we,” “us” or “our”) is a Delaware statutory trust that was formed on March 23, 
2022. The Fund operates as a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company that has elected to be regulated as a 
business development company (“BDC”) under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”).  The Fund is 
externally managed by Fidelity Diversifying Solutions LLC (“FDS” or the “Adviser”), which is registered as an investment 
adviser with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and an affiliate of FMR LLC (“FMR”) and its 
subsidiaries. The Fund intends to elect to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and intends to qualify annually, as a 
regulated investment company (“RIC”) as defined under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”).

The Fund’s investment objectives are to generate current income and, to a lesser extent, long-term capital appreciation. The 
Fund will achieve these objectives primarily through directly originated loans to private companies but also with liquid credit 
investments, like broadly syndicated loans, and other select Private Credit (as defined below) investments. The Fund will 
generally seek to invest in loans that carry variable (i.e., “floating”) interest rates. The majority of the Fund’s investments will be 
loans targeted at private U.S. operating companies whose securities are not listed on a national securities exchange or registered 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and public U.S. operating companies having a 
market capitalization of less than $250,000,000 (“Portfolio Investments”). The Fund may also invest to a lesser degree in non-
U.S. companies. Specific investments may include: (a) directly originated first lien loans, senior secured revolving lines of credit, 
term loans and delayed draw term loans, (b) directly originated second lien, last out senior, secured or unsecured mezzanine term 
loans and delayed draw term loans, (c) club deals (investments generally comprised of a small group of lenders), and broadly 
syndicated leveraged loans (investments generally arranged or underwritten by investment banks or other intermediaries), and (d) 
other debt (collectively referred to as “Private Credit”). The Fund may also invest to a lesser degree in equity linked instruments 
(may include debt with warrants, preferred equity investments, or equity co-investments). The Adviser and/or its affiliates may 
lead and structure the transaction as sole-lender, as the agent of a club credit facility (a group of similar direct lenders that invest 
in the same tranches), or may participate as a non-agent investor in a large club or syndicated transactions. 

Most of the debt instruments the Fund invests in will be unrated or rated below investment grade, which is often an 
indication of size, credit worthiness and speculative nature relative to the capacity of the borrower to pay interest and principal. 
Generally, if the Fund unrated investments were rated, they would be rated below investment grade.

Under normal circumstances, the Fund will invest at least 80% of its total assets in Private Credit. The Fund will also invest 
at least 70% of its total assets in investments that meet regulatory requirements of the BDC structure, which will generally include 
investments in companies that are generally private and may be backed by private equity sponsors (each, a “Sponsor” and 
collectively, “Sponsors”) but may also include investments in small capitalization public companies or companies that are backed 
by a non-private equity sponsor ownership group.

The Fund will borrow money for investment and cash management purposes. In determining whether to borrow money, the 
Fund will analyze the financial flexibility, maturity, covenant package and rate structure of the proposed borrowings as well as 
the risks of such borrowings compared to the Fund’s investment outlook.

The Fund is offering on a continuous basis up to $1,000,000,000 of our common shares of beneficial interest (the 
“Common Shares”) (the “Offering”). The Fund expects to offer to sell any combination of three classes of Common Shares, Class 
S shares, Class D shares and Class I shares, with a dollar value up to the maximum offering amount. The share classes have 
different ongoing shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees. The purchase price per share for each class of Common Shares 
equals our net asset value (“NAV”) per share, as of the effective date of the monthly share purchase date. Fidelity Distributors 
Company LLC, the managing dealer (the “Managing Dealer”) for this Offering, will use its best efforts to sell shares, but is not 
obligated to purchase or sell any specific amount of shares in this Offering.

The Fund has no fixed term, and it will remain in existence until dissolved in accordance with the Declaration of Trust or 
pursuant to Delaware law. The Fund intends to operate as a non-exchange traded, perpetual-life BDC, which is a BDC whose 
Common Shares are not listed for trading on a stock exchange or other securities market. The Fund uses the term “perpetual-life 
BDC” to describe an investment vehicle of indefinite duration whose Common Shares are intended to be sold by the Fund on a 
continuous basis at a price generally equal to the Fund’s NAV per Share.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Fund may, at any time, determine to pursue a sale of all or substantially all of the 
Fund’s assets to, a purchase of all or substantially all of the assets of, or other liquidity event with, another entity or a transaction 
or series of transactions, including by way of merger, consolidation, recapitalization, reorganization, or sale of Common Shares in 
each case for consideration of either cash and/or publicly listed securities of the acquirer, in each case subject to any required 
approvals and any applicable requirements of the 1940 Act. Potential acquirers could include other BDCs and entities that are not 
BDCs, in each case, that are advised by the Adviser or its affiliates or by unaffiliated third-parties. The Fund is not a subsidiary of 
or consolidated with the Fidelity organization (“Fidelity Investments” or “Fidelity”).

On September 16, 2022, an affiliate of the Adviser purchased 80 shares of the Fund’s Class I Common Shares at $25.00 per 
share. On March 13, 2023, an affiliate of the Adviser purchased 1,280,002 shares of the Fund’s Class I Common Shares at $25.00 
per share.

As of March 13, 2023, the Fund satisfied the minimum offering requirement, and the Fund’s Board of Trustees (the 
"Board") authorized the release of proceeds from escrow. On March 13, 2023, the Fund issued and sold 4,084,292 shares 
(consisting of 4,084,292 Class I shares; no Class S or D shares were issued or sold as of such date), and the escrow agent released 
net proceeds of approximately $102 million to the Fund as payment for such shares.

On November 1, 2023, an affiliate of the Adviser purchased 391 shares, respectively of the Fund’s Class S and Class D 
Common Shares at $25.54 per share.

As of December 31, 2023, the Fund had 15,723,605, 395, and 395, respectively, of Class I, Class S, and Class D Common 
Shares outstanding.

The Adviser and the Administrator 

The Fund’s investment activities are managed by the Adviser. The Adviser is responsible for sourcing potential 
investments, conducting due diligence on prospective investments, analyzing investment opportunities, determining the value of 
Fund investments, structuring investments and monitoring our portfolio on an ongoing basis.

FDS, in its capacity as our Administrator (the “Administrator”), provides, or oversees the performance of, administrative 
and compliance services.

FDS is a registered investment adviser under the Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the “Advisers Act”), and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of FMR. FDS is also registered with the Commodities Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) under the 
Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended, as a commodity pool operator and a commodity trading advisor, and is a 
member of the National Futures Association. FDS leverages the resources of the entire Fidelity organization in managing the 
Fund.

FMR, as successor by merger to FMR Corp., is the ultimate parent company of FDS. The voting common shares of FMR 
are divided into two series. Series B is held predominantly by members of the Johnson family, including Abigail P. Johnson, 
directly or through trusts, and is entitled to 49% of the vote on any matter acted upon by the voting common shares. Series A is 
held predominantly by non-Johnson family member employees of FMR and its affiliates and is entitled to 51% of the vote on any 
such matter. The Johnson family group and all other Series B shareholders have entered into a shareholders’ voting agreement 
under which all Series B shares will be voted in accordance with the majority vote of Series B shares. Under the 1940 Act, control 
of a company is presumed where one individual or group of individuals owns more than 25% of the voting securities of that 
company. Therefore, through their ownership of voting common shares and the execution of the shareholders’ voting agreement, 
members of the Johnson family may be deemed, under the 1940 Act, to form a controlling group with respect to FMR.

At present, the primary business activities of FMR and its subsidiaries are: (i) the provision of investment advisory, 
management, shareholder, investment information and assistance and certain fiduciary services for individual and institutional 
investors; (ii) the provision of securities brokerage services; (iii) the management and development of real estate; and (iv) the 
investment in and operation of a number of emerging businesses.
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The Management Team 

Founded in 1946, Fidelity has been known for its professional money management and comprehensive client services. 
Fidelity is one of the world’s largest providers of financial services with assets under administration of $12.6 trillion, including 
managed assets of $4.9 trillion as of December 31, 2023. The portfolio management team has extensive experience in middle 
market lending and has sourced, underwritten and/or managed diverse credit and lending teams in a variety of market 
environments from the nascent cash flow lending markets of the early 2000’s, through the great financial crisis of 2007 to 2009 
(the “Great Financial Crisis”), during the recovery and growth of the 2010’s, and during the recent pandemic related disruptions. 
The Adviser emphasizes a consistent and disciplined underwriting process which is the foundation for its approach to portfolio 
construction. Leveraging proprietary research insights and performing granular credit and loan to value analysis for each 
investment are core tenets of the Adviser’s credit philosophy. Focusing on capital preservation and minimizing volatility, the 
Adviser seeks to employ the same underwriting, due diligence and the Adviser’s Direct Lending Investment Committee (“Direct 
Lending Investment Committee”) approval process for every investment. The Adviser believes that Fidelity’s history and scale, 
combined with the portfolio management team’s experience and strategy enable it to compete across the credit spectrum in the 
middle market. See “Conflicts of Interest - Relationship among the Fund, the Adviser and the Portfolio Managers” for more 
information about risks related to investing with an affiliate adviser. The Adviser’s specific areas of differentiation that drive its 
competitive advantages are below: 

• Fidelity’s multi-decade history and substantial scale in the credit markets: Fidelity has operated through the last 
twelve recessions, numerous crises, expansions and contractions during its 75-year history. Active in the credit markets 
since 1971, Fidelity has over $704 billion of credit investments fixed income assets under management as of 
December 31, 2023. Fidelity also offered its first high yield bond fund in 1977 and was the first mutual fund company 
to offer an open-ended fund focused on leverage loans in 2000. 

• Dedicated team of seasoned middle market credit investors: The portfolio management team is comprised of 
professionals that have spent their entire careers in middle market lending. The portfolio managers average more than 
20 years of experience, and the portfolio management team’s capabilities include sourcing, underwriting and executing 
on middle market loans, and most importantly, actively managing credit portfolios through multiple cycles. This 
includes experience managing companies during periods of growth and distress including restructurings and 
bankruptcies, providing valuable foresight as the Direct Lending Investment Committee evaluates and approves new 
opportunities. The Adviser maintains in-depth oversight throughout the investment process and instills the culture of 
intense focus on capital preservation and hands-on portfolio management with a focus on proper risk mitigation 
throughout the life of an investment. 

• Ability to operate at scale across the entire lending landscape: The Adviser seeks to offer compelling financing 
solutions for creditworthy issuers regardless of company size. This increases the opportunity set for the Fund and 
promotes the Adviser’s selective investment approach, while providing reliable financing to companies as they scale. 
The Adviser’s ability to offer attractive financing proposals for small to mid-market businesses as well as upper middle 
market companies also deepens the relationship with Sponsors, a source of investment opportunities for the Adviser. 
The Adviser intends to target issuers that the Adviser considers to be high quality regardless of size and provide 
financing structures that afford attractive risk adjusted returns for the Fund. 

• Access to proprietary credit and equity research platform creates efficient and differentiated diligence: As part 
of Fidelity, the Adviser has access to FMR’s extensive research platform that allows the Adviser to make more 
informed and efficient investment decisions. FMR has over 350 research professionals in North America, Europe and 
Asia that cover equities, fixed income and high yield markets. As part of the due diligence and underwriting process 
for each potential investment, the Adviser intends to review and analyze relevant FMR industry research and engage 
directly with the industry analysts. Using the proprietary insights, the Adviser expects to improve portfolio 
construction and risk mitigation, allowing it to potentially (i) gain conviction on investments or (ii) avoid investments 
that have subtle industry headwinds or competitive pressures, that might otherwise appear attractive. In addition to the 
portfolio management team’s independent industry analysis and broad experience lending to middle market businesses, 
the Adviser’s access to proprietary Fidelity research differentiates the platform and, we believe, translates into more 
efficient and informed decision making. 
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• Disciplined, consistent underwriting process with risk adjusted approach: The Adviser employs a consistent and 
rigorous due diligence and underwriting process to assess each investment. Investments are reviewed in deal team 
structures where all investment professionals have overlapping responsibilities which is expected to improve process 
oversight and risk mitigation. The Adviser’s philosophy and investment approach has been informed by the portfolio 
management team’s extensive experience lending to middle market companies and utilizes a bottoms-up credit 
approach, with the primary focus being return of capital. For each potential investment, the Adviser will actively 
engage with company management and ownership and complete detailed credit and valuation analysis. While the 
Adviser will independently determine an investment thesis and identify key risks, the Adviser also benefits from 
significant third-party diligence commissioned for the majority of investments. Credit and valuation analysis are 
synthesized by the Adviser to determine the appropriate leverage and return profile, to ensure there is sufficient 
downside protection and risk is properly rewarded. Investments will be formally presented to the Adviser’s Direct 
Lending Investment Committee twice at a minimum before final approval to invest is granted. 

• Access to expert diligence professionals: The Adviser may independently commission third-party legal, 
environmental, insurance, industry, background check and financial diligence on investments where necessary. For 
every investment, the Adviser may engage its own independent legal counsel to perform legal due diligence, review 
and comment on loan documents and structures on the Adviser’s behalf. The Adviser also will typically engage with 
Fidelity analysts regarding industry diligence for each investment and utilize consultants for additional industry 
insights as needed. The Adviser may engage environmental consultants to review any environmental diligence 
performed to provide insight into the risk exposure and ultimate liability. When acting as agent, the Adviser and/or its 
affiliates will typically engage insurance consultants to assess the borrower’s insurance policies and if they are 
sufficient given the debt being provided and the borrower’s operations, and to confirm the endorsements and insurance 
certificates properly reflect the liens and position as a lender. The Adviser may engage internal due diligence 
counterparts to screen and perform background checks on the borrower’s legal entities, and the key management team 
members. The Adviser may also engage a third party financial due diligence provider to perform a quality of earnings 
if none is available from a private equity sponsor or the Adviser determines that an outside review is needed. The 
Adviser will review all available third-party diligence commissioned by the private equity sponsor.

• Diligent credit assessment process to optimize returns: Credit and valuation analysis are synthesized by the Adviser 
to determine the appropriate leverage and return profile, to ensure there is sufficient downside protection and risk is 
properly rewarded. Investments will be formally presented to the Direct Lending Investment Committee twice at a 
minimum before final approval to invest is granted. 

The Board of Trustees

Overall responsibility for the Fund’s oversight rests with the Board. We have entered into the Advisory Agreement with the 
Adviser (the “Advisory Agreement”), pursuant to which the Adviser will manage the Fund on a day-to-day basis. The Board is 
responsible for overseeing the Adviser and other service providers in our operations in accordance with the provisions of the 1940 
Act, the Fund’s bylaws and applicable provisions of state and other laws. The Adviser will keep the Board well informed as to the 
Adviser’s activities on our behalf and our investment operations and provide the Board with additional information as the Board 
may, from time to time, request. The Trustees are experienced executives who meet periodically throughout the year to oversee 
the Fund’s activities, including, among other things, the oversight of our investment activities, the valuation of our assets, review 
of contractual arrangements with companies that provide services to the Fund, oversight of our financing arrangements and 
corporate governance activities. The Board is currently composed of four members, three of whom are Trustees who are not 
“interested persons” of the Fund or the Adviser as defined in the 1940 Act. 

Market Opportunity 

The private credit market has grown tenfold since the Great Financial Crisis and is projected to grow double-digit 
percentages in the near future.  The consolidation of regional U.S. banks following the financial crisis and the enhanced 
regulations introduced by the U.S. Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), 
resulted in larger banks decreasing their willingness to issue and hold loans to middle-market companies, thus fueling the growth 
of direct lending. Direct lending is a subset of private credit that is frequently compared to public market options including 
leverage loans or broadly syndicated loans and high yield bonds. More recently, demand has been driven by key characteristics of 
the asset class summarized below.

• Large and growing market: Fidelity research estimates the U.S. private credit market is at approximately $1.7 trillion 
(AUM) and finances mergers and acquisitions, recapitalization and refinance activity for the 200,000 middle market 
businesses that operate in the U.S. according to the National Center for the Middle Market. Private equity investing 
activity drives a significant portion of this volume.
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• The private credit market has expanded into areas traditionally served by the leverage loan and high yield markets:  
According to LCD and ICE BAML, from 2003 to 2023, the share of leverage loans with an issue size below 
$500,000,000 has declined from 51% to 7%, and similarly from 2003 to 2023, the share of high yield loans with an 
issue size below $500 million has declined from 68% to 15%. In both cases, direct lending is now regularly filling this 
gap for loans up to $500,000,000 and larger. 

• Floating rate debt that provides a hedge against rising rates: The majority of direct lending investments are floating rate 
instruments so over time returns increase as interest rates rise.

• Predominantly senior secured positions that sit at the top of the capital structure: Direct lending investments offer 
enhanced collateral and covenant protections compared to the leveraged loans and high yield market that contribute to 
lower historical loss rates.

• Direct access to the Sponsors and ownership groups improves information flow: For direct lending investments, the 
sourcing and due diligence ties directly to the Sponsor or ownership group, so lenders have efficient access to 
information (frequently monthly financials vs. quarterly), can complete comprehensive and high-quality diligence, and 
develop bespoke financing solutions that better serve the needs of the middle-market companies.  

The foregoing information is with respect to past performance of certain markets and indices, only, and does not reflect the 
actual or expected performance of the Fund. There can be no guarantee that the Fund will achieve results resembling these 
metrics or that market circumstances in the future will be comparable.

Investment Strategy 

The Adviser’s investment strategy is credit driven with a focus on capital preservation. The Adviser seeks to employ a 
rigorous and consistent due diligence process when assessing each individual issuer. The Adviser intends to evaluate each issuers’ 
ownership and management team, business model, competitive differentiation, historical and projected financial performance, 
cost structure, key customers and key suppliers, and position within its industry.

The Adviser will utilize its expertise sourcing and investing in loans to private businesses while leveraging the proprietary 
industry research of the broader Fidelity platform when constructing the Fund’s portfolio. Quantitative and qualitative factors will 
drive each investment decision to seek to achieve the Fund’s stated investment objective. The Fund intends to invest across 
issuers, industries, geographies, and Sponsors or ownership groups.

The majority of the Fund’s investments will be loans targeted at private U.S. operating companies whose securities are not 
listed on a national securities exchange or registered under the Exchange Act, and public U.S. operating companies having a 
market capitalization of less than $250,000,000 (“Portfolio Investments”). The Fund may also invest to a lesser degree in non-
U.S. companies. Specific investments may include: (a) directly originated first lien loans, senior secured revolving lines of credit, 
term loans and delayed draw term loans, (b) directly originated second lien, last out senior, secured or unsecured mezzanine term 
loans and delayed draw term loans, (c) club deals (investments generally comprised of a small group of lenders), and broadly 
syndicated leveraged loans (investments generally arranged or underwritten by investment banks or other intermediaries), and (d) 
other debt (collectively referred to as “Private Credit”). We may also invest to a lesser degree in equity linked instruments (may 
include debt with warrants, preferred equity investments, or equity co-investments). The Adviser may lead and structure the 
transaction as sole-lender, as the agent of a club credit facility (a group of similar direct lenders that invest in the same tranches), 
or may participate as a non-agent investor in a large club or syndicated transactions.

Under normal circumstances, the Fund will invest at least 80% of its total assets in Private Credit. If the Fund changes its 
80% test, the Fund will provide shareholders with at least 60 days’ prior notice of such change. The Fund will also invest at least 
70% of its total assets in investments that meet regulatory requirements of the BDC structure, which will generally include 
investments in companies that are generally private and may be backed by a Sponsor but may also include investments in small 
capitalization public companies or companies that are Non-Sponsor. The Adviser will directly originate credit opportunities from 
a large universe of Sponsors, intermediaries and other direct lenders, as well as internal Fidelity resources.

Targeted borrowers will operate within a wide range of industries. Leveraging Fidelity’s proprietary industry research and 
the Adviser’s expertise, the Fund will primarily invest in industries where the Adviser’s portfolio management team has deep 
experience with similarly situated companies. The Adviser will target investments structured as first lien senior secured and 
unitranche credit facilities, while also taking advantage of opportunistic investments in other parts of the capital structure, 
including last out loans, second lien loans, mezzanine and other junior debt loans, as well as equity investments.
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The Fund may enter into hedging transactions, which may utilize instruments such as forward contracts, currency options 
and interest rate swaps, collars and floors to seek to hedge against fluctuations in the relative values of the Fund’s portfolio 
positions from changes in currency exchange rates and market interest rates. The Fund may also receive or purchase warrants or 
rights.

Most of the investments that the Fund intends to invest in are unrated or rated below investment grade (rated lower than 
“Baa3” by Moody’s Investor Service, Inc. or lower than “BBB-” by S&P Global Ratings), which are often referred to as 
“leveraged loans,” “high yield” or “junk” debt investments and may be considered “high risk” or speculative compared to debt 
investments that are rated investment grade. Such issuers are considered more likely than investment grade issuers to default on 
their payments of interest and principal, and such risk of default could reduce the Fund’s net asset value and income distributions 
to shareholders. They may also be illiquid and difficult to value.

The Adviser will seek collateral packages in connection with the Fund’s secured investments that include liens on the 
borrower’s assets and a pledge of the borrower’s stock. In addition, the Adviser expects to seek investment structures that include 
covenant packages that measure the borrower’s key performance metrics but will also be permitted to invest in loans that would 
not include maintenance covenants. Loans will usually have stated terms of five to seven years, but the expected average life of 
such securities is usually between three to four years and may contain scheduled amortization payments and/or mandatory excess 
cash flow payments to reduce exposure and risk over the life of the investment.

The Fund will generally seek to invest in loans that carry variable (i.e., “floating”) interest rates. In addition to the cash 
yields received on its loans from principal and interest payments, the Fund will seek to invest in loans that generally pay 
additional fees, including but not limited to, closing fees, arrangement fees, prepayment premiums, or amendment fees. In certain 
cases, loan investments will have equity enhancement features, which may be in the form of warrants or other equity-related 
securities that are designed to provide the opportunity for capital appreciation.

To seek to enhance returns, the Fund intends to employ leverage as market conditions permit and at the discretion of the 
Adviser, but in no event will leverage employed exceed the limitations set forth in the 1940 Act, which currently allows the Fund 
to borrow up to a 2x debt to equity ratio.

The Fund will borrow money for investment and cash management purposes. In determining whether to borrow money, the 
Fund will analyze the financial flexibility, maturity, covenant package and rate structure of the proposed borrowings as well as 
the risks of such borrowings compared to the Fund’s investment outlook. The use of borrowed funds to make investments would 
have its own specific set of benefits and risks, and all of the costs of borrowing funds would be borne by the shareholders 
indirectly through their interests in the Fund.

Because the Fund is classified as non-diversified, the Adviser may invest a significant percentage of the Fund’s assets in a 
single issuer.

The Fund’s investments are subject to a number of risks. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Cash Management

The Fund may hold uninvested cash or may invest it in cash equivalents such as money market securities, repurchase 
agreements, or shares of short-term bond or money market funds, including shares of Fidelity® Central funds. Generally, these 
securities offer less potential for gains than other types of securities.

Central Funds

In addition to cash management, the Fund may hold Central funds to gain exposure to certain fixed income securities. 
Central funds are special types of investment vehicles created by Fidelity for use by the Fidelity® funds and other advisory clients. 
Central funds are used to invest in particular security types or investment disciplines, or for cash management. Central funds incur 
certain costs related to their investment activity (such as custodial fees and expenses), but generally do not pay additional 
management fees. The investment results of the portions of a Fidelity® fund’s assets invested in the Central funds will be based 
upon the investment results of those funds.
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Investment Selection 

One of the critical success factors in private credit is access to a deep pipeline of investment opportunities. Based on the 
portfolio management team’s extensive experience, the Adviser intends to employ a multi-faceted approach to sourcing 
transactions through a large network of private equity firms, intermediaries, as well as other direct lending firms. The Adviser 
believes that Fidelity’s scale and track record in the liquid markets, combined with the portfolio management team’s long tenure 
in direct lending, will provide unique and rich access to high credit quality investment opportunities. 

Private equity acquisition activity drives a substantial amount of private credit volume in the middle-market, and Fidelity 
has longstanding relationships with a diverse set of Sponsors that invest across a broad set of industries, geographies and business 
models. The Adviser expects to enhance these relationships and bolster its sourcing efforts with its differentiated and efficient 
credit review process that is honed by a team of experienced credit professionals. 

Lastly, Fidelity’s existing relationships with liquid issuers, some of which are owned by the same mix of Sponsors, and size 
in the liquid markets, provide the Adviser with differentiated investment opportunities. The Adviser can leverage these 
relationships to provide value-added capabilities and better execution on loans in the liquid markets, which can translate into a 
more robust pipeline of private credit investment opportunities for the Fund. 

The Adviser seeks to employ a disciplined and rigorous process for all credit investments, which includes the following key 
features: 

• Underwriting the borrower: Performing detailed credit and valuation analysis; analyzing historical trends and business 
drivers; assessing management; and developing a deep understanding of the business operations and cost structure. 

• Analyzing the industry: Leveraging Fidelity’s broad research and analysts’ platform and Sponsor provided third party 
industry studies (when available) to uncover macro and micro industry forces; understanding the competitive dynamics 
and market forces; validating the growth and outlook; and assessing public and private competitors. 

• Underwriting the Sponsor or ownership group: Evaluating investment performance; understanding track record and 
willingness to invest follow-on capital in times of stress; assessing available dry powder, due diligence quality and 
relevant sector expertise. 

• Confirming investment thesis: Validating the sustainability of competitive advantages, revenues and margins; 
confirming diversity of products, customers, services, suppliers and institutionalized value. 

• Evaluating the credit structure: Analyzing ability to repay debt; performing loan-to-value analysis and downside case 
scenarios; and evaluating appropriate risk and reward for a proposed investment. 

During the credit underwriting process, the deal team will compile and present diligence findings to the Adviser’s Direct 
Lending Investment Committee at least once before issuing a term sheet and a second time before closing. The Adviser’s focus is 
on downside protection so the deal team and Direct Lending Investment Committee are expected to spend substantial time 
understanding and validating various downside scenarios, exit options, and structural protections in every investment seeking to 
ensure adequate cushion. 

Following the closing of an investment, one or several members of the deal team that originated the loan on behalf of the 
Fund are expected to manage the portfolio moving forward. As part of the portfolio management process, the investment 
professional seeks to assess liquidity needs daily or weekly, evaluate financial performance on a monthly basis for the majority of 
accounts (a minority may only report quarterly), scrutinize financial covenant calculations on a quarterly basis (if applicable) and 
maintain frequent dialogue with the company management and Sponsor regarding company performance, strategic initiatives, 
acquisitions or other business items. 

Portfolio Monitoring and Risk Management 

The Adviser has a strong culture focused on risk management, with significant dedicated resources committed to that effort. 
The Adviser firmly believes that one of the most powerful risk management tools occurs at the individual investment level. The 
regular monitoring of a portfolio’s investments seeks to ensure that the risk/return ratio has not become unfavorable to help avoid 
unnecessary capital losses, and the Adviser believes it is a key component to positive long-term performance. Frequent 
monitoring and oversight are conducted by the portfolio managers to ensure that each position is still an attractive investment. At 
the portfolio level, the portfolio managers ensure that the overall risk profile, diversification, and positioning is consistent with the 
Fund’s objectives. There is also considerable executive oversight with regular, systematic portfolio reviews with senior 
management. 
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Systems and technology play a critical role in portfolio monitoring and risk management. The Adviser’s proprietary 
systems enable research professionals to get real-time access to risk measures and exposures across multiple dimensions, among 
other things. Compliance modules are also systematically linked to the trading platform as another mechanism to minimize risk. 

Risk management efforts are further bolstered by various additional teams of resources. For example, a dedicated 
compliance team monitors all portfolios and investment professionals; a dedicated counterparty risk team monitors all trading and 
business counterparties; and a dedicated legal team is able to support the Adviser across a variety of legal questions. 

Direct Lending Investment Committee 

The investment activities of the Fund are under the direction of the Direct Lending Investment Committee and the Board. 
The Direct Lending Investment Committee is currently comprised of the Fund’s three portfolio managers: David Gaito, Therese 
Icuss and Jeffrey Scott. Additionally, the President of Fidelity Investments’ High Income and Alternatives Group (the “High 
Income and Alternatives Group”), and the Chief Investment Officer of the High Income and Alternatives Group meet with the 
Direct Lending Investment Committee frequently to discuss the pipeline of opportunities and they have the authority to decline 
any opportunity at any point at their discretion. The day-to-day activities of the Fund are overseen by the Fund’s portfolio 
managers, each of whom is an officer or employee of the Adviser or its affiliate.

Allocation of Investment Opportunities 

General 

The Adviser and its affiliates provide investment management services to registered investment companies, investment 
funds, client accounts and proprietary accounts that may be established from time to time. 

The Adviser will share any investment and sale opportunities with its other clients and the Fund in accordance with the 
Advisers Act and firm-wide allocation policies. Subject to the Advisers Act and as further set forth in this Form 10-K, certain 
other clients may receive certain priority or other allocation rights with respect to certain investments, subject to various 
conditions set forth in such other clients’ respective governing agreements. 

The Adviser’s policies will seek to ensure the equitable allocation of such investment opportunities among us and other 
clients over time. In cases where an investment may potentially be appropriate for several clients, the Adviser makes a 
determination of the appropriateness of the investment opportunity for a particular client and allocates an investment opportunity 
among eligible clients based on a variety of factors related to each such client the Adviser deems relevant (including, without 
limitation, the client’s investment objectives and focus, available capital, the client’s existing portfolio, portfolio company 
restrictions, targeted rate of return, minimum and maximum investment size requirements, transaction structure, cash flow 
considerations, risk considerations, tax implications, criteria established by the Board (“Board-Established Criteria”) (if any), 
legal and regulatory requirements, whether a related investment opportunity has already been made available to the client, 
investment limitations and other factors). In cases where an investment opportunity is being evaluated on behalf of, and may be 
appropriate for, both us and another client and falls outside of the allocation methodology, the Adviser will generally consult with 
an allocation, conflicts or similar internal committee or sub-committee to decide on an appropriate allocation of a particular 
investment opportunity as between us and such other client, which may take into account, among other things, the factors 
discussed above. 

In addition, as a BDC regulated under the 1940 Act, the Fund is subject to certain limitations relating to co-investments and 
joint transactions with affiliates, which are likely in certain circumstances to limit the Fund’s ability to make investments or enter 
into other transactions alongside other clients. 
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Trade Aggregation and Allocation 

Allocation of investment instruments that are traded by FMR’s High Income, Fixed Income or Equity trading desks are 
governed by the respective trade allocation policies reasonably designed to seek to ensure that clients are not disadvantaged in the 
aggregation and allocation of securities over time. To the extent a particular investment in a liquid credit instrument (e.g., broadly 
syndicated loan), is suitable for both us and other clients, it is the practice of the Adviser, when appropriate, to bunch orders of 
various accounts, including those of us and the other clients and, in certain instances, proprietary accounts of the Adviser or its 
affiliates, for order entry and execution. Bunched orders may be executed through one or more broker-dealers. The allotment of 
trades among brokers is based on a variety of factors, which may include price, order size, the time of order, the security and 
market activity. A bunched trade executed with a particular broker is generally allocated pro rata among the accounts that are 
participating in the bunched trade until any account has been filled, after which the trade is allocated pro rata among the 
remaining accounts. Each broker’s execution of a bunched order may be at a price different from another broker’s bunched order 
execution price for the same security. Simultaneous portfolio transactions for us and one or more other clients may decrease the 
prices received and increase the prices required to be paid by us for sales and purchases. 

The Adviser and its affiliates that execute trades on behalf of us and other clients have established allocation policies for 
their various accounts (including proprietary accounts) and securities types (e.g., equity, fixed income, and high income) to 
ensure allocations are appropriate given the clients’ differing investment objectives and other considerations. These policies also 
apply to initial and secondary offerings. When, in the opinion of the executing party, the supply or demand is insufficient under 
the circumstances to satisfy all outstanding trade orders, across all securities types the amount executed generally is distributed 
among participating accounts based on account asset size (for purchases), and security position size (for sales), or otherwise 
according to the allocation policies. With limited exceptions, the trading systems contain rules that allocate trades on an 
automated basis in accordance with these policies. Generally, any exceptions to these policies (i.e., special allocations) must be 
approved by senior trading and compliance personnel and documented. 

Co-Investment Relief 

We and the Adviser have received an exemptive order from the SEC that permits us, among other things, to co-invest with 
certain other persons in negotiated transactions, including certain affiliates of the Adviser and certain funds managed and 
controlled by the Adviser and its affiliates, subject to certain terms and conditions. Pursuant to such order, the Fund’s Board may 
establish Board-Established Criteria clearly defining co-investment opportunities in which the Fund will have the opportunity to 
participate with other public or private affiliated funds that target similar assets. If an investment falls within the Board-
Established Criteria, the Adviser must offer an opportunity for the Fund to participate. We may determine to participate or not to 
participate, depending on whether the Adviser determines that the investment is appropriate for the Fund (e.g., based on 
investment strategy). The co-investment would generally be allocated to us and the other affiliated funds that target similar assets 
in accordance with allocation policies and procedures described above. If the Adviser determines that such investment is not 
appropriate for us, the investment will not be allocated to us, but the Adviser will be required to report such investment and the 
rationale for its determination for us to not participate in the investment to the Board at the next quarterly board meeting.  

Competition 

The business of investing in debt investments is highly competitive and involves a high degree of uncertainty. Market 
competition for investment opportunities includes traditional lending institutions, including commercial and investment banks, as 
well as a growing number of non-traditional participants, such as hedge funds, private equity funds, mezzanine funds, and other 
private investors, as well as BDCs, and debt-focused competitors, such as issuers of collateralized loan obligations (“CLOs”) and 
other structured loan funds. In addition, given the Fund’s target investment size and investment type, the Adviser expects a large 
number of competitors for investment opportunities. Some of these competitors may have access to greater amounts of capital and 
to capital that may be committed for longer periods of time or may have different return thresholds than the Fund, and thus these 
competitors may have advantages not shared by the Fund. In addition, competitors may have incurred, or may in the future incur, 
leverage to finance their debt investments at levels or on terms more favorable than those available to the Fund. Furthermore, 
competitors may offer loan terms that are more favorable to borrowers, such as less onerous borrower financial and other 
covenants, borrower rights to cure defaults, and other terms more favorable to borrowers than current or historical norms. Strong 
competition for investments could result in fewer investment opportunities for the Fund, as certain of these competitors have 
established or are establishing investment vehicles that target the same or similar investments that the Fund intends to purchase. 
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Over the past several years, many investment funds have been formed with investment objectives similar to those of the 
Fund, and many such existing funds have grown in size and have added larger successor funds to their platform. These and other 
investors may make competing offers for investment opportunities identified by the Adviser which may affect the Fund’s ability 
to participate in attractive investment opportunities and/or cause the Fund to incur additional risks when competing for investment 
opportunities. Moreover, identifying attractive investment opportunities is difficult and involves a high degree of uncertainty. The 
Adviser may identify an investment that presents an attractive investment opportunity but may not be able to complete such 
investment in a manner that meets the objectives of the Fund. The Fund may incur significant expenses in connection with the 
identification of investment opportunities and investigating other potential investments that are ultimately not consummated, 
including expenses related to due diligence, transportation and legal, accounting and other professional services as well as the 
fees of other third-party advisers. 

Non-Exchange Traded, Perpetual-Life BDC 

The Fund intends to operate as a non-exchange traded, perpetual-life BDC, which is a BDC whose shares are not listed for 
trading on a stock exchange or other securities market. The Fund uses the term “perpetual-life BDC” to describe an investment 
vehicle of indefinite duration whose Common Shares are intended to be sold by the Fund on a continuous basis at a price 
generally equal to the Fund’s NAV per share. In our perpetual-life structure, we may, at our discretion, offer investors an 
opportunity to repurchase their shares on a quarterly basis, but we are not obligated to offer to repurchase any in any particular 
quarter. 

We believe that our perpetual nature enables us to execute a patient and opportunistic strategy and be able to invest across 
different market environments. This may reduce the risk of the Fund being a forced seller of assets in market downturns 
compared to non-perpetual funds. While we may consider a liquidity event at any time in the future, we currently do not intend to 
undertake a liquidity event, and we are not obligated by our charter or otherwise to effect a liquidity event at any time. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Fund may, at any time, determine to pursue a sale of all or substantially all of the 
Fund’s assets to, a purchase of all or substantially all of the assets of, or other liquidity event with, another entity or a transaction 
or series of transactions, including by way of merger, consolidation, recapitalization, reorganization, or sale of Common Shares in 
each case for consideration of either cash and/or publicly listed securities of the acquirer, in each case subject to any required 
approvals and any applicable requirements of the 1940 Act. Potential acquirers could include other BDCs and entities that are not 
BDCs, in each case, that are advised by the Adviser or its affiliates or by unaffiliated third-parties. The Fund is not a subsidiary of 
or consolidated with Fidelity.

The Fund reserves the right to involuntarily redeem an investor’s Shares in the case of actual or suspected threatening 
conduct or actual or suspected fraudulent, illegal or suspicious activity by the investor or any other individual associated with the 
investor’s account. Accordingly, an investor’s Shares will be sold at the NAV, minus any applicable shareholder fees, calculated 
on the day the Fund exercises its right as mentioned above. 

Emerging Growth Company 

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the “JOBS 
Act.” As an emerging growth company, we are eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting and 
disclosure requirements that are applicable to public companies that are not emerging growth companies. For so long as we 
remain an emerging growth company, we will not be required to: 

• have an auditor attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404”); 

• submit certain executive compensation matters to shareholder advisory votes pursuant to the “say on frequency” and 
“say on pay” provisions (requiring a non-binding shareholder vote to approve compensation of certain executive 
officers) and the “say on golden parachute” provisions (requiring a non-binding shareholder vote to approve golden 
parachute arrangements for certain executive officers in connection with mergers and certain other business 
combinations) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010; or 

• disclose certain executive compensation related items, such as the correlation between executive compensation and 
performance and comparisons of the chief executive officer’s compensation to median employee compensation. 
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In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company may take advantage of an extended transition period 
for complying with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies. This 
means that an emerging growth company can delay adopting certain accounting standards until such standards are otherwise 
applicable to private companies. 

We will remain an emerging growth company for up to five years, or until the earliest of: (1) the last date of the fiscal year 
during which we had total annual gross revenues of $1,235,000,000 or more; (2) the date on which we have, during the previous 
three-year period, issued more than $1,000,000,000 in non-convertible debt; or (3) the date on which we are deemed to be a 
“large accelerated filer” as defined under Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act. 

We do not believe that being an emerging growth company will have a significant impact on our business or our Offering. 
We have elected to opt in to the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards available to 
emerging growth companies. Also, because we are not a large accelerated filer or an accelerated filer under Section 12b-2 of the 
Exchange Act, and will not be for so long as our Common Shares are not traded on a securities exchange, we will not be subject 
to auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act even once we are no longer an emerging growth 
company. In addition, so long as we are externally managed by the Adviser and we do not directly compensate our executive 
officers, or reimburse the Adviser or its affiliates for the salaries, bonuses, benefits and severance payments for persons who also 
serve as one of our executive officers or as an executive officer of the Adviser, we do not expect to include disclosures relating to 
executive compensation in our periodic reports or proxy statements and, as a result, do not expect to be required to seek 
shareholder approval of executive compensation and golden parachute compensation arrangements pursuant to Section 14A(a) 
and (b) of the Exchange Act. 

Employees 

We do not currently have any employees and do not expect to have any employees. Services necessary for our business are 
provided by individuals who are employees of the Adviser or its affiliates pursuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement and 
the Administrator or its affiliates pursuant to the Administration Agreement between the Fund and the Administrator (the 
“Administration Agreement”). Each of our executive officers is employed by the Adviser or its affiliates. Our day-to-day 
investment operations will be managed by the Adviser. The services necessary for the sourcing and administration of our 
investment portfolio will be provided by investment professionals employed by the Adviser or its affiliates. The portfolio 
management team will focus on origination, non-originated investments and transaction development and the ongoing monitoring 
of our investments.

Regulation as a BDC 

The following discussion is a general summary of the material prohibitions and descriptions governing BDCs generally. It 
does not purport to be a complete description of all of the laws and regulations affecting BDCs. 

Qualifying Assets. Under the 1940 Act, a BDC may not acquire any asset other than Qualifying Assets, unless, at the time 
the acquisition is made, Qualifying Assets represent at least 70% of the Fund’s total assets. The principal categories of Qualifying 
Assets relevant to our business are any of the following: 

(1) Securities purchased in transactions not involving any public offering from the issuer of such securities, which issuer 
(subject to certain limited exceptions) is an Eligible Portfolio Company (as defined below), or from any person who is, 
or has been during the preceding 13 months, an affiliated person of an Eligible Portfolio Company, or from any other 
person, subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the SEC. An “Eligible Portfolio Company” is defined in the 1940 
Act as any issuer which: 

(a) is organized under the laws of, and has its principal place of business in, the United States; 

(b) is not an investment company (other than a small business investment company wholly owned by the BDC) or a 
company that would be an investment company but for certain exclusions under the 1940 Act; and 

(c) satisfies any of the following: 

(i) does not have any class of securities that is traded on a national securities exchange; 

(ii) has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange, but has an aggregate market value 
of outstanding voting and non-voting common equity of less than $250,000,000; 
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(iii) is controlled by a BDC or a group of companies, including a BDC and the BDC has an affiliated 
person who is a director of the Eligible Portfolio Company; or 

(iv) is a small and solvent company having total assets of not more than $4,000,000 and capital and 
surplus of not less than $2,000,000. 

(2) Securities of any Eligible Portfolio Company controlled by the Fund. 

(3) Securities purchased in a private transaction from a U.S. issuer that is not an investment company or from an affiliated 
person of the issuer, or in transactions incident thereto, if the issuer is in bankruptcy and subject to reorganization or if 
the issuer, immediately prior to the purchase of its securities was unable to meet its obligations as they came due without 
material assistance other than conventional lending or financing arrangements. 

(4) Securities of an Eligible Portfolio Company purchased from any person in a private transaction if there is no ready 
market for such securities and the Fund already owns 60% of the outstanding equity of the Eligible Portfolio Company. 

(5) Securities received in exchange for or distributed on or with respect to securities described in (1) through (4) above, or 
pursuant to the exercise of warrants or rights relating to such securities. 

(6) Cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government securities or high-quality debt securities maturing in one year or less from the 
time of investment. 

In addition, a BDC must be operated for the purpose of making investments in the types of securities described in (1), (2) or 
(3) above. 

Significant Managerial Assistance. A BDC must have been organized and have its principal place of business in the 
United States and must be operated for the purpose of making investments in the types of securities described above. However, in 
order to count portfolio securities as Qualifying Assets for the purpose of the 70% test, the BDC must either control the issuer of 
the securities or must offer to make available to the issuer of the securities (other than small and solvent companies described 
above) significant managerial assistance; except that, where the BDC purchases such securities in conjunction with one or more 
other persons acting together, one of the other persons in the group makes available such managerial assistance. Making available 
significant managerial assistance means, among other things, any arrangement whereby the BDC, through its trustees, officers, 
service providers (e.g., the Adviser) or employees, offers to provide and, if accepted, does so provide, significant guidance and 
counsel concerning the management, operations or business objectives and policies of a portfolio company through monitoring of 
portfolio company operations, selective participation in board and management meetings, consulting with and advising a portfolio 
company’s officers or other organizational or financial guidance. 

Temporary Investments. Pending investment in other types of qualifying assets (including directly originated loans and 
broadly syndicated loans, as described above), the Fund’s investments can consist of cash, cash equivalents, money market funds 
(including shares of Fidelity ® Central funds or other funds that are advised by the Adviser or its affiliates), U.S. government 
securities or high-quality debt securities maturing in one year or less from the time of investment, which are referred to herein, 
collectively, as temporary investments, so that 70% of the Fund’s assets would be qualifying assets. 

The Fund may invest in mutual funds or exchange-traded funds advised by the Adviser or its affiliates. Depending on the 
circumstances (which exclude investments in money market funds advised by the Adviser or its affiliates, from which the Adviser 
or its affiliates may retain any additional management or other fees), the Adviser will contractually waive either (1) its 
management fee payable by the Fund or (2) up to a portion of its management fee payable by the Fund in an amount equal to such 
underlying fund’s management fee rate multiplied by the Fund’s average monthly invested balance in such underlying fund for 
such month.

Warrants. Under the 1940 Act, a BDC is subject to restrictions on the issuance, terms and amount of warrants, options or 
rights to purchase shares that it may have outstanding at any time. In particular, the amount of shares that would result from the 
conversion or exercise of all outstanding warrants, options or rights to purchase shares cannot exceed 25% of the BDC’s total 
outstanding shares. 
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Leverage and Senior Securities; Coverage Ratio. We are permitted, under specified conditions, to issue multiple classes of 
indebtedness and one class of shares senior to our Common Shares if our asset coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, would at 
least equal 150% immediately after each such issuance. On September 16, 2022, our sole shareholder approved the adoption of 
this 150% threshold pursuant to Section 61(a)(2) of the 1940 Act and such election became effective the following day. As 
defined in the 1940 Act, asset coverage of 150% means that for every $100 of net assets we hold, we may raise $200 from 
borrowing and issuing senior securities. In addition, while any senior securities remain outstanding, we will be required to make 
provisions to prohibit any dividend distribution to our shareholders or the repurchase of such securities or shares unless we meet 
the applicable asset coverage ratios at the time of the dividend distribution or repurchase. We will also be permitted to borrow 
amounts up to 5% of the value of our total assets for temporary or emergency purposes, which borrowings would not be 
considered senior securities. 

We intend to establish one or more credit facilities and/or subscription facilities or enter into other financing arrangements 
to facilitate investments and the timely payment of our expenses. It is anticipated that any such credit facilities will bear interest at 
floating rates at to be determined spreads over SOFR (or other applicable reference rate). We cannot assure shareholders that we 
will be able to enter into a credit facility. Shareholders will indirectly bear the costs associated with any borrowings under a credit 
facility or otherwise. In connection with a credit facility or other borrowings, lenders may require us to pledge assets, 
commitments and/or drawdowns (and the ability to enforce the payment thereof) and may ask to comply with positive or negative 
covenants that could have an effect on our operations. In addition, from time to time, our losses on leveraged investments may 
result in the liquidation of other investments held by us and may result in additional drawdowns to repay such amounts. 

We may also create leverage by securitizing our assets (including in CLOs) and retaining the equity portion of the 
securitized vehicle. See “Risk Factors—Forming CLOs Risk.” We may also from time to time make secured loans of our 
marginable securities to brokers, dealers and other financial institutions. 

Code of Ethics. We and the Adviser have adopted a code of ethics pursuant to Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act and Rule 
204A-1 under the Advisers Act, respectively, that establishes procedures for personal investments and restricts certain personal 
securities transactions. Personnel subject to the code are permitted to invest in securities for their personal investment accounts, 
including securities that may be purchased or held by us, so long as such investments are made in accordance with the code’s 
requirements.  

Affiliated Transactions. We may be prohibited under the 1940 Act from conducting certain transactions with our affiliates 
without the prior approval of our Trustees who are not interested persons and, in some cases, the prior approval of the SEC. We 
and the Adviser have received an exemptive order from the SEC that permits us, among other things, to co-invest with certain 
other persons, including certain affiliates of the Adviser and certain funds managed and controlled by the Adviser and its 
affiliates, subject to certain terms and conditions.  

Other. We will be periodically examined by the SEC for compliance with the 1940 Act and be subject to the periodic 
reporting and related requirements of the Exchange Act. 

We are also required to provide and maintain a bond issued by a reputable fidelity insurance company to protect against 
larceny and embezzlement. Furthermore, as a BDC, we will be prohibited from protecting any Trustee or officer against any 
liability to our shareholders arising from willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties 
involved in the conduct of such person’s office. 

We are also required to designate a chief compliance officer (“CCO”) and to adopt and implement written policies and 
procedures reasonably designed to prevent violation of the federal securities laws and to review these policies and procedures 
annually for their adequacy and the effectiveness of their implementation. 

We are not permitted to change the nature of our business so as to cease to be, or to withdraw our election as, a BDC unless 
approved by a majority of our outstanding voting securities. A majority of the outstanding voting securities of a company is 
defined under the 1940 Act as the lesser of: (i) 67% or more of such company’s shares present at a meeting if more than 50% of 
the outstanding shares of such company are present or represented by proxy, or (ii) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of 
such company.

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect to generate cash primarily from (i) the net proceeds of our Offering of Common Shares, (ii) cash flows from our 
operations, (iii) any financing arrangements we may enter into in the future and (iv) any future offerings of our equity or debt 
securities. 
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Our primary uses of cash will be for (i) investments in portfolio companies and other investments, (ii) the cost of operations 
(including paying FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and Administrator)), (iii) cost of any borrowings or other financing 
arrangements, (iv) funding repurchases under our share repurchase program, and (v) cash distributions to the holders of our 
shares. 

The Adviser and/or its affiliates have agreed to advance all of our organization and offering expenses on our behalf through 
the date on which we broke escrow for our Offering. The Fund will be obligated to reimburse the Adviser and/or its affiliates, as 
applicable, for such advanced expenses only if certain conditions are met. Any reimbursements will not exceed actual expenses 
incurred by the Adviser and its affiliates. See “Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement.”

Advisory Agreement

The Adviser will provide management services to us pursuant to the Advisory Agreement. Under the terms of the Advisory 
Agreement, the Adviser is responsible for the following:

• determining the composition of our portfolio, the nature and timing of the changes to our portfolio and the manner 
of implementing such changes in accordance with our investment objective, policies and restrictions;

• identifying investment opportunities and making investment decisions for us, including negotiating the terms of 
investments in, and dispositions of, portfolio securities and other instruments on our behalf;

• monitoring our investments;

• performing due diligence on prospective portfolio companies;

• exercising voting rights in respect of portfolio securities and other investments for us;

• serving on, and exercising observer rights for, boards of directors and similar committees of our portfolio 
companies;

• negotiating, obtaining and managing financing facilities and other forms of leverage; and

• providing us with such other investment advisory and related services as we may, from time to time, reasonably 
require for the investment of capital.

The Adviser’s services under the Advisory Agreement are not exclusive, and it is free to furnish similar services to other 
entities, and it intends to do so, so long as its services to us are not impaired.

We will pay the Adviser a fee for its services under the Advisory Agreement consisting of two components: a management 
fee and an incentive fee. The cost of both the management fee and the incentive fee will ultimately be borne by the shareholders.

Management Fee

The management fee is payable monthly in arrears at an annual rate of 1.25% of the value of our net assets as of the 
beginning of the first calendar day of the applicable month. For purposes of the Advisory Agreement, net assets mean the Fund’s 
total assets less liabilities determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”). 

On August 9, 2023, the Adviser decided to extend the waiver of the Fund’s management fee and incentive fee based on 
income until December 31, 2023. Previously, the Adviser had agreed to waive the management fee and incentive fee based on 
income for the first six months following the date on which the Fund broke escrow, which occurred on March 13, 2023.

Incentive Fee

The incentive fee will consist of two components that are independent of each other, with the result that one component 
may be payable even if the other is not. A portion of the incentive fee is based on a percentage of our income and a portion is 
based on a percentage of our capital gains, each as described below.

On August 9, 2023, the Adviser decided to extend the waiver of the Fund’s management fee and incentive fee based on 
income until December 31, 2023. Previously, the Adviser had agreed to waive the management fee and incentive fee based on 
income for the first six months following the date on which the Fund broke escrow, which occurred on March 13, 2023.
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Incentive Fee Based on Income

The portion based on our income is based on Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns attributable to each class of 
the Fund’s Common Shares. “Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns” means dividends, cash interest or other 
distributions or other cash income and any third-party fees received from portfolio companies such as upfront fees, commitment 
fees, origination fee, amendment fees, ticking fees and break-up fees, as well as prepayments premiums, but excluding fees for 
providing managerial assistance and fees earned by the Adviser or an affiliate accrued during the month, minus operating 
expenses for the month (including the management fee, taxes, any expenses payable under the Advisory Agreement and an 
administration agreement with our administrator, any expense of securitizations, and interest expense or other financing fees and 
any dividends paid on preferred stock, but excluding the incentive fee and shareholder servicing and /or distribution fees). Pre-
Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns includes, in the case of investments with a deferred interest feature (such as 
original issue discount (“OID”), debt instruments with payment-in-kind (“PIK”) interest and zero-coupon securities), accrued 
income that we have not yet received in cash. Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns do not include any realized 
capital gains, realized capital losses or unrealized capital appreciation or depreciation.

Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns, expressed as a rate of return on the value of our net assets at the end of 
the immediate preceding quarter, is compared to a “hurdle rate” of return of 1.25% per quarter (5.00% annualized).

We will pay the Adviser an incentive fee quarterly in arrears with respect to our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income 
Returns in each calendar quarter as follows:

• No incentive fee based on Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns in any calendar quarter in which our 
Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns attributable to the applicable share class do not exceed the 
hurdle rate of 1.25% per quarter (5.0% annualized);

• 100% of the dollar amount of our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns with respect to that portion of 
such Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns attributable to the applicable share class, if any, that 
exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than a rate of return of 1.43% (5.72% annualized). We refer to this portion of our 
Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns (which exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than 1.43%) as the 
“catch-up.” The “catch-up” is meant to provide the Adviser with approximately 12.5% of our Pre-Incentive Fee 
Net Investment Income Returns as if a hurdle rate did not apply if this net investment income exceeds 1.43% in 
any calendar quarter; and

• 12.5% of the dollar amount of our Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns attributable to the applicable 
share class, if any, that exceed a rate of return of 1.43% (5.72% annualized). This reflects that once the hurdle rate 
is reached and the catch-up is achieved, 12.5% of all Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns thereafter 
are allocated to the Adviser.

  

Percentage of each Class’s Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income
Allocated to Quarterly Incentive Fee

These calculations are pro-rated for any period of less than three months and adjusted for any share issuances or 
repurchases during the relevant quarter. You should be aware that a rise in the general level of interest rates can be expected to 
lead to higher interest rates applicable to our debt investments. Accordingly, an increase in interest rates would make it easier for 
us to meet or exceed the incentive fee hurdle rate and may result in a substantial increase of the amount of incentive fees payable 
to the Adviser with respect to Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns. Because of the structure of the incentive fee, it 
is possible that we may pay an incentive fee in a calendar quarter in which we incur an overall loss taking into account capital 
account losses. For example, if we receive Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns in excess of the quarterly hurdle 
rate, we will pay the applicable incentive fee even if we have incurred a loss in that calendar quarter due to realized and 
unrealized capital losses.
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Incentive Fee Based on Capital Gains

The second component of the incentive fee, the capital gains incentive fee, is payable at the end of each calendar year in 
arrears. The amount payable equals:

• 12.5% of cumulative realized capital gains attributable to the applicable share class from inception through the end 
of such calendar year, computed net of all realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation on a 
cumulative basis, less the aggregate amount of any previously paid incentive fee on capital gains as calculated in 
accordance with GAAP.

Each year, the fee paid for the capital gains incentive fee is net of the aggregate amount of any previously paid capital gains 
incentive fee by the applicable share class for all prior periods. We will accrue, but will not pay, a capital gains incentive fee with 
respect to unrealized appreciation because a capital gains incentive fee would be owed to the Adviser if we were to sell the 
relevant investment and realize a capital gain. In no event will the capital gains incentive fee payable pursuant to the Advisory 
Agreement be in excess of the amount permitted by the Advisers Act, including Section 205 thereof.

For purposes of computing the Fund’s incentive fee on income and the incentive fee on capital gains, the calculation 
methodology will look through derivative financial instruments or swaps as if we owned the reference assets directly. The fees 
that are payable under the Advisory Agreement for any partial period will be appropriately prorated.

Board Approval of the Advisory Agreement

At its November 2023 meeting, the Board unanimously determined to renew the Fund’s Agreements. In reaching its 
determination, the  Board considered all factors it believed relevant, including (i) the nature, extent, and quality of the services 
provided to the Fund and its shareholders (including the investment performance of the Fund); (ii) the competitiveness relative to 
peer funds of the Fund’s management fee and the total expense ratio; (iii) the total costs of the services provided by and the 
profits realized by FDS and its affiliates (Fidelity) from its relationships with the Fund; and (iv) the extent to which, if any, 
economies of scale exist and are realized as the Fund grows, and whether any economies of scale are appropriately shared with 
Fund shareholders. The Board’s decision to renew the Agreements was not based on any single factor.

Nature, Extent, and Quality of Services Provided 

The Board considered Fidelity’s staffing as it relates to the Fund, including the backgrounds of investment personnel of 
Fidelity, and also considered Fidelity’s implementation of the Fund’s investment program. The Board also had discussions with 
members of the portfolio management team.

• Resources Dedicated to Investment Management and Support Services. The Board reviewed the general 
qualifications and capabilities of Fidelity’s investment staff, including its size, education, experience, and 
resources, as well as Fidelity’s approach to training and managing investment personnel. The Board noted the 
resources devoted to Fidelity’s global investment organization and that Fidelity’s analysts have extensive 
resources, tools and capabilities that allow them to conduct sophisticated quantitative and fundamental 
analysis, as well as credit analysis of issuers, counterparties and guarantors. Further, the Board considered that 
Fidelity’s investment professionals have sufficient access to global information and data so as to provide 
competitive investment results over time, and that those professionals also have access to sophisticated tools 
that permit them to assess portfolio construction and risk and performance attribution characteristics 
continuously, as well as to transmit new information and research conclusions rapidly around the world. 
Additionally, in its deliberations, the Board considered Fidelity’s trading, risk management, compliance, 
cybersecurity, and technology and operations capabilities and resources, which are integral parts of the 
investment management process.

• Shareholder and Administrative Services. The Board considered: (i) the nature, extent, quality, and cost of 
advisory, administrative, and shareholder services to be performed by Fidelity under the Advisory Agreement 
and under separate agreements covering transfer agency, pricing and bookkeeping, and securities lending 
services for the Fund; (ii) the nature and extent of Fidelity’s supervision of third-party service providers, 
principally custodians, subcustodians, and pricing vendors; and (iii) the resources devoted by Fidelity to, and 
the record of compliance with, the Fund’s compliance policies and procedures. The Board also considered the 
Fund’s securities lending activities and any payments made to Fidelity relating to securities lending. 
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The Board noted that the growth of Fund assets over time across the complex allows Fidelity to reinvest in the 
development of services designed to enhance the value and convenience of the Fidelity funds as investment 
vehicles. These services include 24-hour access to account information and market information over the 
internet and through telephone representatives, investor education materials and asset allocation tools.

• Investment Performance. The Board took into account discussions that occur with representatives of Fidelity, 
and reports that it receives, at board meetings throughout the year relating to Fund investment performance. In 
this regard the Board noted that as part of regularly scheduled reports to the Board on Fund performance, the 
Board considered annualized return information for the Fund since inception.

In addition to reviewing absolute Fund performance, Board periodically considers the appropriateness of Fund performance 
metrics in evaluating the results achieved. The Board generally gives greater weight to Fund performance over longer time 
periods than over shorter time periods.

Based on its review, the Board concluded that the nature, extent, and quality of services to be provided to the Fund under 
the Advisory Agreement should benefit the shareholders of the Fund.

Competitiveness of Management Fee and Total Expense Ratio 

In reviewing the Advisory Agreement, the Board considered the Fund’s management fee rate and the total expense ratio of 
Class I Common Shares of the Fund. Because the Fund was operating for a small portion of the reporting period, the total net 
expenses of Class I Common Shares considered by the Board were based on estimates. The Board noted that there is a limited 
number of public, unlisted competitors against which to assess the competitiveness of the Fund’s fees. Fidelity identified a small 
number of competitor funds that are similar to the Fund. The Board noted that the Fund’s management fee is the same as the 
contractual base management fee rate of the selected competitors. The Board also noted that estimated total expenses for Class I 
shares, a representative class of the Fund, ranked in the range of the identified competitors with an equal number of competitors 
being above and below Class I’s total expenses. The Board noted the difficulty in comparing total expense ratios across the 
identified competitors due to varying incentive fees, interest expense on borrowed funds, operating expenses, and the extent of 
expense reimbursement. The Board noted that the Fund’s Advisory Agreement also includes an incentive fee that is charged 
based both on income and on realized capital gains, but, noted that, given the Fund’s limited operations, it would be able to 
evaluate the effects of the incentive fee in connection with future renewals of the Fund’s Advisory Agreement. The Board noted 
that the Fund is contractually limiting certain fund-level operating expenses to 0.70% (on an annualized basis) of the Fund’s NAV 
for the twelve month period commencing the date of Agreement, September 23, 2022, and unless terminated, for each successive 
one year period. 

The Board also noted that FDS had contractually agreed to waive the management fee and income component of the 
incentive fee through December 31, 2023. 

Based on its review, the Board concluded that the Fund’s management fee and the total expense ratio of Class I shares of 
the Fund were reasonable in light of the services that the Fund and its shareholders receive and the other factors considered. 

Costs of the Services and Profitability 

The Board considered the revenues earned and the expenses incurred by Fidelity in conducting the business of developing, 
marketing, distributing, managing, administering and servicing the Fund and servicing the Fund’s shareholders. The Board 
considered the level of Fidelity’s profits in respect of all the Fidelity funds it oversees. The Board noted, however, that the 
profitability information did not include the Fund given that the Fund did not commence operations until after calendar year 2022, 
which was the period for the profitability report.

The Board also reviewed Fidelity’s non-fund businesses and potential indirect benefits such businesses may have received 
as a result of their association with Fidelity’s fund business (i.e., fall-out benefits) as well as cases where Fidelity’s affiliates may 
benefit from the funds’ business. The Board considered areas where potential indirect benefits to the Fidelity funds from their 
relationships with Fidelity may exist.

The Board considered the costs of the services provided by and the lack of meaningful profits realized by Fidelity in 
connection with the operation of the funds overseen by the Board and was satisfied that the profitability was not excessive.
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Economies of Scale 

The Board considered whether there have been economies of scale in respect of the management of the funds overseen by 
the Board, whether the funds (including the Fund) have appropriately benefited from any such economies of scale, and whether 
there is potential for realization of any further economies of scale. It noted that, notwithstanding the entrepreneurial risk 
associated with a new fund, the management fee was at a level normally associated, by comparison with competitors, with very 
high fund net assets, and Fidelity asserted to the Board that the level of the Fund’s advisory fee anticipates economies of scale at 
lower asset levels even before, if ever, economies of scale are achieved.  The Board also noted that the Fund and its shareholders 
would have access to the very considerable number and variety of services available through Fidelity.

The Board concluded that economies of scale, if any, are being appropriately shared between Fund shareholders and 
Fidelity.

Conclusion 

Based on its evaluation of all of the conclusions noted above, and after considering all factors it believed relevant, the 
Board, including the Independent Trustees, concluded that the advisory fee arrangements are fair and reasonable in light of all of 
the surrounding circumstances, and that the Fund’s Agreements should be renewed through November 30, 2024.

Administration Agreement

Under the terms of the Administration Agreement, the Administrator provides, or oversees the performance of, 
administrative and compliance services necessary for the fund operations, including, but not limited to, maintaining financial 
records, overseeing the calculation of NAV, compliance monitoring (including diligence and oversight of our other service 
providers), preparing reports to shareholders and reports filed with the SEC and other regulators, preparing materials and 
coordinating meetings of our Board, managing the payment of expenses, the payment and receipt of funds for investments and the 
performance of administrative and professional services rendered by others and providing office space, equipment and office 
services. In consideration of the administrative services provided by the Administrator to the Fund, the Fund pays the 
Administrator a monthly fee of 0.02666% (0.32% on an annualized basis) of the Fund’s month-end NAV and reimburses the 
Administrator for the costs and expenses of the Fund incurred by the Administrator. The fee paid to the Administrator is an 
expense paid out of the Fund’s net assets and is computed based on the value of the net assets of the Fund as of the close of 
business on the last business day of each month (including any assets in respect of Common Shares that are repurchased as of the 
end of the quarter). “Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day when banks in the State of New 
York are authorized or required by law, regulation or executive order to remain closed.

From time to time, FDS, in its capacity as both the Adviser and the Administrator or its affiliates may pay third-party 
providers of goods or services. Unless such expenses are specifically assumed by the Adviser, Administrator or its affiliates under 
the Advisory Agreement or Administration Agreement, the Fund will reimburse the Adviser, the Administrator or such affiliates 
thereof for any such amounts paid on the Fund’s behalf. From time to time, the Adviser or the Administrator may defer or waive 
fees and/or rights to be reimbursed for expenses.

Costs and expenses of FDS in its capacity as both the Administrator and the Adviser that are eligible for reimbursement by 
the Fund will be reasonably allocated to the Fund on the basis of time spent, assets under management, usage rates, proportionate 
holdings, a combination thereof or other reasonable methods determined by the Administrator.
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Certain Terms of the Advisory Agreement and Administration Agreement

Each of the Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement has been approved by the Board. Unless earlier 
terminated as described below, each of the Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement will remain in effect for a 
period of two years from the date it first becomes effective and will remain in effect from year-to-year thereafter if approved 
annually by a majority of the Board or by the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities and, in each case, a 
majority of the Independent Trustees. We may terminate the Advisory Agreement upon 60 days’ written notice, and the 
Administration Agreement upon 120 days’ written notice, without payment of any penalty. The decision to terminate either 
agreement may be made by a majority of the Board or the shareholders holding a majority of our outstanding voting securities, 
which means the lesser of (1) 67% or more of the voting securities present at a meeting if more than 50% of the outstanding 
voting securities are present or represented by proxy, or (2) more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities. In addition, 
without payment of any penalty, the Adviser may terminate the Advisory Agreement upon 120 days’ written notice and the 
Administrator may terminate the Administration Agreement upon 120 days’ written notice. The Advisory Agreement will 
automatically terminate within the meaning of the 1940 Act and related SEC guidance and interpretations in the event of its 
assignment.

FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and the Administrator) shall not be liable for any error of judgment or mistake of law or 
for any act or omission or any loss suffered by the Fund in connection with the matters to which the Advisory Agreement and 
Administration Agreement, respectively, relate, provided that FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and the Administrator) shall not 
be protected against any liability to the Fund or its shareholders to which it would otherwise be subject by reason of willful 
misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence on its part in the performance of its duties or by reason of the reckless disregard of its 
duties and obligations (“disabling conduct”). Each of the Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement provide that, 
absent disabling conduct, FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and as the Administrator) and their officers, managers, partners, 
agents, employees, controlling persons, members and any other person or entity affiliated with either of them (collectively, the 
“Indemnified Parties”) will be entitled to indemnification from us for any damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and amounts reasonably paid in settlement) arising from the rendering of FDS’s services under the 
Advisory Agreement and FDS’s services under the Administration Agreement or otherwise as adviser or administrator for us. 
FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and the Administrator) shall not be liable under their respective agreements with us or 
otherwise for any loss due to the mistake, action, inaction, negligence, dishonesty, fraud or bad faith of any broker or other agent; 
provided, that such broker or other agent shall have been selected, engaged or retained and monitored by FDS (in its capacity as 
the Adviser and the Administrator) in good faith, unless such action or inaction was made by reason of disabling conduct, or in 
the case of a criminal action or proceeding, where FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and the Administrator) had reasonable 
cause to believe its conduct was unlawful. In addition, we will not provide for indemnification of an Indemnified Party for any 
liability or loss suffered by such Indemnified Party, nor will we provide that an Indemnified Party be held harmless for any loss or 
liability suffered by us, unless: (1) we have determined, in good faith, that the course of conduct that caused the loss or liability 
was in our best interest; (2) the Indemnified Party was acting on our behalf or performing services for us; (3) such liability or loss 
was not the result of negligence or misconduct, in the case that the Indemnified Party is FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and 
the Administrator), an affiliate of FDS or one of our officers; and (4) the indemnification or agreement to hold harmless is 
recoverable only out of our net assets and not from our shareholders.

Payment of Our Expenses Under the Investment Advisory and Administration Agreements

Except as specifically provided below, all investment professionals and staff of the Adviser, when and to the extent 
engaged in providing investment advisory services to us, and the base compensation, bonus and benefits, and the routine overhead 
expenses, of such personnel allocable to such services, will be provided and paid for by the Adviser. We will bear the following 
costs and expenses of our operations, administration and transactions:

1. investment advisory fees, including management fees and incentive fees, to the Adviser, pursuant to the 
Advisory Agreement (“Advisory Fees”);

2. the fee paid to the Administrator pursuant to the Administration Agreement (“Administration Fees”); and

3. other expenses of the Fund’s operations and transactions.

From time to time, FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and the Administrator) or its affiliates may pay third-party providers 
of goods or services. We will reimburse FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and as the Administrator) or such affiliates thereof for 
any such amounts paid on our behalf that are Fund expenses. From time to time, FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and the 
Administrator) may defer or waive fees and/or rights to be reimbursed for expenses. All of the foregoing expenses will ultimately 
be borne by our shareholders.
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Costs and expenses of FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and the Administrator) that are eligible for reimbursement by the 
Fund will be reasonably allocated to the Fund on the basis of time spent, assets under management, usage rates, proportionate 
holdings, a combination thereof or other reasonable methods determined by the Administrator.

Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement 

We have entered into an Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement (the “Expense Support Agreement”) 
with the Adviser. Pursuant to the Expense Support Agreement, for the twelve month period commencing the date of Agreement, 
September 23, 2022, and unless terminated, for each successive one year period, the Adviser is obligated to advance all of our 
Other Operating Expenses (including organizational and offering expenses) to the effect that such expenses do not exceed 0.70% 
(on an annualized basis) of the Fund's NAV. Any Required Expense Payment must be paid by the Adviser to the Fund in any 
combination of cash or other immediately available funds and/or offset against amounts due from the Fund to the Adviser or its 
affiliates. “Other Operating Expenses” means the Fund’s organization and offering expenses, professional fees (including 
accounting, legal, and auditing fees), custodian and transfer agent fees, third party valuation agent fees, insurance costs, trustee 
fees, Administration Fees, and other general and administrative expenses.

The Adviser may elect to pay, at such times as the Adviser determines, certain expenses on our behalf (each, a “Voluntary 
Expense Payment” and together with a Required Expense Payment, the “Expense Payments”), provided that no portion of the 
payment will be used to pay any interest expense or distribution and/or shareholder servicing fees of the Fund. Any Voluntary 
Expense Payment that the Adviser has committed to pay must be paid by the Adviser to us in any combination of cash or other 
immediately available funds no later than 45 days after such commitment was made in writing, and/or offset against amounts due 
from us to the Adviser or its affiliates. 

Following any calendar month in which Available Operating Funds (as defined below) exceed the cumulative distributions 
accrued to the Fund’s shareholders based on distributions declared with respect to record dates occurring in such calendar month 
(the amount of such excess being hereinafter referred to as “Excess Operating Funds”), we shall pay such Excess Operating 
Funds, or a portion thereof, to the Adviser until such time as all Expense Payments made by the Adviser to the Fund within 3 
years prior to the last business day of such calendar month have been reimbursed. Any payments required to be made by the Fund 
shall be referred to herein as a “Reimbursement Payment.” “Available Operating Funds” means the sum of (i) our net investment 
company taxable income (including net short-term capital gains reduced by net long-term capital losses), (ii) our net capital gains 
(including the excess of net long-term capital gains over net short-term capital losses) and (iii) dividends and other distributions 
paid to us on account of investments in portfolio companies (to the extent such amounts listed in clause (iii) are not included 
under clauses (i) and (ii) above). 

No Reimbursement Payment for any month shall be made if: (1) the Effective Rate of Distributions Per Share declared by 
the Fund at the time of such Reimbursement Payment is less than the Effective Rate of Distributions Per Share at the time the 
Expense Payment was made to which such Reimbursement Payment relates, (2) the Fund’s Operating Expense Ratio at the time 
of such Reimbursement Payment is greater than the Operating Expense Ratio at the time the Expense Payment was made to 
which such Reimbursement Payment relate, or (3) the Fund’s Other Operating Expenses at the time of such Reimbursement 
Payment exceeds 0.70% of the Fund’s NAV. “Effective Rate of Distributions Per Share” means the annualized rate (based on a 
365-day year) of regular cash distributions per share exclusive of returns of capital, distribution rate reductions due to distribution 
and shareholder servicing fees, and declared special dividends or special distributions, if any. The “Operating Expense Ratio” is 
calculated by dividing Operating Expenses, less organizational and offering expenses, base management and incentive fees owed 
to the Adviser, shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees, and interest expense, by the Fund’s net assets. “Operating 
Expenses” means all of the Fund’s operating costs and expenses incurred, as determined in accordance with GAAP for 
investment companies. 

As of March 13, 2023, the Adviser has voluntarily agreed to waive its right to receive any Reimbursement Payment for any 
Excess Operating Funds incurred in any month prior to revocation. Any such amounts shall not be considered unreimbursed 
Expense Payments reimbursable in future months pursuant to the terms of the Expense Support Agreement. This voluntary 
arrangement can be terminated at any time, upon thirty days’ prior written notice to the Fund. 

The Fund’s obligation to make a Reimbursement Payment shall automatically become a liability of the Fund on the last 
business day of the applicable calendar month, except to the extent the Adviser has waived its right to receive such payment for 
the applicable month. 
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Distributions

We expect to pay regular monthly distributions and declared our first distribution on April 26, 2023. Any distributions we 
make will be at the discretion of our Board, considering factors such as our earnings, cash flow, capital needs and general 
financial condition and the requirements of Delaware law. As a result, our distribution rates and payment frequency may vary 
from time to time.

Our Board’s discretion as to the payment of distributions will be directed, in substantial part, by its determination to cause 
us to comply with the RIC requirements. To maintain our treatment as a RIC, we generally are required to make aggregate annual 
distributions to our shareholders of at least 90% of investment company taxable income. See “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax 
Considerations.”

The per share amount of distributions on Class S, Class D and Class I shares generally differ because of different class-
specific shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees that are deducted from the gross distributions for each share class. 
Specifically, distributions on Class S shares will be lower than Class D shares and Class I shares, and distributions on Class D 
shares will be lower than Class I shares because we are required to pay higher ongoing shareholder servicing and/or distribution 
fees with respect to the Class S shares (compared to Class D shares and Class I shares), and we are required to pay higher ongoing 
shareholder servicing fees with respect to Class D shares (compared to Class I shares).

Shareholder Servicing and/or Distribution Fees 

The following table shows the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees we pay the Managing Dealer with respect to 
the Class S, Class D and Class I on an annualized basis as a percentage of our NAV for such class. The shareholder servicing 
and/or distribution fees will be paid monthly in arrears, calculated using the NAV of the applicable class as of the beginning of 
the first calendar day of the month.

Shareholder Servicing 
and/ or Distribution Fee 

as a % of NAV
Class S shares 0.85%
Class D shares 0.25%
Class I shares —

Subject to FINRA and other limitations on underwriting compensation, we will pay a shareholder servicing and/or 
distribution fee equal to 0.85% per annum of the aggregate NAV for the Class S shares, a shareholder servicing fee equal to 
0.25% per annum of the aggregate NAV for the Class D shares, in each case, payable monthly.

The shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees will be paid monthly in arrears. The Managing Dealer will reallow (pay) 
all or a portion of the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees to participating brokers and servicing brokers for ongoing 
shareholder services performed by such brokers, and will waive shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees to the extent a 
broker is not eligible to receive it for failure to provide such services. Because the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees 
with respect to Class S shares and Class D shares are calculated based on the aggregate NAV for all of the outstanding shares of 
each such class, it reduces the NAV with respect to all shares of each such class, including shares issued under our distribution 
reinvestment plan.

Eligibility to receive the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fee is conditioned on a broker providing the following 
ongoing services with respect to the Class S or Class D shares: assistance with recordkeeping, answering investor inquiries 
regarding us, including regarding distribution payments and reinvestments, helping investors understand their investments upon 
their request, and assistance with share repurchase requests. If the applicable broker is not eligible to receive the shareholder 
servicing and/or distribution fee due to failure to provide these services, the Managing Dealer will waive the shareholder 
servicing fee and/or distribution that broker would have otherwise been eligible to receive. The shareholder servicing and/or 
distribution fees are ongoing fees that are not paid at the time of purchase.
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Distribution Reinvestment Plan

We have adopted a distribution reinvestment plan, pursuant to which we will reinvest all cash dividends or distributions 
declared by the Board on behalf of our shareholders who do not elect to receive their dividends or distributions in cash. As a 
result, if the Board authorizes, and we declare, a cash dividend or other distribution, then our shareholders who have not opted out 
of our distribution reinvestment plan will have their cash distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares, rather than 
receiving the cash dividend or other distribution. Distributions on fractional shares will be credited to each participating 
shareholder’s account to three decimal places.

Share Repurchase Program

We have commenced a share repurchase program in which we intend to repurchase, in each quarter, up to 5% of our 
Common Shares outstanding (by number of shares) as of the close of the previous calendar quarter. Our Board may amend, 
suspend or terminate the share repurchase program if it deems such action to be in our best interest and the best interest of our 
shareholders. As a result, share repurchases may not be available each quarter. Upon a suspension of our share repurchase 
program, our Board will consider at least quarterly whether the continued suspension of our share repurchase program remains in 
our best interest and the best interest of our shareholders. However, our Board is not required to authorize the recommencement 
of our share repurchase program within any specified period of time. Our Board may also determine to terminate our share 
repurchase program if required by applicable law or in connection with a transaction in which our shareholders receive liquidity 
for their Common Shares, such as a sale or merger of the Fund or listing of our Common Shares on a national securities 
exchange. 

We expect to repurchase shares pursuant to tender offers each quarter using a purchase price equal to the NAV per share as 
of the last calendar day of the applicable quarter, except that shares that have not been outstanding for at least one year will be 
repurchased at 98% of such NAV (an “Early Repurchase Deduction”). The one-year holding period is measured as of the 
subscription closing date immediately following the prospective repurchase date. The Early Repurchase Deduction may be 
waived, at our discretion, in the case of repurchase requests arising from the death, divorce or qualified disability of the holder. 
The Early Repurchase Deduction will be retained by the Fund for the benefit of remaining shareholders. We intend to conduct the 
repurchase offers in accordance with the requirements of Rule 13e-4 promulgated under the Exchange Act and the 1940 Act. All 
shares purchased by us pursuant to the terms of each tender offer will be retired and thereafter will be authorized and unissued 
shares.

Proxy Voting Policy and Proxy Voting Record

The Fund has delegated to the Adviser the authority to vote the Fund’s proxies in accordance with the Adviser’s established 
formal written proxy voting guidelines (“Guidelines”).  The Guidelines are designed to ensure that proxies cast on behalf of the 
Fund are voted in a manner consistent with the best interests of Members. The Adviser has also adopted the Guidelines as part of 
its proxy voting policies and procedures in accordance with Rule 206(4)-6 under the Advisers Act pursuant to which the Adviser 
has a duty to monitor corporate events and to vote proxies, as well as a duty to cast votes in the best interests of clients and not 
subrogate client interests to its own interests.  The Guidelines are reviewed at least annually by the Adviser, and, accordingly, are 
subject to change. 

In evaluating proxies, the Adviser considers factors that are financially material to individual companies and investing 
funds’ investment objectives and strategies in support of maximizing long-term Member value. This includes considering the 
company’s approach to financial and operational, human, and natural capital and the impact of that approach on the potential 
future value of the business. The Adviser will vote on proposals not specifically addressed by the Guidelines based on an 
evaluation of a proposal’s likelihood to enhance the long-term economic returns or profitability of the Fund or to maximize long-
term Member value.

In certain non-U.S. jurisdictions and in limited circumstances, the Adviser may determine not to vote proxies where certain 
restrictions apply. In accordance with the Guidelines, voting of proxies is conducted in a manner consistent with the Adviser’s 
fiduciary obligations to the Fund, and all applicable laws and regulations. In other words, the Adviser votes in a manner 
consistent with the Guidelines and in the best interests of the Fund’s Members, and without regard to any other Fidelity 
companies’ business relationships. The Adviser takes its responsibility to vote proxies in the best interests of the Fund’s Members 
seriously and has implemented policies and procedures to address actual and potential conflicts of interest. 

To view the Fund’s Guidelines, visit https://www.fidelity.com/bin-public/060_www_fidelity_com/documents/Full-Proxy-
Voting-Guidelines-for-Fidelity-Funds-Advised-by-FMRCo-or-FDS.pdf; and to view the Fund’s proxy voting record for the most 
recent 12-month period ended June 30, visit www.fidelity.com/proxyvotingresults or visit the SEC’s web site at www.sec.gov.
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Reporting Obligations and Available Information

Stockholders may obtain copies of our filings with the SEC, free of charge from the website maintained by the SEC at 
www.sec.gov.

Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following discussion is a general summary of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to us and the 
purchase, ownership and disposition of our shares. This discussion does not purport to be complete or to deal with all aspects of 
U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to shareholders in light of their particular circumstances. Unless otherwise 
noted, this discussion applies only to U.S. shareholders that hold our shares as capital assets. A U.S. shareholder is an individual 
who is a citizen or resident of the United States, a U.S. corporation, a trust if it (a) is subject to the primary supervision of a court 
in the United States and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (b) has 
made a valid election to be treated as a U.S. person, or any estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax 
regardless of its source. This discussion is based upon present provisions of the Code, the regulations promulgated thereunder, 
and judicial and administrative ruling authorities, all of which are subject to change, or differing interpretations (possibly with 
retroactive effect). This discussion does not represent a detailed description of the U.S. federal income tax consequences relevant 
to special classes of taxpayers including, without limitation, financial institutions, insurance companies, investors in pass-through 
entities, U.S. shareholders whose “functional currency” is not the U.S. dollar, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or 
currencies, traders in securities or commodities that elect mark to market treatment, or persons that will hold our shares as a 
position in a “straddle,” “hedge” or as part of a “constructive sale” for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition, this 
discussion does not address the application of the Medicare tax on net investment income or the U.S. federal alternative minimum 
tax, or any tax consequences attributable to persons being required to accelerate the recognition of any item of gross income with 
respect to our shares as a result of such income being recognized on an applicable financial statement. Prospective investors 
should consult their tax advisers with regard to the U.S. federal tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, or disposition of 
our shares, as well as the tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, foreign country or other taxing jurisdiction.

Taxation as a Regulated Investment Company

The Fund intends to elect to be treated, and intends to qualify each taxable year, as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code.

To qualify for the favorable tax treatment accorded to RICs under Subchapter M of the Code, the Fund must, among other 
things: (1) have an election in effect to be treated as a BDC under the 1940 Act at all times during each taxable year; (2) have 
filed with its return for the taxable year an election to be a RIC or have made such election for a previous taxable year; (3) derive 
in each taxable year at least 90% of its gross income from (a) dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities 
loans, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stock or securities or foreign currencies, or other income (including but not 
limited to gains from options, futures or forward contracts) derived with respect to its business of investing in such stock, 
securities, or currencies; and (b) net income derived from an interest in certain publicly-traded partnerships that are treated as 
partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes and that derive less than 90% of their gross income from the items described in 
(a) above (each, a “Qualified Publicly Traded Partnership”); and (4) diversify its holdings so that, at the end of each quarter of 
each taxable year of the Fund (a) at least 50% of the value of the Fund’s total assets is represented by cash and cash items 
(including receivables), U.S. government securities and securities of other RICs, and other securities for purposes of this 
calculation limited, in respect of any one issuer to an amount not greater in value than 5% of the value of the Fund’s total assets, 
and to not more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer, and (b) not more than 25% of the value of the 
Fund’s total assets is invested in the securities (other than U.S. government securities or securities of other RICs) of (I) any one 
issuer, (II) any two or more issuers which the Fund controls and which are determined to be engaged in the same or similar trades 
or businesses or related trades or businesses or (III) any one or more Qualified Publicly Traded Partnerships (described in 3(b) 
above).

As a RIC, the Fund generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its investment company taxable income (as 
that term is defined in the Code, but determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid) and net capital gain (the 
excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss), if any, that it distributes in each taxable year to its 
shareholders, provided that it distributes at least 90% of the sum of its investment company taxable income and its net tax-exempt 
income for such taxable year. Generally, the Fund intends to distribute to its shareholders, at least annually, substantially all of its 
investment company taxable income and net capital gains, if any.
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Amounts not distributed on a timely basis in accordance with a calendar year distribution requirement are subject to a 
nondeductible 4% U.S. federal excise tax. To prevent imposition of the excise tax, the Fund must distribute during each calendar 
year an amount at least equal to the sum of (i) 98% of its ordinary income for the calendar year, (ii) 98.2% of its capital gains in 
excess of its capital losses (adjusted for certain ordinary losses) for the one-year period ending October 31 of the calendar year 
and (iii) any ordinary income and capital gains for previous years that were not distributed during those years. For these purposes, 
the Fund will be deemed to have distributed any income or gains on which it paid U.S. federal income tax.

A distribution will be treated as paid on December 31 of any calendar year if it is declared by the Fund in October, 
November or December with a record date in such a month and paid by the Fund during January of the following calendar year. 
Such distributions will be taxable to shareholders in the calendar year in which the distributions are declared, rather than the 
calendar year in which the distributions are received.

If the Fund failed to qualify as a RIC or failed to satisfy the 90% distribution requirement in any taxable year, the Fund 
would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate rates on its taxable income (including distributions of net capital 
gain), even if such income were distributed to its shareholders, and all distributions out of earnings and profits would be taxed to 
shareholders as ordinary dividend income. Such distributions generally would be eligible (i) to be treated as “qualified dividend 
income” in the case of individual and other non-corporate shareholders and (ii) for the dividends received deduction in the case of 
corporate shareholders. In addition, the Fund could be required to recognize unrealized gains, pay taxes and make distributions 
(which could be subject to interest charges) before requalifying for taxation as a RIC.

The remainder of this discussion assumes that the Fund qualifies as a RIC for each taxable year.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Investing in our Common Shares involves a number of significant risks. The following information is a discussion of the 
material risk factors associated with an investment in our Common Shares specifically, as well as those factors generally 
associated with an investment in a company with investment objectives, investment policies, capital structure or trading markets 
similar to ours. In addition to the other information contained in this Form 10-K, you should consider carefully the following 
information before making an investment in our Common Shares. The risks below are not the only risks we face but do represent 
the known material risks and uncertainties that we believe are most significant to our business, operating results, financial 
condition, prospects and forward-looking statements. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or not 
presently deemed material by us may also impair our operations and performance. If any of the following events occur our 
business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. In such cases, the NAV of our 
Common Shares could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. 

Risks Relating to an Investment in the Fund 

Limited Operating History. The Fund operates as a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company that has 
elected to be regulated as a BDC under the 1940 Act. The Fund has limited operating history as a private investment vehicle and 
limited operating history as a BDC. As a result, prospective investors have limited track record or history on which to base their 
investment decision. There can be no assurance that the results achieved by similar strategies managed by FDS or its affiliates 
will be achieved for the Fund. Past performance should not be relied upon as an indication of future results. Moreover, the Fund is 
subject to all of the business risks and uncertainties associated with any inexperienced business, including the risk that it will not 
achieve its investment objectives and that the value of an investor’s investment could decline substantially or that the investor will 
suffer a complete loss of its investment in the Fund.

The Adviser and the portfolio managers have limited prior experience managing a BDC, and the investment philosophy and 
techniques used by the Adviser to manage a BDC may differ from the investment philosophy and techniques previously 
employed by the Adviser, its affiliates, and the portfolio managers in identifying and managing past investments. In addition, the 
1940 Act and the Code impose numerous constraints on the operations of BDCs and RICs that do not apply to the other types of 
investment vehicles. For example, under the 1940 Act, BDCs are required to invest at least 70% of their total assets primarily in 
securities of qualifying U.S. private companies or thinly traded public companies, cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government 
securities and other high-quality debt investments that mature in one year or less from the time of investment. In addition, in order 
to qualify as a RIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Fund is required to meet certain source-of-income and asset 
diversification requirements. The Adviser’s and the portfolio managers’ limited experience in managing a portfolio of assets 
under such constraints may hinder their respective ability to take advantage of attractive investment opportunities and, as a result, 
achieve the Fund’s investment objective. 
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Risk of Failure to Achieve Investment Objective. The Adviser cannot provide assurances that it will be able to identify, 
choose, make or realize investments of the type targeted for the Fund. There is also no guarantee that the Adviser will be able to 
source attractive investments for the Fund within a reasonable period of time. There can be no assurance that the Fund will be 
able to generate returns for the investors or that returns will be commensurate with the risks of the investments. The Fund may not 
be able to achieve its investment objectives and investors may lose some or all of their invested capital. The failure by the Fund to 
obtain indebtedness on favorable terms or in the desired amount will adversely affect the returns realized by the Fund and impair 
the Fund’s ability to achieve its investment objective. 

Competition with Other Entities, Including Commercial Banks, Commercial Financing Companies, BDCs, Insurance 
Companies and Other Private Funds. Other entities compete with the Fund to make the types of investments that the Fund plans 
to make. Certain of these competitors may be substantially larger, have considerably greater financial, technical and marketing 
resources than the Fund will have and offer a wider array of financial services. There may be intense competition for investments 
of the type the Fund intends to make, and such competition may result in less favorable investment terms than might otherwise 
exist. The competitive pressures the Fund faces may have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows. 

Risk of Dependence on Key Personnel of the Adviser. The Fund will depend on the diligence, skill, experience and 
network of business contacts of the Adviser’s portfolio management team. There can be no assurances that certain members of 
the team will continue to provide investment services to the Adviser. The loss of key personnel would limit the Fund’s ability to 
achieve its investment objectives and operate as anticipated.

Illiquid Investments and Restrictions on Withdrawal. Our Common Shares are illiquid investments for which there is not 
and will likely not be a secondary market. If the Fund makes repurchase offers, we will offer to repurchase Common Shares at a 
price that is estimated by our internal valuation processes to be equal to our NAV per share on the last day of such quarter, which 
may be lower than the price that you paid for our Common Shares. As a result, to the extent asset prices have declined and to the 
extent you have the ability to sell your Common Shares pursuant to our share repurchase program, the price at which you may sell 
Common Shares may be lower than the amount you paid in connection with the purchase of Common Shares in our Offering. 

Fund Investors have No Right to Control the Fund’s Operations. The Fund is managed exclusively by the Adviser. Fund 
investors will not make decisions with respect to the management, disposition or other realization of any investment, the day-to-
day operations of the Fund, or any other decisions regarding the Fund’s business and affairs, except for limited circumstances. 
Specifically, Fund investors will not have an opportunity to evaluate for themselves the relevant economic, financial and other 
information regarding investments by the Fund or receive any financial information issued directly by the portfolio companies 
that is available to the Adviser. Fund investors should expect to rely solely on the ability of the Adviser with respect to the Fund’s 
operations. 

The Fund’s Assets are Subject to Recourse. The assets of the Fund, including any investments made by and any capital 
held by the Fund are available to satisfy all liabilities and other obligations of the Fund, as applicable. If the Fund becomes 
subject to a liability, parties seeking to have the liability satisfied may have recourse to the Fund’s assets generally and may not 
be limited to any particular asset, such as the investment giving rise to the liability. 

No Assurance the Fund Will be Able to Obtain Leverage. The Fund will seek to regularly employ a significant amount of 
direct or indirect leverage in a variety of forms through borrowings, derivatives and other financial instruments as part of its 
investment program. However, there can be no assurance that the Fund will be able to obtain indebtedness at all or to the desired 
degree or that indebtedness will be accessible by the Fund at any time or in connection with any particular investment. If 
indebtedness is available to the Fund, there can be no assurance that such indebtedness will be available in the desired amount or 
on terms favorable to the Fund and/or terms comparable to terms obtained by competitors. The terms of any indebtedness are 
expected to vary based on the counterparty, timing, size, market interest rates, other fees and costs, duration, advance rates, 
eligible investments or collateral, ability to borrow in currencies other than the U.S. dollar and Fund investor creditworthiness and 
composition. Moreover, market conditions or other factors may cause or permit the amount of leverage employed by the Fund to 
fluctuate over the Fund’s life. Furthermore, the Fund may seek to obtain indebtedness on an investment-by-investment basis, and 
leverage may not be available or may be available on less desirable terms in connection with particular investments. The 
instruments and borrowing utilized by the Fund to leverage its investments may be collateralized by other assets of the Fund. 

It is expected that the Fund will directly or indirectly incur indebtedness collateralized by the Fund’s assets. As a BDC, 
with certain limited exceptions, the Fund will only be permitted to borrow amounts such that the Fund’s asset coverage ratio, as 
defined in the 1940 Act, equals at least 150% (equivalent to $2 of debt outstanding for each $1 of equity) after such borrowing. If 
the Fund is unable to obtain and maintain the desired amount of borrowings on favorable terms, the Adviser may seek to realize 
the Fund’s investments earlier than originally expected. 
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No Assurance of the Availability of Leverage. The Fund is expected to utilize leverage, however, there can be no assurance 
that the Fund will be able to obtain indebtedness. If indebtedness is available, there can be no assurance that such indebtedness 
will be on terms favorable to the Fund and/or terms comparable to terms obtained by competitors, including with respect to costs, 
duration, size, advance rates and interest rates. Moreover, market conditions or other factors may cause or permit the amount of 
leverage employed by the Fund to fluctuate over its life. For example, if leverage is obtained later in the Fund’s life, the Fund 
may immediately deploy such leverage in order to achieve the desired borrowing ratio, which may involve making distributions 
of borrowed funds. If the Fund is unable to, or not expected to be able to, obtain indebtedness in connection with a particular 
investment, the Fund may determine not to make the investment or may invest a different proportion of its available capital in 
such investment. This may affect the ability of the Fund to make investments, could adversely affect the returns of the Fund and 
may impair its ability to achieve its investment objective. In addition, the lender may impose certain diversification or other 
requirements, and these restrictions are expected to impact the ability of the Fund to participate in certain investments or the 
amount of the Fund’s participation in certain investments. 

Leverage Risk. The Fund will seek to employ direct or indirect leverage in a variety of forms, including through 
borrowings, derivatives, and other financial instruments as part of its investment program, which leverage is expected to be 
secured by the Fund’s assets. The greater the total leverage of the Fund relative to its assets, the greater the risk of loss and 
possibility of gain due to changes in the values of its investments. The extent to which the Fund uses leverage may have other 
significant consequences to Fund investors, including, the following: (i) greater fluctuations in the net assets of the Fund; (ii) use 
of cash flow (including capital contributions) for debt service and related costs and expenses, rather than for additional 
investments, distributions, or other purposes; (iii) to the extent that the Fund’s cash proceeds are required to meet principal 
payments, the Fund investors may be allocated income (and therefore incur tax liability) in excess of cash available for 
distribution; (iv) in certain circumstances the Fund may be required to harvest investments prematurely or in unfavorable market 
conditions to service its debt obligations, and in such circumstances the recovery the Fund receives from such harvests may be 
significantly diminished as compared to the Fund’s expected return on such investments; (v) limitation on the Fund’s flexibility to 
make distributions to Fund investors (vi) the sale of assets that are pledged to secure the indebtedness; (vii) increased interest 
expense if interest rate levels were to increase significantly; (viii) during the term of any borrowing, the Fund’s returns may be 
materially reduced by increased costs attributable to regulatory changes; and (ix) banks and dealers that provide financing to the 
Fund may apply discretionary margin, haircut, financing and collateral valuation policies. Changes by banks and dealers in any of 
the foregoing may result in large margin calls, loss of financing and forced liquidations of positions at disadvantageous prices. 
The cost associated with the use of leverage may not be recouped through investments or may significantly reduce the 
profitability of any investment. Certain types of loans require a fee payment irrespective if the credit facility is actually used and 
may require an annual fee to extend the facility. There can also be no assurance that the Fund will have sufficient cash flow or be 
able to liquidate sufficient assets to meet its debt service obligations. As a result, the Fund’s exposure to losses, including a 
potential loss of principal, as a result of which Fund investors could potentially lose all or a portion of their investments in the 
Fund, may be increased due to the use of leverage and the illiquidity of the investments generally. Similar risks and consequences 
apply with respect to indebtedness related to a particular asset or portfolio of assets. 

To the extent that the Fund enters into multiple financing arrangements, such arrangements may contain cross-default 
provisions that could magnify the effect of a default. If a cross-default provision were exercised, this could result in a substantial 
loss for the Fund. 

As a BDC, we generally will be required to meet a coverage ratio of total assets to total borrowings and other senior 
securities, which include all of our borrowings and any preferred shares that we may issue in the future, of at least 150%. As 
defined in the 1940 Act, asset coverage of 150% means that for every $100 of net assets we hold, we may raise $200 from 
borrowing and issuing senior securities. In addition, while any senior securities remain outstanding, we will be required to make 
provisions to prohibit any dividend distribution to our shareholders or the repurchase of such securities or shares unless we meet 
the applicable asset coverage ratios at the time of the dividend distribution or repurchase. If this ratio were to fall below 150%, we 
could not incur additional debt and could be required to sell a portion of our investments to repay some debt when it is 
disadvantageous to do so. This could have a material adverse effect on our operations and investment activities. Moreover, our 
ability to make distributions to you may be significantly restricted or we may not be able to make any such distributions 
whatsoever. The amount of leverage that we will employ will be subject to oversight by our Board, a majority of whom are 
Independent Trustees with no material interests in such transactions. 

Although borrowings by the Fund have the potential to enhance overall returns that exceed the Fund’s cost of funds, they 
will further diminish returns (or increase losses on capital) to the extent overall returns are less than the Fund’s cost of funds. In 
addition, borrowings by the Fund may be secured by the shareholders’ investments as well as by the Fund’s assets and the 
documentation relating to such borrowing may provide that during the continuance of a default under such borrowing, the 
interests of the investors may be subordinated to such borrowing. 
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Obtaining a Rating from a Credit Rating Agency. The Fund may apply to a credit rating agency to rate the Fund and/or its 
assets in order to provide the Fund access to different sources of indebtedness or capital as well as to help meet the Fund’s 
risk/return objectives, its overall target indebtedness ratio or other considerations as determined by the Adviser. In connection 
with such rating, the credit rating agency may review and analyze the Fund’s counterparties, FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser 
and Administrator), the investments and expected investments of the Fund, the legal structure of the Fund, the historical and 
current Fund investors and Fund performance data. There can be no assurance that the Fund will apply for such a rating, that a 
credit rating agency will provide a rating or that such a rating will be beneficial to the Fund. In addition, when making investment 
decisions for the Fund (including establishing the Fund’s investment portfolio), the Adviser may consider the implications of the 
investment portfolio on a credit rating agency’s rating of the Fund and tailor the Fund’s investment portfolio taking into account 
such considerations. There is a risk that a rating agency could incorrectly rate, or downgrade ratings which could have a material 
effect on the Fund, including its assets and its ability to acquire indebtedness.

Expedited Investment Decisions. Investment analyses and decisions by the Adviser may be required to be undertaken on an 
expedited basis to take advantage of investment opportunities. In such cases, the information available to the Adviser at the time 
of making an investment decision may be limited. Therefore, no assurance can be given that the Adviser will have knowledge of 
all circumstances that may adversely affect an investment. In addition, the Adviser may rely upon independent consultants and 
other sources in connection with its evaluation of proposed investments, and no assurance can be given as to the accuracy or 
completeness of the information provided by such independent consultants or other sources or to the Fund’s right of recourse 
against them in the event errors or omissions do occur. 

Insurance Risk. FDS has purchased and expects to maintain an omnibus insurance policy or policies which includes 
coverage in respect of the Fund, the Adviser and their affiliates, as well as other clients, including certain of their respective 
indemnified persons (which omnibus insurance policy or policies may provide coverage to the Adviser and its affiliates, as 
applicable, for events unrelated to the Fund). The premiums for such shared insurance policies generally are borne by FDS and 
the clients covered by such policies, and such shared insurance policy or policies are expected to have an overall cap on coverage 
for all the insured parties thereunder. To the extent an insurable event results in claims in excess of such cap, the Fund may not 
receive as much in insurance proceeds as it would have received if separate insurance policies had been purchased for each 
insured party. Similarly, insurable events may occur sequentially in time while subject to a single overall cap. To the extent 
insurance proceeds for one such event are applied towards a cap and the Fund experiences an insurable loss after such event, the 
Fund’s receipts from such insurance policy may also be diminished. Insurance policies covering the Fund, the premiums of which 
are paid in whole or in part by the Fund, may provide insurance coverage to indemnified persons for conduct that would not be 
covered by indemnification. In addition, the Fund may need to initiate litigation in order to collect from an insurance provider, 
which may be lengthy and expensive for the Fund and which ultimately may not result in a financial award. In addition, the 
Adviser may cause the Fund to purchase and maintain insurance coverage that provides coverage to the Fund, and certain 
indemnified persons, in which case, the premiums would be borne by the Fund. 

While FDS expects to allocate insurance expenses in a manner it determines to be fair and equitable, taking into account 
any factors it deems relevant to the allocation of such expenses, because of the uncertainty of whether claims will arise in the 
future and the timing and the amount that may be involved in any such claim, the determination of how to allocate such expenses 
may require FDS to take into consideration facts and circumstances that are subjective in nature. It is unlikely that FDS will be 
able to accurately allocate the expenses of any such insurance policies based on the actual claims related to a particular client, 
including the Fund. 
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Indemnification Risk. The Fund is required to indemnify the Adviser, the members of the Board and each other person 
indemnified under the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Fund (as amended or restated from time to time, the 
“Declaration of Trust”) and the Bylaws of the Fund (as amended or restated from time to time, the “Bylaws”) for liabilities 
incurred in connection with the Declaration of Trust, the Bylaws, the Advisory Agreement and the Fund’s activities, except in 
certain circumstances. Subject to the limits on indemnification under Section 17(h) of the 1940 Act, the Fund’s Declaration of 
Trust provides that the Fund shall not indemnify such persons to the extent liability and losses are the result of, negligence or 
misconduct in the case of an Interested Trustee, officer, employee sponsor, controlling person or agent of the Fund, or gross 
negligence or willful misconduct in the case of an Independent Trustee. Subject to the limits on indemnification under Section 
17(i) of the 1940 Act, the Advisory Agreement provides that the Adviser shall not be protected against any liability to the Fund or 
its shareholders by reason of willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence on the Adviser’s part in the performance of its 
duties or by reason of the reckless disregard of its duties and obligations. The Fund will also indemnify certain service providers, 
including the Administrator and the Fund’s auditors, as well as consultants and sourcing, operating and joint venture partners. 
Such liabilities may be material and may have an adverse effect on the returns to the Fund investors. The indemnification 
obligation of the Fund would be payable from the assets of the Fund. The application of the indemnification and exculpation 
standards may result in Fund investors bearing a broader indemnification obligation in certain cases than they would in the 
absence of such standards. As a result of these considerations, even though such provisions will not act as a waiver on the part of 
any investor of any of its rights which are not permitted to be waived under applicable law, the Fund may bear significant 
financial losses even where such losses were caused by the conduct, as described above, of such indemnified persons. 

Portfolio Valuation Risk. The Adviser, subject to the oversight of the Board, determines the valuation of the Fund’s 
investments. It is expected that most of the Fund’s investments will not have readily available market quotations, which will 
require the Adviser to estimate, in accordance with the Adviser’s valuation policies, the fair value of such investments on the 
valuation date. Fair value pricing is based on subjective judgments, and it is possible that the fair value of a security may differ 
materially from the value that would be realized if the security were sold. Absent bad faith or manifest error, valuation 
determinations of the Adviser will be conclusive and binding on the Fund investors. 

In addition, the Adviser may have an interest in determining higher valuations in order to be able to present better 
performance to prospective investors. In certain cases, the Fund may hold an investment in an issuer experiencing distress or 
going through bankruptcy. In such a situation, the Adviser may continue to place a favorable valuation on such investment due to 
the Adviser’s determination that the investment is sufficiently secured despite the distressed state or bankruptcy of the issuer. 
However, no assurances can be given that this assumption is justified or that such valuations will be accurate in the long term. In 
addition, an investment in a portfolio company may not be permanently written-off or permanently written down despite its 
distressed state or covenant breach until such portfolio company experiences a material corporate event (e.g., bankruptcy or 
partial sale) which establishes an objective basis for such revised valuation. In these circumstances, the Adviser has an interest in 
delaying any such write-offs or write-downs to maintain a higher management fee base and thus, management fees paid to the 
Adviser. 

In addition, the Fund may rely on third-party valuation services to assist in determining the value of certain investments. An 
investment may not have a readily ascertainable market value and accordingly, could potentially make it difficult to determine a 
fair value of an investment and may yield an inaccurate valuation. Further, because of the Adviser’s knowledge of the investment, 
the valuation services may defer to the Adviser’s valuation even where such valuation may not be accurate or the determination 
thereof involved a conflict of interest. Additionally, the Fund may also choose to discontinue the use of any third-party valuation 
services at any time, which could create a conflict of interest and impair the third-party valuation service’s independence. An 
inaccurate valuation of an investment could have a substantial impact on the Fund. 

Due Diligence Risk. When conducting due diligence and making an assessment regarding a potential investment, the 
Adviser will be required to rely on resources available to it, including internal sources of information as well as information 
provided by existing and potential obligors, any equity sponsor(s), lenders and other independent sources. The due diligence 
process may at times rely on limited or incomplete information. 



32

The Adviser will select investments for the Fund in part on the basis of publicly available information filed with various 
government regulators or information made directly available to the Adviser. Although the Adviser will evaluate all such 
information and data and seek independent corroboration when it considers it appropriate and reasonably available, the Adviser 
may not be in a position to confirm the completeness, genuineness or accuracy of such information and data. The Adviser is 
dependent upon the integrity of the management of the entities filing such information and of such companies and third parties 
providing such information, as well as the financial reporting process in general. The value of an investment made by the Fund 
may be affected by fraud, misrepresentation or omission on the part of a company or any related parties to such company, or by 
other parties to the investment (or any related collateral and security arrangements). Such fraud, misrepresentation or omission 
may adversely affect the value of the investment and/or the value of the collateral underlying the investment in question and may 
adversely affect the Fund’s ability to enforce its contractual rights relating to that investment or the relevant obligor’s ability to 
repay the principal or interest on the investment. 

In addition, the Adviser may rely upon independent consultants or experts in connection with its evaluation of proposed 
investments. There can be no assurance that these consultants or experts will accurately evaluate such investments. Investment 
analyses and decisions by the Adviser may be undertaken on an expedited basis in order to make it possible for the Fund to take 
advantage of short-lived investment opportunities. In such cases, the available information at the time of an investment decision 
may be limited, inaccurate and/or incomplete. In addition, the financial information available to the Adviser may not be accurate 
or provided based upon accepted accounting methods. Accordingly, the Adviser cannot guarantee that the due diligence 
investigation it carries out with respect to any investment opportunity will reveal or highlight all relevant facts that may be 
necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity which may have a material adverse effect on the performance of 
the Fund. 

Compliance with Applicable Law. Although the Adviser will seek for it and the Fund to comply with all U.S. federal, state 
and local lending regulations and to obtain all required licenses, there is no assurance that the Adviser or the Fund will be able to 
obtain all required licenses or always be compliant or that there will not be allegations of non-compliance even if the Adviser and 
the Fund were or are fully compliant. Any violation of applicable law or failure to comply with regulatory requirements could 
result in, among other things, revocation of required licenses or registrations, loss of approval status, termination of contracts 
without compensation, damages, fines, penalties, litigation costs, investigation costs and even restrictions on the ability of the 
Fund’s ability to conduct business. 

Litigation Risk. The Adviser will act in good faith and use reasonable judgment in managing the Fund. It is impossible for 
the Adviser to foresee what allegations may be brought by a regulatory agency or a third party, and the Adviser will seek to avoid 
litigation, if, in the Adviser’s judgment, the circumstances warrant an alternative resolution. If an allegation is brought or 
litigation is commenced against the Fund, the Fund will incur legal fees and costs to respond to the allegations and to defend any 
resulting litigation, this could have an adverse effect on the Fund’s financial performance. 

Possession of Material Non-Public Information, Limiting the Adviser’s Discretion. From time to time, the Adviser (in its 
capacity as investment manager of investment vehicles, funds or accounts or in connection with investment activities on its own 
behalf) and its affiliates receive material non-public information with respect to issuers of publicly-traded securities or other 
securities in connection with, among other examples, acquisitions, refinancings, restructurings of such issuers that the Adviser 
reviews or participates in, oftentimes unrelated to its management of the Fund. In such circumstances, the Fund may be 
prohibited, by law, contract or by virtue of the Adviser’s policies and procedures, from (i) selling all or a portion of a position in 
such issuer, thereby potentially incurring trading losses as a result, (ii) establishing an initial position or taking any greater 
position in such issuer, and (iii) pursuing other investment opportunities related to such issuer. In order to prevent the portfolio 
managers of the Fund from receiving material, non-public information that may prevent them from being able to trade in 
investments in other accounts the portfolio managers manage, portfolio management personnel (including the portfolio managers, 
research analysts, and traders) may be subject to information barriers and prevented from accessing certain information regarding 
Fund investments to which investors are otherwise entitled, such as information about a borrower’s business prospects, financial 
situation and liquidity situation. 

Systems and Operational Risks. The Fund depends on the Adviser and Administrator to develop and implement 
appropriate systems for the Fund’s activities. The Fund also relies heavily and on a regular basis on financial, accounting and 
other data processing systems to evaluate investments, to monitor its portfolio and capital, and to generate risk management and 
other reports that are critical to oversight of the Fund’s activities. In addition, the Fund relies on information systems to store 
sensitive information about the Fund, the Adviser, their affiliates and the shareholders. Certain of the Fund’s and the Adviser’s 
activities will be dependent upon systems operated by third parties, including custodians, market counterparties and other service 
providers, and the Fund and the Adviser may not be in a position to adequately verify the risks or reliability of such third-party 
systems. These programs or systems may be subject to certain defects, failures or interruptions, including, but not limited to data 
or securities price data errors, mathematical or statistical errors, or computer system implementation errors or other errors, 
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omissions, imperfections and malfunctions, including those caused by computer “worms,” viruses and power failures. Failures in 
the systems employed by the Adviser, administrators, custodians, counterparties, exchanges and similar clearance and settlement 
facilities and other parties could result in mistakes made in the confirmation or settlement of transactions, or in transactions not 
being properly booked, evaluated or accounted for. Disruptions in the Fund’s operations or breach of the Fund’s information 
systems may cause the Fund to suffer, among other things, financial loss, the disruption of its business, liability to third parties, 
regulatory penalties or reputational damage. Any of the foregoing failures or disruptions could have a material adverse effect on 
the Fund and the shareholders’ investment therein. 

Reliance on Data; Data Errors. The Adviser is highly reliant on the gathering, cleaning, culling and analysis of large 
amounts of data from third-party and other external sources. It is not possible or practicable, however, to factor all relevant, 
available data into economic forecasts or trading decisions. The Adviser will use its discretion to determine what data to gather 
with respect to any investment and what subset of that data the research models take into account to produce forecasts that may 
have an impact on ultimate investment decisions. In addition, it is inevitable that not all desired or relevant data will be available 
to, or processed by, the Adviser at all times. In these cases, the Adviser may continue to generate forecasts and make investment 
decisions based on the data available to it. In addition, the Adviser may determine that certain available data, while potentially 
useful in generating forecasts or making investment decisions, is not cost effective to gather due to either the technology costs or 
third-party vendor costs and, in these cases, the Adviser will not utilize the subject data. Investors should be aware that there is no 
guarantee that the data actually utilized in making investment decisions will be the most accurate data available or even free of 
errors. Investors should assume that the foregoing limitation and risks associated with gathering, cleaning, culling and analysis of 
large amounts of data from third party and other external sources are an inherent part of investing with an adviser such as the 
Adviser. 

Risk Evaluation Models. The Adviser may develop proprietary risk evaluation models that seek to estimate risk based on 
numerous factors. These models may, for a variety of reasons, fail to accurately predict risk level, and correlations among, 
strategies and investments, including because of scarcity of historical data with respect to certain strategies and investments, 
erroneous underlying assumptions, and estimates for certain data, or other defects in inputs and the models, or because future 
events may not necessarily follow historical norms. In and of themselves, these risk evaluation models do not manage or reduce 
risk and, at most, provide certain assistance to the Adviser when determining a course of action. 

Public Disclosure Obligations. The Fund, the Adviser or their respective affiliates, service providers, or agents may from 
time to time be required or may, in their discretion, determine that it is advisable to disclose certain information about the Fund 
and the Fund investors, including investments held directly or indirectly by the Fund and the names and level of beneficial 
ownership of certain of the Fund investors, to (i) regulatory or taxing authorities of certain jurisdictions, which have or assert 
jurisdiction over the disclosing party or in which the Fund directly or indirectly invests, or (ii) any lenders, counterparty of, or 
service provider to, the Adviser or the Fund (and its subsidiaries). Disclosure of confidential information under such 
circumstances will not be regarded as a breach of any duty of confidentiality and, in certain circumstances, the Fund, the Adviser 
or any of their affiliates, Service Providers (as defined below) or agents, may be prohibited from disclosing to any Fund investor 
that any such disclosure has been made. 

Cybersecurity Risk. With the increased use of technologies such as the Internet and cloud computing to conduct business, 
the Fund is susceptible to operational, information security and related risks. In general, cyber incidents can result from deliberate 
attacks or unintentional events. Cyber-attacks include, but are not limited to, gaining unauthorized access to digital systems (e.g., 
through “hacking” or malicious software coding) for purposes of misappropriating assets or sensitive information, corrupting 
data, or causing operational disruption. Cyber-attacks may also be carried out in a manner that does not require gaining 
unauthorized access, such as causing denial-of-service attacks on websites (i.e., efforts to make network services unavailable to 
intended users). Cyber incidents affecting the Fund’s or the Adviser’s service providers have the ability to cause disruptions and 
impact business operations, potentially resulting in financial losses, interference with the Fund’s ability to value its investments, 
impediments to trading, the inability of shareholders to transact business, violations of applicable privacy and other laws, 
regulatory fines, penalties, reputational damage, reimbursement or other compensation costs, or additional compliance costs. 
Similar adverse consequences could result from cyber incidents affecting counterparties with which the Fund engages in 
transactions, governmental and other regulatory authorities, exchange and other financial market operators, banks, brokers, 
dealers, insurance companies and other financial institutions (including financial intermediaries and service providers) and other 
parties. In addition, substantial costs may be incurred in order to prevent any cyber incidents in the future. While the Fund’s 
service providers have established business continuity plans in the event of, and risk management systems to prevent, such cyber 
incidents, there are inherent limitations in such plans and systems including the possibility that certain risks have not been 
identified. Furthermore, the Fund cannot control the cyber security plans and systems put in place by its service providers or any 
other third parties whose operations may affect the Fund or its shareholders. The Fund and its shareholders could be negatively 
impacted as a result. 
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Technology Systems Risk. The Fund depends on the Adviser to develop and implement appropriate systems for its 
activities. The Fund may rely on computer programs to evaluate certain securities and other investments, to monitor their 
portfolios, to trade, clear and settle securities transactions and to generate asset, risk management and other reports that are 
utilized in the oversight of the Fund’s activities. In addition, certain of the Fund’s and the Adviser’s operations interface with or 
depend on systems operated by third parties, including loan servicers, custodians and administrators, and the Adviser may not 
always be in a position to verify the risks or reliability of such third-party systems. For example, the Fund and the Adviser 
generally expect to provide statements, reports, notices, updates, requests and any other communications in electronic form, such 
as e-mail or posting on a web-based reporting site or other internet service, in lieu of or in addition to sending such 
communications as hard copies via fax or mail. These programs or systems may be subject to certain defects, failures or 
interruptions, including, but not limited to, those caused by ‘hacking’ or other security breaches, computer ‘worms,’ viruses and 
power failures. Such failures could cause settlement of trades to fail, lead to inaccurate accounting, recording or processing of 
trades and cause inaccurate reports, which may affect the Fund’s ability to monitor its investment portfolio and its risks. Any such 
defect or failure could cause the Fund to suffer financial loss, disruption of its business, liability to clients or third parties, 
regulatory intervention or reputational damage. 

No Registration as an Investment Company. While the Fund is not registered as an investment company under the 1940 
Act, it is subject to regulation as a BDC under the 1940 Act and is required to adhere to the provisions of the 1940 Act applicable 
to BDCs. The Common Shares have not been recommended by any U.S. federal or state, or any non-U.S., securities commission 
or regulatory authority. Furthermore, the foregoing authorities have not confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of the 
Fund’s registration statement or this Annual Report. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense. 

Rights Against Third Parties, Including Third-Party Service Providers. The Fund is reliant on the performance of third-
party service providers, including FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and Administrator), auditors, legal advisers, lenders, 
bankers, brokers, consultants, sourcing, operating and joint venture partners and other service providers (collectively, “Service 
Providers”). Further information regarding the duties and roles of certain of these Service Providers is provided in the Fund’s 
registration statement. The Fund may bear the risk of any errors or omissions by such Service Providers. In addition, misconduct 
by such Service Providers may result in reputational damage, litigation, business disruption and/or financial losses to the Fund. 
Each Fund investor’s contractual relationship in respect of its investment in Common Shares of the Fund is with the Fund only 
and Fund investors are not in contractual privity with the Service Providers. Therefore, generally, no Fund investor will have any 
contractual claim against any Service Provider with respect to such Service Provider’s default or breach. Accordingly, Fund 
investors must generally rely upon the Adviser to enforce the Fund’s rights against Service Providers. In certain circumstances, 
which are generally not expected to prevail, Fund investors may have limited rights to enforce the Fund’s rights on a derivative 
basis or may have rights against Service Providers if they can establish that such Service Providers owe duties to the Fund 
investors. In addition, Fund investors will have no right to participate in the day-to-day operation of the Fund and decisions 
regarding the selection of Service Providers. Rather, the Adviser will select the Fund’s Service Providers and determine the 
retention and compensation of such providers without the review by or consent of the Fund investors. The Fund investors must 
therefore rely on the ability of the Adviser to select and compensate Service Providers and to make investments and manage and 
dispose of investments. 

Lack of Diversification Risk. The Fund is classified as a non-diversified investment company within the meaning of the 
1940 Act, which means that the Fund is not limited by the 1940 Act with respect to the proportion of its assets that it may invest 
in securities of a single issuer. To the extent that the Fund assumes large positions in the securities of a small number of issuers, 
its NAV may fluctuate to a greater extent than that of a diversified investment company as a result of changes in the financial 
condition or the market’s assessment of the issuer. The Fund may also be more susceptible to any single economic or regulatory 
occurrence than a diversified investment company. Beyond the Fund’s asset diversification requirements as a RIC under the 
Code, the Fund does not have fixed guidelines for diversification, and its investments could be concentrated in relatively few 
portfolio companies. Although the Fund is classified as a non-diversified investment company within the meaning of the 1940 
Act, it maintains the flexibility to operate as a diversified investment company. To the extent that the Fund operates as a non-
diversified investment company, it may be subject to greater risk. 

The Fund does not have fixed guidelines for diversification by industry or type of security, and investments may be 
concentrated in only a few industries or types of securities. Further, if the expected amount of leverage is not obtained or 
deployed, the Fund may be more concentrated in an investment than originally anticipated. As a result, the Fund’s investments 
may be concentrated and the poor performance of a single investment may have pronounced negative consequences to the Fund 
and the aggregate returns realized by the Fund investors. 
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Consultation with Sourcing and Operating Partners Risk. In certain circumstances, sourcing and operating partners may 
be aware of and consulted in advance in relation to certain investments made by the Fund. While sourcing and operating partners 
will be subject to confidentiality obligations, they are not restricted from engaging in any activities or businesses that may be 
similar to the business of the Fund or competitive with the Fund. In particular, sourcing and operating partners may use 
information available to them as sourcing and operating partners of the Adviser in a manner that conflicts with the interests of the 
Fund. Except in limited circumstances, the sourcing and operating partners are generally not obligated to account to the Adviser 
for any profits or income earned or derived from their activities or businesses or inform the Adviser of any business opportunity 
that may be appropriate for the Fund. 

Timing of Realization of Investments. The Adviser, in its discretion, may seek to realize the Fund’s investments earlier 
than originally expected, which may be accomplished through one or more transactions, including transactions with another 
investment fund or account sponsored or managed by FDS or its affiliates, which will be for a price equal to the fair value of such 
investment. The value of a security in a transaction between the Fund and an account sponsored or managed by FDS or its 
affiliates, subject to approval by the Board, will be determined by the Adviser and verified by one or more third-party valuation 
services. The Adviser may seek such realizations in order to support the Fund’s target risk/return profile with respect to the 
Fund’s unrealized investments, taking into account factors such as, but not limited to, the Fund’s expense ratio relative to such 
assets and the availability of, or repayment obligations with respect to, any credit facilities. 

Risks Relating to the Use of Proceeds. While the Fund generally intends to make all distributions of net proceeds in 
accordance with “Use of Proceeds,” the amount and timing of distributions from the Fund to the Fund investors will be at the 
discretion of the Board, who may also direct that amounts available for distribution be retained in the Fund (i) to be used to 
satisfy, or establish reserves for, the Fund’s current or anticipated obligations (including the Advisory Fee and any other 
expenses) or (ii) for reinvestment of the cost basis of an investment. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to the timing and 
amount of distributions from the Fund. 

Risk of Electronic Delivery of Certain Documents. Shareholders will be deemed to consent to electronic delivery or 
posting to the Administrator’s website or other service of: (i) certain closing documents such as the Declaration of Trust, the 
Bylaws and the Subscription Agreements; (ii) any notices or communications required or contemplated to be delivered to the 
Fund investors by the Fund, the Adviser, or any of their respective affiliates, pursuant to applicable law or regulation; (iii) certain 
tax-related information and documents; and (iv) notices, requests, demands, consents or other communications and any financial 
statements, reports, schedules, certificates or opinions required to be provided to the Fund investors under any agreements. There 
are certain costs and possible risks associated with electronic delivery. Moreover, the Adviser cannot provide any assurance that 
these communication methods are secure and will not be responsible for any computer viruses, problems or malfunctions 
resulting from the use of such communication methods. See Item 1A. Risk Factors –“Technology Systems Risk” and 
“Cybersecurity Risk” above. 

Risks Relating to Handling of Mail. Mail addressed to the Fund and received at its registered office will be forwarded 
unopened to the forwarding address supplied by the Fund to be processed. None of the Fund, the Adviser or any of their trustees, 
officers, advisers or Service Providers will bear any responsibility for any delay howsoever caused in mail reaching the 
forwarding address. 

General Credit Risks. The Fund may be exposed to losses resulting from default and foreclosure of any such loans or 
interests in loans in which it has invested. Therefore, the value of underlying collateral, the creditworthiness of borrowers and the 
priority of liens are each of great importance in determining the value of the Fund’s investments. In the event of foreclosure, the 
Fund or an affiliate thereof may assume direct ownership of any assets collateralizing such foreclosed loans. The liquidation 
proceeds upon the sale of such assets may not satisfy the entire outstanding balance of principal and interest on such foreclosed 
loans, resulting in a loss to the Fund. Any costs or delays involved in the effectuation of loan foreclosures or liquidation of the 
assets collateralizing such foreclosed loans will further reduce proceeds associated therewith and, consequently, increase possible 
losses to the Fund. In addition, no assurances can be made that borrowers or third parties will not assert claims in connection with 
foreclosure proceedings or otherwise, or that such claims will not interfere with the enforcement of the Fund’s rights. 

Volatility of Investment Prices. The prices of the Fund’s investments can be volatile. In addition, price movements may 
also be influenced by, among other things, changing supply and demand relationships, trade, fiscal, monetary and exchange 
control programs and national and international political and economic events and policies. In addition, governments from time to 
time intervene in certain markets. Such intervention often is intended directly to influence prices and may cause or contribute to 
rapid fluctuations in asset prices, which may adversely affect the Fund’s returns. 
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Syndication and/or Transfer of Investments Risk. The Fund, directly or through the use of one or more subsidiary 
investment vehicles, may originate and/or purchase certain debt assets, including ancillary equity assets. The Fund may also 
purchase certain assets (including, participation interests or other indirect economic interests) that have been originated by other 
affiliated or unaffiliated parties and/or trading on the secondary market. The Fund may, in certain circumstances, originate or 
purchase such assets with the intent of syndicating and/or otherwise transferring a significant portion thereof, including to one or 
more offshore funds or accounts managed by the Adviser or any of its affiliates or to other third-party investment firms. In such 
instances, the Fund will bear the risk of any decline in value prior to such syndication and/or other transfer. In addition, the Fund 
will also bear the risk of any inability to syndicate or otherwise transfer such assets or such amount thereof as originally intended, 
which could result in the Fund owning a greater interest therein than anticipated. 

Raising Additional Capital. The Fund may need additional capital to fund new investments and grow its portfolio of 
investments. Unfavorable economic conditions could increase the Fund’s funding costs or limit its access to the capital. A 
reduction in the availability of new capital could limit the Fund’s ability to grow. In addition, the Fund is required to distribute at 
least 90% of its net ordinary income and net short-term capital gains in excess of net long-term capital losses, if any, to investors 
to maintain its qualification as a RIC. As a result, to the extent Members do not participate in the DRIP, these earnings will not be 
available to fund new investments. An inability on the Fund’s part to access the capital successfully could limit its ability to grow 
its business and execute its business strategy fully and could decrease its earnings, if any, which would have an adverse effect on 
the value of its securities. 

Counterparty Risks. To the extent that contracts for investment will be entered into between the Fund and a market 
counterparty as principal (and not as agent), the Fund is exposed to the risk that the market counterparty may, in an insolvency or 
similar event, be unable to meet its contractual obligations to the Fund. The Fund may have a limited number of potential 
counterparties for certain of its investments, which may significantly impair the Fund’s ability to reduce its exposure to 
counterparty risk. In addition, difficulty reaching an agreement with any single counterparty could limit or eliminate the Fund’s 
ability to execute such investments altogether. Because certain purchases, sales, hedging, financing arrangements and other 
instruments in which the Fund will engage are not traded on an exchange but are instead traded between counterparties based on 
contractual relationships, the Fund is subject to the risk that a counterparty will not perform its obligations under the related 
contracts. Although the Fund intends to pursue its remedies under any such contracts, there can be no assurance that a 
counterparty will not default and that the Fund will not sustain a loss on a transaction as a result. 

Service Provider Risk. The Fund relies heavily on financial, accounting and other data processing systems developed by 
the Fund’s service providers. While the Adviser generally conducts a review of service providers engaged by the Fund prior to 
retaining such service providers pursuant to the Adviser’s policies, the Adviser may not be in a position to verify the risks or 
reliability of such service providers’ programs or systems and the Adviser’s review may fail to identify material issues and 
concerns related to the service provider in question. 

The Adviser conducts appropriate due diligence on any outside vendor that provides products or services to the Adviser and 
its affiliates and enters into an appropriate contract in accordance with the Adviser’s policies and procedures, and any applicable 
third-party risk management frameworks. The Adviser’s relationships with outside vendors are managed so that appropriate 
controls and oversight are in place to protect Adviser’s interests, including safeguarding of private and confidential information 
regarding the Fund and the Adviser’s employees. Despite the Adviser’s best efforts, there can be no assurances that the Adviser 
will be able to identify and address all material risks related to vendors. Furthermore, the Fund may experience losses as a result 
of the failures or inadequate level of service by vendors.

Return of Distributions to Satisfy Unpaid Debts of the Fund. Under Delaware law, the investors could, under certain 
circumstances, be required to return distributions made by the Fund to satisfy unpaid debts of the Fund that were in existence at 
the time the distributions were made. 

Changes in the Fund’s Investment Objective, Operating Policies or Strategies Without Prior Notice or Investor 
Approval. The Fund’s Board has the authority to modify or waive certain of the Fund’s operating policies and strategies without 
prior notice (except as required by the 1940 Act) and without investor approval. However, absent investor approval, the Fund 
may not change the nature of its business so as to cease to be, or withdraw its election as, a BDC. Under Delaware law, the Fund 
also cannot be dissolved without prior investor approval. The Fund cannot predict the effect any changes to its current operating 
policies and strategies would have on its business, operating results and value of its stock. Nevertheless, the effects may adversely 
affect the Fund’s business and impact its ability to make distributions. 
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Changes to the Fund’s Declaration of Trust Without Prior Investor Approval. Our Board may, without shareholder vote, 
subject to certain exceptions, amend or otherwise supplement the Declaration of Trust by making an amendment, a Declaration of 
Trust supplemental thereto or an amended and restated Declaration of Trust, including without limitation to classify the Board, to 
impose advance notice bylaw provisions for Trustee nominations or for shareholder proposals, to require super- majority approval 
of transactions with significant shareholders or other provisions that may be characterized as anti-takeover in nature. 

Allocation of Investment Opportunities and Related Conflicts. The Fund generally is prohibited under the 1940 Act from 
participating in certain transactions with its affiliates without prior approval of the Independent Trustees and, in some cases, the 
SEC. Any person that owns, directly or indirectly, 5% or more of the Fund’s outstanding voting securities is an affiliate of the 
Fund for purposes of the 1940 Act, and the Fund generally is prohibited from buying or selling any security from or to such 
affiliate, absent the prior approval of the Independent Trustees. The 1940 Act also prohibits certain “joint” transactions with 
certain of the Fund’s affiliates, which could include investments in the same issuers (whether at the same or different times), 
without prior approval of the Independent Trustees and, in some cases, the SEC. If a person acquires more than 25% of the 
Fund’s voting securities, the Fund will be prohibited from buying or selling any security from or to such person or certain of that 
person’s affiliates, or entering into prohibited joint transactions with such persons, absent the prior approval of the SEC. Similar 
restrictions limit the Fund’s ability to transact business with the Fund’s officers or Trustees or their affiliates. These prohibitions 
will affect the manner in which investment opportunities are allocated between the Fund and other funds managed by the Adviser 
or its affiliates. Most importantly, the Fund generally is prohibited from co-investing with certain other accounts or affiliates of 
the Adviser in Fidelity-originated loans and financings unless the Fund co-invests in accordance with the applicable regulatory 
guidance or an exemptive order it has received from the SEC permitting such co-investment activities. Accordingly, while the 
Adviser intends to allocate suitable opportunities among the Fund and other accounts or affiliates of the Adviser based on the 
principles described above, the prohibition on co-investing with affiliates could significantly limit the scope of investment 
opportunities available to the Fund. In particular, the decision by the Adviser to allocate an opportunity to one or more other 
accounts or to an affiliate of the Adviser, or the existence of a prior co-investment structure, might cause the Fund to forgo an 
investment opportunity that it otherwise would have made. Similarly, the Fund generally may be limited in its ability to invest in 
an issuer in which another account or affiliate of the Adviser had previously invested. The Fund may in certain circumstances also 
be required to sell, transfer or otherwise reorganize assets in which the Fund has invested with other accounts or affiliates of the 
Adviser at times that the Fund may not consider advantageous. 

The Fund and the Adviser have received an exemptive order from the SEC that permits the Fund to co-invest with certain 
other persons in negotiated transactions, including certain affiliates of the Adviser and certain funds managed and controlled by 
the Adviser and its affiliates. The Fund is permitted to co-invest alongside certain other accounts or other affiliates of the Adviser 
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the exemptive order.

Distributions Risk. The Fund intends to pay monthly distributions to shareholders out of assets legally available for 
distribution. The Fund cannot guarantee that it will achieve investment results that will allow it to make a specified level of cash 
distributions or year-to-year increases in cash distributions. If the Fund is unable to satisfy the asset coverage test applicable to it 
as a BDC, or if the Fund violates certain debt financing agreements, its ability to pay distributions to shareholders could be 
limited. All distributions will be paid at the discretion of the Board and will depend on the Fund’s earnings, financial condition, 
maintenance of RIC status, compliance with applicable BDC regulations, compliance with debt financing agreements and such 
other factors as the Board may deem relevant from time to time. The distributions the Fund pays to investors in a year may 
exceed the Fund’s taxable income for that year and, accordingly, a portion of such distributions may constitute a return of capital 
for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

Investors who periodically receive the payment of a distribution from a RIC consisting of a return of capital for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes may be under the impression that they are receiving a distribution of the RIC’s net ordinary income or 
capital gains when they are not. Accordingly, investors should read carefully any written disclosure accompanying a distribution 
from the Fund and the information about the specific tax characteristics of the Fund’s distributions provided to investors after the 
end of each calendar year, and should not assume that the source of any distribution is the Fund’s net ordinary income or capital 
gains. 

Repurchase Program Risk. Subject to market conditions and the approval of the Board, the Fund may from time to time 
offer to repurchase shares pursuant to written tenders by shareholders. The Fund has no obligation to offer to repurchase shares 
and each repurchase, if any, will only be made at such times, in such amounts and on such terms as may be determined by the 
Fund, in its sole discretion. You may not be able to sell your shares at all in the event the Fund does not offer to repurchase 
shares, absent a liquidity event. The Fund does not currently intend to undertake a liquidity event, and we are not obligated by our 
charter or otherwise to effect a liquidity event at any time. If less than the full amount of Common Shares requested to be 
repurchased in any given repurchase offer are repurchased, funds will be allocated pro rata based on the total number of Common 
Shares being repurchased.
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Timing of Repurchase May be Disadvantageous. In the event a shareholder chooses to participate in our share repurchase 
program, the shareholder will be required to provide us with notice of intent to participate prior to knowing what the NAV per 
share of the class of shares being repurchased will be on the repurchase date. Although a shareholder will have the ability to 
withdraw a repurchase request prior to the repurchase date, to the extent a shareholder seeks to sell shares to us as part of our 
periodic share repurchase program, the shareholder will be required to do so without knowledge of what the repurchase price of 
our shares will be on the repurchase date. 

Pandemics and Natural Disasters Risk. Widespread disease as well as other pandemics and epidemics, and natural or 
environmental disasters, such as earthquakes, droughts, fires, floods, hurricanes, tsunamis and climate-related phenomena 
generally, have been and can be highly disruptive to economies and markets, adversely impacting individual companies, sectors, 
industries, markets, currencies, interest and inflation rates, credit ratings, investor sentiment, and other factors affecting the value 
of the Fund’s investments. Economies and financial markets throughout the world have become increasingly interconnected, 
which increases the likelihood that events or conditions in one region or country will adversely affect markets or issuers in other 
regions or countries, including the United States. Additionally, market disruptions may result in increased market volatility; 
regulatory trading halts; closure of domestic or foreign exchanges, markets, or governments; or market participants operating 
pursuant to business continuity plans for indeterminate periods of time. Further, market disruptions can (i) prevent the Fund from 
executing advantageous investment decisions in a timely manner, (ii) negatively impact the Fund’s ability to achieve its 
investment objective, as well as the operations of the Fund and the Adviser, and (iii) may exacerbate the risks discussed 
elsewhere in this Form 10-K, including political, social, and economic risks. 

Risks Relating to the Fund’s Investments 

Our investments may be risky and, subject to compliance with our 80% test and the 70% test for Qualifying Assets under 
the requirements for BDCs, there is no limit on the amount of any such investments in which we may invest. 

Risks Associated with Portfolio Companies. 

• General Risks. A fundamental risk associated with the Fund’s investment strategy is that the companies in whose debt the 
Fund invests will be unable to make regular payments (e.g., principal and interest payments) when due, or at all, or 
otherwise fail to perform. Portfolio companies could deteriorate as a result of, among other factors, an adverse development 
in their business, poor performance by their management teams, a change in the competitive environment, an economic 
downturn or legal, tax or regulatory changes. Portfolio companies that the Adviser expects to remain stable may in fact 
operate at a loss or have significant variations in operating results, may require substantial additional capital to support their 
operations or to maintain their competitive position, or may otherwise have a weak financial condition or be experiencing 
financial distress. 

• Highly Leveraged Portfolio Companies. Portfolio companies may be highly leveraged, and there is no restriction on the 
amount of debt a portfolio company can incur. Substantial indebtedness may add additional risk with respect to a portfolio 
company, and could (i) limit its ability to borrow money for its working capital, capital expenditures, debt service 
requirements, strategic initiatives or other purposes; (ii) require it to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash flow from 
operations to the repayment of its indebtedness, thereby reducing funds available to it for other purposes; (iii) make it more 
highly leveraged than some of its competitors, which may place it at a competitive disadvantage; and/or (iv) subject it to 
restrictive financial and operating covenants, which may preclude it from favorable business activities or the financing of 
future operations or other capital needs. In some cases, proceeds of debt incurred by a portfolio company could be paid as a 
dividend to stockholders rather than retained by the portfolio company for its working capital. Leveraged companies are 
often more sensitive to declines in revenues, increases in expenses, and adverse business, political, or financial 
developments or economic factors such as a significant rise in interest rates, a severe downturn in the economy or 
deterioration in the condition of such companies or their industries. A leveraged company’s income and net assets will tend 
to increase or decrease at a greater rate than if borrowed money were not used. 

If a portfolio company is unable to generate sufficient cash flow to meet principal and interest payments to its lenders, it 
may be forced to take other actions to satisfy such obligations under its indebtedness. These alternative measures may 
include reducing or delaying capital expenditures, selling assets, seeking additional capital, or restructuring or refinancing 
indebtedness. Any of these actions could significantly reduce the value of the Fund’s investment(s) in such portfolio 
company. If such strategies are not successful and do not permit the portfolio company to meet its scheduled debt service 
obligations, the portfolio company may also be forced into liquidation, dissolution or insolvency, and the value of the 
Fund’s investment in such portfolio company could be significantly reduced or even eliminated. 
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• Issuer/Borrower Fraud. Of paramount concern in originating loans is the possibility of material misrepresentation or 
omission on the part of borrowers or guarantors. Such inaccuracy or incompleteness may adversely affect the valuation of 
the collateral underlying the loans or may adversely affect the ability of the Fund or its affiliates to perfect or effectuate a 
lien on the collateral securing the loan. The Fund or its affiliates will rely upon the accuracy and completeness of 
representations made by borrowers to the extent reasonable but cannot guarantee such accuracy or completeness. 

• Reliance on Company Management. The Adviser generally will seek to monitor the performance of investments in 
operating companies either through interaction with the board of the applicable company and/or by maintaining an ongoing 
dialogue with the company’s management team. However, the Fund generally will not be in a position to control any 
borrower by virtue of investing in its debt and the portfolio company’s management will be primarily responsible for the 
operations of the company on a day-to-day basis. Although it is the intent of the Fund to invest in companies with strong 
management teams, there can be no assurance that the existing management team, or any new one, will be able to operate 
the company successfully. In addition, the Fund is subject to the risk that a borrower in which it invests may make business 
decisions with which the Fund disagrees and the management of such borrower, as representatives of the common equity 
holders, may take risks or otherwise act in ways that do not serve the interests of the debt investors, including the Fund. 
Furthermore, in exercising its investment discretion, the Adviser may in certain circumstances commit funds of the Fund to 
other entities that will be given a mandate to make certain investments consistent with the Fund’s investment objectives and 
that may earn a performance-based fee on those investments. Once such a commitment is made, such entities will have full 
control over the investment of such funds, and the Adviser will cease to have such control. 

• Environmental Matters. Ordinary operation or the occurrence of an accident with respect to the portfolio companies in 
which the Fund invest could cause major environmental damage, which may result in significant financial distress to the 
Fund’s investments and any portfolio company holding such assets, even if covered by insurance. Certain environmental 
laws and regulations may require that an owner or operator of an asset address prior environmental contamination, which 
could involve substantial cost and other liabilities. The Fund (and the Fund investors) may therefore be exposed to 
substantial risk of loss from environmental claims arising in respect of its investments. Furthermore, changes in 
environmental laws or regulations or the environmental condition of an investment may create liabilities that did not exist at 
the time of its acquisition and that could not have been foreseen. Even in cases where the Fund is indemnified by the seller 
with respect to an investment against liabilities arising out of violations of environmental laws and regulations, there can be 
no assurance as to the financial viability of the seller to satisfy such indemnities or the ability of the Fund to achieve 
enforcement of such indemnities. See also “Item 1A. Risk Factors – Provision of Managerial Assistance; Control Person 
Liability” below. 
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• No Readily Determinable Valuation. The Fund expects that many of its portfolio investments will take the form of 
securities that are not publicly traded. The fair value of loans, securities and other investments that are not publicly traded 
may not be readily determinable and will be valued at fair value as determined in good faith by the Adviser, including to 
reflect significant events affecting the value of the Fund’s investments. Most, if not all, of the Fund’s investments (other 
than cash and cash equivalents) will be classified as Level 3 assets under Topic 820 of the U.S. Financial Accounting 
Standards Board’s Accounting Standards Codification, as amended, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. This means 
that the Fund’s portfolio valuations will be based on unobservable inputs and the Fund’s assumptions about how market 
participants would price the asset or liability in question. The Fund expects that inputs into the determination of fair value 
of portfolio investments will require significant management judgment or estimation. Factors used in determining fair value 
vary by investment type and may include market or investment specific events, transaction data, estimated cash flows, and 
market observations of comparable investments. In determining fair value of the Fund’s loan investments the types of 
factors that the fair value committee (the “Fair Value Committee”) may take into account generally include comparison to 
publicly-traded securities including such factors as yield, maturity and measures of credit quality, the enterprise value of the 
portfolio company, the nature and realizable value of any collateral, the portfolio company’s ability to make payments and 
its earnings and discounted cash flows, the markets in which the portfolio company does business and other relevant 
factors. Because such valuations, and particularly valuations of private securities and private companies, are inherently 
uncertain, may fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based on estimates, determinations of fair value may differ 
materially from the values that would have been used if a ready market for these loans and securities existed. The Fund 
engages one or more independent valuation firms to prepare month-end valuation recommendations for investments for 
which market quotations are not readily available as of the last calendar day of each month. The independent valuation firm 
undertakes a full analysis of the investments and provides estimated fair values for such investments to the Adviser. The 
independent valuation firm also provides analyses to support their valuation methodology and calculations. The Adviser’s 
Fair Value Committee reviews and approves each valuation recommendation and confirms it has been calculated in 
accordance with the Board-approved policies and procedures. The Fund’s NAV could be adversely affected if 
determinations regarding the fair value of the Fund’s investments were materially higher than the values that the Fund 
ultimately realizes upon the disposal of such loans and securities. In addition, the method of calculating the Advisory Fee 
may result in conflicts of interest between the Adviser, on the one hand, and investors on the other hand, with respect to the 
valuation of investments. 

• Follow-On Investments in Portfolio Companies. Following an initial investment in a portfolio company, the Fund may 
make additional investments in that portfolio company as “follow-on” investments, in order to: 

• increase or maintain in whole or in part the Fund’s equity ownership percentage; 

• exercise warrants, options or convertible securities that were acquired in the original or subsequent financing; 

• attempt to preserve or enhance the value of the Fund’s investment; or 

• invest in various growth or merger and acquisition related initiatives. 

The Fund may elect not to make follow-on investments or otherwise lack sufficient funds to make those investments. 

The Fund has the discretion to make any follow-on investments, subject to the availability of capital resources. The failure 
to make follow-on investments may, in some circumstances, jeopardize the continued viability of a portfolio company and 
the Fund’s initial investment, or may result in a missed opportunity for the Fund to increase its participation in a successful 
operation. Even if the Fund has sufficient capital to make a desired follow-on investment, it may elect not to make a follow-
on investment because it may not want to increase its concentration of risk, because it prefers other opportunities or because 
it is inhibited by compliance with BDC requirements or compliance with the requirements for maintenance of its RIC 
status. 

• Equity Interests in Portfolio Companies. The Fund does not generally intend to take controlling equity positions in the 
Fund’s portfolio companies. To the extent that the Fund does not hold a controlling equity interest in a portfolio company, it 
will be subject to the risk that such portfolio company may make business decisions with which the Fund disagrees, and the 
stockholders and management of such portfolio company may take risks or otherwise act in ways that are adverse to the 
Fund’s interests. Due to the lack of liquidity for the debt and equity investments that the Fund typically holds in portfolio 
companies, the Fund may not be able to dispose of its investments in the event it disagrees with the actions of a portfolio 
company and may therefore suffer a decrease in the value of its investments. 
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• Defaults by Portfolio Companies. A portfolio company’s failure to satisfy financial or operating covenants imposed by the 
Fund or other lenders could lead to defaults and, potentially, acceleration of the time when the loans are due and foreclosure 
on the portfolio company’s assets representing collateral for its obligations. This could trigger cross defaults under other 
agreements and jeopardize the portfolio company’s ability to meet its obligations under the debt that the Fund holds and the 
value of any equity securities the Fund owns. The Fund may incur expenses to the extent necessary to seek recovery upon 
default or to negotiate new terms with a defaulting portfolio company. 

• Third Party Litigation. The Fund’s investment activities subject it to the normal risks of becoming involved in litigation 
initiated by third parties. This risk is somewhat greater where the Fund exercises control or influence over a company’s 
direction. The expense of defending against claims by third parties and paying any amounts pursuant to settlements or 
judgments would, absent willful misconduct or gross negligence by the Adviser, be borne by the Fund (to the extent not 
borne by the portfolio companies) and would reduce net assets or could require Fund investors to return to the Fund 
distributed capital and earnings. The Adviser and others are indemnified in connection with such litigation, subject to 
certain conditions. 

• Nature of Investments Risk. The Adviser will have broad discretion in making investments for the Fund. There can be no 
assurance that the Adviser will correctly evaluate the nature or magnitude of the various factors that could affect the value 
of and return on the Fund’s investments. Prices of investments may be volatile, and a variety of factors that are inherently 
difficult to predict, such as domestic or international economic and political developments, may significantly affect the 
results of the Fund’s activities and the value of its investments. These factors and others may significantly affect the results 
of the Fund’s activities and the value of its investments. 

An investment in the Fund is suitable only for those investors willing to risk losing some or all of their principal investment 
and who have the experience and ability to evaluate the risks and merits of an investment in the Fund. Potential investors 
should consult with their investment advisers, attorneys and accountants prior to investing in the Fund. The following is a 
description of certain factors which, along with the information discussed in this Form 10-K and such other matters as may 
be material to an investment in the Fund, should be considered by prospective investors in the Fund. 

Provision of Managerial Assistance and Control Person Liability. The Fund may obtain rights to participate in the 
governance of certain of the Fund’s portfolio companies. In such instances, the Fund typically could designate board members to 
serve on the boards of portfolio companies. The designation of representatives and other measures contemplated could expose the 
assets of the Fund to claims by a portfolio company, its security holders and its creditors, including claims that the Fund is a 
controlling person and thus is liable for securities laws violations and other liabilities of a portfolio company. The exercise of 
control over a company may impose additional risks of liability for environmental damage, product defects, failure to supervise 
management, violation of governmental regulations (including securities laws) or other types of liability in which the limited 
liability generally characteristic of business ownership may be ignored. If these liabilities were to arise, the Fund might suffer a 
significant loss. These measures also could result in certain liabilities in the event of the bankruptcy or reorganization of a 
portfolio company, could result in claims against the Fund if the designated board members violate their fiduciary or other duties 
to a portfolio company or fail to exercise appropriate levels of care under applicable corporate or securities laws, environmental 
laws or other legal principles, and could expose the Fund to claims that it has interfered in management to the detriment of a 
portfolio company. While the Adviser intends to operate the Fund in a way that will minimize the exposure to these risks, the 
possibility of successful claims cannot be precluded, nor can there be any assurance as to whether laws, rules, regulations and 
court decisions will be expanded or otherwise applied in a manner that is adverse to portfolio companies and the Fund and the 
Fund investors. 

Adverse Developments in the Debt Capital Markets. Recent market and economic conditions have been unprecedented and 
challenging. Continued concerns about the systemic impact of inflation, energy costs, the pandemic, geopolitical issues, the 
availability and cost of credit, sovereign debt levels, the mortgage market and a declining real estate market in the U.S. have 
contributed to increased market volatility and diminished expectations for the U.S. economy. These conditions, combined with 
volatile oil prices, declining business and consumer confidence and increased unemployment have contributed to volatility of 
unprecedented levels. The factors described above have led to an overall reduction in liquidity in the debt capital markets, 
including sources of liquidity that the Fund may wish to utilize. Such conditions could reduce the availability of leverage to the 
Fund, its investments, and potential purchasers of the Fund’s investments or make such leverage more expensive to obtain, 
thereby adversely affecting the performance of the Fund. 
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Market Risk. The success of the Fund’s activities will be affected by general economic and market conditions, such as 
interest rates, inflation rates, industry conditions, competition, technological developments, tax laws, availability of credit, 
economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including laws relating to taxation of the Fund’s investments), trade barriers, currency 
exchange controls, and national and international political circumstances (including wars, terrorist acts or security operations). 
These factors may affect, among other things, the level and volatility of securities’ prices, the liquidity of the Fund’s investments 
and the availability of certain securities and investments. Volatility or illiquidity could impair the Fund’s profitability or result in 
losses. The Fund may maintain substantial trading positions that can be materially adversely affected by the level of volatility in 
the financial markets—the larger the positions, the greater the potential for loss. Global markets have recently experienced 
unprecedented volatility and losses. The effects thereof are continuing and there can be no assurance that the Fund will not be 
materially adversely affected. Furthermore, none of these conditions is within the control of the Adviser. 

Temporary Investments; Use of Cash and Cash Equivalents Risk. Pending investment in other types of Qualifying Assets 
(including directly originated loans and broadly syndicated loans, as described herein), the Fund’s investments can consist of 
cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government securities or high-quality debt securities maturing in one year or less from the time of 
investment, which are referred to herein, collectively, as temporary investments, so that 70% of the Fund’s assets would be 
Qualifying Assets. Generally, these securities offer less potential for gains than other types of securities. 

Exposure to Foreign Markets Risk. While the Fund does not expect to invest in securities of issuers located in foreign 
markets as a principal investment strategy, it may invest in such securities if the Adviser believes it is advantageous to do so. 
Foreign securities, foreign currencies, and securities issued by U.S. entities with substantial foreign operations may involve 
significant risks in addition to the risks inherent in U.S. investments. Investments in securities and instruments in emerging and 
developing markets could involve substantial risks not typically associated with investing in more established markets, including, 
without limitation, those set forth below under “Non-U.S. Securities Risk.” 

Foreign investments involve risks relating to local political, economic, regulatory, or social instability, military action or 
unrest, or adverse diplomatic developments, and may be affected by actions of foreign governments adverse to the interests of 
U.S. investors. Such actions may include expropriation or nationalization of assets, confiscatory taxation, restrictions on U.S. 
investment or on the ability to repatriate assets or convert currency into U.S. dollars, or other government intervention. From time 
to time, the Adviser and/or its affiliates may determine that, as a result of regulatory requirements that may apply to it and/or its 
affiliates due to investments in a particular country, investments in the securities of issuers domiciled or listed on trading markets 
in that country above certain thresholds (which may apply at the account level or in the aggregate across all accounts managed by 
the Adviser and/or its affiliates) may be impractical or undesirable. In such instances, the Adviser may limit or exclude 
investment in a particular issuer, and investment flexibility may be restricted. Additionally, governmental issuers of foreign debt 
securities may be unwilling to pay interest and repay principal when due and may require that the conditions for payment be 
renegotiated. There is no assurance that the Adviser will be able to anticipate these potential events or counter their effects. In 
addition, the value of securities denominated in foreign currencies and of dividends and interest paid with respect to such 
securities will fluctuate based on the relative strength of the U.S. dollar. 

Foreign security trading, settlement and custodial practices (including those involving securities settlement where fund 
assets may be released prior to receipt of payment) are often less developed than those in U.S. markets and may result in 
increased investment or valuation risk or substantial delays in the event of a failed trade or the insolvency of, or breach of duty 
by, a foreign broker-dealer, securities depository, or foreign sub-custodian. In addition, the costs associated with foreign 
investments, including withholding taxes, brokerage commissions, and custodial costs, are generally higher than with U.S. 
investments. 

Foreign markets may offer less protection to investors than U.S. markets and tend to be less regulated. Foreign issuers are 
generally not bound by uniform accounting, auditing, and financial reporting requirements and standards of practice comparable 
to those applicable to U.S. issuers. Adequate public information on foreign issuers may not be available, and it may be difficult to 
secure dividends and information regarding corporate actions on a timely basis. In general, there is less overall governmental 
supervision and regulation of securities exchanges, brokers, and listed companies than in the United States. Regulatory 
enforcement may be influenced by economic or political concerns, and investors may have difficulty enforcing their legal rights 
in foreign countries. 

Some foreign securities impose restrictions on transfer within the United States or to U.S. persons. Although securities 
subject to such transfer restrictions may be marketable abroad, they may be less liquid than foreign securities of the same class 
that are not subject to such restrictions. 
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The risks of foreign investing may be magnified for investments in emerging markets. Security prices in emerging markets 
can be significantly more volatile than those in more developed markets, reflecting the greater uncertainties of investing in less 
established markets and economies. In particular, countries with emerging markets may have relatively unstable governments, 
may present the risks of nationalization of businesses, restrictions on foreign ownership and prohibitions on the repatriation of 
assets, and may have less protection of property rights than more developed countries. The economies of countries with emerging 
markets may be based on only a few industries, may be highly vulnerable to changes in local or global trade conditions, and may 
suffer from extreme and volatile debt burdens or inflation rates. Local securities markets may trade a small number of securities 
and may be unable to respond effectively to increases in trading volume, potentially making prompt liquidation of holdings 
difficult or impossible at times.  

Credit Risk. Performance may be affected by the default or perceived credit impairment of the Fund’s investments and by 
general or sector specific credit spread widening. Credit risks associated with the Fund’s investments include (among others): (i) 
the possibility that earnings of the obligor may be insufficient to meet its debt service obligations; (ii) the obligor’s assets 
declining in value; and (iii) the declining creditworthiness, default and potential for insolvency of the obligor during periods of 
rising interest rates and economic downturn. An economic downturn and/or rising interest rates could severely disrupt the market 
for the investments and adversely affect the value of the Fund’s investments and the ability of the obligors thereof to repay 
principal and interest. In turn, this could have a material adverse effect on the performance of the Fund, and, by extension, the 
Fund’s business, financial condition, results of operations and the value of the Common Shares. In the event of a default by a 
borrower, the Fund will bear a risk of loss of principal and accrued interest on that investment. Any such investment may become 
defaulted for a variety of reasons, including non-payment of principal or interest, as well as breaches of contractual covenants. A 
defaulted investment may become subject to workout negotiations or may be restructured by, for example, reducing the interest 
rate, a write-down of the principal, and/or changes to its terms and conditions. Any such process may be extensive and protracted 
over time, and therefore may result in substantial uncertainty with respect to the ultimate recovery on the defaulted investments. 
In addition, significant costs might be imposed on the lender, further affecting the value of the investment. The liquidity in such 
defaulted investment may also be limited and, where a defaulted investment is sold, it is unlikely that the proceeds from such sale 
will be equal to the amount of unpaid principal and interest owed on that investment. This would have a material adverse effect 
on the value of the Fund’s portfolio, and, by extension, the Fund’s business, financial condition, results of operations and the 
value of the Common Shares. In the case of secured loans, restructuring can be an expensive and lengthy process which could 
have a material negative effect on the Fund’s anticipated return on the restructured loan. By way of example, it would not be 
unusual for any costs of enforcement to be paid out in full before the repayment of interest and principal. This would substantially 
reduce the Fund’s anticipated return on the restructured loan. 

Risks Relating to Securities Lending. Securities lending involves the risk that the borrower may fail to return the securities 
loaned in a timely manner or at all. If the borrower defaults on its obligation to return the securities loaned because of insolvency 
or other reasons, the Fund could experience delays and costs in recovering the securities loaned or in gaining access to the 
collateral. These delays and costs could be greater for foreign securities. If the Fund is not able to recover the securities loaned, 
the Fund may sell the collateral and purchase a replacement investment in the market. The value of the collateral could decrease 
below the value of the replacement investment by the time the replacement investment is purchased.

Insolvency of Issuers, Counterparties, and Intermediaries. Issuers of securities held by the Fund or counterparties to Fund 
transactions that become insolvent or declare bankruptcy can pose special investment risks. In each circumstance, risk of loss, 
valuation uncertainty, increased illiquidity, and other unpredictable occurrences may negatively impact an investment. Each of 
these risks may be amplified in foreign markets, where security trading, settlement, and custodial practices can be less developed 
than those in the U.S. markets, and bankruptcy laws differ from those of the U.S. 

Forming CLOs Risk. To finance investments, we may securitize certain of our secured loans or other investments, 
including through the formation of one or more CLOs, while retaining all or most of the exposure to the performance of these 
investments. This would involve contributing a pool of assets to a special purpose entity and selling debt interests in such entity 
on a non-recourse or limited-recourse basis to purchasers. 

If we create a CLO, we will depend in part on distributions from the CLO’s assets out of its earnings and cash flows to 
enable us to make distributions to shareholders. The ability of a CLO to make distributions will be subject to various limitations, 
including the terms and covenants of the debt it issues. Also, a CLO may take actions that delay distributions in order to preserve 
ratings and to keep the cost of present and future financings lower or the CLO may be obligated to retain cash or other assets to 
satisfy over-collateralization requirements commonly provided for holders of the CLO’s debt, which could impact our ability to 
receive distributions from the CLO. If we do not receive cash flow from any such CLO that is necessary to satisfy the annual 
distribution requirement for maintaining RIC status, and we are unable to obtain cash from other sources necessary to satisfy this 
requirement, we may not maintain our qualification as a RIC, which would have a material adverse effect on an investment in the 
shares. 
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In addition, a decline in the credit quality of loans in a CLO due to poor operating results of the relevant borrower, declines 
in the value of loan collateral or increases in defaults, among other things, may force a CLO to sell certain assets at a loss, 
reducing their earnings and, in turn, cash potentially available for distribution to us for distribution to shareholders. To the extent 
that any losses are incurred by the CLO in respect of any collateral, such losses will be borne first by us as owner of equity 
interests in the CLO. 

The collateral manager for a CLO that we create may be the Fund, the Adviser or an affiliate, and such collateral manager 
may be entitled to receive compensation for structuring and/or management services. To the extent the Adviser or an affiliate 
other than the Fund serves as collateral manager and the Fund is obligated to compensate the Adviser or the affiliate for such 
services, we, the Adviser or the affiliate will implement offsetting arrangements to assure that we, and indirectly, our 
shareholders, pay no additional fees to the Adviser or the affiliate in connection therewith. To the extent the Fund serves as 
collateral manager, the Fund will receive no fees for providing such collateral management services. 

Non-Recourse Obligations Risk. The Fund may invest in non-recourse obligations of issuers. Such obligations are payable 
solely from proceeds collected in respect of collateral pledged by an issuer to secure such obligations. None of the owners, 
officers, directors or incorporators of the issuers, board members, any of their respective affiliates or any other person or entity 
will be obligated to make payments on the obligations. Consequently, the Fund, as holder of the obligations, must rely solely on 
distributions of proceeds of collateral debt obligations and other collateral pledged to secure obligations for payments due in 
respect of principal thereof and interest thereon. If distributions of such proceeds are insufficient to make payments on the 
obligations, no other assets will be available for such payments and following liquidation of all the collateral, the obligations of 
the issuers to make such payments will be extinguished. 

Covenant-Lite Loans Risk. Although the Fund generally expects the transaction documentation of some portion of the 
Fund’s investments to include covenants and other structural protections, a portion of the Fund’s investments may be composed 
of so-called “covenant-lite loans.” Generally, covenant-lite loans either do not have certain maintenance covenants that would 
require the issuer to maintain debt service or other financial ratios or do not contain common restrictions on the ability of the 
issuer to change significantly its operations or to enter into other significant transactions that could affect its ability to repay such 
loans. Ownership of covenant-lite loans may expose the Fund to different risks, including with respect to liquidity, price volatility 
and ability to restructure loans, than is the case with loans that have financial maintenance covenants. As a result, the Fund’s 
exposure to losses may be increased, which could result in an adverse impact on the issuer’s ability to comply with its obligations 
under the loan. 

Debt Guaranteed by a Subsidiary of the Issuer Risk. The Fund may invest in debt that is guaranteed by a subsidiary of the 
issuer. In some circumstances, guarantees of secured debt issued by subsidiaries of a portfolio company and held by the Fund 
may be subject to fraudulent conveyance or similar avoidance claims made by other creditors of such subsidiaries under 
applicable insolvency laws. As a result, such creditors may take priority over the claims of the Fund under such guarantees. Under 
federal or state fraudulent transfer law, a court may void or otherwise decline to enforce such debt and the Fund would no longer 
have any claim against such portfolio company or the applicable guarantor. In addition, the court might direct the Fund to 
disgorge any amounts already received from the portfolio company or a guarantor. In some cases, significant subsidiaries of 
portfolio companies may not guarantee the obligations of the portfolio company; in other cases, a portfolio company may have 
the ability to release subsidiaries as guarantors of the portfolio company’s obligations. The repayment of such investments may 
depend on cash flow from subsidiaries of a portfolio company that are not themselves guarantors of the portfolio company’s 
obligations. 

Loans with Limited Amortization Requirements Risk. The Fund may invest in loans that have limited mandatory 
amortization requirements. While such a loan may obligate a portfolio company to repay the loan out of asset sale proceeds or 
with annual excess cash flow, such requirements may be subject to substantial limitations and/or “baskets” that would allow a 
portfolio company to retain such proceeds or cash flow, thereby extending the expected weighted average life of the investment. 
In addition, a low level of amortization of any debt over the life of the investment may increase the risk that a portfolio company 
will not be able to repay or refinance the loans held by the Fund when they come due at their final stated maturity. 
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Risks Related to Changes in Interest Rates. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental 
monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political considerations and other factors beyond the ability 
of the Fund to control or to forecast. Debt securities have varying levels of sensitivity to changes in interest rates. When the Fund 
chooses to borrow money to make investments, the Fund’s net investment income will depend, in part, upon the difference 
between the rate at which the Fund borrows funds and the rate at which the Fund invest those funds. As a result, the Fund can 
offer no assurance that a significant change in market interest rates would not have a material adverse effect on its net investment 
income in the event the Fund uses debt to finance its investments. In periods of rising interest rates, the Fund’s cost of funds 
would increase, which could reduce its net investment income. The Fund may use interest rate risk management techniques in an 
effort to limit its exposure to interest rate fluctuations. In addition, a rise in the general level of interest rates typically leads to 
higher interest rates applicable to the Fund’s debt investments. 

Credit Markets Risk. Conditions in the credit markets may have a significant impact on the business of the Fund. The credit 
markets in the United States have experienced a variety of difficulties and changed economic conditions in recent years that have 
adversely affected the performance and market value of many securities and financial instruments. There can be no assurance that 
the Fund will not suffer material adverse effects from broad and rapid changes in market conditions in the future. Among other 
things, the level of investment opportunities may decline from the Adviser’s current expectations. As a result, fewer investment 
opportunities may be available to the Fund, although if credit markets remain constrained, the Fund may have the opportunity to 
take larger positions in potential transactions. One possible consequence is that the Fund may take a larger than anticipated period 
to invest capital, as a result of which, at least for some period of time, the Fund may be relatively concentrated in a limited 
number of investments. Consequently, during this period, the returns realized by the shareholders may be substantially adversely 
affected by the unfavorable performance of a small number of these investments. 

Furthermore, market conditions may unfavorably impact the Fund’s ability to secure leverage on terms as favorable as 
more established borrowers in the market, or to obtain any leverage on commercially feasible terms. To the extent the Fund is 
able to secure financing for investments, increases in interest rates or in the risk spread demanded by financing sources would 
make the partial financing of investments with indebtedness more expensive and could limit the Fund’s ability to structure and 
consummate its investments. Although the Adviser believes that the continued unfolding of the credit cycle will result in 
attractive investment opportunities, it may not be able to time its investments correctly, which could result in further depreciation 
in values. Furthermore, market conditions could deteriorate further, and the Fund may be limited in its ability to realize 
investments already made by the Fund due to difficulties in buyers’ ability to obtain financing on favorable terms, or to secure 
financing at all. 

Prepayment Risks. The terms of loans in which the Fund invests may permit the borrowers to voluntarily prepay loans at 
any time, either with no or a nominal prepayment premium. This prepayment right could result in the borrower repaying the 
principal on an obligation held by the Fund earlier than expected. This may happen when there is a decline in interest rates, an 
improvement in the credit market conditions, or the borrower’s improved credit or operating or financial performance allows the 
refinancing of certain classes of debt with lower cost debt. The yield of the Fund’s investments may be affected by the rate of 
prepayments differing from the Adviser’s expectations. To the extent early prepayments increase, they may have a material 
adverse effect on the Fund’s investment objective and profits. In addition, if the Fund is unable to reinvest the proceeds of such 
prepayments received in investments expected to be as profitable, the proceeds generated by the Fund will decline as compared to 
the Adviser’s expectations. 
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Convertible Securities Risk. The Fund may invest in convertible securities, which are bonds, debentures, notes, preferred 
stocks or other securities that may be converted into or exchanged for a specified amount of common stock of the same or 
different issuer within a particular period of time at a specified price or formula. A convertible security entitles its holder to 
receive interest that is generally paid or accrued on debt or a dividend that is paid or accrued on preferred stock, in each case, 
until the convertible security matures or is redeemed, converted or exchanged. Because of their embedded equity component, the 
value of convertible securities is sensitive to changes in equity volatility and price and a decrease in equity volatility and price 
could result in a loss for the Fund. The debt characteristic of convertible securities also exposes the Fund to changes in interest 
rates and credit spreads. The value of the convertible securities may fall when interest rates rise or credit spreads widen. The 
conversion value of a convertible security is determined by the market price of the underlying common stock. If the conversion 
value is low relative to the investment value, the price of the convertible security is governed principally by its investment value. 
To the extent the market price of the underlying common stock approaches or exceeds the conversion price, the price of the 
convertible security will be increasingly influenced by its conversion value. A convertible security generally will sell at a 
premium over its conversion value by the extent to which investors place value on the right to acquire the underlying common 
stock while holding a fixed income security. Generally, the amount of the premium decreases as the convertible security 
approaches maturity. A convertible security may be subject to redemption at the option of the issuer at a price established in the 
convertible security’s governing instrument. If a convertible security held by the Fund is called for redemption, the Fund will be 
required to permit the issuer to redeem the security, convert it into the underlying common stock or sell it to a third party. Any of 
these actions could have an adverse effect on the Fund’s ability to achieve its investment objective. The Fund’s exposure to these 
risks may be unhedged or only partially hedged. 

Structured Credit Instruments Risk. The Fund may invest in structured credit instruments. Structured securities are 
extremely complex and are subject to risks related to, among other things, changes in interest rates, the rate of defaults in the 
collateral pool, the exercise of redemption rights by more senior tranches and the possibility that a liquid market will not exist in 
when the Fund seeks to sell its interest in a structured security. 

Derivative Investments Risk. The Fund may invest in derivative instruments or “derivatives” that include swaps, futures, 
options, structured securities and other instruments and contracts that are derived from, or the value of which is related to, one or 
more underlying securities, financial benchmarks, currencies or indices. Derivatives allow an investor to hedge or speculate upon 
the price movements of a particular security, financial benchmark currency or index at a fraction of the cost of investing in the 
underlying asset. The value of a derivative depends largely upon price movements in the underlying asset. Therefore, many of the 
risks applicable to trading the underlying asset are also applicable to derivatives of such asset. However, there are a number of 
other risks associated with derivatives trading. For example, because many derivatives are leveraged, and thus provide 
significantly more market exposure than the money paid or deposited when the transaction is entered into, a relatively small 
adverse market movement may expose the Fund to the possibility of a loss exceeding the original amount invested. Derivatives 
may also expose investors to liquidity risk, as there may not be a liquid market within which to close or dispose of outstanding 
derivatives contracts. 

All derivative instruments involve risks that are in addition to, and potentially greater than the risks of investing directly in 
securities and other more traditional assets, including: 

• Management Risks. Derivative products are specialized instruments that require investment techniques and risk 
analyses different from those associated with equities and fixed income securities. The use of a derivative requires an 
understanding not only of the underlying instrument but also of the derivative itself. In particular, the use and 
complexity of derivatives require the maintenance of adequate controls to monitor the transactions entered into and 
the ability to assess the risk that a derivative adds to the Fund’s portfolio. 

• Counterparty Risks. This is the risk that a loss may be sustained by the Fund as a result of the failure of the other 
party to a derivative (usually referred to as a “counterparty”) to comply with the terms of the derivative contract. The 
credit risk for exchange-traded derivatives is generally less than for over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivatives, since the 
clearinghouse, which is the issuer or counterparty to each exchange-traded or cleared derivative transaction is the 
counterparty to the derivative transaction. The Fund may post or receive collateral related to changes in the market 
value of a derivative. The Fund also may invest in derivatives that (i) do not require the counterparty to post 
collateral, (ii) require collateral but that do not provide for the Fund’s security interest in it to be perfected, (iii) 
require significant upfront deposits unrelated to the derivatives’ intrinsic value, or (iv) do not require that collateral be 
regularly marked-to-market. When a counterparty’s obligations are not fully secured by collateral, the Fund runs the 
risk of having limited recourse if the counterparty defaults. 
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• Documentation Risks. Many derivative instruments also have documentation risk. Because the contract for each OTC 
derivative transaction is individually negotiated, the counterparty may interpret contractual terms (e.g., the definition 
of default) differently than the Fund, and if it does, the Fund may decide not to pursue its claims against the 
counterparty to avoid incurring the cost and unpredictability of legal proceedings. The Fund, therefore, may be unable 
to obtain payments the Adviser believes are owed to the Fund under derivative instruments or those payments may be 
delayed or made only after the Fund has incurred the costs of litigation. 

• Liquidity Risks. If a derivative transaction is particularly large or if the relevant market is illiquid (as is the case with 
many OTC derivatives), it may not be possible to initiate a transaction or liquidate a position at an advantageous 
price. Less liquid derivative instruments also may fall more in price than other securities during market falls. During 
periods of market disruptions, the Fund may have a greater need for cash to provide collateral for large swings in the 
mark-to-market obligations arising under the derivative instruments used by the Fund. These risks may be further 
exacerbated by requirements under rules issued pursuant to recently enacted financial reform legislation. 

• Leverage Risks. Because many derivatives have a leverage component (i.e., a notional value in excess of the assets 
needed to establish or maintain the derivative position), adverse changes in the value or level of the underlying asset, 
rate or index can result in a loss substantially greater than the amount invested in the derivative itself. Certain 
derivatives have the potential for unlimited loss, regardless of the size of the initial investment. 

• Tax Uncertainties. The taxation of derivatives, including credit default swaps and other transactions in which the 
Fund may participate, is subject to uncertainties. Such transactions may become subject to new laws and regulations, 
possibly with retroactive effect, as well as differing interpretations of existing law and regulations by the relevant 
taxing authorities. There can be no assurance that such changes in law or interpretation will not have a material 
adverse effect on the Fund. 

• Other Risks. Other risks in using derivatives include the risk of mispricing or incorrect valuation of derivatives. Many 
derivatives, in particular OTC derivatives, are complex and their valuation often requires modeling and judgment, 
which increases the risk of mispricing or incorrect valuation. The pricing models used may not produce valuations 
that are consistent with the values the Fund realizes when it closes or sells an OTC derivative. Valuation risk is more 
pronounced when the Fund enters into OTC derivatives with specialized terms because the market value of those 
derivatives in some cases is determined in part by reference to similar derivatives with more standardized terms. 
Incorrect valuations may result in increased cash payment requirements to counterparties, over- and/or under- 
collateralization, and/or errors in calculation of the Fund’s NAV. 

The Fund’s use of derivatives may not be effective or have the desired result. Derivatives involve the risk that changes in 
their value may not move as expected relative to the value of the assets, rates or indices they are designed to track. The risk may 
be more pronounced when outstanding notional amounts in the market exceed the amounts of the referenced assets. For example, 
the Fund’s use of reverse repurchase agreements subjects it to interest costs based on the difference between the sale and 
repurchase price of the securities involved. Derivatives are also subject to currency and other risks. Moreover, suitable derivatives 
may not be available in all circumstances. For example, the economic costs of taking some derivatives positions may be 
prohibitive. In addition, the Adviser may decide not to use derivatives to hedge or otherwise reduce the Fund’s risk exposures, 
potentially resulting in losses for the Fund. 

Counterparties to derivatives contracts may have the right to terminate such contracts if the Fund’s NAV declines below a 
certain level over a specified period of time. The exercise of such a right by the counterparty could have a material adverse effect 
on the Fund’s operations. 

In late October 2020, the SEC adopted Rule 18f-4 related to the use of derivatives and certain other transactions that 
rescinded and withdrew the guidance of the SEC and the SEC staff regarding asset segregation and coverage. Under Rule 18f-4, 
the Fund must trade derivatives and other transactions that potentially create senior securities (except reverse repurchase 
agreements) subject to a value-at-risk ("VaR") leverage limit, certain other testing and derivatives risk management program 
requirements and requirements related to board reporting. These requirements apply unless the Fund qualifies as a “limited 
derivatives user” as defined in Rule 18f-4. Reverse repurchase agreements need to aggregate the amount of indebtedness 
associated with the reverse repurchase agreements or similar financing transactions with the aggregate amount of any other senior 
securities representing indebtedness when calculating the asset coverage ratio (unless the Fund determines to treat such 
agreements and transactions as derivatives for all purposes under the rule). Reverse repurchase agreements are not included in the 
calculation of whether the Fund is a limited derivatives user (unless the Fund determines to treat such agreements and transactions 
as derivatives for all purposes under the rule), but if the Fund is subject to the VaR testing, reverse repurchase agreements and 
similar financing transactions are included for purposes of such testing. These requirements may limit the Fund’s ability to use 
derivatives and reverse repurchase agreements and similar financing transactions as part of the Fund’s investment strategies. 
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These requirements may increase the cost of the Fund’s investments and cost of doing business, which could adversely affect 
investors.

Illiquidity of Fund Investments Risk. The market value of the Fund’s investments will fluctuate with, among other things, 
changes in market rates of interest, general economic conditions, economic conditions in particular industries, the condition of 
financial markets and the financial condition of the issuers of the Fund’s investments. In addition, the lack of an established, 
liquid secondary market for some investments may have an adverse effect on the market value of those investments and on the 
Adviser’s ability to dispose of them. Therefore, no assurance can be given that, if the Adviser decides to dispose of a particular 
investment, it will be able to dispose of such investment at the prevailing market price. 

Default Risk. Defaults by the Fund’s investments will harm the Fund’s operating results. An investment’s failure to satisfy 
financial or operating covenants imposed by the Fund or other lenders could lead to defaults and, potentially, termination of its 
debt financing and foreclosure on its secured assets, which could trigger cross-defaults under other agreements and jeopardize an 
investment’s ability to meet its obligations under the debt or equity securities that the Fund holds. The Fund may incur expenses 
to the extent necessary to seek recovery upon default or to negotiate new terms, which may include the waiver of certain financial 
covenants, with a defaulting investment. 

Distressed and Highly Leveraged Companies Risk. The Fund may make investments in restructurings that involve, or 
otherwise invest in the debt securities of, investments that are experiencing, or are expected to experience, severe financial 
difficulties. These severe financial difficulties may never be overcome and may cause such investments to become subject to 
bankruptcy proceedings. As such, these investments could subject the Fund to certain additional potential liabilities that may 
exceed the value of the Fund’s original investment. Under certain circumstances, payments to the Fund may be reclaimed if any 
such payment or distribution is later determined to have been a fraudulent conveyance, a preferential payment or a similar 
transaction under the applicable bankruptcy and insolvency laws. In addition, under certain circumstances, a lender that has 
inappropriately exercised control of the management and policies of a debtor may have its claims subordinated or disallowed or 
may be found liable for damages suffered by parties as a result of such actions. 

The Fund may also invest in highly leveraged companies. Investment in leveraged companies involves a number of 
significant risks. Leveraged companies in which the Fund invests may have limited financial resources and may be unable to meet 
their obligations under their debt securities that the Fund holds. Such developments may be accompanied by a deterioration in the 
value of any collateral and a reduction in the likelihood of the Fund’s realizing any guarantees that the Fund may have obtained in 
connection with the Fund’s investment. Smaller leveraged companies also may have less predictable operating results and may 
require substantial additional capital to support their operations, finance their expansion or maintain their competitive position. 

Bankruptcy Proceedings Risk. The Fund may hold the debt securities of leveraged companies that may, due to the 
significant volatility of such companies, enter into bankruptcy proceedings. Leveraged companies may experience bankruptcy or 
similar financial distress. The bankruptcy process has a number of significant inherent risks. Many events in a bankruptcy 
proceeding are the product of contested matters and adversary proceedings and are beyond the control of the creditors. A 
bankruptcy filing by an issuer may adversely and permanently affect the issuer. If the proceeding is converted to a liquidation, the 
value of the issuer may not equal the liquidation value that was believed to exist at the time of the investment. The duration of a 
bankruptcy proceeding is also difficult to predict, and a creditor’s return on investment can be adversely affected by delays until 
the plan of reorganization or liquidation ultimately becomes effective. The administrative costs of a bankruptcy proceeding are 
frequently high and would be paid out of the debtor’s estate prior to any return to creditors. Because the standards for 
classification of claims under bankruptcy law are vague, the Fund’s influence with respect to the class of securities or other 
obligations the Fund owns may be lost by increases in the number and amount of claims in the same class or by different 
classification and treatment. In the early stages of the bankruptcy process, it is often difficult to estimate the extent of, or even to 
identify, any contingent claims that might be made. In addition, certain claims that have priority by law (for example, claims for 
taxes) may be substantial. 

Depending on the facts and circumstances of the Fund’s investments and the extent of the Fund’s involvement in the 
management of an investment, upon the bankruptcy of an investment, a bankruptcy court may recharacterize the Fund’s debt 
investments as equity interests and subordinate all or a portion of the Fund’s claim to that of other creditors. This could occur 
even though the Fund may have structured the Fund’s investment as senior debt. 

Exit Financing Risk. The Fund may invest in portfolio companies that are in the process of exiting, or that have recently 
exited, the bankruptcy process. Post-reorganization securities typically entail a higher degree of risk than investments in securities 
that have not undergone a reorganization or restructuring. Moreover, post-reorganization securities can be subject to heavy selling 
or downward pricing pressure after the completion of a bankruptcy reorganization or restructuring. If the Adviser’s evaluation of 
the anticipated outcome of an investment situation should prove incorrect, the Fund could experience a loss. 
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Bankruptcy Involving Non-U.S. Companies Risk. Investment in the debt of financially distressed companies domiciled 
outside the United States involves additional risks. Bankruptcy law and process may differ substantially from that in the United 
States, resulting in greater uncertainty as to the rights of creditors, the enforceability of such rights, reorganization timing and the 
classification, seniority and treatment of claims. In certain developing countries, although bankruptcy laws have been enacted, the 
process for reorganization remains highly uncertain, while other developing countries may have no bankruptcy laws enacted, 
adding further uncertainty to the process for reorganization. 

Investments in Special Situations Risk. The Fund’s investments may involve investments in ‘event-driven’ special 
situations such as recapitalizations, spinoffs, corporate and financial restructurings, litigation or other liability impairments, 
turnarounds, management changes, consolidating industries and other catalyst-oriented situations. Investments in such securities 
are often difficult to analyze, have limited trading histories and have limited in-depth research coverage and, therefore, may 
present an increased risk of loss to the Fund. 

Creditors’ Committee and/or Board Participation Risk. In connection with some of the investments, the Fund may, but is 
not obligated to, seek representation on official and unofficial creditors’ committees and/or boards (or comparable governing 
bodies) of the portfolio companies. While such representation may enable the Adviser to enhance the value of the investments, it 
may also prevent the Fund from disposing of the investments in a timely and profitable manner, because serving on a creditors’ 
committee increases the possibility that the Fund will be deemed an “insider” or a “fiduciary” of the portfolio company. If the 
Adviser concludes that its obligations owed to the other parties as a committee or group member conflict with its duties owed to 
the Fund, it may resign from that committee or group, and the Fund may not realize the benefits, if any, of participation on the 
committee or group. If representation on a creditors’ committee or board causes the Fund or the Adviser to be deemed affiliates or 
related parties of the portfolio company, the securities of such portfolio company held by the Fund may become restricted 
securities, which are not freely tradable. Participation on a creditors’ committee and/or board representation may also subject the 
Fund to additional liability to which they would not otherwise be subject as an ordinary course, third-party investor. The Fund 
will indemnify the Adviser or any other person designated by the Adviser for claims arising from such board and/or committee 
representation, which could adversely affect the return on the investments. The Fund will attempt to balance the advantages and 
disadvantages of such representation when deciding whether and how to exercise its rights with respect to such portfolio 
companies, but changes in circumstances could produce adverse consequences in particular situations. 

High Yield Securities Risk. The Fund may make significant investments in “high yield” debt and preferred securities which 
are rated lower than investment grade by the various credit rating agencies (or in comparable non-rated securities as determined 
by the Adviser). Securities that are rated lower than investment grade are subject to greater risk of loss of principal and interest 
than higher-rated securities and are generally considered to be predominantly speculative with respect to the issuer’s capacity to 
pay interest and repay principal. They are also generally considered to be subject to greater risk than securities with higher ratings 
in the case of deterioration of general economic conditions. Because investors generally perceive that there are greater risks 
associated with lower-rated securities, the yields and prices of such securities may tend to fluctuate more than those for higher-
rated securities. The market for lower-rated securities is thinner and less active than that for higher-rated securities, which can 
adversely affect the prices at which these securities can be sold. In addition, adverse publicity and investor perceptions about 
lower-rated securities, whether or not based on fundamental analysis, may be a contributing factor in a decrease in the value and 
liquidity of such lower-rated securities. 

The Fund may invest in debt of issuers that have defaulted or are anticipated to default. Issuers in this situation frequently 
resort to bankruptcy and other litigation to effect debt restructuring on attractive terms. Such actions may require the Fund to 
spend material amounts on legal and other litigation costs. During such litigation the Fund may not be able to affect the operation 
and management of the real estate collateral, and its value may suffer as a result of loss of tenants, failure to make capital 
improvements or undertake required maintenance. Bankruptcy and other insolvency proceedings are highly complex and may 
result in undesirable outcomes, such as the return of payments characterized as a “preference,” the invalidation of debt as a result 
of a deemed fraudulent conveyance and the recharacterization or equitable subordination of debt. There can be no assurance that 
the Fund will obtain favorable results in bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings. 

Securities that are rated lower than “Baa3” by Moody’s Investor Service, Inc. or lower than “BBB-” by S&P Global 
Ratings are often referred to in the financial press as “junk bonds” and may include securities of issuers in default. “Junk bonds” 
are considered by the rating agencies to be predominately speculative and may involve major risk exposures such as: (i) 
vulnerability to economic downturns and changes in interest rates; (ii) sensitivity to adverse economic changes and corporate 
developments; (iii) redemption or call provisions which may be exercised at inopportune times; and (iv) difficulty in accurately 
valuing or disposing of such securities. 
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Investment in Private and Middle-Market Investments Risk. The Fund will make investments in private and middle-
market companies, which involve a number of significant risks. Generally, little public information exists about these companies, 
and the Fund relies on the ability of the Adviser’s investment professionals to obtain adequate information to evaluate the 
potential returns from investing in these companies. If the Adviser is unable to uncover all material information about these 
companies, it may not make a fully informed investment decision, and the Fund may lose money on the Fund’s investments. 
Middle-market companies generally have less predictable operating results and may require substantial additional capital to 
support their operations, finance expansion or maintain their competitive position. Middle-market companies may have limited 
financial resources, may have difficulty accessing the capital markets to meet future capital needs and may be unable to meet their 
obligations under their debt securities that the Fund holds, which may be accompanied by a deterioration in the value of any 
collateral and a reduction in the likelihood of the Fund’s realizing any guarantees the Fund may have obtained in connection with 
the Fund’s investment. In addition, such companies typically have shorter operating histories, narrower product lines and smaller 
market shares than larger businesses, which tend to render them more vulnerable to competitors’ actions and market conditions, 
as well as general economic downturns. Additionally, middle-market companies are more likely to depend on the management 
talents and efforts of a small group of persons. Therefore, the death, disability, resignation or termination of one or more of these 
persons could have a material adverse impact on the Fund’s investment and, in turn, on the Fund. Middle-market companies also 
may be parties to litigation and may be engaged in rapidly changing businesses with products subject to a substantial risk of 
obsolescence. In addition, the Fund’s executive officers, directors and the Adviser may, in the ordinary course of business, be 
named as defendants in litigation arising from the Fund’s investments. 

Senior Debt Risk. The Fund’s investments may incur debt that ranks equally with, or senior to, the Fund’s investments in 
such companies and such investments may not generate sufficient cash flow to service their debt obligations to the Fund. The 
Fund may invest a portion of the Fund’s capital in second lien and subordinated loans issued by the Fund’s investments. The 
Fund’s investments may have, or be permitted to incur, other debt that ranks equally with, or senior to, the debt securities in 
which the Fund invests. Such subordinated investments are subject to greater risk of default than senior obligations as a result of 
adverse changes in the financial condition of the obligor or in general economic conditions. If the Fund makes a subordinated 
investment in an investment, the investment may be highly leveraged, and its relatively high debt-to-equity ratio may create 
increased risks that its operations might not generate sufficient cash flow to service all of its debt obligations. By their terms, such 
debt instruments may provide that the holders are entitled to receive payment of interest or principal on or before the dates on 
which the Fund is entitled to receive payments in respect of the securities in which the Fund invests. These debt instruments 
would usually prohibit the investments from paying interest on or repaying the Fund’s investments in the event of and during the 
continuance of a default under such debt. Also, in the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy 
of an investment, holders of securities ranking senior to the Fund’s investment in that investment would typically be entitled to 
receive payment in full before the Fund receives any distribution in respect of the Fund’s investment. After repaying senior 
creditors, the investment may not have any remaining assets to use for repaying its obligation to the Fund where the Fund is a 
junior creditor. In the case of debt ranking equally with debt securities in which the Fund invests, the Fund would have to share 
any distributions on an equal and ratable basis with other creditors holding such debt in the event of an insolvency, liquidation, 
dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of the relevant investment. 

Additionally, certain loans that the Fund makes to companies may be secured on a second priority basis by the same 
collateral securing senior secured debt of such companies. The first priority liens on the collateral will secure the investment’s 
obligations under any outstanding senior debt and may secure certain other future debt that may be permitted to be incurred by the 
investment under the agreements governing the loans. The holders of obligations secured by first priority liens on the collateral 
will generally control the liquidation of, and be entitled to receive proceeds from, any realization of the collateral to repay their 
obligations in full before the Fund. In addition, the value of the collateral in the event of liquidation will depend on market and 
economic conditions, the availability of buyers and other factors. Similarly, investments in “last out” pieces of tranched first lien 
loans will be similar to second lien loans in that such investments will be junior in priority to the “first out” piece of the same 
tranched first lien loan with respect to payment of principal, interest and other amounts. The Fund can offer no assurance that the 
proceeds, if any, from sales of all of the collateral would be sufficient to satisfy the loan obligations secured by the second 
priority liens or the “last out” pieces of the tranched first lien loans after payment in full of all obligations secured by the first 
priority liens on the collateral. If such proceeds were not sufficient to repay amounts outstanding under the loan obligations 
secured by the second priority liens or the “last out” pieces of unitranche loans, then we, to the extent not repaid from the 
proceeds of the sale of the collateral, will only have an unsecured claim against the investment’s remaining assets, if any. 
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The Fund may make unsecured loans, meaning that such loans will not benefit from any interest in collateral of such 
companies. Liens on an investment’s collateral, if any, will secure the investment’s obligations under its outstanding secured debt 
and may secure certain future debt that is permitted to be incurred by the investment under its secured loan agreements. The 
holders of obligations secured by such liens will generally control the liquidation of, and be entitled to receive proceeds from, any 
realization of such collateral to repay their obligations in full before the Fund. In addition, the value of such collateral in the event 
of liquidation will depend on market and economic conditions, the availability of buyers and other factors. The Fund can offer no 
assurance that the proceeds, if any, from sales of such collateral would be sufficient to satisfy the Fund’s unsecured loan 
obligations after payment in full of all loans secured by collateral. If such proceeds were not sufficient to repay the outstanding 
secured loan obligations, then the Fund’s unsecured claims would rank equally with the unpaid portion of such secured creditors’ 
claims against the investment’s remaining assets, if any. 

The rights the Fund may have with respect to the collateral securing any junior priority loans, including any “last out” 
pieces of tranched first lien loans, the Fund makes to the Fund’s investments may also be limited pursuant to the terms of one or 
more intercreditor agreements that the Fund enters into (or the absence of an intercreditor agreement) with the holders of senior 
debt. Under a typical intercreditor agreement, at any time that obligations that have the benefit of the first priority liens are 
outstanding, any of the following actions that may be taken in respect of the collateral will be at the direction of the holders of the 
obligations secured by the first priority liens: 

• the ability to cause the commencement of enforcement proceedings against the collateral; 

• the ability to control the conduct of such proceedings; 

• the approval of amendments to collateral documents; 

• releases of liens on the collateral; and 

• waivers of past defaults under collateral documents. 

The Fund may not have the ability to control or direct such actions, even if the Fund’s rights as junior lenders are adversely 
affected. 

Revolver, Delayed-Draw and Line of Credit Investments Risk. The Fund is expected to, from time to time, incur 
contingent liabilities in connection with an investment. For example, the Fund expects to participate in one or more investments 
that are structured as “revolvers,” “delayed-draws” or “lines of credit.” These types of investments generally have funding 
obligations that extend over a period of time, and if the portfolio company subsequently draws down on the revolver or delayed-
draw facility or on the line of credit, the Fund would be obligated to fund the amounts due. However, there can be no assurance 
that a borrower will ultimately draw down on any such loan, in which case the Fund may never fund the investment (in full or in 
part), which may result in the Fund not fully deploying its capital. There can be no assurance that the Fund will adequately 
reserve for its contingent liabilities and that such liabilities will not have an adverse effect on the Fund. 

It is possible that a revolver, delayed-draw or line of credit investment would be bifurcated by the Adviser into separate 
investments, with certain investors (which may or may not include the Fund) participating in the initial drawdowns and other 
investors (which may or may not include the Fund) participating in the later drawdowns. In this situation, it is possible that 
investors that participate in the initial funding of an investment may receive certain economic benefits in connection with such 
initial funding, such as OID, closing payments, or commitment fees and these benefits are expected to be allocated based on 
participation in the initial funding, regardless of participation in future funding obligations. Conversely, the investors participating 
only in the later funding obligations will have the benefit of the most recent portfolio company performance information in 
evaluating their investment whereas the investors that participated in the initial drawdowns (which may or may not include the 
Fund) will be obligated in any event to fund such later funding obligations. In certain cases, the Fund may participate in the initial 
funding of an investment, but may not participate in later-arising funding obligations (i.e., the revolver, delayed-draw or line of 
credit portions) related to such investment, including because of capacity limitations that an investment vehicle may have for 
making new revolver, delayed-draw investments or lines of credit. As a result, the Fund may be allocated a smaller or larger 
portion of revolver, delayed-draw investments or lines of credit than other investors participating in the loan. Where the Fund and 
any other participating investors have not participated in each funding of an investment on a pro rata basis, conflicts of interest 
may arise between the Fund and the other investors as the interests of the Fund and the other investors may not be completely 
aligned with respect to such investment. In addition, a revolver, delayed draw investment or line of credit may be senior to the 
rest of the loan or to the initial funding, and as a result, the interests of the Fund may not be aligned with other participating 
investors. There can be no assurance that the Fund will adequately reserve for its contingent liabilities and that such liabilities will 
not have an adverse effect on the Fund. 
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Investments in Portfolio Companies in Regulated Industries Risk. Certain industries are heavily regulated. The Fund may 
make loans to borrowers operating in industries that are subject to greater amounts of regulation than other industries generally. 
These more highly regulated industries may include, among others, energy and power, gaming and healthcare. Investments in 
borrowers that are subject to a high level of governmental regulation pose additional risks relative to loans to other companies 
generally. Changes in applicable laws or regulations, or in the interpretations of these laws and regulations, could result in 
increased compliance costs or the need for additional capital expenditures. If a portfolio company fails to comply with these 
requirements, it could also be subject to civil or criminal liability and the imposition of fines. A portfolio company also could be 
materially and adversely affected as a result of statutory or regulatory changes or judicial or administrative interpretations of 
existing laws and regulations that impose more comprehensive or stringent requirements on such company. Governments have 
considerable discretion in implementing regulations that could impact a portfolio company’s business, and governments may be 
influenced by political considerations and may make decisions that adversely affect a portfolio company’s business. Additionally, 
certain portfolio companies may have a unionized workforce or employees who are covered by a collective bargaining agreement, 
which could subject any such portfolio company’s activities and labor relations matters to complex laws and regulations relating 
thereto. Moreover, a portfolio company’s operations and profitability could suffer if it experiences labor relations problems. A 
work stoppage at one or more of any such portfolio company’s facilities could have a material adverse effect on its business, 
results of operations and financial condition. Any such problems additionally may bring scrutiny and attention to the Fund, which 
could adversely affect the Fund’s ability to implement its investment objective. 

Investments in Original Issue Discount and PIK Instruments Risk. The Fund’s investments may include investments with 
OID or PIK interest features. To the extent the accretion of OID or PIK income constitutes a portion of the Fund’s income, the 
Fund will be exposed to risks associated with the requirement to include such non-cash income in taxable and accounting income 
prior to receipt of cash, including the following: 

• the higher interest rates on investments with PIK interest features reflect the payment deferral and increased credit risk 
associated with these instruments, and investments with PIK interest features generally represent a significantly higher 
credit risk than coupon loans; 

• investments with OID and PIK interest features may have unreliable valuations because the accruals require judgments 
about collectability of the deferred payments and the value of any associated collateral; 

• an election to defer PIK interest payments by adding them to the principal on such investments increases our future 
investment income which increases our net assets and, as such, increases the Adviser’s future base Advisory Fee; 

• market prices of investments with PIK interest features and other zero-coupon instruments are affected to a greater 
extent by interest rate changes and may be more volatile than instruments that pay interest periodically in cash. While 
investments with PIK interest features are usually less volatile than zero coupon debt instruments, investments with 
PIK interest features are generally more volatile than cash pay securities; 

• the deferral of PIK interest on an instrument increases the loan-to-value ratio, which is a measure of the riskiness of a 
loan, with respect to such instrument; 

• even if the conditions for income accrual under GAAP are satisfied, a borrower could still default when actual payment 
is due upon the maturity of such loan; 

• for accounting purposes, cash distributions to investors representing OID income do not come from paid-in capital, 
although they may be paid from the offering proceeds. Thus, although a distribution of OID income may come from 
the cash invested by investors, the 1940 Act does not require that investors be given notice of this fact; 

• the required recognition of OID or PIK interest for U.S. federal income tax purposes may have a negative impact on 
liquidity, as it represents a non-cash component of our investment company taxable income that may require cash 
distributions to shareholders in order to maintain tax treatment as a RIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes; and 

• OID may create a risk of non-refundable cash payments to the Adviser based on non-cash accruals that may never be 
realized. 

In addition, the part of the incentive fee payable by us that relates to our net investment income is computed and paid on 
income that may include interest that accrues prior to being received in cash, such as OID, market discount, and income arising 
from debt instruments with PIK interest or zero-coupon securities. If a portfolio company defaults on a loan that provides for such 
accrued interest, it is possible that accrued interest previously used in the calculation of the incentive fee will become 
uncollectible, and the Adviser will have no obligation to refund any fees it received in respect of such accrued income. 
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Lack of Liquidity Risk. The lack of liquidity in the Fund’s investments may adversely affect the Fund’s business. The Fund 
may invest in companies that are experiencing financial difficulties, which difficulties may never be overcome. The Fund’s 
investments will be illiquid in most cases, and the Fund can offer no assurance that the Fund will be able to realize on such 
investments in a timely manner. A substantial portion of the Fund’s investments in leveraged companies are and will be subject to 
legal and other restrictions on resale or will otherwise be less liquid than more broadly traded public securities. The illiquidity of 
these investments may make it difficult for the Fund to sell such investments if the need arises. In addition, if the Fund is required 
to liquidate all or a portion of the Fund’s portfolio quickly, the Fund may realize significantly less than the value at which the 
Fund has previously recorded the Fund’s investments. The Fund may also face other restrictions on the Fund’s ability to liquidate 
an investment in an investment to the extent that the Adviser or any of its affiliates have material nonpublic information regarding 
such investment. 

In addition, the Fund generally expects to invest in securities, instruments and assets that are not, and are not expected to 
become, publicly traded. The Fund will generally not be able to sell securities publicly unless the sale is registered under 
applicable securities laws, or unless an exemption from such registration requirements is available. 

Investments may be illiquid and long-term. Illiquidity may result from the absence of an established or liquid market for 
investments as well as legal and contractual restrictions on their resale by the Fund. It is generally expected that the Fund will 
hold assets to maturity, and the amount of “discretionary sales” of investments generally will be limited. The Fund’s investment 
in illiquid investments may restrict its ability to dispose of investments in a timely fashion and for a fair price. Furthermore, the 
Fund likely will be limited in the Fund’s ability to sell investments because the Adviser may have material, non-public 
information regarding the issuers of such loans or investments or as a result of other policies of the Adviser. This limited ability to 
sell investments could materially adversely affect the Fund’s investment results. As a result, the Fund’s exposure to losses, 
including a potential loss of principal, as a result of which the shareholder could potentially lose all or a portion of the 
shareholder’s investment in the Fund, may be increased due to the illiquidity of the Fund’s investments generally. 

In certain cases, the Fund may also be prohibited by contract from selling its investments for a period of time or otherwise 
be restricted from disposing of the Fund’s investments. Furthermore, certain types of investments expected to be made may 
require a substantial length of time to realize a return or fully liquidate. The Fund may exit some investments through 
distributions in kind to the shareholders, after which the shareholder will still bear the risks associated with holding the securities 
and must make the shareholder’s own disposition decisions. 

Given the nature of the investments contemplated by the Fund, there is a material risk that the Fund will be unable to realize 
the Fund’s investment objectives by sale or other disposition at attractive prices or will otherwise be unable to complete any exit 
strategy. In particular, this risk could arise from changes in the financial condition or prospects of the investment, changes in 
national or international economic conditions, changes in debt and equity capital markets and changes in laws, regulations, fiscal 
policies or political conditions of countries in which investments are made. 

In connection with the disposition of an investment, the Fund may be required to make representations about the business 
and financial affairs of the investment or may be responsible for the contents of disclosure documents under applicable securities 
laws. The Fund may also be required to indemnify the purchasers of such investment or underwriters to the extent that any such 
representations or disclosure documents turn out to be incorrect, inaccurate or misleading. These arrangements may result in 
contingent liabilities, for which the Fund may establish reserves or escrows. However, the Fund can offer no assurance that the 
Fund will adequately reserve for the Fund’s contingent liabilities and that such liabilities will not have an adverse effect on the 
Fund. Such contingent liabilities might ultimately have to be funded by proceeds, including the return of capital, from the Fund’s 
other investments. 

Inability of Investments to Repay or Refinance Outstanding Principal. The Fund’s prospective portfolio companies may 
be unable to repay or refinance outstanding principal on their loans at or prior to maturity, and rising interest rates may make it 
more difficult for the portfolio companies to make periodic payments on their loans. The portfolio companies in which the Fund 
expects to invest may be unable to repay or refinance outstanding principal on their loans at or prior to maturity. This risk and the 
risk of default is increased to the extent that the loan documents do not require the investments to pay down the outstanding 
principal of such debt prior to maturity. In addition, if general interest rates rise, there is a risk that the Fund’s portfolio companies 
will be unable to pay escalating interest amounts, which could result in a default under their loan documents with the Fund. 
Rising interest rates could also cause portfolio companies to shift cash from other productive uses to the payment of interest, 
which may have a material adverse effect on their business and operations and could, over time, lead to increased defaults. Any 
failure of one or more portfolio companies to repay or refinance its debt at or prior to maturity or the inability of one or more 
portfolio companies to make ongoing payments following an increase in contractual interest rates could have a material adverse 
effect on the Fund’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
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Publicly Traded Securities Risk. The Fund may invest in publicly traded equity and debt securities. These investments are 
subject to certain risks, including the risk of loss from counterparty defaults, the risks arising from the volatility of the global 
fixed-income and equity markets, movements in the stock market and trends in the overall economy, increased obligations to 
disclose information regarding such companies, increased likelihood of shareholder litigation against such companies’ board 
members, which may include FDS personnel, regulatory action by the SEC and increased costs associated with each of the 
aforementioned risks. When buying a publicly traded security or other publicly traded instruments, the Fund may be unable to 
obtain financial covenants or other contractual rights that the Fund might otherwise be able to obtain in making privately-
negotiated investments. Moreover, the Fund may not have the same access to information in connection with investments in 
publicly traded securities or other publicly traded instruments, either when investigating a potential investment or after making an 
investment, as compared to a privately-negotiated investment. Publicly traded securities that are rated by rating agencies are often 
reviewed and may be subject to downgrade, which generally results in a decline in the market value of such security. 
Furthermore, the Fund may be limited in its ability to make investments and to sell existing investments in public securities or 
other publicly traded instruments because FDS may have material, non-public information regarding the issuers of those 
securities or as a result of other FDS policies. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Fund will make investments in 
public securities or other publicly traded instruments or, if it does, as to the amount it will invest. The inability to sell such 
securities or instruments in these circumstances could materially adversely affect the investment results of the Fund. 

Equity Investments Risk. When the Fund invests in senior, unitranche, second lien and subordinated loans, the Fund may 
acquire warrants or other equity securities of investments as well. The Fund may also invest in equity securities directly. To the 
extent the Fund holds equity investments, the Fund will seek to dispose of them and realize gains upon the Fund’s disposition of 
them. However, the equity interests the Fund receives may not appreciate in value and may decline in value. As a result, the Fund 
may not be able to realize gains from its equity interests, and any gains that the Fund does realize on the disposition of any equity 
interests may not be sufficient to offset any other losses the Fund experiences. 

Risk of No Controlling Equity Interests. Because the Fund generally does not hold controlling equity interests in the 
Fund’s investments, the Fund may not be able to exercise control over the Fund’s investments or to prevent decisions by 
management of the Fund’s investments that could decrease the value of the Fund’s investments. To the extent that the Fund does 
not hold controlling equity interests, the Fund will have a limited ability to protect the Fund’s position in such investments. 

Minority Investments and Joint Ventures Risk. The Fund may make minority equity investments in entities in which the 
Fund does not control the business or affairs of such entities. In addition, the Fund intends to co-invest with other parties through 
partnerships, joint ventures or other entities and the Adviser may share the Advisory Fee and/or other forms of compensation with 
such parties. The Adviser expects that in some cases the Fund will have control over, or significant influence on, the decision 
making of joint ventures. However, in other cases, in particular with respect to certain terms, amendments and waivers related to 
the underlying loans, the joint venture partner may have controlling or blocking rights (including because certain decisions 
require unanimous approval of the joint venture partners) or a tie vote among joint venture partners may be resolved by an 
appointed third party. Where a joint venture partner or third party has controlling or blocking rights or decision-making power 
with respect to a joint venture matter, there can be no assurance that the matter will be resolved in the manner desired by the 
Fund. In addition, these types of voting arrangements may slow the decision-making process and hinder the joint venture’s ability 
to act quickly. 

Cooperation among joint venture partners or co-investors on existing and future business decisions will be an important 
factor for the sound operation and financial success of any joint venture or other business in which the Fund is involved. In 
particular, a joint venture partner or co-investor may have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with those 
of the Fund, and the Fund may not be in a position to limit or otherwise protect the value of one or more of the Fund’s 
investments. Disputes among joint venture partners or co-investors over obligations, expenses or other matters could have an 
adverse effect on the financial conditions or results of operations of the relevant businesses. In addition, the Fund may in certain 
circumstances be liable for actions of its joint venture partners. 

In certain cases, conflicts of interest may arise between the Fund and a joint venture partner, for example, because the joint 
venture partner has invested in a different level of the issuer’s capital structure or because the joint venture partner has different 
investment goals or timelines. There can be no assurance that a joint venture partner with divergent interests from the Fund will 
cause the joint venture to be managed in a manner that is favorable to the Fund. In addition, it is anticipated that the Fund could 
be invested in debt instruments issued by a joint venture entity while one or more of other investment funds, pooled investment 
vehicles and client accounts (the “Other Clients”) managed by the Adviser will be invested in equity interests in such entity or 
vice versa, which presents certain potential conflicts of interest with respect to the capital structure of such entity. 
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Non-U.S. Securities Risk. The Fund may invest in securities and instruments of non-U.S. issuers. See “Exposure to 
Foreign Markets Risk” above. The Fund’s investments in securities and instruments in non-U.S. markets involve substantial risks 
often not typically associated with investing in U.S. securities. Investments in non-U.S. securities may be adversely affected by 
changes in currency rates or exchange control regulations, changes in governmental administration or economic or monetary 
policy (in the United States and abroad) or changed circumstances in dealings between nations. Changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar will affect the U.S. dollar value of the Fund’s assets denominated in that currency and 
thereby will have an impact upon the Fund’s total return on such assets. The Fund may utilize options and forward contracts to 
hedge against currency fluctuations, but there can be no assurance that such hedging transactions will be effective. 

Investments in non-U.S. securities will also be subject to risks relating to political and economic developments abroad, 
including the possibility of expropriations or confiscatory taxation, limitations on the use or transfer of the Fund’s assets and the 
effects of foreign social, economic or political instability. Non-U.S. companies are not subject to the regulatory requirements of 
U.S. companies and, as such, there may be less publicly available information about such companies. Moreover, non-U.S. 
companies are not subject to uniform accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards and requirements comparable to those 
applicable to U.S. companies. 

Securities of non-U.S. issuers may be less liquid than comparable securities of U.S. issuers and, as such, their price changes 
may be more volatile. Furthermore, foreign exchanges and broker-dealers are generally subject to less government and exchange 
scrutiny and regulation than their American counterparts. Brokerage commissions, dealer concessions and other transaction costs 
may be higher on foreign markets than in the U.S. In addition, differences in clearance and settlement procedures on foreign 
markets may occasionally lead to delays in settlements of the Fund’s trades effected in such markets. 

Repatriation of investment income, capital and the proceeds of sales by foreign investors may require governmental 
registration and/or approval. The Fund could be adversely affected by delays in or a refusal to grant any required governmental 
registration or approval for such repatriation or by withholding taxes imposed by the government of an emerging country. 

Taxation of dividends, interest and capital gains received by non-residents varies among foreign countries and, in some 
cases, is comparatively high. In addition, some countries have tax laws and procedures that may permit retroactive taxation so 
that the Fund could in the future become subject to local tax liability that it had not reasonably anticipated in conducting its 
investment activities or valuing its assets. 

Hedging Risk. The Fund may be subject to risks under hedging transactions. The Fund may engage in hedging transactions 
to the extent permitted under applicable commodities laws and the 1940 Act. Engaging in hedging transactions would entail 
additional risks to the shareholders. The Fund could, for example, use instruments such as interest rate swaps, caps, collars and 
floors and, if the Fund were to invest in foreign securities, the Fund could use instruments such as forward contracts or currency 
options and borrow under a credit facility in currencies selected to minimize the Fund’s foreign currency exposure. In each such 
case, the Fund generally would seek to hedge against fluctuations of the relative values of the Fund’s portfolio positions from 
changes in market interest rates or currency exchange rates. Hedging against a decline in the values of the Fund’s portfolio 
positions would not eliminate the possibility of fluctuations in the values of such positions or prevent losses if the values of the 
positions declined. However, such hedging could establish other positions designed to gain from those same developments, 
thereby offsetting the decline in the value of such portfolio positions. Such hedging transactions could also limit the opportunity 
for gain if the values of the underlying portfolio positions increased. Moreover, it might not be possible to hedge against an 
exchange rate or interest rate fluctuation that was so generally anticipated that the Fund would not be able to enter into a hedging 
transaction at an acceptable price. Use of a hedging transaction could involve counterparty credit risk. 

The success of any hedging transactions the Fund may enter into will depend on the Fund’s ability to correctly predict 
movements in currencies and interest rates. Therefore, while the Fund may enter into hedging transactions to seek to reduce 
currency exchange rate and interest rate risks, unanticipated changes in currency exchange rates or interest rates could result in 
poorer overall investment performance than if the Fund had not engaged in any such hedging transactions. In addition, the degree 
of correlation between price movements of the instruments used in a hedging strategy and price movements in the portfolio 
positions being hedged could vary. Moreover, for a variety of reasons, the Fund might not seek to (or be able to) establish a 
perfect correlation between the hedging instruments and the portfolio holdings being hedged. Any such imperfect correlation 
could prevent the Fund from achieving the intended hedge and expose the Fund to risk of loss. In addition, it might not be 
possible to hedge fully or perfectly against currency fluctuations affecting the value of securities denominated in non-U.S. 
currencies because the value of those securities is likely to fluctuate as a result of factors not related to currency fluctuations. The 
Fund’s ability to engage in hedging transactions may also be adversely affected by rules adopted by the CFTC. 
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Force Majeure Risk. The Fund’s investments may be affected by force majeure events (i.e., events beyond the control of 
the party claiming that the event has occurred, including, without limitation, acts of God, fire, flood, earthquakes, outbreaks of an 
infectious disease, pandemic or any other serious public health concern, war, terrorism and labor strikes). Some force majeure 
events may adversely affect the ability of a party (including a company or a counterparty to the Fund or a company) to perform its 
obligations until it is able to remedy the force majeure event. In addition, the cost to a company of repairing or replacing damaged 
assets resulting from such force majeure event could be considerable. Additionally, a major governmental intervention into 
industry, including the nationalization of an industry or the assertion of control over one or more companies or its assets, could 
result in a loss to the Fund, including if its investment in such company is cancelled, unwound or acquired (which could be 
without what the Fund considers to be adequate compensation). To the extent the Fund is exposed to investments in companies 
that as a group are exposed to such force majeure events, the risks and potential losses to the Fund are enhanced. 

Repurchase Agreements Risk. Subject to our investment objectives and policies, the Fund may invest in repurchase 
agreements as a buyer for investment purposes. Repurchase agreements typically involve the acquisition by the Fund of debt 
securities from a selling financial institution such as a bank, savings and loan association or broker-dealer. The agreement 
provides that the Fund will sell the securities back to the institution at a fixed time in the future for the purchase price plus 
premium (which often reflects the interests). The Fund does not bear the risk of a decline in the value of the underlying security 
unless the seller defaults under its repurchase obligation. In the event of the bankruptcy or other default of a seller of a repurchase 
agreement, the Fund could experience both delays in liquidating the underlying securities and losses, including (1) possible 
decline in the value of the underlying security during the period in which the Fund seeks to enforce its rights thereto; (2) possible 
lack of access to income on the underlying security during this period; and (3) expenses of enforcing its rights. In addition, as 
described above, the value of the collateral underlying the repurchase agreement will be at least equal to the repurchase price, 
including any accrued interest earned on the repurchase agreement. In the event of a default or bankruptcy by a selling financial 
institution, the Fund generally will seek to liquidate such collateral. However, the exercise of the Fund’s right to liquidate such 
collateral could involve certain costs or delays and, to the extent that proceeds from any sale upon a default of the obligation to 
repurchase were less than the repurchase price, the Fund could suffer a loss. 

Risk of Assignments and Participations. The Fund may acquire investments directly, by way of assignment or indirectly 
by way of participation. The purchaser of an assignment of a loan obligation typically succeeds to all the rights and obligations of 
the selling institution and becomes a lender under the loan or credit agreement with respect to the loan obligation. In contrast, 
participations acquired in a portion of a loan obligation held by a selling institution typically result in a contractual relationship 
only with such selling institution, not with the obligor. Therefore, holders of indirect participation interests are subject to 
additional risks not applicable to a holder of a direct assignment interest in a loan. In purchasing a participation, the Fund 
generally would have no right to enforce compliance by the obligor with the terms of the loan or credit agreement or other 
instrument evidencing such loan obligation, nor any rights of set-off against the obligor, and the Fund may not directly benefit 
from the collateral supporting the loan obligation in which it has purchased the participation. As a result, the Fund would assume 
the credit risk of both the obligor and the selling institution, which would remain the legal owner of record of the applicable loan. 
In the event of the insolvency of the selling institution, the Fund may be treated as a general creditor of the selling institution in 
respect of the participation, may not benefit from any set-off exercised by the selling institution against the obligor and may be 
subject to any set-off exercised by the obligor against the selling institution. Assignments and participations are typically sold 
strictly without recourse to the selling institution, and the selling institution generally will make no representations or warranties 
about the underlying loan, the portfolio companies, the terms of the loans or any collateral securing the loans. Certain loans have 
restrictions on assignments and participations which may negatively impact the Fund’s ability to exit from all or part of its 
investment in a loan. In addition, if a participation interest is purchased from a selling institution that does not itself retain any 
portion of the applicable loan, such selling institution may have limited interests in monitoring the terms of the loan agreement 
and the continuing creditworthiness of the borrower. 

Fraudulent Conveyances and Voidable Preferences by Issuers. Under U.S. legal principles, in a lawsuit brought by an 
unpaid creditor or representative of creditors of an issuer of indebtedness (including a bankruptcy trustee), if a court were to find 
that the issuer did not receive fair consideration or reasonably equivalent value for incurring the indebtedness or for granting 
security, and that after giving effect to such indebtedness or such security, the issuer (a) was insolvent, (b) was engaged in a 
business for which the remaining assets of such issuer constituted unreasonably small capital or (c) intended to incur, or believed 
that it would incur, debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they mature, such court could determine to invalidate and avoid, 
in whole or in part, the obligation underlying an investment of the Fund as a constructive fraudulent conveyance. The measure of 
insolvency for purposes of the foregoing will vary. Generally, an issuer would be considered insolvent at a particular time if the 
sum of its debts was then greater than all of its property at a fair valuation, or if the present fair saleable value of its assets was 
then less than the amount that would be required to pay its probable liabilities on its existing debts as they became absolute and 
matured. There can be no assurance as to what standard a court would apply to determine whether the issuer was “insolvent” after 
giving effect to the incurrence of the indebtedness in which the Fund invested or that, regardless of the method of valuation, a 
court would not determine that the issuer was “insolvent” upon giving effect to such incurrence. 
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In addition, it is possible a court may invalidate, in whole or in part, the indebtedness underlying an investment of the Fund 
as a fraudulent conveyance, subordinate such indebtedness to existing or future creditors of the obligor or recover amounts 
previously paid by the obligor in satisfaction of such indebtedness. Moreover, in the event of the insolvency of an issuer of a 
portfolio company, payments made on its indebtedness could be subject to avoidance as a “preference” if made within a certain 
period of time (which may be as long as one year) before the portfolio company becomes a debtor in a bankruptcy case. 

Even if the Fund does not engage in conduct that would form the basis for a successful cause of action based upon 
fraudulent conveyance or preference law, there can be no assurance as to whether any lending institution or other party from 
which the Fund may acquire such indebtedness, or any prior holder of such indebtedness, has not engaged in any such conduct (or 
any other conduct that would subject such indebtedness to disallowance or subordination under insolvency laws) and, if it did 
engage in such conduct, as to whether such creditor claims could be asserted in a U.S. court (or in the courts of any other country) 
against the Fund so that the Fund’s claim against the issuer would be disallowed or subordinated. 

Risk of Default Under a Credit Facility. In the event the Fund defaults under a credit facility, the Fund’s business could be 
adversely affected as the Fund may be forced to sell a portion of its investments quickly and prematurely at prices that may be 
disadvantageous to the Fund in order to meet its outstanding payment obligations and/or support working capital requirements 
under the credit facility or such future borrowing facility, any of which would have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, following any such default, the agent for the 
lenders under a credit facility could assume control of the disposition of any or all of the Fund’s assets, including the selection of 
such assets to be disposed and the timing of such disposition, which would have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Risks Relating to Certain Regulatory and Tax Matters 

Regulations Governing the Fund’s Operation as a BDC. The Fund will not generally be able to issue and sell its Common 
Shares at a price below NAV per share. The Fund may, however, sell Common Shares, or warrants, options or rights to acquire 
the Fund’s Common Shares, at a price below the then-current NAV per share of the Fund’s Common Shares if the Fund’s Board 
determines that such sale is in the Fund’s best interests, and if investors approve such sale. In any such case, the price at which the 
Fund’s securities are to be issued and sold may not be less than a price that, in the determination of the Adviser, closely 
approximates the market value of such securities (less any distributing commission or discount). If the Fund raises additional 
funds by issuing Common Shares or senior securities convertible into, or exchangeable for, its Common Shares, then the 
percentage ownership of investors at that time will decrease, and investors may experience dilution. 

Investing a Sufficient Portion of Assets in Qualifying Assets. The Fund may not acquire any assets other than “Qualifying 
Assets” unless, at the time of and after giving effect to such acquisition, at least 70% of the Fund’s total assets are Qualifying 
Assets. 

The Fund believes that most of the investments that it may acquire in the future will constitute Qualifying Assets. However, 
the Fund may be precluded from investing in what it believes to be attractive investments if such investments are not Qualifying 
Assets for purposes of the 1940 Act. If the Fund does not invest a sufficient portion of its assets in Qualifying Assets, it could 
violate the 1940 Act provisions applicable to BDCs. As a result of such violation, specific rules under the 1940 Act could prevent 
the Fund, for example, from making follow-on investments in existing portfolio companies (which could result in the dilution of 
its position) or could require the Fund to dispose of investments at inappropriate times in order to come into compliance with the 
1940 Act. If the Fund needs to dispose of such investments quickly, it could be difficult to dispose of such investments on 
favorable terms. The Fund may not be able to find a buyer for such investments and, even if a buyer is found, the Fund may have 
to sell the investments at a substantial loss. Any such outcomes would have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

If the Fund does not maintain its status as a BDC, it would be subject to regulation as a registered closed-end management 
investment company under the 1940 Act. As a registered closed-end management investment company, the Fund would be 
subject to substantially more regulatory restrictions under the 1940 Act which would significantly decrease its operating 
flexibility. 
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New or Modified Laws or Regulations Governing Our Operations. The Fund’s portfolio companies and the Fund are 
subject to regulation by laws at the U.S. federal, state, and local levels. These laws and regulations, as well as their interpretation, 
may change from time to time, including as the result of interpretive guidance or other directives from the U.S. President and 
others in the executive branch, and new laws, regulations, and interpretations may also come into effect. Any such new or 
changed laws or regulations could have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s business. The effects of such laws and regulations 
on the financial services industry will depend, in large part, upon the extent to which regulators exercise the authority granted to 
them and the approaches taken in implementing regulations. 

Future legislative and regulatory proposals directed at the financial services industry that are proposed or pending in the 
U.S. Congress may negatively impact the operations, cash flows or financial condition of the Fund or its portfolio companies, 
impose additional costs on portfolio companies or the Fund intensify the regulatory supervision of the Fund or its portfolio 
companies or otherwise adversely affect the Fund’s business or the business of its portfolio companies. Laws that apply to the 
Fund, either now or in the future, are often highly complex and may include licensing requirements. The licensing process can be 
lengthy and can be expected to subject the Fund to increased regulatory oversight. Failure, even if unintentional, to comply fully 
with applicable laws may result in sanctions, fines, or limitations on the ability of the Fund or the Adviser to do business in the 
relevant jurisdiction or to procure required licenses in other jurisdictions, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the 
Fund. In addition, if the Fund does not comply with applicable laws and regulations, it could lose any licenses that it then holds 
for the conduct of its business and may be subject to civil fines and criminal penalties. 

Additionally, changes to the laws and regulations governing Fund operations, including those associated with RICs, may 
cause the Fund to alter its investment strategy in order to avail itself of new or different opportunities or result in the imposition of 
corporate-level taxes on us. Such changes could result in material differences to the Fund’s strategies and plans and may shift the 
Fund’s investment focus from the areas of expertise of the Adviser to other types of investments in which the Adviser may have 
little or no expertise or experience. Any such changes, if they occur, could have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s results of 
operations and the value of an investor’s investment. If the Fund invests in commodity interests in the future, the Adviser may 
determine not to use investment strategies that trigger additional regulation by the CFTC or may determine to operate subject to 
CFTC regulation, if applicable. If the Adviser or the Fund were to operate subject to CFTC regulation, the Fund may incur 
additional expenses and would be subject to additional regulation. 

In addition, certain regulations applicable to debt securitizations implementing credit risk retention requirements that have 
taken effect in both the U.S. and in Europe may adversely affect or prevent the Fund from entering into securitization 
transactions. These risk retention rules will increase the Fund’s cost of funds under, or may prevent the Fund from completing, 
future securitization transactions. In particular, the U.S. Risk Retention Rules require the sponsor (directly or through a majority-
owned affiliate) of a debt securitization, such as CLOs, in the absence of an exemption, to retain an economic interest in the credit 
risk of the assets being securitized in the form of an eligible horizontal residual interest, an eligible vertical interest, or a 
combination thereof, in accordance with the requirements of the U.S. Risk Retention Rules. Given the more attractive financing 
costs associated with these types of debt securitizations as opposed to other types of financing available (such as traditional senior 
secured facilities), this increases our financing costs, which increases the financing costs ultimately borne by the Fund’s investors. 

Over the last several years, there also has been an increase in regulatory attention to the extension of credit outside of the 
traditional banking sector, raising the possibility that some portion of the non-bank financial sector will be subject to new 
regulation. While it cannot be known at this time whether any regulation will be implemented or what form it will take, increased 
regulation of non-bank credit extension by the U.S. government could negatively impact our operations, cash flows or financial 
condition, impose additional costs on us, intensify the regulatory supervision of the Fund or otherwise adversely affect the Fund’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Licensing Requirements. Certain banking and regulatory bodies or agencies in or outside the United States may require the 
Fund, its subsidiaries, the Adviser and/or certain employees of the Adviser to obtain licenses or authorizations to engage in many 
types of lending activities including the origination of loans. It may take a significant amount of time and expense to obtain such 
licenses or authorizations and the Fund may be required to bear the cost of obtaining such licenses and authorizations. There can 
be no assurance that any such licenses or authorizations would be granted or, if granted, whether any such licenses or 
authorizations would impose restrictions on the Fund. Such licenses or authorizations may require the disclosure of confidential 
information about the Fund, Fund investors or their respective affiliates, including the identity, financial information and/or 
information regarding the Fund investors and their officers and trustees. The Fund may not be willing or able to comply with 
these requirements. Alternatively, the Adviser may be compelled to structure certain potential investments in a manner that would 
not require such licenses and authorizations, although such transactions may be inefficient or otherwise disadvantageous for the 
Fund and/or any relevant portfolio company, including because of the risk that licensing authorities would not accept such 
structuring alternatives in lieu of obtaining a license or authorization. The inability of the Fund or the Adviser to obtain necessary 
licenses or authorizations, the structuring of an investment in an inefficient or otherwise disadvantageous manner, or changes in 
licensing regulations, could adversely affect the Fund’s ability to implement its investment program and achieve its intended 
results. 

Dodd-Frank Act. The enactment of the Dodd-Frank Act and other financial regulations curtailed certain investment 
activities of U.S. banks. As a result, alternative providers of capital (such as the Fund) were able to access certain investment 
opportunities on a larger scale. If the restrictions under the Dodd-Frank Act are curtailed or repealed, banks may be subject to 
fewer restrictions on their investment activities, thereby increasing competition with the Fund for potential investment 
opportunities. As a result, any changes to the Dodd-Frank Act may adversely impact the Fund. 

The Fund is Subject to Risks Relating to Pay-to-Play Laws, Regulations and Policies. Many states, their subdivisions and 
associated pension plans have adopted so-called “pay-to-play” laws, rules, regulations or policies which prohibit, restrict or 
require disclosure of payments to, and/or certain contacts with, certain politicians or officials associated with public entities by 
individuals and entities seeking to do business with related entities, including seeking investments by public retirement funds in 
collective investment funds such as the Fund. The SEC also has adopted rules that, among other things, prohibit an investment 
adviser from providing advisory services for compensation with respect to a government plan investor for two years after the 
adviser or certain of its executives or employees makes a contribution to certain elected officials or candidates for certain elected 
offices. If the Adviser or the Adviser’s respective employees or affiliates violate such pay-to-play laws, rules, regulations or 
policies, such non-compliance could have an adverse effect on the Fund by, for example, providing the basis for the ability of 
such government-affiliated pension plan investor to cease funding its obligations to the Fund or to withdraw from the Fund. 

Government Policies, Changes in Laws, and International Trade. Governmental regulatory activity, especially that of the 
Board of Governors of the U.S. Federal Reserve System, may have a significant effect on interest rates and on the economy 
generally, which in turn may affect the price of the securities in which the Fund plans to invest. High interest rates, the imposition 
of credit controls or other restraints on the financing of takeovers or other acquisitions could diminish the number of merger 
tender offers, exchange offers or other acquisitions, and as a consequence have a materially adverse effect on the activities of the 
Fund. Moreover, changes in U.S. federal, state, and local tax laws, U.S. federal or state securities and bankruptcy laws or in 
accounting standards may make corporate acquisitions or restructurings less desirable or make risk arbitrage less profitable. 
Amendments to the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or other relevant laws could also alter an expected outcome or introduce greater 
uncertainty regarding the likely outcome of an investment situation. 

In addition, governmental policies could create uncertainty for the global financial system and such uncertainty may 
increase the risks inherent to the Fund and its activities. For example, in March 2018, the United States imposed an additional 
25% tariff under Section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962, as amended, on steel products imported into the United States. 
Furthermore, in May 2019, the United States imposed a 25% tariff on certain imports from China, and China reacted with tariffs 
on certain imports from the United States. These tariffs and restrictions, as well as other changes in U.S. trade policy, have 
resulted in, and may continue to trigger, retaliatory actions by affected countries, including imposing trade sanctions on certain 
U.S. products. A “trade war” of this nature has the potential to increase costs, decrease margins, reduce the competitiveness of 
products and services offered by current and future portfolio companies and adversely affect the revenues and profitability of 
companies whose businesses rely on imports and exports. Prospective Fund investors should realize that any significant changes 
in governmental policies (including tariffs and other policies involving international trade) could have a material adverse impact 
on the Fund and its investments. 
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European Union General Data Protection Regulation. In Europe, the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) was 
made effective on May 25, 2018, introducing substantial changes to current European privacy laws. It has superseded the existing 
Data Protection Directive, which is the key European legislation governing the use of personal data relating to living individuals. 
The GDPR provides enhanced rights to individuals with respect to the privacy of their personal data and applies not only to 
organizations with a presence in the European Union (the “EU”) which use or hold data relating to living individuals, but also to 
those organizations that offer services to individual EU investors. In addition, although regulatory behavior and penalties under 
the GDPR remain an area of considerable scrutiny, it does increase the sanctions for serious breaches to the greater of 
€20,000,000 or 4% of worldwide revenue, the impact of which could be significant. Compliance with the GDPR may require 
additional measures, including updating policies and procedures and reviewing relevant IT systems, which may create additional 
costs and expenses for the Fund and therefore the Fund investors. The Fund may have indemnification obligations in respect of, 
or be required to pay the expenses relating to, any litigation or action as a result of any purported breach of the GDPR. Fund 
investors other than individuals in the EU may not be afforded the protections of the GDPR. 

Potential Controlled Group Liability. Under certain circumstances it would be possible for the Fund, along with its 
affiliates, to obtain a controlling interest (i.e., 80% or more) in certain portfolio companies. This could occur, for example, in 
connection with a work out of the portfolio company’s debt obligations or a restructuring of the portfolio company’s capital 
structure. Thus, there is a risk that the Fund could be treated as a single employer with one or more of its portfolio companies for 
purposes of the controlled group rules under ERISA. In such an event, the Fund could be jointly and severally liable for a 
portfolio company’s liabilities with respect to the underfunding of any pension plans which such portfolio company sponsors or 
to which it contributes. If the portfolio company were not able to satisfy those liabilities, they could become the responsibility of 
the Fund, causing it to incur potentially significant, unexpected liabilities for which reserves were not established. 

Being an “Emerging Growth Company”. We will be and we will remain an “emerging growth company” as defined in the 
JOBS Act for up to five years, or until the earlier of (a) the last day of the fiscal year (i) in which we have total annual gross 
revenue of at least $1,235,000,000, or (ii) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value 
of our shares that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700,000,000 as of the date of our most recently completed second fiscal 
quarter, and (b) the date on which we have issued more than $1,000,000,000 in non-convertible debt during the prior three- year 
period. For so long as we remain an “emerging growth company,” we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various 
reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including, but not 
limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404. We cannot predict if investors 
will find our shares less attractive because we will rely on some or all of these exemptions. If some investors find our shares less 
attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our shares and our share price may be more volatile. 

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of the 
extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the 1933 Act for complying with new or revised accounting 
standards. In other words, an “emerging growth company” can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those 
standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We will take advantage of the extended transition period for complying 
with new or revised accounting standards, which may make it more difficult for investors and securities analysts to evaluate us 
since our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with public company effective dates and may 
result in less investor confidence. 

Compliance with the SEC’s Regulation Best Interest. Broker-dealers must comply with Rule 151-1 under the Exchange 
Act (“Regulation Best Interest”), which, among other requirements, enhances the existing standard of conduct for broker-dealers 
and natural persons who are associated persons of a broker-dealer when recommending to a retail customer any securities 
transaction or investment strategy involving securities to a retail customer. Regulation Best Interest imposes a duty of care for 
broker-dealers to evaluate reasonably available alternatives in the best interests of their clients. There are likely alternatives to us 
that are reasonably available to you, through your broker or otherwise, and those alternatives may be less costly or have a lower 
investment risk. Among other alternatives, listed BDCs may be reasonable alternatives to an investment in our Common Shares, 
and may feature characteristics like lower cost, less complexity, and lesser or different risks. Investments in listed securities also 
often involve nominal or zero commissions at the time of initial purchase. The impact of Regulation Best Interest on broker-
dealers participating in our Offering cannot be determined at this time, but it may negatively impact whether broker-dealers and 
their associated persons recommend our Offering to retail customers. Under Regulation Best Interest, high cost, high risk and 
complex products may be subject to greater scrutiny by broker-dealers and their salespersons. If Regulation Best Interest reduces 
our ability to raise capital in our Offering, it would harm our ability to create a diversified portfolio of investments and achieve 
our investment objective and would result in our fixed operating costs representing a larger percentage of our gross income. 
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Federal Income Tax Risks 

RIC Qualification Risks. To elect and maintain RIC tax treatment under Subchapter M of the Code, we must, among other 
things, meet annual distribution, income source and asset diversification requirements. If we do not qualify for or maintain RIC 
tax treatment for any reason and are subject to corporate income tax, the resulting corporate taxes could substantially reduce our 
net assets, the amount of income available for distribution and the amount of our distributions. 

Paying Required Distributions. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, we may be required to recognize taxable income in 
circumstances in which we do not receive a corresponding payment in cash. For example, if we hold debt obligations that are 
treated under applicable tax rules as having OID (such as zero coupon securities, debt instruments with PIK interest or, in certain 
cases, increasing interest rates or debt instruments that were issued with warrants), we must include in income each year a portion 
of the OID that accrues over the life of the obligation, regardless of whether cash representing such income is received by us in 
the same taxable year. We may also have to include in income other amounts that we have not yet received in cash, such as 
deferred loan origination fees that are paid after origination of the loan or are paid in non-cash compensation such as warrants or 
stock. We anticipate that a portion of our income may constitute OID or other income required to be included in taxable income 
prior to receipt of cash. Further, we may elect to accrete market discount and include such amounts in our taxable income in the 
current year, instead of upon disposition. 

Because any OID or other amounts accrued will be included in our investment company taxable income for the year of the 
accrual, we may be required to make a distribution to our shareholders in order to satisfy the annual distribution requirement, 
even though we will not have received any corresponding cash amount. As a result, we may have difficulty meeting the annual 
distribution requirement necessary to qualify for and maintain RIC tax treatment under Subchapter M of the Code. We may have 
to sell some of our investments at times and/or at prices we would not consider advantageous, raise additional debt or equity 
capital or forgo new investment opportunities for this purpose. If we are not able to obtain cash from other sources, we may not 
qualify for or maintain RIC tax treatment and thus may become subject to corporate-level income tax. The resulting corporate 
taxes could substantially reduce our net assets, the amount of income available for distribution and the amount of our 
distributions. 

Corporate-Level Income Tax. The Fund may invest in certain debt and equity investments through taxable subsidiaries and 
the taxable income of these taxable subsidiaries will be subject to federal and state corporate income taxes. The Fund may invest 
in certain foreign debt and equity investments which could be subject to foreign taxes (such as income tax, withholding and value 
added taxes). 

Special Tax Issues. The Fund expects to invest in debt securities that are rated below investment grade by rating agencies 
or that would be rated below investment grade if they were rated. Investments in these types of instruments may present special 
tax issues. U.S. federal income tax rules are not entirely clear about certain issues related to such investments such as when the 
Fund may cease to accrue interest, OID or market discount, when and to what extent deductions may be taken for bad debts or 
worthless instruments, how payments received on obligations in default should be allocated between principal and income and 
whether exchanges of debt obligations in a bankruptcy or workout context are taxable. These and other issues will be addressed 
by us, to the extent necessary, to distribute sufficient income to preserve our tax status as a RIC and minimize the extent to which 
we are subject to U.S. federal income or excise tax. 

“Publicly Offered Regulated Investment Company” Tax Issue. A “publicly offered regulated investment company” is a 
RIC whose shares are either (i) continuously offered pursuant to a public offering within the meaning of Section 4 of the 
Securities Act, (ii) regularly traded on an established securities market or (iii) held by at least 500 persons at all times during the 
taxable year. If we are not a publicly offered RIC for any taxable year, a non-corporate shareholder’s allocable portion of our 
affected expenses, including our management fees, will be treated as an additional distribution to the shareholder and will be 
deductible by such shareholder only to the extent permitted under the limitations described below. The ability of non-corporate 
taxpayers to deduct such expenses, referred to as miscellaneous itemized deductions, will be subject to significant limitations. In 
particular, for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2026, non-corporate shareholders, including individuals, trusts, and 
estates generally will not be entitled to a deduction for such expenses, and for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2025, 
these expenses will be deductible to non-corporate taxpayers only to the extent they exceed 2% of such a shareholder’s adjusted 
gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes and not deductible for purposes of the alternative minimum tax. There is no 
assurance that the Fund will be treated as a “publicly offered regulated investment company” with respect to any calendar year.
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Legislative or Regulatory Tax Changes. At any time, the U.S. federal income tax laws or regulations governing RICs or 
investors or the administrative interpretations of those laws or regulations may be amended. Any new laws, regulations or 
interpretations may take effect retroactively and could adversely affect the taxation of us or our shareholders. Therefore, changes 
in tax laws, regulations or administrative interpretations or any amendments thereto could diminish the value of an investment in 
our shares or the value or the resale potential of our investments. 

The foregoing list of risk factors does not purport to be a complete enumeration or explanation of the risks involved in an 
investment in the Fund. Each prospective Fund investor should read this entire Form 10-K, the Declaration of Trust of the Fund 
and consult with its advisers before deciding whether to invest in the Fund. In addition, as the Fund’s investment program 
develops and changes over time, an investment in the Fund may be subject to additional and different risk factors.

Conflicts of Interest 

The following inherent or potential conflicts of interest should be considered by prospective investors before subscribing 
for the Common Shares.

Relationship among the Fund, the Adviser and the Portfolio Managers. The Adviser has a conflict of interest between its 
responsibility to act in the best interests of the Fund, on the one hand, and any benefit, monetary or otherwise, that results to it or 
its affiliates from the operation of the Fund, on the other hand. For example, the Adviser’s incentive fee creates an incentive for 
the Adviser to recommend more speculative investments for the Fund than it would otherwise in the absence of such 
performance-based compensation. The Adviser may also be incentivized not to permanently write down, write off, revalue or 
dispose of an investment that has poor prospects for improvement in order to receive ongoing management fees in respect of such 
investment and to avoid reductions in potential incentive fees if such asset appreciates in the future. In addition, the method of 
calculating the incentive fee payments may result in conflicts of interest between the Adviser, on the one hand, and the Fund 
investors, on the other hand, with respect to the management and disposition of investments.

The functions performed by the Adviser are not exclusive. The Adviser, its affiliates and their principals and employees 
serve as investment adviser, managing member or general partner to Other Clients and conduct investment activities for their own 
accounts. Other Clients may have investment objectives and investment strategies that are substantially identical to that of the 
Fund. Due to a difference in fees attributable to the Other Clients, which may be higher than those attributable to the Fund either 
on percentage terms or in total dollar amounts received by the Adviser and/or its affiliates, it is possible that the Adviser could 
allocate investment opportunities among the Other Clients and the Fund in a manner that favors the performance of Other Clients 
and adversely impacts the performance of the Fund. In addition, the principals and employees of the Adviser and its affiliates may 
and do also make investments of their own personal assets in the Fund and in Other Clients of the Adviser and its affiliates.

Investment decisions for the Fund and for such Other Clients are made with a view to achieving their respective investment 
objectives and after consideration of certain factors which may include their current holdings, availability of cash for investment, 
and the size of their positions generally. The Adviser, its affiliates and their principals and employees may give advice or take 
action with respect to the Other Clients that differs from the advice given with respect to the Fund.

The Fund could be disadvantaged because of activities conducted by the Adviser and its affiliates for the Other Clients as a 
result of, among other things: (i) legal restrictions on the combined size of positions which may be taken for the Fund and Other 
Clients, thereby limiting the size of the Fund’s position; and (ii) the difficulty of liquidating an investment for more than one 
account where the market cannot absorb the sale of the combined positions.

Frequently, a particular investment may be bought or sold for only the Fund or only one Other Client, or in different 
amounts and at different times for more than one but less than all Other Clients, and the Fund may or may not be included in such 
purchase or sale. Likewise, a particular investment may be bought for the Fund or one or more Other Clients when one or more 
Other Clients are selling the same security. In addition, purchases or sales of the same investment may be made for two or more 
Other Clients (and possibly for the Fund) on the same date. Certain of the Other Clients have different terms, fees (including 
incentive fees) and investment objectives from the Fund. In such events, such transactions will be allocated among the Fund and 
Other Clients in a manner believed by the Adviser and its affiliates to be equitable to each in accordance with its policies. In 
effecting transactions, it may not always be possible, or consistent with the possibly differing investment objectives of the various 
Other Clients and of the Fund, to take or liquidate the same investment positions at the same time or at the same prices. In 
addition, funds or client accounts for which the Adviser or an affiliate serves as adviser or sub-adviser may and do also make 
investments in the Fund.
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As a result of the foregoing, the Adviser, its affiliates and their principals and employees may have conflicts of interest in 
allocating their time and activity between the Fund and Other Clients, in allocating investments among the Fund and Other 
Clients and in effecting transactions between the Fund and Other Clients, including ones in which the Adviser, its affiliates and 
their principals and employees may have a greater financial interest.

In addition, the Adviser, its affiliates and their principals and employees, including employees of the Adviser, may make 
personal investments in third-party entities (directly or through investment funds managed by third-party managers). Such entities 
may enter into transactions with the Fund, presenting a conflict of interest for the Adviser between acting in the best interests of 
the Fund and enhancing the returns of such personal investments.

Co-Investment Transactions. We and the Adviser have received an exemptive order from the SEC that permits us to co-
invest with certain other persons, including certain affiliated accounts managed and controlled by the Adviser and/or its affiliates. 
Subject to the 1940 Act and the conditions of the co-investment order issued by the SEC, the Fund may, under certain 
circumstances, co-invest with certain affiliated accounts in investments that are suitable for the Fund and one or more of such 
affiliated accounts. Even though the Fund and any such affiliated account co-invest in the same securities, conflicts of interest 
may still arise. If the Adviser is presented with co-investment opportunities that generally fall within the Fund’s investment 
objective and other Board-Established Criteria and those of one or more affiliated accounts advised by the Adviser and/or its 
affiliates, whether focused on a debt strategy or otherwise, the Adviser and/or its affiliates will allocate such opportunities among 
the Fund and such affiliated accounts in a manner consistent with the exemptive order and the applicable allocation policies and 
procedures.

With respect to co-investment transactions conducted under the exemptive order, initial internal allocations among the Fund 
and other investment funds affiliated with the Adviser will generally be made, taking into account the allocation considerations 
set forth in the Adviser’s allocation policies and procedures as described above. If the Fund invests in a transaction under the co-
investment exemptive order and, immediately before the submission of the order for the Fund and all other funds, accounts, or 
other similar arrangements advised by the Adviser and its affiliates, the opportunity is oversubscribed, it will generally be 
allocated on a pro-rata basis based on internal order size. The Fund may only be able to participate in certain negotiated 
investment opportunities on a rotational basis due to the limitations and requirements imposed by the order.

To the extent consistent with applicable law and/or exemptive relief issued to the Fund, in addition to such co-investments, 
the Fund and the Adviser or an affiliated account may, as part of unrelated transactions, invest in either the same or different tiers 
of a portfolio company’s capital structure or in an affiliate of such portfolio company. To the extent the Fund holds investments in 
the same portfolio company or in an affiliate thereof that are different (including with respect to their relative seniority) than those 
held by the Adviser or an affiliated account, the Adviser may be presented with decisions when the interests of the two co-
investors are in conflict. If the portfolio company in which the Fund has an equity or debt investment and in which an affiliated 
account has an equity or debt investment elsewhere in the portfolio company’s capital structure, becomes distressed or defaults on 
its obligations under the private credit investment, the Adviser may have conflicting loyalties between its duties to the affiliated 
account, the Fund, certain of its other affiliates and the portfolio company. In that regard, actions may be taken for such affiliated 
account that are adverse to the Fund, or actions may or may not be taken by the Fund due to such affiliated account’s investment, 
which action or failure to act may be adverse to the Fund. In addition, it is possible that in a bankruptcy proceeding, the Fund’s 
interest may be adversely affected by virtue of such affiliated account’s involvement and actions relating to its investment. 
Decisions about what action should be taken in a troubled situation, including whether to enforce claims, whether to advocate or 
initiate restructuring or liquidation inside or outside of bankruptcy and the terms of any work-out or restructuring, raise conflicts 
of interest. In those circumstances where the Fund and such affiliated accounts hold investments in different classes of a 
company’s debt or equity, the Adviser may also, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, take steps to reduce the 
potential for adversity between the Fund and such affiliated accounts, including causing the Fund to take certain actions that, in 
the absence of such conflict, it would not take, such as (A) remaining passive in a restructuring or similar situations (including 
electing not to vote or voting pro rata with other security-holders), (B) divesting investments or (C) otherwise taking action 
designed to reduce adversity.

Performance Based Compensation and Management Fees. The existence of the incentive fees payable to the Adviser may 
create a greater incentive for the Adviser to make more speculative investments on behalf of the Fund, or to time the purchase or 
sale of investments in a manner motivated by the personal interests of the Adviser, its affiliates and/or their personnel. The 
manner in which the Adviser’s entitlement to incentive fees is determined may result in a conflict between its interests and the 
interests of shareholders with respect to the sequence and timing of disposals of investments, as the Adviser may want to dispose 
of lower yielding investments in favor of higher yielding ones.
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Transaction Fees and Other Fees. In connection with investments made by us, the Adviser and its affiliates may negotiate 
and receive origination, commitment, documentation, structuring, facility, monitoring, amendment, refinancing, and/or other fees 
from portfolio investments in which we invest or propose to invest. The Adviser and its affiliates will only retain transaction and 
other fees if permissible under the 1940 Act, SEC exemptive relief, and other applicable law. Under the terms of our co-
investment relief, transaction fees (except for fees contemplated by Section 17(e) or 57(k) of the 1940 Act) received in connection 
with a co-investment transaction are distributed pro rata to funds that participate in such transaction. The potential for the Adviser 
and its affiliates to receive economic benefits creates conflicts of interest as the Adviser and its affiliates would have an incentive 
to invest in portfolio investments that provide such benefits. Similarly, the Adviser and its affiliates could be incentivized to 
waive certain fees in connection with a refinancing in order to receive certain fees in the new transaction, including when we 
and/or other accounts advised by the Adviser and its affiliates can participate in the original or refinanced investment, or both.

Broken Deal Expenses. Any expenses that may be incurred by the Fund for actual investments as described herein may 
also be incurred by the Fund with respect to broken deals (i.e., investments that are not consummated). The Adviser is not 
required to and in most circumstances will not seek reimbursement of broken deal expenses (i.e., expenses incurred in pursuit of 
an investment that is not consummated) from third parties, including counterparties to the potential transaction or potential co-
investors. Examples of such broken deal expenses include, but are not limited to, reverse termination fees, extraordinary expenses 
such as litigation costs and judgments, travel and entertainment expenses incurred, costs of negotiating co-investment 
documentation, and legal, accounting, tax and other due diligence and pursuit costs and expenses. Any such broken deal expenses 
could, in the sole discretion of the Adviser, be allocated solely to the Fund and not to Other Clients or co-investment vehicles that 
could have made the investment, even when the Other Client or co-investment vehicle commonly invests alongside the Fund in 
its investments or the Adviser or Other Clients in their investments. In such cases, the Fund’s shares of expenses would increase. 
In the event broken deal expenses are allocated to an Other Client or a co-investment vehicle, the Adviser may advance such fees 
and expenses without charging interest until paid by the Other Client or co-investment vehicle, as applicable.

Policies and Procedures of the Adviser and its Affiliates. Because the Adviser and its affiliates have many different asset 
management and advisory businesses, the Adviser may be subject to a number of actual and potential conflicts of interest, greater 
regulatory oversight and more legal and contractual restrictions than that to which it would be subject if it had just one line of 
business. Certain policies and procedures implemented by the Adviser and its affiliates to mitigate potential conflicts of interest 
and address certain regulatory requirements and contractual restrictions will from time to time impact the Fund. For example, the 
Adviser will come into possession of material non-public information with respect to companies, including companies in which 
the Fund has investments or is considering making investments. The information, which could be of benefit to the Fund, is likely 
to be restricted to those other businesses and otherwise be unavailable to the Fund. It is also possible that the Fund could be 
restricted from trading despite the fact that the Fund did not receive such information. The inability to buy or sell securities in 
such circumstances could materially adversely affect the investment results of the Fund, including but not limited to a material 
loss with respect to an individual investment or differing results than those obtained by Other Clients with respect to the same 
investment. Additionally, the Adviser may restrict or otherwise limit the Fund and/or its portfolio companies from entering into 
agreements with, or related to, companies that either are advisory clients of the Adviser and its affiliates or in which any fund of 
the Adviser or its affiliates have invested or has considered making an investment. The Adviser will from time to time restrict or 
otherwise limit the ability of the Fund and/or its portfolio companies from making investments in or otherwise engaging in 
businesses or activities competitive with companies of other advisory clients of the Adviser or its affiliates, either as a result of 
contractual restrictions or otherwise. Furthermore, there will be circumstances in which affiliates of the Adviser and its affiliates 
(including Other Clients) may refrain from taking certain confidential information in order to avoid trading restrictions. There can 
be no assurance that additional restrictions will not be imposed that would further limit the ability of the Adviser and its affiliates 
to share information internally.

Declining an Investment. The Adviser may decline an investment opportunity on behalf of the Fund based on various 
factors including its investment allocation policies and procedures and to the extent the Adviser determines, in its discretion, that 
such investment may (a) have reputational considerations for the Fund investors, the Adviser or the Fund, (b) to the Adviser’s 
knowledge, have been the subject of concern or controversy among financial institutions, institutional investors or the public or 
(c) give rise to other similar considerations. In certain cases, such an investment may be allocated to other affiliated accounts that 
have consented to the investment or do not, in the Adviser’s discretion, have such considerations, in lieu of the investment being 
allocated to the Fund. Finally, although Fidelity believes its positive reputation in the marketplace provides benefit to the Fund 
and Other Clients, the Adviser could decline to undertake investment activity or transact with a counterparty on behalf of the 
Fund for reputational reasons, and this decision could result in the Fund foregoing a profit or suffering a loss.
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Conflicts of Interest Generally. If any matter arises that the Adviser, as applicable, determines in its good faith judgment 
constitutes an actual conflict of interest, the Adviser, as applicable, will take such actions as it determines in good faith may be 
necessary or appropriate to ameliorate the conflict. (These actions include, by way of example and without limitation, (i) 
disposing of the investment or refraining from making the investment giving rise to the conflict of interest; (ii) appointing an 
independent fiduciary to act with respect to the matter giving rise to the conflict of interest; (iii) in connection with a matter 
giving rise to a conflict of interest with respect to an investment, consulting with the Board regarding the conflict of interest 
and/or obtaining a waiver or consent from the Board of the conflict of interest or acting in a manner, or pursuant to standards or 
procedures, approved by or disclosed to the Board with respect to such conflict of interest; (iv) disclosing the conflict to the Fund 
investors; (v) implementing certain policies and procedures designed to ameliorate such conflict of interest or (vi) remaining 
passive and/or electing not to be the lead investor of a tranche of securities (even though the Fund may hold the largest stake in 
the applicable tranche of securities).) There can be no assurance that the Adviser will identify or resolve all conflicts of interest in 
a manner that is favorable to the Fund. By acquiring Common Shares in the Fund, each Fund investor will be deemed to have 
acknowledged and consented to the existence or resolution of any such actual, apparent or potential conflicts of interest and to 
have waived any claim with respect to any liability arising from the existence of any such conflict of interest. For the avoidance 
of doubt, in some cases after evaluating such conflict or potential conflict, the Adviser may determine that no action is required or 
that taking action may be adverse to the interests of the Fund, the Adviser or its affiliates.

Diverse Membership; Relationships with Fund Investors. The Fund and investors are generally expected to have 
conflicting investment, tax and other interests with respect to the investments made by the Fund. The Fund investors may include 
various types of persons or entities organized in various jurisdictions, and different Fund investors may have conflicting 
investment, tax and other interests in respect of their investment in the Fund. The conflicting interests of the Fund and of 
individual Fund investors may relate to or arise from, among other things, the nature of investments made by the Fund, the 
structuring of the acquisition of the Fund’s investments, and the timing of disposition of investments, which may be more 
beneficial for the Fund or Fund investors than for one or more of the other Fund investors. Such structuring of the Fund’s 
investments and other factors may result in different returns being realized by different Fund investors. Furthermore, under the 
U.S. tax audit rules applicable to the Fund, decisions or elections made in connection with certain laws and regulations by the 
Adviser (or such other person designated by the Adviser) in connection with tax audits (including whether or not to make an 
election under those rules) may be more beneficial for one type of Fund investor than for another type of Fund investor. As a 
consequence, conflicts of interest among different Fund investors may arise in connection with decisions made by the Adviser, 
including in respect of the nature or structuring of investments and the use of leverage that may be more beneficial for one Fund 
investor than for another Fund investor, especially in respect of individual tax situations. In addition, the Fund may face certain 
tax risks based on positions taken by the Fund, the Adviser on behalf of the Fund, the Fund’s subsidiaries and/or a withholding 
agent.

Allocation of Personnel. The Adviser and its members, officers, personnel and employees will devote as much of their 
time to the activities of the Fund as they deem necessary to conduct its business affairs in an appropriate manner. By the terms of 
the Advisory Agreement, the Adviser is not restricted from forming additional investment funds, from entering into other 
investment advisory relationships or from engaging in other business activities, even though such activities may be in competition 
with the Fund and/or may involve substantial time and resources of the Adviser. Personnel of the Adviser and its affiliates, 
including members of the Direct Lending Investment Committee, will work on other projects, serve on other committees and 
source potential investments for and otherwise assist the investment programs of Other Clients and their portfolio companies, 
including other investment programs to be developed in the future. These activities could be viewed as creating a conflict of 
interest in that the time and effort of the members of the Adviser and its officers, personnel and employees will not be devoted 
exclusively to the business of the Fund but will be allocated between the business of the Fund and the management of the monies 
of such other advisees of the Adviser. Time spent on these other initiatives diverts attention from the activities of the Fund, which 
could negatively impact the Fund and its shareholders. Furthermore, personnel of the Adviser and its affiliates derive financial 
benefit from these other activities, including fees and performance-based compensation. Fidelity personnel outside of the Adviser 
may share in the fees and performance-based compensation from the Fund; similarly, personnel of the Adviser and its affiliates 
may share in the fees and performance-based compensation generated by Other Clients. These and other factors create conflicts of 
interest in the allocation of time by personnel of the Adviser and its affiliates. The determination of the Adviser and its affiliates 
of the amount of time necessary to conduct the Fund’s activities will be conclusive, and shareholders rely on the Adviser’s 
judgment in this regard. The officers and trustees will devote such portion of their time to our affairs as is required for the 
performance of their duties, but they are not required to devote all of their time to us. 
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Outside Activities of Principals and Other Personnel and their Related Parties. Certain of the principals, personnel and 
employees of the Adviser may be subject to a variety of conflicts of interest relating to their responsibilities to the Fund, Other 
Clients and their respective portfolio companies, and their outside business activities as members of investment or advisory 
committees or boards of directors of or advisors to investment funds, corporations, foundations or other organizations. Such 
positions create a conflict if such other entities have interests that are adverse to those of the Fund, including if such other entities 
compete with the Fund for investment opportunities or other resources. The other managed accounts and/or investment funds in 
which such individuals may become involved may have investment objectives that overlap with the Fund. Furthermore, certain 
principals and employees of the Adviser may have a greater financial interest in the performance of such other funds or accounts 
than the performance of the Fund. Such involvement may create conflicts of interest in making investments on behalf of the Fund 
and such other funds and accounts. Although such principals and employees will seek to limit any such conflicts in a manner that 
is in accordance with their fiduciary duties to the Fund, there can be no assurance they will be resolved favorably for the Fund. 
Also, Fidelity personnel and employees, including, personnel and employees of the Adviser, are generally permitted to invest in 
alternative investment funds, private equity funds, real estate funds, hedge funds or other investment vehicles, including potential 
competitors of the Fund. Shareholders will not receive any benefit from any such investments, and the financial incentives of such 
Fidelity employees in such other investments could be greater than their financial incentives in relation to the Fund.

Additionally, certain employees and other professionals of Fidelity have family members or relatives employed by such 
advisers and service providers (or their affiliates) or otherwise actively involved in industries and sectors in which the Fund 
invests, or have business, financial, personal or other relationships with companies in such industries and sectors (including the 
advisors and service providers described above) or other industries, which gives rise to potential or actual conflicts of interest. For 
example, such family members or relatives might be employees, officers, directors or owners of companies or assets that are 
actual or potential investments of the Fund or other counterparties of the Fund and its portfolio companies and/or assets. 
Moreover, in certain instances, the Fund or its portfolio companies may issue loans to or acquire securities from, or otherwise 
transact with, companies that are owned by such family members or relatives or in respect of which such family members or 
relatives have other involvement. These relationships may influence the Adviser in deciding whether to select or recommend such 
service providers to perform services for the Fund or portfolio companies (the cost of which will generally be borne directly or 
indirectly by the Fund or such portfolio companies, as applicable). Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that the Adviser 
determines appropriate, conflict mitigation strategies may be put in place with respect to a particular circumstance, such as 
internal information barriers or recusal, disclosure or other steps determined appropriate by the Adviser. The shareholders rely on 
the Adviser to manage these conflicts in its sole discretion.

Valuation of Assets. A majority of securities and other assets in which the Fund will directly or indirectly invest, including 
secured loan investments, are not expected to have a readily ascertainable market value and will be valued by the Adviser in 
accordance with its established valuation policies. Such securities and other assets will constitute a substantial portion of the 
Fund’s investments. In addition, when the Adviser determines that the market price does not fairly represent the value of an 
investment, the Adviser will fair value such investment in accordance with the Fund’s policies and procedures. The Adviser has a 
conflict of interest in determining such valuations, as the Adviser’s determination of a fair value for such investments may cause 
it to receive a higher Advisory Fee.

The Adviser and its affiliates are engaged in advisory and management services for multiple collective investment vehicles 
and managed accounts, including other investment funds managed by the Adviser and its affiliates. In connection with these 
activities, the Adviser and its affiliates are required to value assets, including in connection with managing or advising their 
proprietary and client accounts. In this regard, the Adviser and its affiliates may share information regarding valuation techniques 
and models or other information relevant to the valuation of a specific asset or category of assets, although they are under no 
obligation to engage in such information sharing.

Conflicts with Portfolio Companies. In certain instances, the portfolio managers and officers, personnel and employees of 
the Adviser may serve as board members of certain portfolio companies and, in that capacity, will be required to make decisions 
that they consider to be in the best interests of the portfolio company. In certain circumstances, such as in situations involving 
bankruptcy or near insolvency of the portfolio company, actions that may be in the best interests of the portfolio company may 
not be in the best interests of the Fund, and vice versa. Accordingly, in these situations, there may be conflicts of interest between 
an individual’s duties as a portfolio manager or officer or employee of the Adviser and such individual’s duties as a board 
member of the portfolio company. Additionally, the Adviser or affiliates of the Adviser may enter into transactions with a 
portfolio company (for example, a property lease), which may create a conflict of interest. While it is generally expected that any 
such transaction would be on arm’s length terms, it is possible that the portfolio company may pay higher fees or receive fewer 
benefits in the transaction than it would if the counterparty to the transaction were a third party.
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Selection of Service Providers. The Fund’s advisers and Service Providers or their affiliates are expected to provide goods 
or services to, or have business, personal, financial or other relations with the Adviser, its affiliates, advisory clients and portfolio 
companies. Such advisers and Service Providers may be investors in the Fund, sources of investment opportunities or co-investors 
or commercial counterparties or entities in which the Adviser or an affiliate has an investment. Additionally, certain employees of 
the Adviser or its affiliates may have family members or relatives employed by such advisers and Service Providers. These 
relationships may influence the Adviser in deciding whether to select or recommend such Service Providers to perform services 
for the Fund or portfolio companies (the cost of which generally will be borne directly or indirectly by the Fund or such entities, 
as applicable).

Additionally, affiliates of the Fund’s adviser are acting and expected to continue to act in the future as the administrative 
agent on a number of loans in which the Fund invested or may invest in the future, which may contemplate additional 
compensation to such affiliates for the service of acting as administrative agent thereunder. The Adviser and its affiliates will only 
retain compensation as administrative agent if permissible under the 1940 Act, SEC exemptive relief, and other applicable law. 
Under the documentation for such loans, an entity typically is designated as the administrative agent and/or collateral agent, and 
this agent is granted a lien on any collateral on behalf of the other lenders and distributes payments on the indebtedness as they 
are received. As is typical in such agency arrangements, the agent is the party responsible for administering and enforcing the 
terms of the loan facility, may take certain actions and make certain decisions in its discretion and generally may take material 
actions only in accordance with the instructions of a designated percentage of the lenders.

Data. The Adviser and its affiliates receive or obtains various kinds of data and information from the Fund, Other Clients 
and their portfolio companies, including data and information relating to business operations, trends, budgets, customers and 
other metrics, some of which is sometimes referred to as “big data.” The Adviser can be expected to be better able to anticipate 
macroeconomic and other trends, and otherwise develop investment themes, as a result of its access to (and rights regarding) this 
data and information from the Fund, Other Clients and their portfolio companies. In light of its relationship with the Fund, Other 
Clients and their portfolio companies, related parties and service providers, the Adviser may have access to (and rights regarding) 
data that it would not otherwise obtain in the ordinary course. Although the Adviser believes that these activities improve the 
Adviser’s investment management activities on behalf of the Fund and Other Clients, information obtained from the Fund and its 
portfolio companies may provide material benefits to the Adviser and its affiliates or Other Clients without compensation or other 
benefit accruing to the Fund or shareholders. For example, information from a portfolio company in which the Fund holds an 
interest may enable the Adviser to better understand a particular industry and execute trading and investment strategies in reliance 
on that understanding for the Adviser, its affiliates and Other Clients that do not own an interest in the portfolio company, without 
compensation or benefit to the Fund or its portfolio companies.

Furthermore, except for contractual obligations to third parties to maintain confidentiality of certain information, and 
regulatory limitations on the use of material nonpublic information, the Adviser may use data and information from the Fund’s 
activities to assist in the pursuit of the Adviser’s various other activities, including to trade for the benefit of the Adviser and/or an 
Other Client. Any confidentiality obligations in the operative documents do not limit the Adviser’s ability to do so. For example, 
the Adviser’s ability to trade in securities of an issuer relating to a specific industry may, subject to applicable law, be enhanced 
by information of a portfolio company in the same or related industry. Such trading can be expected to provide a material benefit 
to the Adviser without compensation or other benefit to the Fund or shareholders.

The sharing and use of “big data” and other information presents potential conflicts of interest and the shareholders 
acknowledge and agree that any benefits received by the Adviser or its personnel (including fees, costs and expenses) will not 
reduce the management fees or incentive fees payable to the Adviser or otherwise be shared with the Fund or shareholders. As a 
result, the Adviser has an incentive to pursue investments that have data and information that can be utilized in a manner that 
benefits the Adviser, its affiliates or Other Clients.

Material, Non-Public Information. The Adviser and its affiliates will come into possession of confidential information 
with respect to an issuer. The Adviser may be restricted from buying, originating or selling securities, loans of, or derivatives with 
respect to, the issuer on behalf of the Fund until such time as the information becomes public or is no longer deemed material 
such that it would preclude the Fund from participating in an investment. Disclosure of such information to the Adviser’s 
personnel responsible for the affairs of the Fund will be on a need-to-know basis only, and the Fund may not be free to act for the 
Fund upon any such information. Therefore, the Fund may not have access to confidential information in the possession of the 
Adviser that might be relevant to an investment decision to be made for the Fund. In addition, the Adviser, in an effort to avoid 
buying or selling restrictions on behalf of the Fund or Other Clients, may choose to forego an opportunity to receive (or elect not 
to receive) information that other market participants or counterparties, including those with the same positions in the issuer as 
the Fund, are eligible to receive or have received, even if possession of such information would otherwise be advantageous to the 
Fund.



68

In addition, affiliates of the Adviser within Fidelity may come into possession of confidential information with respect to an 
issuer. The Adviser may be restricted from buying, originating or selling securities, loans of, or derivatives with respect to, the 
issuer on behalf of the Fund if the Adviser deemed such restriction appropriate. Disclosure of such information to the Adviser’s 
personnel responsible for the affairs of the Fund will be on a need-to-know basis only, and the Fund may not be free to act upon 
any such information. Therefore, the Fund may not have access to confidential information in the possession of the Adviser or its 
affiliates that might be relevant to an investment decision to be made by the Fund. Accordingly, the Fund may not be able to 
initiate a transaction that it otherwise might have initiated and may not be able to sell an investment that it otherwise might have 
sold.

Loan Agreements with Affiliates. The Fund may enter into loan agreements with the Adviser or its affiliates. The Adviser 
and its affiliates have a conflict of interest between the obligation to act in the Fund’s best interest and the Adviser or affiliate’s 
own best interest. Any such loans or advances made to the Fund will be consistent with applicable law, the Adviser’s fiduciary 
obligations to act in the Fund’s best interests, the Fund’s investment objectives, and the asset coverage ratio requirements under 
the 1940 Act. The terms associated with any such loans from the Adviser or its affiliates, including the interest charged, shall, in 
the aggregate, be no more favorable to the Adviser or its affiliates than could be obtained in an arm’s-length transaction but will 
not necessarily be on the same terms or at the same interest rate charged by the Adviser to other funds that it manages. Neither the 
Adviser nor any of its affiliates is obligated to extend any such loans to the Fund and such loans will not necessarily be made 
available to the Fund in the same amounts or on the same economic terms as are made available to other funds advised by the 
Adviser or its affiliates, or at all. In the event that the Fund is required to find third-party financing in place of or in addition to 
loans from the Adviser and its affiliates, such third-party financing could be at less favorable economic terms than the loans from 
the Adviser and its affiliates, which could reduce the Fund’s returns.

Buying and Selling Investments or Assets from Certain Related Parties. The Fund and its portfolio companies may 
purchase investments or assets from or sell investments or assets to shareholders, other portfolio companies of the Fund, portfolio 
companies of Other Clients or their respective related parties. Purchases and sales of investments or assets between the Fund or its 
portfolio companies, on the one hand, and shareholders, other portfolio companies of the Fund, portfolio companies of Other 
Clients or their respective related parties, on the other hand, are not, unless required by applicable law, subject to the approval of 
the Board or any shareholder. These transactions involve conflicts of interest, as the Adviser may receive fees and other benefits, 
directly or indirectly, from or otherwise have interests in both parties to the transaction, including different financial incentives 
Fidelity may have with respect to the parties to the transaction. For example, there can be no assurance that any investment or 
asset sold by the Fund to a shareholder, other portfolio companies of the Fund, portfolio company of Other Clients or any of their 
respective related parties will not be valued or allocated a sale price that is lower than might otherwise have been the case if such 
asset were sold to a third party rather than to a shareholder, portfolio company of Other Clients or any of their respective related 
parties. The Adviser will not be required to solicit third party bids or obtain a third-party valuation prior to causing the Fund or 
any of its portfolio companies to purchase or sell any asset or investment from or to a shareholder, other portfolio companies of 
the Fund, portfolio company of Other Clients or any of their respective related parties as provided above.
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Other Affiliate Transactions and Investments in Different Levels of Capital Structure. From time to time, the Fund and 
the Other Clients may make investments at different levels of an issuer’s capital structure or otherwise in different classes of an 
issuer’s securities or loans, subject to the limitations of the 1940 Act. While less common, subject to applicable law, from time to 
time the Fund could hold an investment in a different layer of the capital structure than an investor or another party with which 
the Adviser or its affiliates have a material relationship, in which case the Adviser or its affiliates could have an incentive to cause 
the Fund or the portfolio company to offer more favorable terms to such parties (including, for instance, financing arrangements). 
Such investments may inherently give rise to conflicts of interest or perceived conflicts of interest between or among the various 
classes of securities or loans that may be held by such entities. To the extent the Fund holds securities or loans that are different 
(including with respect to their relative seniority) than those held by an Other Client, the Adviser and its affiliates may be 
presented with decisions when the interests of the funds are in conflict. For example, conflicts could arise where the Fund lends 
funds to a portfolio company while an Other Client invests in equity securities of such portfolio company. In this circumstance, 
for example, if such portfolio company were to go into bankruptcy, become insolvent or otherwise be unable to meet its payment 
obligations or comply with its debt covenants, conflicts of interest could arise between the holders of different types of securities 
or loans as to what actions the portfolio company should take. Further conflicts could arise after the Fund and Other Clients have 
made their respective initial investments. For example, if additional financing is necessary as a result of financial or other 
difficulties, it may not be in the best interests of the Fund to provide such additional financing. If the Other Clients were to lose 
their respective investments as a result of such difficulties, the ability of the Adviser to recommend actions in the best interests of 
the Fund might be impaired. Any applicable co-investment order issued by the SEC may restrict the Fund’s ability to participate 
in follow-on financings. The Adviser may in its discretion take steps to reduce the potential for adversity between the Fund and 
the Other Clients, including causing the Fund and/or such Other Clients to take certain actions that, in the absence of such 
conflict, it would not take. Such conflicts will be more difficult if the Fund and Other Clients hold significant or controlling 
interests in competing or different tranches of a portfolio company’s capital structure. Equity holders and debt holders have 
different (and often competing) motives, incentives, liquidity goals and other interests with respect to a portfolio company. In 
addition, there may be circumstances where the Adviser agrees to implement certain procedures to ameliorate conflicts of interest 
that may involve a forbearance of rights relating to the Fund or Other Clients, such as where the Adviser or its affiliates may 
cause the Fund or Other Clients to decline to exercise certain control-and/or foreclosure-related rights with respect to a portfolio 
company.

Further, the Fund is prohibited under the 1940 Act from participating in certain transactions with certain affiliates 
(including portfolio companies of Other Clients) without the prior approval of a majority of the independent members of the 
Board and, in some cases, the SEC. Any person that owns, directly or indirectly, 5% or more of the outstanding voting securities 
will be an affiliate of the Fund for purposes of the 1940 Act and generally the Fund will be prohibited from buying or selling any 
securities from or to such affiliate, absent the prior approval of the Board. However, the Fund may under certain circumstances 
purchase any such affiliate’s loans or securities in the secondary market, which could create a conflict for the Adviser between the 
Fund’s interests and the interests of such affiliate, in that the ability of the Adviser to recommend actions in the Fund’s best 
interest may be limited. The 1940 Act also prohibits certain “joint” transactions with certain affiliates, which could include 
investments in the same portfolio company (whether at the same or closely related times), without prior approval of the Board 
and, in some cases, the SEC.

In addition, conflicts may arise in determining the amount of an investment, if any, to be allocated among potential 
investors and the respective terms thereof. There can be no assurance that any conflict will be resolved in favor of the Fund, and 
in some cases, subject to applicable law, a decision by the Adviser to take any particular action could have the effect of benefiting 
an Other Client (and, incidentally, may also have the effect of benefiting the Adviser and its affiliates) and therefore may not have 
been in the best interests of, and may be adverse to, the Fund. There can be no assurance that the return on the Fund’s investment 
will be equivalent to or better than the returns obtained by the Other Clients participating in the transaction. 

Related Financing Counterparties. The Fund may invest in companies or other entities in which Other Clients make an 
investment in a different part of the capital structure (and vice versa) subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act and the Fund’s 
co-investment order. The Adviser and its affiliates take into account various facts and circumstances they deem relevant in 
selecting financing sources, including whether a potential lender has expressed an interest in evaluating debt financing 
opportunities, whether a potential lender has a history of participating in debt financing opportunities generally and with the 
Adviser in particular, the size of the potential lender’s loan amount, the timing of the relevant cash requirement, the availability of 
other sources of financing, the creditworthiness of the lender, whether the potential lender has demonstrated a long-term or 
continuing commitment to the success of the Adviser, its affiliates and their funds, and such other factors that the Adviser and its 
affiliates deem relevant under the circumstances. The cost of debt alone is not determinative.
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It is possible that shareholders, Other Clients, their portfolio companies, co-investors and other parties with material 
relationships with the Adviser, such as shareholders of and lenders to the Adviser and its affiliates and lenders to Other Clients 
and their portfolio companies, could provide additional first lien financing to portfolio companies of the Fund, subject to the 
requirements of the 1940 Act. The Adviser could have incentives to cause the Fund and its portfolio companies to accept less 
favorable financing terms from a shareholder, Other Clients, their portfolio companies, Fidelity, and other parties with material 
relationships with the Adviser than it would from a third party. If the Fund or a portfolio company occupies a more senior 
position in the capital structure than a shareholder, Other Client, their portfolio companies and other parties with material 
relationships with the Adviser, the Adviser could have an incentive to cause the Fund or portfolio company to offer more 
favorable financing terms to such parties. In the case of a related party financing between the Fund or its portfolio companies, on 
the one hand, and the Adviser or Other Clients’ portfolio companies, on the other hand, to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act, 
the Adviser could, but is not obligated to, rely on a third party agent to confirm the terms offered by the counterparty are 
consistent with market terms, or the Adviser could instead rely on its own internal analysis, which the Adviser believes is often 
superior to third party analysis given the scale of the Adviser and its affiliates in the market. If, however, any of the Adviser, the 
Fund, an Other Client or any of their portfolio companies delegates to a third party, such as another member of a financing 
syndicate or a joint venture partner, the negotiation of the terms of the financing, the transaction will be assumed to be conducted 
on an arms-length basis, even though the participation of the Adviser related vehicle impacts the market terms. For example, in 
the case of a loan extended to the Fund or a portfolio company by a financing syndicate in which an Other Client has agreed to 
participate on terms negotiated by a third party participant in the syndicate, it may have been necessary to offer better terms to the 
financing provider to fully subscribe the syndicate if the Other Client had not participated. It is also possible that the frequent 
participation of Other Clients in such syndicates could dampen interest among other potential financing providers, thereby 
lowering demand to participate in the syndicate and increasing the financing costs to the Fund. The Adviser does not believe 
either of these effects is significant, but no assurance can be given to shareholders that these effects will not be significant in any 
circumstance. Unless required by applicable law, the Adviser will not seek any consent or approvals from shareholders or the 
Board in the case of any of these conflicts.

The Adviser and its affiliates could cause actions adverse to the Fund to be taken for the benefit of Other Clients that have 
made an investment more senior in the capital structure of a portfolio company than the Fund (e.g., provide financing to a 
portfolio company, the equity of which is owned by the Fund) and, vice versa, actions may be taken for the benefit of the Fund 
and its portfolio companies that are adverse to Other Clients. The Adviser and its affiliates could seek to implement procedures to 
mitigate conflicts of interest in these situations such as (i) a forbearance of rights, including some or all non-economic rights, by 
the Fund or relevant Other Client (or their respective portfolio companies, as the case may be) by, for example, agreeing to follow 
the vote of a third party in the same tranche of the capital structure, or otherwise deciding to recuse itself with respect to decisions 
on defaults, foreclosures, workouts, restructurings and other similar matters, (ii) causing the Fund or relevant Other Client (or 
their respective portfolio companies, as the case may be) to hold only a non-controlling interest in any such portfolio company, 
(iii) retaining a third party loan servicer, administrative agent or other agent to make decisions on behalf of the Fund or relevant 
Other Client (or their respective portfolio companies, as the case may be), or (iv) create groups of personnel within the Adviser 
and its affiliates separated by information barriers (which may be temporary and limited purpose in nature), each of which would 
advise one of the clients that has a conflicting position with other clients. As an example, to the extent an Other Client holds an 
interest in a loan or security that is different (including with respect to relative seniority) than those held by the Fund or its 
portfolio companies, the Adviser may decline to exercise, or delegate to a third party, certain control, foreclosure and other 
similar governance rights of the Other Client. In these cases, the Adviser would generally act on behalf of one of its clients, 
though the other client would generally retain certain control rights, such as the right to consent to certain actions taken by the 
trustee or administrative or other agent of the investment, including a release, waiver, forgiveness or reduction of any claim for 
principal or interest; extension of maturity date or due date of any payment of any principal or interest; release or substitution of 
any material collateral; release, waiver, termination or modification of any material provision of any guaranty or indemnity; 
subordination of any lien; and release, waiver or permission with respect to any covenants.

In addition, it is anticipated that in a bankruptcy proceeding the Fund’s interests will likely be subordinated or otherwise 
adverse to the interests of Other Clients with ownership positions that are more senior to those of the Fund. For example, an Other 
Client that has provided debt financing to an investment of the Fund may take actions for its benefit, particularly if the Fund’s 
investment is in financial distress, which adversely impact the value of the Fund’s subordinated interests.

Although Other Clients can be expected to provide financing to the Fund and its portfolio companies subject to the 
requirements of the 1940 Act, there can be no assurance that any Other Client will indeed provide any such financing with respect 
to any particular investment. Participation by Other Clients in some but not all financings of the Fund and its portfolio companies 
may adversely impact the ability of the Fund and its portfolio companies to obtain financing from third parties when Other 
Clients do not participate, as it may serve as a negative signal to market participants. Any financing provided by a shareholder or 
an affiliate to the Fund or a portfolio company is not an investment in the Fund.
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The respective investment programs of the Fund and the Other Clients may or may not be substantially similar. The 
Adviser and its affiliates may give advice to, and recommend securities for, Other Clients that may differ from advice given to, or 
securities recommended or bought for, the Fund, even though their investment objectives may be the same as or similar to those 
of the Fund. While the Adviser will seek to manage potential conflicts of interest in a fair and equitable manner, the portfolio 
strategies employed by the Adviser and its affiliates in managing their respective Other Clients are likely to conflict from time to 
time with the transactions and strategies employed by the Adviser in managing the Fund and may affect the prices and availability 
of the securities and instruments in which the Fund invests. Conversely, participation in specific investment opportunities may be 
appropriate, at times, for both the Fund and Other Clients. In any event, it is the policy of the Adviser to allocate investment 
opportunities and sale opportunities on a basis deemed by the Adviser, in its sole discretion, to be fair and equitable over time.

Joint Ventures. The Fund or the Adviser may partner with one or more unaffiliated banks or other financial institutions to 
make particular investments or types of investments, with, in some instances, such partners having senior exposure to the 
investment program and the Fund and Other Clients participating in the junior exposure or vice versa. In doing so, the Adviser 
would seek to benefit from the larger combined capital base of working with a partner, as well as such partner’s sourcing 
channels and expertise. In addition, the Fund may be an initial economic participant in such an investment program or may join 
the investment program after it has made investments. As a result, the Fund may or may not share in the returns of the 
investments that have already been originated and, accordingly the returns realized by the Fund investors may differ from the 
returns realized by other participants of such investment program.

The structure of this type of investment program will vary and will be determined on a case-by-case basis in order to 
accommodate the nature of the arrangements, applicable bank and other regulatory restrictions, particular considerations 
applicable to the funds and accounts participating in the investment program, tax considerations, and other factors. For example, 
the investment program may be structured so that the Fund purchases debt of a holding company (the “JV Participant”) and the 
JV Participant then participates in the joint venture or the investments sourced through the joint venture. In such a situation, the 
equity of the JV Participant is expected to be held by Other Clients. As a result, conflicts of interest may arise between the Fund 
(as debt holders of the JV Participant) and the Other Clients participating in the investment program (as equity holders of the JV 
Participant). These conflicts of interest would be magnified in the event of any default, bankruptcy or similar event of financial 
distress with respect to the JV Participant. Further, the returns realized by the Fund are likely to differ from the returns realized by 
the Other Clients participating in the investment program. In such a structure, the Fund as a debt holder will have more enhanced 
downside protection than the Other Clients but will not benefit from all of the upside from the underlying investments, whereas 
the Other Clients, while being subject to a greater risk of loss, will also benefit from greater upside than the Fund.

The Fund’s joint venture partner may be a regulated banking entity, and the joint venture vehicle may be subject to bank 
regulation as a result of the bank’s ownership interest therein. As a result, there is a risk that the joint venture could be subject to 
bank regulatory audit and review, as well as potential fines or other enforcement actions that the Fund, acting on its own, would 
not otherwise be subject. While the bank joint venture partner would be expected to assume some of these liabilities directly, the 
JV Participant would nevertheless have some exposure, potentially in respect of larger liabilities. Such liabilities could be 
significant. Furthermore, the activities of the joint venture may be restricted because of regulatory requirements applicable to the 
bank or its internal policies designed to comply with, limit the applicability of, or that otherwise relate to such requirements.

The Adviser believes that any such joint venture will be structured in a manner that would not cause a violation of 
applicable banking laws and regulations. However, it is possible that future changes or clarifications in statutes, regulations or 
interpretations concerning the permissible activities of bank holding companies, as well as further judicial or administrative 
decisions and interpretations of present or future statutes or regulations could restrict (or possibly prevent) the banking partner 
from continuing to participate in the joint venture in the manner originally contemplated. In such event, the Adviser and the 
applicable banking partner may agree to alter or restrict the investment program or may elect to terminate the investment program 
altogether. Any such restructuring or termination may adversely affect the returns realized by the Fund in connection with its 
participation in the investment program.



72

Certain Investments Inside the Fund’s Mandate that are not Pursued by the Fund. Under certain circumstances, the 
Adviser may determine not to pursue some or all of an investment opportunity within the Fund’s mandate pursuant to its 
investment allocation policies and procedures, including without limitation, as a result of business, reputational or other reasons 
applicable to the Fund, Other Clients, their respective portfolio companies or the Adviser. In addition, the Adviser may determine 
that the Fund should not pursue some or all of an investment opportunity, including, by way of example and without limitation, 
because the Fund has already invested sufficient capital in the investment, sector, industry, geographic region or markets in 
question, as determined by the Adviser in its good faith discretion, or the investment is not appropriate for the Fund for other 
reasons as determined by the Adviser in its good faith reasonable sole discretion. In any such case the Adviser or its affiliates 
could, thereafter, offer such opportunity to other parties, including Other Clients or portfolio companies or limited partners or 
shareholders of the Fund or Other Clients, joint venture partners, related parties or third parties. Any such Other Clients may be 
advised by a different FDS affiliate, which could determine an investment opportunity to be more attractive than the Adviser 
believes to be the case. In any event, there can be no assurance that the Adviser’s assessment will prove correct or that the 
performance of any investments actually pursued by the Fund will be comparable to any investment opportunities that are not 
pursued by the Fund. The Adviser and its affiliates, including their personnel, may receive compensation from any such party that 
makes the investment, including an allocation of carried interest or referral fees, and any such compensation could be greater than 
amounts paid by the Fund to the Adviser. In some cases, the Adviser or its affiliates earn greater fees when Other Clients 
participate alongside or instead of the Fund in an investment.

Allocation of Revolver, Delayed-Draw Investment or Line of Credit Obligations. The Fund generally expects to 
participate in one or more investments that are structured as “revolvers,” “delayed-draws” or “lines of credit” with funding 
obligations that extend past the initial date of investment. Later funding obligations related to such investments may not be 
allocated pro rata among all the investors who participated in the initial funding of an investment. In particular, the Fund may 
participate in the initial funding of an investment, but may not participate in later-arising funding obligations (i.e., the revolver, 
delayed-draw or line of credit portions) related to such investment, including because of capacity limitations that an investment 
vehicle may have for making new revolver, delayed-draw investments or lines of credit. As a result, the Fund may be allocated a 
smaller or larger portion of revolver, delayed-draw investments or lines of credit than other investors participating in the loan (or 
may not be allocated any portion). Fund investors that participate in the initial funding of an investment may receive certain 
economic benefits in connection with such initial funding, such as OID, closing payments, or commitment fees and these benefits 
are expected to be allocated based on participation in the initial funding, regardless of participation in future funding obligations. 
In addition, where the Fund and any other participating investors have not participated in each funding of an investment on a pro 
rata basis, conflicts of interest may arise between the Fund and the other investors as the interests of the Fund and the other 
investors may not be completely aligned with respect to such investment. In that regard, the revolver, delayed draw or line of 
credit portion of an investment may be senior to the investment in the portfolio company made by the Fund, and as a result, the 
interests of the Fund may not be aligned with other participating investors.

Insurance. The Adviser will cause the Fund to purchase, and/or bear premiums, fees, costs and expenses (including any 
expenses or fees of insurance brokers) for insurance to insure the Fund and the Board against liability in connection with the 
activities of the Fund. This includes a portion of any premiums, fees, costs and expenses for one or more “umbrella,” group or 
other insurance policies maintained by the Adviser or its affiliates that cover the Fund and one or more of the Other Clients, the 
Adviser, and/or its affiliates (including their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, independent client 
representative (if any) and other Indemnified Parties). The Adviser will make judgments about the allocation of premiums, fees, 
costs and expenses for such “umbrella,” group or other insurance policies among the Fund, one or more Other Clients, the 
Adviser, and/or its affiliates on a fair and reasonable basis, subject to approval by the Board.

Expense Allocations. The Administrator and its affiliates provide, or oversee the provision of, administrative resources to 
the Fund. The resources provided by the Administrator and its affiliates to the Fund include shared resources among the Fund and 
Other Clients. The Fund is responsible for paying its allocable share of such expenses. The Administrator takes into account a 
variety of considerations when allocating such expenses, both between the Administrator/its affiliates, on the one hand, and the 
Fund and Other Clients on the other, and between and among the Fund and Other Clients. The Administrator seeks to allocate 
expenses using fair and reasonable methodologies. The Administrator will make judgments about the allocation of fees, costs and 
expenses among the Fund, one or more Other Clients, the Adviser, the Administrator and/or its affiliates on a fair and reasonable 
basis, subject to oversight of the Board.

Additional Potential Conflicts of Interest. The officers, directors, members, managers, employees and personnel of the 
Adviser, as applicable, may trade in securities for their own accounts, subject to restrictions and reporting requirements as may be 
required by law or the policies of the Adviser and its affiliates, or otherwise determined from time to time by the Adviser. In 
addition, certain Other Clients may be subject to the 1940 Act or other regulations that, due to the role of the Adviser or its 
affiliates, could restrict the ability of the Fund to buy investments from, to sell investments to or to invest in the same securities 
as, such Other Clients. Such regulations may have the effect of limiting the investment opportunities available to the Fund. 
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Finally, although Fidelity believes its positive reputation in the marketplace provides benefit to the Fund and Other Clients, the 
Adviser could decline to undertake investment activity or transact with a counterparty on behalf of the Fund for reputational 
reasons, and this decision could result in the Fund foregoing a profit or suffering a loss.

The foregoing list of conflicts does not purport to be a complete enumeration or explanation of the actual and potential 
conflicts involved in an investment in the Fund. Prospective investors should read the Fund’s prospectus and consult with 
their own advisers before deciding whether to invest in the Fund. In addition, as the Fund’s investment program develops and 
changes over time, an investment in the Fund may be subject to additional and different actual and potential conflicts. 
Although the various conflicts discussed herein are generally described separately, prospective investors should consider the 
potential effects of the interplay of multiple conflicts.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

Fidelity and its Enterprise Cybersecurity organization, on behalf of the Fund, have established a comprehensive risk 
management program, which includes processes to identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity risks, including material risks from 
cybersecurity threats, and to put in place appropriate controls to mitigate these risks and reduce the potential impact to the Fund 
and its shareholders. The Fund does not currently have any employees and relies upon Fidelity and its Enterprise Cybersecurity 
organization for the Fund’s day-to-day operations and to establish strategies, policies, and standards for the security of, and 
operations in, cyberspace.

The Fund depends on and engages various third parties, including suppliers, vendors, and service providers, to operate its 
business. Through its vendor management program, and on behalf of the Fund, Fidelity oversees and identifies risks from 
cybersecurity threats associated with the use of third-party service providers. This vendor oversight program includes periodic 
reviews of the cybersecurity controls of third-party service providers, The frequency of such reviews is generally based on the 
nature of the Fund’s information processed by the vendor and the vendor’s criticality to business operations.

On behalf of the Fund, Fidelity engages third-party consultants to assess, identify, and/or manage material risks from 
cybersecurity threats. For example, Fidelity engages third-party consultants to perform audits of its cybersecurity measures and 
risk management processes, including those applicable to the Fund. Fidelity has also hired qualified independent assessors to 
review applicable security controls in accordance with the AICPA’s System and Organization Controls assurance programs.  
Additionally, Fidelity utilizes third-party consultants with specific areas of cybersecurity expertise to review and report on various 
aspects of its cybersecurity program, including those applicable to the Fund. The results of these consulting engagements are 
shared with the Fund’s Board of Trustees as part of periodic reports.

Fidelity’s Enterprise Cybersecurity organization has a threat intelligence program which monitors for emerging cyber 
threats. Taking information gathered from public and private sources, including industry groups such as the U.S. Cybersecurity 
and Infrastructure Security Agency and the Financial Services Information Sharing and Analysis Center, the organization 
analyzes such information and incorporates tactics, techniques, and procedures into the program’s security monitoring and 
detection tools and processes.

The potential impact of risks from cybersecurity threats on the Fund are assessed on an ongoing basis, and how such risks 
could materially affect the Fund’s business strategy, operational results, and financial condition are regularly evaluated. During 
the reporting period, the Fund did not identify any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous 
cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Fund, including its day-to-
day operations, financial condition, and business strategies. In conjunction with Fidelity’s Enterprise Cybersecurity, the Fund 
participates in regular testing of applicable incident response processes to ensure appropriate escalation, mitigation, 
communication and reporting processes are in place.
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The Board provides strategic oversight regarding cybersecurity risks and threats.  The Board receives and reviews periodic 
reports from senior executives in Fidelity’s enterprise cybersecurity organization and the Fund’s management, including 
Fidelity’s Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”), members of the CISO’s staff and the Fund’s CCO.  These reports contain 
information about risks from cybersecurity threats, including the results of recent independent reviews of the cybersecurity 
program, summaries of recent cybersecurity threat intelligence assessments, progress on key initiatives and strategies, and 
updates on recent regulatory activities, including new regulations and examinations.

The Fund’s management, including the CCO of the Fund, is responsible for assessing and managing material risks from 
cybersecurity threats. In connection with the Fund’s reliance on Fidelity and its Enterprise Cybersecurity organization, the CCO 
relies on the cybersecurity expertise of Fidelity’s CISO and members of the CISO’s staff to assist in assessing and managing the 
Fund’s material risks from cybersecurity threats. The CISO has over twenty years of experience in technology and information 
security and has served as Fidelity’s CISO since May 2021. The CCO has been responsible for this oversight function as CCO to 
the Fund since the Fund’s inception and has worked in the financial services industry for sixteen years, during which the CCO has 
gained expertise in assessing and managing risks applicable to the company. 

Management of the Fund is informed about and monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of 
cybersecurity incidents impacting the Fund, including through the receipt of notifications from service providers and reliance on 
communications with risk management, legal, information technology, and/or compliance personnel of Fidelity. The Board is also 
made aware of material cybersecurity incidents which impacted the Fund.

Item 2. Properties.

We do not own any real estate or other physical properties materially important to our operation. Our corporate 
headquarters are located at 245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210. We believe that our office facilities are suitable 
and adequate for our business as it is currently conducted.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings, nor, to our knowledge, are any material legal proceedings 
threatened against us. From time to time, we may be a party to certain legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business, 
including proceedings relating to the enforcement of our rights under contracts with our portfolio companies. Our business is also 
subject to extensive regulation, which may result in regulatory proceedings against us. While the outcome of any such legal or 
regulatory framework cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not expect that any such future proceedings will have a material 
effect upon our financial condition or results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not Applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Share Issuances 

The Offering consists of three classes of shares of our Common Stock, Class I shares, Class S shares, and Class D shares. 
The share classes have different ongoing shareholder servicing fees. Other than the differences in ongoing shareholder servicing 
and/or distribution fees, each class of Common Stock has the same economics and voting rights. Shares of our common stock are 
not listed for trading on a stock exchange or other securities market and there is no established public trading market for our 
common stock.

 As of March 18, 2024 there were 2,915 holders of record of our Class I common stock, 1 holder of record of our Class S 
common stock, and 1 holder of record of our Class D common stock.  

We expect to determine our NAV for each class of shares each month as of the last day of each calendar month. The NAV 
per share for each class of shares is determined by dividing the value of total assets attributable to the class minus liabilities 
attributable to the class by the total number of Common Shares outstanding of the class at the date as of which the determination 
is made.

The following table presents our monthly NAV per share for each of the classes of shares since our inception through 
December 31, 2023:

NAV Per Share
For the Months Ended Class I Class S Class D
March 31, 2023 $ 25.31 $ - $ -
April 30, 2023 25.27 - -
May 31, 2023 25.24 - -
June 30, 2023 25.32 - -
July 31, 2023 25.32 - -
August 31, 2023 25.40 - -
September 30, 2023 25.52 - -
October 31, 2023 25.54 - -
November 30, 2023 25.56 25.56 25.56
December 31, 2023 25.81 25.81 25.81

Distributions

We have paid regular monthly distributions commencing with the first full calendar quarter after the escrow period 
concluded. Any distributions we make will be at the discretion of our Board, considering factors such as our earnings, cash flow, 
capital needs and general financial condition and the requirements of Delaware law. As a result, our distribution rates and 
payment frequency may vary from time to time.

Our Board’s discretion as to the payment of distributions will be directed, in substantial part, by its determination to cause 
us to comply with the RIC requirements. To maintain our treatment as a RIC, we generally are required to make aggregate annual 
distributions to our shareholders of at least 90% of investment company taxable income. See “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax 
Considerations.”

The per share amount of distributions on Class S, Class D and Class I shares generally differ because of different class-
specific shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees that are deducted from the gross distributions for each share class. 
Specifically, distributions on Class S shares will be lower than Class D shares and Class I shares, and distributions on Class D 
shares will be lower than Class I shares because we are required to pay higher ongoing shareholder servicing and/or distribution 
fees with respect to the Class S shares (compared to Class D shares and Class I shares), and we are required to pay higher ongoing 
shareholder servicing fees with respect to Class D shares (compared to Class I shares).
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The following table presents our distributions that were declared and payable for the year ended December 31, 2023 
(dollars in thousands except per share amounts) by share class:

Class I

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Distribution Per 

Share Distribution Amount
April 26, 2023 April 28, 2023 May 18, 2023 $ 0.2000 $ 950,534
May 25, 2023 May 31, 2023 June 23, 2023 0.2050 1,223,097
June 27, 2023 June 30, 2023 July 25, 2023 0.2050 1,550,697
July 27, 2023 July 31, 2023 August 22, 2023 0.2050 1,844,444

August 28, 2023 August 31, 2023 September 25, 2023 0.2050 2,104,759
September 28, 2023 September 29, 2023 October 23, 2023 0.2150 2,511,949

October 27, 2023 October 31, 2023 November 22, 2023 0.2150 2,721,969
November 29, 2023 November 30, 2023 December 22, 2023 0.2150 3,056,588
December 29, 2023 December 29, 2023 January 24, 2024 0.2150 3,380,805

$ 1.8800 $ 19,344,842

Class S

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Distribution Per 

Share Distribution Amount
November 29, 2023 November 30, 2023 December 22, 2023 $ 0.1969 $ 77
December 29, 2023 December 29, 2023 January 24, 2024 0.1969 78

$ 0.3938 $ 155

Class D

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Distribution Per 

Share Distribution Amount
November 29, 2023 November 30, 2023 December 22, 2023 $ 0.2097 $ 82
December 29, 2023 December 29, 2023 January 24, 2024 0.2097 83

$ 0.4194 $ 165

Shareholder Servicing and/or Distribution Fees 

The following table shows the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees we pay the Managing Dealer with respect to 
the Class S, Class D and Class I on an annualized basis as a percentage of our NAV for such class. Subject to FINRA and other 
limitations on underwriting compensation, the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees will be paid monthly in arrears, 
calculated using the NAV of the applicable class as of the beginning of the first calendar day of the month.

Shareholder Servicing 
and/ or Distribution Fee 

as a % of NAV
Class S shares 0.85%
Class D shares 0.25%
Class I shares —

Subject to FINRA and other limitations on underwriting compensation described in “Limitations on Underwriting 
Compensation” below, we will pay a shareholder servicing and/or distribution fee equal to 0.85% per annum of the aggregate 
NAV for the Class S shares, a shareholder servicing fee equal to 0.25% per annum of the aggregate NAV for the Class D shares, 
in each case, payable monthly.

The shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees will be paid monthly in arrears. The Managing Dealer will reallow (pay) 
all or a portion of the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees to participating brokers and servicing brokers for ongoing 
shareholder services performed by such brokers, and will waive shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees to the extent a 
broker is not eligible to receive it for failure to provide such services. Because the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees 
with respect to Class S shares and Class D shares are calculated based on the aggregate NAV for all of the outstanding shares of 
each such class, it reduces the NAV with respect to all shares of each such class, including shares issued under our distribution 
reinvestment plan.



77

Eligibility to receive the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fee is conditioned on a broker providing the following 
ongoing services with respect to the Class S or Class D shares: assistance with recordkeeping, answering investor inquiries 
regarding us, including regarding distribution payments and reinvestments, helping investors understand their investments upon 
their request, and assistance with share repurchase requests. If the applicable broker is not eligible to receive the shareholder 
servicing and/or distribution fee due to failure to provide these services, the Managing Dealer will waive the shareholder 
servicing fee and/or distribution that broker would have otherwise been eligible to receive. The shareholder servicing and/or 
distribution fees are ongoing fees that are not paid at the time of purchase.

Distribution Reinvestment Plan

We have adopted a distribution reinvestment plan, pursuant to which we will reinvest all cash dividends or distributions 
declared by the Board on behalf of our shareholders who do not elect to receive their dividends or distributions in cash. As a 
result, if the Board authorizes, and we declare, a cash dividend or other distribution, then our shareholders who have not opted out 
of our distribution reinvestment plan will have their cash distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares, rather than 
receiving the cash dividend or other distribution. Distributions on fractional shares will be credited to each participating 
shareholder’s account to three decimal places.

Share Repurchase Program

We have commenced a share repurchase program in which we intend to offer to repurchase, in each quarter, up to 5% of 
our Common Shares outstanding (by number of shares) as of the close of the previous calendar quarter. Our Board of Trustees 
may amend or suspend the share repurchase program at any time if it deems such action to be in our best interest and the best 
interest of our shareholders, such as when a repurchase offer would place an undue burden on our liquidity or otherwise adversely 
affect our operations. As a result, share repurchases may not be available each quarter. We intend to conduct such repurchase 
offers in accordance with the requirements of Rule 13e-4 promulgated under the Exchange Act and the 1940 Act. All shares 
purchased by us pursuant to the terms of each tender offer will be retired and thereafter will be authorized and unissued shares.

Under our share repurchase program, to the extent we offer to repurchase shares in any particular quarter, we expect to 
repurchase shares pursuant to quarterly tender offers using a purchase price equal to the NAV per share as of the last calendar day 
of the applicable quarter, except that shares that have not been outstanding for at least one year will be repurchased at 98% of 
such NAV.

The following table presents the share repurchases completed for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Repurchase Deadline 
Request

Percentage of 
Outstanding Shares the 

Fund Offered to 
Repurchase (1)

Price Paid Per 
Share

Repurchase 
Pricing Date

Amount 
Repurchased 
(all classes) (2)

Number of 
Shares

Repurchased (all 
classes)

Percentage of 
Outstanding 

Shares 
Repurchased 

(1)

May 31, 2023 5% $ 25.32 June 30, 2023 $ 50,019 2,049 0.05%
August 31, 2023 5% $ 25.52 September 29, 2023 $ 292,938 11,708 0.15%

November 30, 2023 5% $ 25.81 December 29, 2023 $ 27,140 1,071 0.01%

(1) Percentage is based on total shares as of the close of the previous calendar quarter. All repurchase requests were satisfied in full. 
(2) Amount shown net of Early Repurchase Deduction

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The information in this section contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Please see “Item 
1A. Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks 
and assumptions associated with these statements. You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the financial 
statements and related notes and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. 

Overview 

We are a newly organized, externally managed, non-diversified closed-end management investment company formed as a 
Delaware statutory trust on March 23, 2022 that has elected to be treated as a BDC under the 1940 Act. We are externally 
managed by the Adviser, which is responsible for sourcing potential investments, conducting due diligence on prospective 
investments, analyzing investment opportunities, determining the value of Fund investments, structuring investments and 
monitoring our portfolio on an ongoing basis. Our Adviser is registered as an investment adviser with the SEC. We also intend to 
elect to be treated, and intend to qualify annually, as a RIC under the Code. 

An externally-managed BDC generally does not have any employees, and its investment and management functions are 
provided by an outside investment adviser and administrator under an advisory agreement and administration agreement. Instead 
of directly compensating employees, we pay FDS for investment and management services pursuant to the terms of the Advisory 
Agreement and the Administration Agreement. The Fund intends to operate as a non-exchange traded, perpetual-life BDC, which 
is a BDC whose shares are not listed for trading on a stock exchange or other securities market. The Fund uses the term 
“perpetual-life BDC” to describe an investment vehicle of indefinite duration, whose shares of common stock are intended to be 
sold by the Fund on a continuous basis at a price generally equal to the Fund’s NAV per share.

Our investment objectives are to generate current income and, to a lesser extent, long-term capital appreciation. The Fund 
will achieve these objectives primarily through directly originated loans to private companies but also liquid credit investments, 
like broadly syndicated loans, and other select Private Credit investments. Under normal circumstances, the Fund will invest at 
least 80% of its total assets in Private Credit investments. If the Fund changes its 80% test, the Fund will provide shareholders 
with at least 60 days’ prior notice of such change. The Adviser may also invest to a lesser degree in equity linked instruments 
(which may include debt with warrants, preferred equity investments, or equity co-investments). Most of our investments will be 
in private U.S. operating companies, but (subject to compliance with BDCs’ requirement to invest at least 70% of its assets in 
private U.S. companies) we may also invest to a lesser degree in non-U.S. companies. Subject to the limitations of the 1940 Act, 
we may invest in loans or other securities, the proceeds of which may refinance or otherwise repay debt or securities of 
companies whose debt is owned by other affiliated funds. From time to time, we may co-invest with other affiliated funds.

Key Components of Our Results of Operations

Investments

We focus primarily on loans and securities, including syndicated loans, of private U.S. companies. Our level of investment 
activity (both the number of investments and the size of each investment) can and will vary substantially from period to period 
depending on many factors, including the amount of debt and equity capital available to private companies, the level of merger 
and acquisition activity for such companies, the general economic environment, trading prices of loans and other securities and 
the competitive environment for the types of investments we make.

Revenues 

We generate revenue in the form of interest and fee income on debt investments, capital gains, and dividend income from 
our equity investments in our portfolio companies. Our senior and subordinated debt investments bear interest at a fixed or 
floating rate. Interest on debt securities is generally payable quarterly or semiannually. In some cases, some of our investments 
may provide for deferred interest payments or PIK interest. The principal amount of the debt securities and any accrued but 
unpaid PIK interest generally will become due at the maturity date. In addition, we may generate revenue in the form of 
commitment and other fees in connection with transactions. OIDs and market discounts or premiums will be capitalized, and we 
will accrete or amortize such amounts as interest income. We will record prepayment premiums on loans and debt securities as 
interest income. Dividend income, if any, will be recognized on an accrual basis to the extent that we expect to collect such 
amounts. 
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Expenses 

Except as specifically provided below, all investment professionals and staff of the Adviser, when and to the extent 
engaged in providing investment advisory services to us, and the base compensation, bonus and benefits, and the routine overhead 
expenses, of such personnel allocable to such services, will be provided and paid for by the Adviser. The Administrator or its 
affiliates will bear all fees, costs, and expenses incurred that are not specifically assumed by the Fund under the Administration 
Agreement.

The Adviser and/or its affiliates agreed to advance all of our organization and offering expenses on our behalf through the 
date on which we broke escrow for our Offering. Pursuant to the Expense Support Agreement, for the twelve month period 
commencing the date of Agreement, September 23, 2022, and unless terminated, for each successive one year period, the Adviser 
is obligated to advance all of our Other Operating Expenses (including organizational and offering expenses) to the effect that 
such expenses do not exceed 0.70% (on an annualized basis) of the Fund’s NAV. We will be obligated to reimburse the Adviser 
for such advanced expenses only if certain conditions are met. Any reimbursements will not exceed actual expenses incurred by 
the Adviser and its affiliates.

From time to time, FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and Administrator) or its affiliates may pay third-party providers of 
goods or services. We will reimburse FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser or Administrator) or such affiliates thereof for any such 
amounts paid on our behalf. From time to time, FDS (in its capacity as the Adviser and Administrator) may defer or waive fees 
and/or rights to be reimbursed for expenses. All of the foregoing expenses will ultimately be borne by our shareholders, subject to 
the cap on Other Operating Expenses described above.

Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement 

We have entered into an Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement with our Adviser. As of March 13, 
2023, FDS has voluntarily agreed to waive its right to receive any Reimbursement Payment for any Excess Operating Funds 
incurred in any month prior to a revocation. Any such amounts shall not be considered unreimbursed Expense Payments 
reimbursable in future months pursuant to the terms of the Expense Support Agreement. This voluntary arrangement can be 
terminated at any time, upon thirty days’ prior written notice to the Fund. For additional information, see “Item 8. Consolidated 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note 3. Related Party Agreements 
and Transactions.”

Portfolio and Investment Activity 
For the year ended December 31, 2023, we acquired $534.7 million aggregate principal amount of investments (including 

$99.3 million of unfunded commitments). For the year ended December 31, 2022, we had no portfolio investment activity. 

Our investment activity is presented below (information presented herein is at amortized cost unless otherwise indicated):

Year Ended December 31,
2023

Investments:
Total investments, beginning of period $ —
New investments purchased 534,731,151
Net accretion of discount on investments 1,114,033
Investments sold or repaid (11,323,993)
Total Investments, End of Period $ 524,521,191

Number of portfolio companies 51
Weighted average yield on debt and income producing investments, at amortized cost(1) 11.52%
Weighted average yield on debt and income producing investments, at fair value(2) 11.55%
Percentage of debt investments bearing a floating rate, at fair value 100%
Percentage of debt investments bearing a fixed rate, at fair value 0%

(1) Computed as the sum of, (a) the weighted average amortized cost multiplied by (b) the annual interest rate, for each investment. The weighted average 
amortized cost of an investment is computed by dividing the amortized cost by the sum of total amortized cost of first lien debt and total amortized cost of 
second lien debt.
(2) Computed as the sum of, (a) the weighted average fair value multiplied by (b) the annual interest rate, for each investment. The weighted average fair 
value of an investment is computed by dividing the fair value by the sum of total fair value of first lien debt and total fair value of second lien debt. 
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Our investments consisted of the following:

December 31, 2023

Amortized Cost Fair Value
% of Total Investments at 

Fair Value
First lien debt $ 482,753,585 $ 489,101,899 92.0%
Equity investments 2,002,315 2,240,826 0.4%
Mutual funds 39,765,291 40,123,900 7.6%
Total $ 524,521,191 $ 531,466,625 100.0%

As of December 31, 2023, there were no investments on non-accrual status. 

The industry composition of investments at fair value was as follows:

December 31, 2023
Advertising 1.6%
Aerospace & Defense 1.7%
Air Freight & Logistics 2.8%
Application Software 19.4%
Automotive Parts & Equipment 3.7%
Building Products 1.2%
Commodity Chemicals 1.6%
Diversified Financial Services 0.9%
Diversified Support Services 8.0%
Education Services 1.4%
Environmental & Facilities Services 3.7%
Food Retail 1.4%
Health Care Facilities 2.4%
Health Care Services 6.4%
Industrial Machinery & Supplies & Components 1.8%
Insurance Brokers 3.8%
Life Sciences Tools & Services 5.2%
Mutual Funds 7.6%
Oil & Gas Refining & Marketing 1.4%
Packaged Foods & Meats 3.7%
Pharmaceuticals 1.9%
Soft Drinks & Non-Alcoholic Beverages 2.1%
Specialized Consumer Services 13.2%
Specialized Finance 1.9%
Trading Companies & Distributors 1.2%
Total 100.0%

The geographic composition of investments at fair value was as follows: 

December 31, 2023

Fair Value
% of Total Investments at 

Fair Value
Fair Value as % of Net 

Assets
United States $ 489,333,017 92.1% 120.6%
Australia 31,851,963 6.0% 7.8%
Canada 10,281,645 1.9% 2.5%
Total $ 531,466,625 100.0% 130.9%

Our Adviser monitors our portfolio companies on an ongoing basis. It monitors the financial trends of each portfolio 
company to determine if they are meeting their respective business plans and to assess the appropriate course of action with 
respect to each portfolio company. Our Adviser has several methods of evaluating and monitoring the performance and fair value 
of our investments, which may include the following: 

• assessment of success of the portfolio company in adhering to its business plan and compliance with covenants; 
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• periodic and regular contact with portfolio company management and, if appropriate, the financial or strategic 
sponsor, to discuss financial position, requirements and accomplishments; 

• comparisons to other companies in the portfolio company’s industry; and 

• review of monthly or quarterly financial statements and financial projections for portfolio companies. 

As part of the monitoring process, our Adviser employs an investment rating system to categorize our investments. In 
addition to various risk management and monitoring tools, our Adviser rates the credit risk of all debt investments on a scale of 1 
to 5. This system is intended primarily to reflect the underlying risk of a portfolio investment relative to our initial cost basis in 
respect of such portfolio investment (i.e., at the time of origination or acquisition), although it may also take into account the 
performance of the portfolio company’s business, the collateral coverage of the investment and other relevant factors. The rating 
system is as follows: 

1 – The portfolio investment is performing above our underwriting expectations. 

2 – The portfolio investment is performing as expected at the time of underwriting. As a general rule, new investments are 
initially rated a 2. 

3 – The portfolio investment is operating below our underwriting expectations and requires closer monitoring. The 
company may be out of compliance with financial covenants, however, principal or interest payments are generally not past 
due. 

4 – The portfolio investment is performing materially below our underwriting expectations and returns on our investment 
are likely to be impaired. Principal or interest payments may be past due, however, full recovery of principal and interest 
payments are expected. 

5 – The portfolio investment is performing significantly below expectations and the risk of the investment has increased 
substantially. The company is in payment default and the principal and interest payments are not expected to be repaid in 
full. 

The following table shows the composition of our debt portfolio on the 1 to 5 rating scale as of December 31, 2023

Rating December 31, 2023
1 —
2 $ 489,101,899
3 —
4 —
5 —
Total $ 489,101,899

Results of Operations

On March 13, 2023, we commenced operations and accepted $102.1 million of subscriptions.

The following table represents the operating results:

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2023

For the period March 23, 2022 
(inception) through December 

31, 2022
Total investment income $ 26,391,281 $ —
Net expenses 5,820,071 —
Net investment income (loss) before excise tax 20,571,210 —
Excise tax expense 66,312 —
Net investment income (loss) after excise tax 20,504,898 —
Net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) 6,944,914 —
Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations $ 27,449,812 $ —
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Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations can vary from period to period as a result of various factors, 
including acquisitions, the level of new investment commitments, the recognition of realized gains and losses and changes in 
unrealized appreciation and depreciation on the investment portfolio. As a result, comparisons may not be meaningful.

Investment Income

Investment income was as follows:

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2023

For the period March 23, 2022 
(inception) through December 

31, 2022
Interest income $ 25,116,260 $ —
Dividend income 1,275,021 —
Total Investment Income $ 26,391,281 $ —

For the year ended December 31, 2023, total investment income was $26.4 million, driven by our deployment of capital 
during the year. The size of our investment portfolio at fair value was $531.5 million at December 31, 2023 and our weighted 
average yield on debt and income producing investments, at fair value, was 11.55%. For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) 
through December 31, 2022 there was no net investment income recorded as the Fund had not yet broken escrow and settled 
purchase of any investments.  

Rising interest rates have favorably impacted our investment income during 2023 due to the floating rate nature of our 
investments. Despite constructing our portfolio factoring in higher interest rates when determining appropriate capital structures 
of our borrowers, continued interest rate increases and the resulting higher cost of capital have the potential to negatively impact 
the free cash flow of certain borrowers which could impact their ability to service their debt. Additionally, if higher interest rates 
occur concurrently during a slowdown in growth or period of economic weakness, our borrowers’ and potentially our portfolio 
performance may be negatively impacted. Alternatively, if interest rates decline, our investment income on the existing 
investment portfolio could be negatively impacted.

Expenses 

Expenses were as follows:

Year Ended 
December 31, 2023

For the period March 23, 2022 
(inception) through December 31, 

2022
Interest expense $ 3,604,369 $ —
Management fees 2,497,365 —
Income based incentive fees 2,683,195 —
Capital gains incentive fees 868,178 —
Distribution and shareholder servicing fees
Class S 14 —
Class D 4 —

Administration fees 646,398 —
Organization expenses 3,669 277,851
Amortization of offering costs 1,299,850 —
Board of Trustees’ fees 213,268 125,750
Professional fees 912,873 418,463
Other general and administrative expenses 823,770 25,868
Total Expenses Before Reductions 13,552,953 847,932
Expense support (2,544,412) (847,932)
Management fees waived (2,505,275) —
Income based incentive fees waived (2,683,195) —
Net Expenses $ 5,820,071 $ —

Interest Expense

Total interest expense (including unused fees and amortization of deferred financing costs) of $3.6 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2023, was driven by borrowings under our credit facilities subsequent to our commencement of operations. 
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For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022 no amount of interest expense was incurred as the Fund 
had not yet commenced operations.

Management Fees

For the year ended December 31, 2023, management fees were $2.5 million. The Adviser waived management fees from 
March 13, 2023 (commencement of operations) through December 31, 2023, which resulted in a waiver of $2.5 million, for the 
year ended December 31, 2023. There were no management fees recorded or waived for the period March 23, 2022 (inception) 
through December 31, 2022. Management fees are payable monthly in arrears at an annual rate of 1.25% of the value of our net 
assets as of the beginning of the first calendar day of the applicable month.

Income Based Incentive Fees

For the year ended December 31, 2023, income based incentive fees were $2.7 million. The Adviser waived income based 
incentive fees from March 13, 2023 (commencement of operations) through December 31, 2023, which resulted in a waiver of 
$2.7 million, for the year ended December 31, 2023. There were no income based incentive fees recorded or waived for the 
period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022.

Capital Gains Based Incentive Fees

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we accrued capital gains incentive fees of $0.9 million, none of which was payable 
under the Advisory Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the accrued incentive fees were attributable to net 
unrealized gains of $6.9 million. There were no capital gains incentive fees accrued for the period March 23, 2022 (inception) 
through December 31, 2022. The accrual for any capital gains incentive fee under U.S. GAAP in a given period may result in an 
additional expense if such cumulative amount is greater than in the prior period or a reduction of previously recorded expense if 
such cumulative amount is less in the prior period. If such cumulative amount is negative, then there is no accrual.

Other Expenses

Organization costs and offering costs include expenses incurred in our initial formation and our continuous Offering. 
Professional fees include legal, audit, tax, valuation, technology and other professional fees incurred related to the management of 
the Fund. Administrative fees represent expenses incurred for services provided by FDS in its capacity as Administrator in 
accordance with the terms of the Administration Agreement. Other general and administrative expenses include insurance, filing, 
subscriptions and other costs.

Total other expenses increased to $3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $0.8 million for the period 
March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022 primarily driven by the larger portfolio and associated costs with 
managing the Fund.

We entered into an Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement with the Adviser. For additional 
information see “Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements – Note 3. Related Party Agreements and Transactions.”

Income Taxes, Including Excise Taxes

We intend to elect to be treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code, and we intend to operate in a manner so as to 
continue to qualify annually for the tax treatment applicable to RICs. To qualify for tax treatment as a RIC, we must, among other 
things, distribute to our shareholders in each taxable year generally at least 90% of the sum of our investment company taxable 
income, as defined by the Code (without regard to the deduction for dividends paid), and net tax-exempt income for that taxable 
year. To maintain our tax treatment as a RIC, we, among other things, intend to make the requisite distributions to our 
shareholders, which generally relieve us from corporate-level U.S. federal income taxes.

Depending on the level of taxable income earned in a tax year, we may carry forward taxable income (including net capital 
gains, if any) in excess of current year dividend distributions from the current tax year into the next tax year and pay a 
nondeductible 4% U.S. federal excise tax on such taxable income, as required. To the extent that we determine that our estimated 
current year annual required distributable amount of income will be in excess of estimated current year dividend distributions 
from such income, we will accrue excise tax on estimated excess taxable income.
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For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Fund did not incur any U.S. federal income taxes, but the Fund did incur $0.1 
million of excise taxes. The Fund did not incur any U.S. federal income taxes or excise taxes for the period ended December 31, 
2022.

Net Change in Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation)

Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) was comprised of the following:

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2023

For the period March 23, 2022 
(inception) through December 

31, 2022
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on non-controlled / non-
affiliate investments $ 6,560,468 $ —
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on non-controlled / affiliate 
investments 358,609 —
Net increase or decrease in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on assets and 
liabilities in foreign currencies 25,837 —
Net Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation) $ 6,944,914 $ —

The net change in unrealized appreciation for the year ended December 31, 2023 was primarily due to spread tightening in 
the credit markets and positive portfolio company performance. For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 
2022 there was no net change in unrealized appreciation as the Fund had not yet broken escrow and settled purchase of any 
investments.

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources 

We generate cash primarily from the net proceeds of our continuous Offering of Common Shares, proceeds from net 
borrowings on our credit facility, income earned and repayments on principal on our debt investments. The primary uses of our 
cash and cash equivalents are for (i) originating and purchasing debt and other investments, (ii) funding the costs of our 
operations (including fees paid to our Adviser and expense reimbursements paid to our Administrator), (iii) debt service, 
repayment and other financing costs, (iv) funding repurchases under our share repurchase program and (v) cash distributions to 
the holders of our shares. 

As of December 31, 2023, we had one revolving credit facility outstanding. The Fund may, from time to time, enter into 
additional credit facilities, increase the size of our existing credit facility or issue additional debt securities, including debt 
securitizations, unsecured debt or other forms of debt. Any such incurrence or issuance may be from sources within the U.S. or 
from various foreign geographies or jurisdictions and may be denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Additionally, 
any such incurrence or issuance would be subject to prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements, contractual and 
regulatory restrictions and other factors. In accordance with the 1940 Act, with certain limited exceptions, we are only allowed to 
incur borrowings, issue debt securities or issue preferred stock, if immediately after the borrowing or issuance, the ratio of total 
assets (less total liabilities other than indebtedness) to total indebtedness plus preferred stock, is at least 150%. As of 
December 31, 2023, we had $105.8 million of debt outstanding under our revolving credit facility and our asset coverage ratio 
was 483%.

Cash as of December 31, 2023, taken together with our $375.2 million of available capacity under our credit facility 
(subject to borrowing base availability), proceeds from new or amended financing arrangements and the continuous Offering of 
our Common Shares is expected to be sufficient for our investing activities and to conduct our operations in the near term. This 
determination is based in part on our expectations for the timing of funding investment purchases and the timing and amount of 
future proceeds from sales of our Common Shares and the use of existing and future financing arrangements. We plan to fund 
using proceeds from offering our Common Shares and available borrowing capacity under our credit facilities for new 
investments.

Although we were able to secure financing in 2023, any disruption in the financial markets or any other negative economic 
development could restrict our access to financing in the future. We may not be able to find new financing for future investments 
or liquidity needs and, even if we are able to obtain such financing, such financing may not be on as favorable terms as we could 
have obtained previously. These factors may limit our ability to make new investments and adversely impact our results of 
operations.
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As of December 31, 2023, we had $1.1 million in cash and $0.3 million in foreign cash. During the year ended 
December 31, 2023, cash used in operating activities was $481.5 million, primarily as a result of funding portfolio investments. 
Cash provided by financing activities was $483.0 million during the period, primarily as a result of new share issuances and net 
borrowings under our credit facility.

During the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022, the Fund had not yet commenced operations 
and cash flows consisted of the seed capital.

Equity

As of March 13, 2023, the Fund satisfied the minimum offering requirement, and the Fund’s Board of Trustees authorized 
the release of proceeds from escrow.

As the following table summarizes transactions in Common Shares during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Year Ended December 31, 2023
Shares Amount

CLASS I
Subscriptions 15,375,004 $ 388,786,937
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested 363,349 9,243,679
Share repurchases (14,828) (377,464)
Early repurchase deduction 7,367
Net increase (decrease) 15,723,525 $ 397,660,519
CLASS S
Subscriptions 391 10,000
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested 4 77
Share repurchases — —
Early repurchase deduction — —
Net increase (decrease) 395 $ 10,077
CLASS D
Subscriptions 391 10,000
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested 4 82
Share repurchases — —
Early repurchase deduction — —
Net increase (decrease) 395 $ 10,082
Total net increase (decrease) 15,724,315 $ 397,680,678
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The following table summarizes transactions in Common Shares during the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through 
December 31, 2022: 

For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through 
December 31, 2022

Shares Amount
CLASS I
Subscriptions 80 $ 2,000
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested — —
Share repurchases — —
Early repurchase deduction — —
Net increase (decrease) 80 $ 2,000
CLASS S — —
Subscriptions — —
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested — —
Share repurchases — —
Early repurchase deduction — —
Net increase (decrease) — $ —
CLASS D — —
Subscriptions — —
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested — —
Share repurchases — —
Early repurchase deduction — —
Net increase (decrease) — $ —
Total net increase (decrease) 80 $ 2,000

Distributions and Distribution Reinvestment 

The following table summarizes our distributions declared and payable for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Class I

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Distribution Per 

Share Distribution Amount
April 26, 2023 April 28, 2023 May 18, 2023 $ 0.2000 $ 950,534
May 25, 2023 May 31, 2023 June 23, 2023 0.2050 1,223,097
June 27, 2023 June 30, 2023 July 25, 2023 0.2050 1,550,697
July 27, 2023 July 31, 2023 August 22, 2023 0.2050 1,844,444

August 28, 2023 August 31, 2023 September 25, 2023 0.2050 2,104,759
September 28, 2023 September 29, 2023 October 23, 2023 0.2150 2,511,949

October 27, 2023 October 31, 2023 November 22, 2023 0.2150 2,721,969
November 29, 2023 November 30, 2023 December 22, 2023 0.2150 3,056,588
December 29, 2023 December 29, 2023 January 24, 2024 0.2150 3,380,805

$ 1.8800 $ 19,344,842

Class S

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Distribution Per 

Share Distribution Amount
November 29, 2023 November 30, 2023 December 22, 2023 $ 0.1969 $ 77
December 29, 2023 December 29, 2023 January 24, 2024 0.1969 78

$ 0.3938 $ 155
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Class D

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Distribution Per 

Share Distribution Amount
November 29, 2023 November 30, 2023 December 22, 2023 $ 0.2097 $ 82
December 29, 2023 December 29, 2023 January 24, 2024 0.2097 83

$ 0.4194 $ 165

For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022 there were no distributions. 

With respect to distributions, the Fund has adopted an “opt out” distribution reinvestment plan for shareholders (other than 
shareholders residing in certain states that require an “opt in” plan). As a result, in the event of a declared cash distribution or 
other distribution, each shareholder that has not “opted out” of the distribution reinvestment plan will have their dividends or 
distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares rather than receiving cash distributions. Shareholders who receive 
distributions in the form of shares will be subject to the same U.S. federal, state and local tax consequences as if they received 
cash distributions. Shareholders located in Alabama, Arkansas, Idaho, Kansas, Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, 
Nebraska, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, Oregon, Vermont and Washington, as well as those who are clients of certain 
participating brokers that do not permit automatic enrollment in our distribution reinvestment plan, will automatically receive 
their distributions in cash unless they elect to participate in our distribution reinvestment plan and have their cash distributions 
reinvested in additional Common Shares.

Sources of distributions, other than net investment income and realized gains on a U.S. GAAP basis, include required 
adjustments to U.S. GAAP net investment income in the current period to determine taxable income available for distributions. 
The following table reflects the sources of cash distributions on a U.S. GAAP basis that we declared on our shares of common 
stock during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Class I Class S Class D
Source of Distribution Per Share Amount Per Share Amount Per Share Amount

Net investment income $ 1.88 $ 19,344,842 $ 0.39 $ 155 $ 0.42 $ 165
Net realized gains — — - - - -
Total $ 1.88 $ 19,344,842 $ 0.39 $ 155 $ 0.42 $ 165

Share Repurchase Program

At the discretion of the Board, the Fund has commenced a share repurchase program in which the Fund may repurchase, in 
each quarter, up to 5% of the NAV of the Fund’s Common Shares outstanding (either by number of shares or aggregate NAV) as 
of the close of the previous calendar quarter. The Board may amend or suspend the share repurchase program at any time if in its 
reasonable judgment it deems such action to be in the best interest of shareholders, such as when a repurchase offer would place 
an undue burden on the Fund’s liquidity, adversely affect the Fund’s operations or risk having an adverse impact on the Fund that 
would outweigh the benefit of the repurchase offer. As a result, share repurchases may not be available each quarter. The Fund 
intends to conduct such repurchase offers in accordance with the requirements of Rule 13e-4 promulgated under the Exchange 
Act and the 1940 Act. All shares purchased pursuant to the terms of each tender offer will be retired and thereafter will be 
authorized and unissued shares.

Under the share repurchase plan, to the extent the Fund offers to repurchase shares in any particular quarter, it is expected 
to repurchase shares pursuant to tender offers using a purchase price equal to the NAV per share as of the last calendar day of the 
applicable quarter, except that shares that have not been outstanding for at least one year will be repurchased at an Early 
Repurchase Deduction. The one-year holding period is measured as of the subscription closing date immediately following the 
prospective repurchase date. The Early Repurchase Deduction may be waived in the case of repurchase requests arising from the 
death, divorce or qualified disability of the holder. The Early Repurchase Deduction will be retained by the Fund for the benefit 
of remaining shareholders across all shares.
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The following table summarizes the share repurchases completed during the year ended December 31, 2023: 

Repurchase Deadline 
Request

Percentage of 
Outstanding Shares the 

Fund Offered to 
Repurchase (1)

Price Paid Per 
Share

Repurchase 
Pricing Date

Amount 
Repurchased 
(all classes) (2)

Number of 
Shares

Repurchased (all 
classes)

Percentage of 
Outstanding 

Shares 
Repurchased 

(1)

May 31, 2023 5% $ 25.32 June 30, 2023 $ 50,019 2,049 0.05%
August 31, 2023 5% $ 25.52 September 29, 2023 $ 292,938 11,708 0.15%

November 30, 2023 5% $ 25.81 December 29, 2023 $ 27,140 1,071 0.01%

(1) Percentage is based on total shares as of the close of the previous calendar quarter. All repurchase requests were satisfied in full.
(2) Amount shown net of Early Repurchase Deduction.

For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022 there were no share repurchases completed. 

Borrowings

The Fund’s average outstanding debt and weighted average interest rate paid for the year ended December 31, 2023 were 
$33.6 million and 7.17%, respectively. For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022 the Fund did not 
have any debt outstanding. Our outstanding debt obligations were as follows:

December 31, 2023
Aggregate Principal 

Committed (1) Outstanding Principal Carrying Value
Revolving Credit Facility $ 481,000,000 $ 105,848,459 $ 105,848,459
Total $ 481,000,000 $ 105,848,459 $ 105,848,459

(1) Aggregate Principal Committed consists of $460 million USD and $21 million CAD

The following table shows the contractual maturities of our debt obligations as of December 31, 2023: 

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less than 1 

year 1 — 3 Years 3 — 5 years
More than 5 

years
Revolving Credit Facility $105,848,459 $ — $ — $105,848,459 $ —
Total Debt Obligations $105,848,459 $ — $ — $105,848,459 $ —

For additional information on our borrowings, refer to “Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data – Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note 8. Borrowings.” 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

Other than contractual commitments and other legal contingencies incurred in the normal course of our business, we do not 
expect to have any off-balance sheet financings or liabilities. 

Our investment portfolio contains and is expected to continue to contain debt investments in the form of lines of credit, 
revolving credit facilities and delayed draw commitments which require us to provide funding when requested by portfolio 
companies in accordance with the underlying loan agreements. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had 
unfunded commitments to borrowers in the aggregate principal amount of $99.3 million and $0, respectively.

From time to time, the Fund may become party to certain legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. As of 
December 31, 2023, management is not aware of any pending or threatened litigation.
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Related Party Transactions

We have entered into a number of business relationships with affiliated or related parties, including the following;

• the Advisory Agreement;

• the Administration Agreement;

• an agreement with the Managing Dealer (the “Managing Dealer Agreement”);

• Affiliated investments;

• Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement; and

• an agreement with Fidelity Investments Institutional Operations Company LLC relating to transfer agency 
services.

In addition to the aforementioned agreements, we, our Adviser, and certain of our Adviser’s affiliates have been granted 
exemptive relief by the SEC to co-invest with other funds managed by our Adviser or its affiliates in a manner consistent with our 
investment objectives, positions, policies, strategies and restrictions as well as regulatory requirements and other pertinent factors. 
See “Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Financial Statements – Note 3. Related 
Party Agreements and Transactions.” 

Recent Developments

See “Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Financial Statements – Note 12. 
Subsequent Events” for a summary of recent developments.

Critical Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Changes in the economic environment, financial markets, and any 
other parameters used in determining such estimates could cause actual results to differ.

Fair Value Measurements

The Fund values its investments, upon which its NAV is based, in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, 
which defines fair value as the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820 also provides a framework for measuring fair value, 
establishes a fair value hierarchy based on the observability of inputs used to measure fair value and prescribes disclosure 
requirements for fair value measurements. 

Pursuant to Rule 2a-5, the Board has designated the Adviser as the valuation designee responsible for valuing all of the 
Fund’s investments, including making fair valuation determinations as needed. The Adviser has established a Fair Value 
Committee to carry out the day-to-day fair valuation responsibilities and has adopted policies and procedures to govern activities 
of the Fair Value Committee and the performance of functions required to determine the fair value of a fund’s investments in 
good faith. These functions include periodically assessing and managing material risks associated with fair value determinations, 
selecting, applying, reviewing, and testing fair value methodologies, monitoring for circumstances that may necessitate the use of 
fair value, and overseeing and evaluating pricing services used. 

In accordance with the Adviser’s policies and procedures, which have been approved by the Board, investments, including 
debt securities, that are publicly traded but for which no readily available market quotations exist are generally valued on the 
basis of information furnished by an independent third-party pricing service that uses a valuation matrix which incorporates both 
dealer-supplied valuations and electronic data processing techniques. To assess the continuing appropriateness of pricing sources 
and methodologies, the Adviser regularly performs price verification procedures, engages in oversight activities with respect to 
third-party pricing sources used and issues challenges as necessary to independent pricing services or brokers, and any differences 
are reviewed in accordance with the valuation procedures. The Adviser does not adjust the prices unless it has a reason to believe 
market quotations or prices received from third-party pricing services are not reflective of the fair value of an investment.
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Investments that are not publicly traded or whose current market prices or quotations are not readily available are valued at 
fair value as determined by the Adviser in good faith pursuant to the Adviser’s Board-approved policies and procedures. Factors 
used in determining fair value vary by investment type and may include market or investment specific events, transaction data, 
estimated cash flows, and market observations of comparable investments. In determining fair value of the Fund’s loan 
investments the types of factors that the Fair Value Committee may take into account generally include comparison to publicly-
traded securities including such factors as yield, maturity and measures of credit quality, the enterprise value of the portfolio 
company, the nature and realizable value of any collateral, the portfolio company’s ability to make payments and its earnings and 
discounted cash flows, the markets in which the portfolio company does business and other relevant factors.

The Fund has engaged an independent valuation firm to prepare month-end valuation recommendations for investments for 
which market quotations are not readily available as of the last calendar day of each month. The independent valuation firm 
undertakes a full analysis of the investments and provides estimated fair values for such investments to the Adviser. The 
independent valuation firm also provides analyses to support their valuation methodology and calculations. The Adviser’s Fair 
Value Committee reviews and approves each valuation recommendation and confirms it has been calculated in accordance with 
the Board-approved policies and procedures. The Fair Value Committee manages the Fund’s fair valuation practices and 
maintains the fair valuation policies and procedures. The Adviser reports to the Board information regarding the fair valuation 
process and related material matters. The Board may determine to modify its designation of the Adviser as valuation designee, 
relating to any or all Fund investments, at any time.

Our accounting policy regarding the fair value of our investments is critical because the determination of fair value involves 
subjective judgments and requires the use of estimates. Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining fair value measurements, 
the fair values of our investments may differ from the amounts that we ultimately realize or collect from sales or maturities of our 
investments, and the differences could be material. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are subject to financial market risks, including valuation risk and interest rate risk.

Valuation Risk

We have invested, and plan to continue to invest, primarily in illiquid debt securities of private companies. Most of our 
investments will not have a readily available market price, and we value these investments at fair value as determined in good 
faith by the Adviser, based on, among other things, input from independent third-party valuation firms engaged to review our 
investments. Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of investments that do not have a readily available 
market value, the fair value of our investments may fluctuate from period to period. Additionally, the fair value of our 
investments may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market existed for such investments 
and may differ materially from the values that we may ultimately realize. Further, such investments are generally subject to legal 
and other restrictions on resale or otherwise are less liquid than publicly traded securities. If we are required to liquidate a 
portfolio investment in a forced or liquidation sale, we could realize significantly less than the value at which we have recorded it. 
In addition, changes in the market environment and other events that may occur over the life of the investments may cause the 
gains or losses ultimately realized on our investments to be different than the unrealized appreciation (depreciation) reflected in 
the valuations currently recorded.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate sensitivity refers to the change in earnings that may result from changes in the level of interest rates, including 
changes due to inflation. We intend to fund portions of our investments with borrowings, and at such time, our net investment 
income will be affected by the difference between the rate at which we invest and the rate at which we borrow. Accordingly, we 
cannot assure shareholders that a significant change in market interest rates will not have a material adverse effect on our net 
investment income.
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As of December 31, 2023, 100% of our debt investments at fair value were at floating rates. Based on our consolidated 
statements of assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023, the following table shows the annualized impact on net income of 
hypothetical base rate changes in interest rates (considering base rate floors and ceilings for floating rate instruments assuming no 
changes in our investment and borrowing structure):

Interest Income Interest Expense Net Income
Up 300 basis points $ 14,197,010 $ 3,175,454 $ 11,021,556
Up 200 basis points 9,464,673 2,116,969 7,347,704
Up 100 basis points 4,732,337 1,058,485 3,673,852
Down 100 basis points (4,732,337) (1,058,485) (3,673,852)
Down 200 basis points (9,464,673) (2,116,969) (7,347,704)
Down 300 basis points (14,197,010) (3,175,454) (11,021,556)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Trustees of Fidelity Private Credit Fund:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of assets and liabilities of Fidelity Private Credit Fund (the 
“Fund”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, including the consolidated schedule of investments as of December 31, 2023, 
the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 
2023 and for the period from March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively 
referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Fund as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations, changes in net assets, 
and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023 and for the period from March 23, 2022 (inception) through 
December 31, 2022 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Fund’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Fund’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Fund in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud. The Fund is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal 
control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over 
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test 
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. Our procedures included confirmation of investments owned as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
by correspondence with the custodian, loan agents, borrowers, and brokers; when replies were not received, we performed 
other auditing procedures. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 22, 2024

We have served as the Fund’s auditor since 2022.
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Fidelity Private Credit Fund
Consolidated Statements of Assets and Liabilities

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Assets
Investments at fair value
Non-controlled / non-affiliate investments (amortized cost $500,084,317 and $0 at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively) $ 506,671,142 $ —
Non-controlled / affiliate investments (amortized cost $24,436,874 and $0 at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively) 24,795,483 —

Cash 1,119,639 2,000
Foreign cash (cost $317,490 and $0 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively) 316,970 —
Deferred offering costs 291,680 1,306,724
Deferred financing costs 3,536,786 —
Receivables from sales and paydowns of investments 370,912 —
Interest receivable 7,719,089 —
Distributions receivable from non-controlled / affiliate underlying funds 190,132 —
Due from affiliates, net 561,250 —
Prepaid and deferred expenses 34,088 —

Total Assets $ 545,607,171 $ 1,308,724
Liabilities
Debt 105,848,459 —
Payable for purchases of securities 28,618,421 —
Payable for capital shares repurchased 27,140 —
Distribution payable 3,380,966 —
Interest payable 633,359 —
Shareholder servicing fee payable 9 —
Capital gains incentive fee payable 868,178 —
Excise tax payable 66,312 —
Due to affiliates, net — 1,306,724
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities 376,999 —

Total Liabilities $ 139,819,843 $ 1,306,724
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 7)

Net Assets
Common Shares, par value $0.01 per share, unlimited shares authorized, 
15,724,395 and 80 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022 respectively 157,244 1
Paid-in-capital in excess of par value 396,598,745 1,999
Total distributable earnings (loss) 9,031,339 —
Total Net Assets $ 405,787,328 $ 2,000
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 545,607,171 $ 1,308,724

Net Asset Value per unit (15,724,395 and 80 shares issued and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 respectively) $ 25.81 $ 25.00

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Fidelity Private Credit Fund
Consolidated Statements of Assets and Liabilities

Net Asset Value Per Share December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Class I Shares
Net assets $ 405,766,957 $ 2,000
Common Shares outstanding ($0.01 par value, unlimited shares authorized) 15,723,605 80
Net asset value per share $ 25.81 $ 25.00
Class D Shares
Net assets $ 10,188 —
Common Shares outstanding ($0.01 par value, unlimited shares authorized) 395 —
Net asset value per share $ 25.81 —
Class S Shares
Net assets $ 10,183 —
Common Shares outstanding ($0.01 par value, unlimited shares authorized) 395 —
Net asset value per share $ 25.81 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Fidelity Private Credit Fund
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended 
December 31,

For the period March 23, 
2022 (inception) through 

December 31,

2023 2022
Investment Income
From non-controlled / non-affiliate investments
Interest income $ 25,116,260 $ —
Dividend income 145,705 —

From non-controlled / affiliate investments
Dividend income 1,129,316 —
Total Investment Income 26,391,281 —

Expenses
Interest expense 3,604,369 —
Management fees 2,497,365 —
Income based incentive fees 2,683,195 —
Capital gains incentive fees 868,178 —
Distribution and shareholder servicing fees
Class S 14 —
Class D 4 —

Administration fees 646,398 —
Organization expenses 3,669 277,851
Amortization of offering costs 1,299,850 —
Board of Trustees’ fees 213,268 125,750
Professional fees 912,873 418,463
Other general and administrative expenses 823,770 25,868
Total Expenses Before Reductions 13,552,953 847,932

Expense support (2,544,412) (847,932)
Management fees waived (2,505,275) —
Income based incentive fees waived (2,683,195) —
Net Expenses 5,820,071 —
Net Investment Income (Loss) Before Excise Tax 20,571,210 —

Excise tax expense 66,312 —
Net Investment Income (Loss) After Excise Tax 20,504,898 —

Net Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses)
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on non-controlled / non-
affiliate investments 6,560,468 —
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on non-controlled / affiliate 
investments 358,609 —
Net increase or decrease in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on assets and 
liabilities in foreign currencies 25,837 —
Net Realized and Change in Unrealized Gains (Losses) 6,944,914 —

Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets Resulting from Operations $ 27,449,812 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Fidelity Private Credit Fund
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets

Year Ended December 31,

For the period March 23, 
2022 (inception) through 

December 31,

2023 2022
Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets Resulting from Operations
Net investment income (loss) after excise tax $ 20,504,898 $ —
Net realized and change in unrealized gains (losses) 6,944,914 —
Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets Resulting from Operations 27,449,812 —
Capital Activity
Capital contributions:
Issuance of common shares - Class I 388,786,937 2,000
Issuance of common shares - Class S 10,000 —
Issuance of common shares - Class D 10,000 —

Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from capital contributions 388,806,937 2,000
Distributions to shareholders:
Distributions to shareholders from net investment income - Class I (19,344,842) —
Distributions to shareholders from net investment income - Class S (155) —
Distributions to shareholders from net investment income - Class D (165) —

Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from distributions to 
shareholders (19,345,162) —
Capital repurchases:
Share repurchases, net of early repurchase deduction - Class I (370,097) —
Share repurchases, net of early repurchase deduction - Class S — —
Share repurchases, net of early repurchase deduction - Class D — —

Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from capital repurchases (370,097) —
Reinvestment of distributions:
Reinvestment of distributions - Class I 9,243,679 —
Reinvestment of distributions - Class S 77 —
Reinvestment of distributions - Class D 82 —

Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from reinvestment of 
distributions 9,243,838 —
Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets Resulting from Capital Activity 378,335,516 2,000
Total Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets 405,785,328 2,000
Net assets, beginning of period 2,000 —
Net Assets, End of Period $ 405,787,328 $ 2,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Fidelity Private Credit Fund
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended 
December 31,

For the period March 23, 
2022 (inception) through 

December 31,
2023 2022

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations $ 27,449,812 $ —
Adjustments to reconcile net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from 
operations to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Payments for purchases of investments (519,402,734) —
Proceeds from sales of investments and principal repayments 11,323,993 —
Net proceeds (payments) from sales (purchases) of short term securities (15,328,417) —
Net change in unrealized (appreciation) depreciation on investments (6,919,077) —
Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign cash (520) —
Net accretion of discount and amortization of premium (1,114,033) —
Amortization of deferred financing costs 753,732 —
Amortization of deferred offering costs 1,299,850 (1,306,724)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase) decrease in receivables from sales and paydowns of investments (370,912) —
(Increase) decrease in interest receivable (7,719,089) —
(Increase) decrease in distributions receivable from non-controlled / affiliate 
underlying funds (190,132) —
(Increase) decrease in due from affiliates, net (561,250) —
(Increase) decrease in prepaid and deferred expenses (34,088) —
Increase (decrease) in payable for purchases of securities 28,618,421 —
Increase (decrease) in payable for capital shares repurchased 27,140 —
Increase (decrease) in interest payable 633,359 —
Increase (decrease) in shareholder servicing fee payable 9 —
Increase (decrease) in capital gains incentive fee payable 868,178 —
Increase (decrease) in excise tax payable 66,312 —
Increase (decrease) in due to affiliates, net (1,306,724) 1,306,724
Increase (decrease) in other accounts payable and accrued liabilities 376,999 —

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities (481,529,171) —
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Payment of financing costs (4,290,518) —
Offering costs paid and deferred (284,806) —
Proceeds from issuance of Common Shares 388,806,937 2,000
Repurchased shares, net of early repurchase deduction paid (370,097) —
Capital distributions (6,720,358) —
Proceeds from borrowings 211,848,459 —
Repayment of borrowings (106,000,000) —
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities 482,989,617 2,000
Net change in cash 1,460,446 2,000
Effect of unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on assets and liabilities in foreign 
currencies (25,837) —
Cash as of the beginning of the period 2,000 —
Cash as of the end of the period $ 1,436,609 $ 2,000
Supplemental information and non-cash financing activities
Non-cash distributions $ 9,243,838 $ —
Reinvestment of distributions $ (9,243,838) $ —
Cash paid for interest expense $ 2,971,010 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Fidelity Private Credit Fund
Consolidated Schedule of Investments

December 31, 2023

Investments (a) Type
Reference Rate and 

Spread (b)
Interest 
Rate (b)

Maturity 
Date

Par 
Amount/ 
Units (c) Cost (d)

Fair Value 
(e)

Percentage 
of Net 
Assets

Investments -- non-controlled/ non-affiliate           
First Lien Debt         
Advertising         
MMGY Global LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR + 6.00% 11.50% 4/25/2029 8,504,250 $ 8,319,020 $ 8,368,182
MMGY Global LLC (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit Facility - - 4/25/2029 - (44,507) (32,709)
       8,274,513 8,335,473 2.05%
Aerospace & Defense           
Cadence - Southwick, Inc. (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR + 6.75% 12.24% 5/3/2029 7,190,498 6,990,934 7,183,307
Cadence - Southwick, Inc. (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit Facility SOFR + 6.75% 12.26% 5/3/2028 266,667 240,521 265,667
Cadence - Southwick, Inc. (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR + 6.00% 11.47% 5/3/2029 1,337,935 1,311,229 1,311,177
       8,542,684 8,760,151 2.16%
Air Freight & Logistics           
R1 Holdings Merger Sub, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR + 6.25% 11.72% 12/29/2028 5,366,350 5,181,771 5,366,350
STG Logistics Inc (j)(l) Term Loan SOFR + 6.00% 11.50% 3/24/2028 9,950,000 9,586,350 9,303,250
       14,768,121 14,669,600 3.61%
Application Software           
ACP Avenu Buyer, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR + 6.25% 11.64% 10/2/2029 17,187,500 16,724,267 16,964,063
ACP Avenu Buyer, LLC (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit Facility - - 10/2/2029 - (26,408) (13,000)
ACP Avenu Buyer, LLC (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term Loan - - 10/2/2029 - (123,144) (121,063)
ACP Falcon Buyer, Inc. (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR + 6.50% 11.85% 8/1/2029 21,223,555 20,606,943 20,926,425
ACP Falcon Buyer, Inc. (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit Facility - - 8/1/2029 - (27,997) (14,000)
Applied Sys Inc (h)(k)(l)(m) Term Loan SOFR + 4.50% 9.85% 9/19/2026 7,481,156 7,525,207 7,507,490
Atlas AU Bidco Pty Ltd / Atlas US Finco, Inc. (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR + 7.25% 12.61% 12/9/2029 5,138,234 4,939,299 5,138,234

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Fidelity Private Credit Fund
Consolidated Schedule of Investments

December 31, 2023

Investments (a) Type
Reference Rate and 

Spread (b)
Interest 
Rate (b)

Maturity 
Date

Par 
Amount/ 
Units (c) Cost (d)

Fair Value 
(e)

Percentage 
of Net 
Assets

Atlas AU Bidco Pty Ltd / Atlas US Finco, Inc. (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.75% 12.11% 12/9/2029 27,203,390 $ 26,660,737 $ 26,713,729
DH Corporation/Société DH (i)(l)(m) Term Loan SOFR+7.25% 12.71% 9/13/2029 254,481 249,568 252,445
Finastra USA Inc (i)(l)(m) Term Loan SOFR+7.25% 12.71% 9/13/2029 10,896,399 10,686,030 10,809,228
Prism Parent Co Inc. (j)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.75% 11.11% 9/16/2028 5,133,167 4,967,252 5,081,836
User Zoom Technologies, Inc (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+7.50% 12.99% 4/5/2029 10,000,000 9,667,291 9,890,000
       101,849,045 103,135,387 25.42%
Automotive Parts & Equipment           
American Trailer Rental Group, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.75% 11.25% 6/1/2027 14,925,000 14,529,819 14,641,425
American Trailer Rental Group, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.75% 11.25% 6/1/2027 4,987,500 4,871,200 4,892,738
       19,401,019 19,534,163 4.82%
Building Products           
Copperweld Group, Inc. (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.00% 11.61% 3/31/2026 6,225,412 6,044,231 6,194,285
       6,044,231 6,194,285 1.53%
Commodity Chemicals           

Soteria Flexibles Corporation (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan - - 8/15/2029 - (76,841) (91,388)

Soteria Flexibles Corporation (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.75% 11.10% 8/15/2029 8,797,297 8,583,422 8,674,135

Soteria Flexibles Corporation (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit 
Facility - - 8/15/2029 - (23,483) (14,000)

       8,483,098 8,568,747 2.12%
Diversified Financial Services           
Clue Opco LLC (h)(j)(l)(m) Term Loan SOFR+4.50% 9.86% 12/19/2030 5,000,000 4,800,569 4,729,150
       4,800,569 4,729,150 1.17%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Maturity 
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Percentage 
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Diversified Support Services           
Hobbs & Associates Inc (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.50% 12.00% 4/11/2029 2,037,621 $ 1,988,709 $ 2,037,621

Hobbs & Associates Inc (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan SOFR+6.50% 11.86% 4/11/2029 3,526,769 3,424,369 3,526,769

Hobbs & Associates, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.50% 11.95% 4/11/2029 7,194,019 6,993,967 7,194,019

Hobbs & Associates, LLC (i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan SOFR+6.50% 11.95% 4/11/2029 8,141,317 7,926,109 8,141,317

MRI Acquisitions, Inc (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.25% 11.75% 12/30/2025 5,773,583 5,642,731 5,611,923

Omnia Partners LLC (f)(h)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan - - 7/25/2030 - (173) 3,590

Omnia Partners LLC (h)(l) Term Loan SOFR+4.25% 9.63% 7/25/2030 6,787,396 6,783,539 6,825,609
Prometric Holdings (h)(k)(l)(m) Term Loan SOFR+5.25% 10.70% 1/29/2028 4,000,000 3,980,138 3,988,760
Ruppert Landscape, LLC (j)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.00% 11.68% 12/1/2028 4,950,284 4,800,173 4,880,980
       41,539,562 42,210,588 10.39%
Education Services           
KUEHG Corp (h)(k)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.00% 10.35% 6/12/2030 7,481,250 7,125,893 7,505,040
       7,125,893 7,505,040 1.85%
Environmental & Facilities Services           
Pavement Partners Interco, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.75% 12.27% 2/7/2028 8,029,774 7,956,128 7,965,536

Pavement Partners Interco, LLC (i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan SOFR+6.75% 12.42% 2/7/2028 1,150,000 1,125,273 1,140,800

Pavement Partners Interco, LLC (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit 
Facility - - 2/7/2028 - (6,643) (6,030)

Pavement Partners Interco, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.75% 12.28% 2/7/2028 10,449,360 10,148,107 10,365,765
       19,222,865 19,466,071 4.79%
Food Retail           
Cardenas Merger Sub LLC (h)(j)(l)(m) Term Loan SOFR+6.75% 12.20% 8/1/2029 7,443,467 7,264,350 7,432,302
       7,264,350 7,432,302 1.83%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Health Care Facilities           
Infusion Services Management, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.50% 11.98% 7/7/2028 11,878,151 $ 11,541,941 $ 11,759,369

Infusion Services Management, LLC (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan - - 7/7/2028 - (119,995) (44,050)

Infusion Services Management, LLC (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit 
Facility SOFR+6.50% 12.00% 7/7/2028 995,031 966,499 985,031

       12,388,445 12,700,350 3.13%
Health Care Services           
AB Centers Acquisition Corporation (j)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.00% 11.46% 9/6/2028 4,958,949 4,738,316 4,958,949

AB Centers Acquisition Corporation (f)(j)(l) Revolving Credit 
Facility - - 9/6/2028 - (55,910) -

AB Centers Acquisition Corporation (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan SOFR+6.00% 11.46% 9/6/2028 3,602,586 3,414,009 3,602,586

AB Centers Acquisition Corporation (j)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.00% 11.46% 9/6/2028 2,573,276 2,503,835 2,573,276
Fertility (ITC) Investment Holdco, LLC / Fertility (ITC) Buyer, Inc. (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.50% 11.97% 1/3/2029 9,405,742 9,145,917 9,349,308
Houseworks Holdings, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.50% 11.93% 12/16/2028 4,950,000 4,773,256 4,920,300

Houseworks Holdings, LLC (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit 
Facility - - 12/16/2028 - (14,359) (3,061)

Houseworks Holdings, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.50% 12.04% 12/16/2028 3,053,571 2,965,461 3,047,464

Houseworks Holdings, LLC (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan - - 12/16/2028 - (30,179) (2,857)

VIP Medical US Buyer, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.50% 10.96% 12/12/2028 5,558,850 5,420,288 5,503,262
       32,860,634 33,949,227 8.36%
Industrial Machinery & Supplies & Components           
Lake Air Products, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.75% 12.25% 1/9/2029 9,567,700 9,281,727 9,395,481
       9,281,727 9,395,481 2.32%
Insurance Brokers           
Acrisure LLC (h)(l) Term Loan SOFR+4.50% 9.89% 11/6/2030 9,949,875 9,826,653 9,958,133

Alera Group, Inc. (f)(j)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan - - 9/30/2028 - (13,202) (21,611)

Jones Deslauriers Insurance Management Inc (h)(l)(m) Term Loan SOFR+4.25% 9.62% 3/15/2030 10,000,000 9,926,468 10,029,200
       19,739,919 19,965,722 4.91%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Life Sciences Tools & Services           

WCI-BXC Purchaser, LLC (f)(j)(l) Revolving Credit 
Facility - - 11/6/2029 - $ (24,388) $ (15,000)

WCI-BXC Purchaser, LLC (j)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.25% 11.64% 11/6/2030 27,412,162 26,731,814 27,000,980
       26,707,426 26,985,980 6.65%
Oil & Gas Refining & Marketing           
EG America LLC (k)(l)(m) Term Loan SOFR+5.50% 9.66% 2/7/2028 1,995,000 1,945,000 1,935,150
EG America LLC (h)(k)(l)(m) Term Loan SOFR+5.50% 11.24% 2/7/2028 5,486,250 5,385,600 5,376,525
       7,330,600 7,311,675 1.80%
Packaged Foods & Meats           
CCI Prime, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.00% 11.35% 10/18/2029 19,825,153 19,338,014 19,349,350

CCI Prime, LLC (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan - - 10/18/2029 - (48,327) (47,926)

CCI Prime, LLC (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit 
Facility - - 10/18/2029 - (24,181) (24,000)

       19,265,506 19,277,424 4.75%
Pharmaceuticals           
Alcami Corporation (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+7.00% 12.46% 12/21/2028 9,900,000 9,498,393 9,900,000
       9,498,393 9,900,000 2.44%
Soft Drinks & Non-alcoholic Beverages           
Refresh Buyer LLC (j)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.25% 10.60% 12/23/2028 11,251,777 11,031,110 11,060,497

Refresh Buyer LLC (f)(j)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan - - 12/23/2028 - (27,302) (47,820)

       11,003,808 11,012,677 2.72%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Specialized Consumer Services           
Door Pro Buyer, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.00% 11.54% 11/2/2029 12,570,513 $ 12,260,010 $ 12,256,250

Door Pro Buyer, LLC (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan - - 11/2/2029 - (124,186) (254,808)

Door Pro Buyer, LLC (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit 
Facility - - 11/2/2029 - (82,709) (84,936)

Quick Roofing Acquisition, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+ 0.0575 11.21% 12/22/2029 10,655,738 10,389,935 10,389,344

Quick Roofing Acquisition, LLC (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit 
Facility - - 12/22/2029 - (24,888) (25,000)

Quick Roofing Acquisition, LLC (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan - - 12/22/2029 - (346,420) (347,951)

SCP WQS Buyer, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.75% 11.10% 10/2/2028 7,676,596 7,508,567 7,538,417

SCP WQS Buyer, LLC (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan SOFR+5.75% 11.10% 10/2/2028 3,164,894 2,784,807 2,845,872

SCP WQS Buyer, LLC (f)(i)(l) Revolving Credit 
Facility - - 10/2/2028 - (21,422) (18,000)

Senske Lawn and Tree Care, LLC (j)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.25% 10.60% 12/15/2028 4,950,000 4,809,404 4,920,300
Senske Lawn and Tree Care, LLC (j)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.75% 11.10% 12/15/2028 5,970,000 5,830,442 5,958,060
Senske Lawn and Tree Care, LLC (j)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.50% 10.85% 12/15/2028 2,743,125 2,690,188 2,737,639
Senske Lawn and Tree Care, LLC (j)(l) Term Loan CDOR+5.50% 10.93% 12/15/2028 21,000,000 15,532,010 15,531,489
USW Buyer, LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+6.25% 11.82% 11/3/2028 4,950,000 4,801,007 4,841,100

USW Buyer, LLC (f)(i)(l) Delayed Draw Term 
Loan SOFR+6.25% 11.72% 11/3/2028 5,650,000 5,487,134 5,408,000

       71,493,879 71,695,776 17.66%
Specialized Finance           
WH Borrower LLC (k)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.50% 10.89% 2/15/2027 9,974,874 9,484,735 9,925,000
       9,484,735 9,925,000 2.45%
Trading Companies & Distributors           
Belt Power Holdings LLC (i)(l) Term Loan SOFR+5.50% 11.00% 8/22/2028 6,467,500 6,382,563 6,441,630
       6,382,563 6,441,630 1.59%
Total First Lien Debt       482,753,585 489,101,899 120.52%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Equity           
Diversified Support Services           
Air Control Concepts Holdings, L.P (m)(n) Class A-1 Units     22,007 $ 220,070 $ 439,040
       220,070 439,040 0.11%
Life Sciences Tools & Services           
WCI-BXC Investment Holdings LP (l)(m)(n) Equity Interest     588,357 593,716
       588,357 593,716 0.15%
Packaged Foods & Meats           

CCI Prime Holdings, LLC (n) Series A Preferred 
Units     428 427,914 435,635

       427,914 435,635 0.11%
Specialized Consumer Services           
Door Pro Holdings LLC (l)(n) Equity Interest     339,744 346,205
Quick Roofing Topco, LLC (l)(m)(n) Class A Interest     426,230 426,230 426,230
       765,974 772,435 0.20%
Total Equity       2,002,315 2,240,826 0.57%
Money Market Mutual Funds           
Mutual Funds           
State Street Institutional Treasury Plus Money Market Fund - Investor 
Class, 5.23% (h)(o) Mutual Fund     15,328,417 15,328,417 15,328,417
       15,328,417 15,328,417 3.78%
Total Money Market Mutual Funds       15,328,417 15,328,417 3.78%
Total Investments -- non-controlled/ non-affiliate       500,084,317 506,671,142 124.87%
Investments -- non-controlled/ affiliate           
Fixed Income Mutual Funds           
Mutual Funds           
Fidelity Floating Rate Central Fund (h)(g)(l)(m) Mutual Fund     251,629 24,436,874 24,795,483
       24,436,874 24,795,483 6.11%
Total Fixed Income Mutual Funds       24,436,874 24,795,483 6.11%
Total Investments -- non-controlled/ affiliate       24,436,874 24,795,483 6.11%
Total Investment Portfolio       $ 524,521,191 $ 531,466,625 130.98%

(a) All debt investments are income producing unless otherwise indicated. All equity investments are non-income producing unless otherwise noted.
(b) Variable rate loans to the portfolio companies bear interest at a rate that is determined by reference to Secured Overnight Funds Rate (SOFR) or Canadian Dollar Offered Rate (CDOR), which 

reset daily, monthly, quarterly or semi-annually. For each loan, the Fund has indicated the reference rate used and provided the spread and the interest rate in effect as of December 31, 2023. The 
total par amount is presented for debt investments and the number of shares or units owned is presented for equity investments.

(c) The total par amount is presented for debt investments and the number of shares or units owned is presented for equity investments.
(d) All debt investments are shown at amortized cost. All equity investments are shown at identified cost.
(e) Unless otherwise indicated, these investments were valued using unobservable inputs and are considered Level 3 investments.
(f) Position or portion thereof is an unfunded loan commitment, and no interest is being earned on the unfunded portion, although the investment may be subject to unused commitment fees. Negative 

cost and fair value results from unamortized fees, which are capitalized to the investment cost. The unfunded loan commitment may be subject to a commitment termination date that may expire 
prior to the maturity date stated. See Notes to Financial Statements for more information on the Fund’s unfunded commitments.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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(g) Affiliated fund. A complete unaudited listing of the fund's holdings as of its most recent quarter end is available upon request. In addition, the Fund's financial statements are available on the 
SEC's website or upon request. 

(h) These investments were not valued using unobservable inputs and are not considered Level 3 investments.
(i) The interest rate floor on these investments as of December 31, 2023 was 1.00%.
(j) The interest rate floor on these investments as of December 31, 2023 was 0.75%.
(k) The interest rate floor on these investments as of December 31, 2023 was 0.50%.
(l) Security or portion of the security is pledged as collateral for JPMorgan Lending Facility.
(m) The investment is not a qualifying asset under Section 55(a) of the 1940 Act. The Fund may not acquire any non-qualifying asset unless, at the time of acquisition, qualifying assets represent at 

least 70% of the Fund’s total assets. As of December 31, 2023, non-qualifying assets represented 14.4% of total assets as calculated in accordance with regulatory requirements.
(n) Restricted securities (including private placements) – Investment in securities not registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (excluding 144A issues). At the end of the period, the value of 

restricted securities (excluding 144A issues) amounted to $2,240,826 or 0.6% of net assets.

Additional information on each restricted holding is as follows:
Security Acquisition Date Acquisition Cost ($)

Air Control Concepts Holdings, L.P 4/11/2023 $ 220,070
CCI Prime Holdings, LLC 10/18/2023 $ 427,914
Door Pro Holdings LLC 11/2/2023 $ 339,744
Quick Roofing Topco, LLC 12/22/2023 $ 426,230
WCI-BXC Investment Holdings LP 11/6/2023 $ 588,357

(o) The rate quoted is the annualized seven-day yield of the Fund at period end.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Fidelity Private Credit Fund
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Organization 

Fidelity Private Credit Fund (the “Fund”) is a non-diversified, closed-end management investment company formed as a 
Delaware statutory trust on March 23, 2022. The Fund has elected to be regulated as a business development company (“BDC”) 
under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”) and also intends to elect to be treated for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes, and intends to qualify annually, as a regulated investment company (“RIC”) as defined under Subchapter M 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). The Fund is externally managed by Fidelity Diversifying 
Solutions LLC (“FDS” or the “Adviser”), which is registered as an investment adviser with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “SEC”) and is an affiliate of FMR LLC (“FMR”) and its subsidiaries. The Fund commenced operations on 
March 13, 2023.

The Fund’s investment objective is to generate current income and, to a lesser extent, long-term capital appreciation. The 
Fund seeks to achieve its investment objective by investing primarily in directly originated loans to private companies but also in 
liquid credit investments, like broadly syndicated loans, and other select private credit investments. The Fund generally seeks to 
invest in loans that carry variable (i.e., “floating”) interest rates. Under normal circumstances, the Fund will invest at least 80% of 
its total assets in private credit investments. Specific private investments may include: (a) directly originated first lien loans, 
senior secured revolving lines of credit, term loans and delayed draw term loans, (b) directly originated second lien, last out 
senior, secured or unsecured mezzanine term loans and delayed draw term loans, (c) club deals (investments generally comprised 
from a small group of lenders), and broadly syndicated leveraged loans (investments generally arranged or underwritten by 
investment banks or other intermediaries), and (d) other debt (collectively referred to as "Private Credit"). The Adviser may also 
invest to a lesser degree in equity linked instruments (may include debt with warrants, preferred equity investments, or equity co-
investments). The Adviser may lead and structure the transaction as sole-lender, as the agent of a club credit facility (a group of 
similar direct lenders that invest in the same tranches), or may participate as a non-agent investor in a large club or syndicated 
transactions. In order to provide liquidity for share repurchases, the Fund intends to maintain an allocation to syndicated loans and 
other liquid investments. 

The Fund will invest at least 70% of its total assets in investments that meet regulatory requirements of the BDC structure, 
which will generally include investments in companies that are private and may be backed by a Sponsor but may also include 
investments in small capitalization public companies or companies that are backed by a non-private equity sponsor ownership 
group. The majority of the Fund’s investments will be loans targeted at private U.S. operating companies whose securities are not 
listed on a national securities exchange or registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”), and public U.S. operating companies having a market capitalization of less than $250,000,000. The Fund may also invest 
to a lesser degree in non-U.S. companies. 

The Fund offers on a continuous basis up to $1,000,000,000 of common shares of beneficial interest (the “Common 
Shares”) pursuant to an offering registered with the SEC (the “Offering”). The Fund offers to sell any combination of three 
classes of Common Shares, Class S shares, Class D shares, and Class I shares, with a dollar value up to the maximum offering 
amount. The share classes have different ongoing distribution and/or shareholder servicing fees. The initial offering price for the 
Common Shares was $25.00 per share. Thereafter, the purchase price per share for each class of Common Shares equals the net 
asset value (“NAV”) per share as of the effective date of the monthly share purchase date.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies

The following is a summary of the significant accounting and reporting policies used in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
("GAAP"). The Fund is an investment company under GAAP and follows the accounting and reporting guidance applicable to 
investment companies in the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 946 and pursuant 
to Regulation S-X. The functional currency is the U.S. Dollar and these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
that currency. These consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments considered necessary for the fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements for the period presented. Certain prior period information has been reclassified to conform to 
the current period presentation and this had no effect on the Fund’s consolidated financial position or the consolidated results of 
operations as previously reported.
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Consolidation 

 The Fund will generally consolidate any wholly-owned, or substantially wholly-owned, subsidiary when the design and 
purpose of the subsidiary is to act as an extension of the Fund’s investment operations and to facilitate the execution of the Fund’s 
investment strategy. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2023, the Fund consolidated the financial position and results of its wholly-
owned subsidiaries in its consolidated financial statements. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in 
consolidation. Since the Fund is an investment company, portfolio investments held by the Fund are not consolidated into the 
consolidated financial statements. The portfolio investments held by the Fund (including investments held by consolidated 
subsidiaries) are included on the Consolidated Statements of Assets and Liabilities as investments at fair value.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual amounts may ultimately differ from those estimates and the differences 
could be material.

Organization and Offering Expenses

Organization expenses include, among other things, the cost of incorporating the Fund and the cost of legal services and 
other fees pertaining to the Fund’s organization. These costs are expensed as incurred.

The Fund’s offering expenses include, among other things, legal fees, registration fees and other costs pertaining to the 
preparation of the Fund’s registration statement (and any amendments or supplements thereto) relating to the Offering and 
associated marketing materials. Offering expenses are recorded as deferred offering costs on the consolidated statements of assets 
and liabilities and amortized to expense on the Fund’s consolidated statements of operations on a straight line-basis over 12 
months from the date of incurrence.

Income Taxes

The Fund intends to elect to be treated as a RIC under the Code for its taxable year ending December 31, 2023 and all 
periods thereafter. So long as the Fund maintains its status as a RIC, it generally will not pay corporate-level U.S. federal income 
taxes on any ordinary income or capital gains that it distributes at least annually to its shareholders as dividends. Rather, any tax 
liability related to income earned and distributed by the Fund would represent obligations of the Fund’s investors and would not 
be reflected in the consolidated financial statements of the Fund.

The Fund evaluates tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the course of preparing its consolidated financial 
statements to determine whether the tax positions are “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained by the applicable tax authority. Tax 
positions not deemed to meet the “more-likely-than-not” threshold are reserved and recorded as a tax benefit or expense in the 
current year. As of December 31, 2023, the Fund did not have any unrecognized tax benefits in the consolidated financial 
statements; nor is the Fund aware of any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of unrecognized 
tax benefits will significantly change in the next twelve months. All penalties and interest associated with income taxes are 
included in income tax expense. Conclusions regarding tax positions are subject to review and may be adjusted at a later date 
based on factors including, but not limited to, on-going analyses of tax laws, regulations and interpretations thereof.

The Fund files a U.S. federal income tax return, in addition to state and local tax returns as required. The Fund’s U.S. 
federal income tax returns are subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for a period of three fiscal years after 
they are filed. State and local tax returns may be subject to examination for an additional fiscal year depending on the jurisdiction.

To qualify for and maintain qualification as a RIC, the Fund must, among other things, meet certain source-of-income and 
asset diversification requirements. In addition, to qualify for RIC tax treatment, the Fund must distribute to its shareholders, for 
each taxable year, at least 90% of its “investment company taxable income” for that year, which is generally its ordinary income 
plus the excess, if any, of its realized net short-term capital gains over its realized net long-term capital losses.
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In addition, based on the excise tax distribution requirements, the Fund will be subject to a 4% nondeductible U.S federal 
excise tax on undistributed income unless the Fund distributes in a timely manner in each taxable year an amount at least equal to 
the sum of (1) 98% of its ordinary income for the calendar year, (2) 98.2% of capital gain net income (both long-term and short-
term) for the one-year period ending October 31 in that calendar year and (3) any income realized, but not distributed, in prior 
years. For this purpose, however, any ordinary income or capital gain net income retained by the Fund that is subject to corporate 
income tax is considered to have been distributed. 

For year ended December 31, 2023, the Fund did not incur any U.S. federal income taxes, but the Fund did incur excise tax 
of $66,312.

Deferred Financing Costs

The Fund records costs related to issuance of revolving debt obligations as deferred financing costs. These costs are 
deferred and amortized using the straight-line method over the stated maturity life of the obligation.

Investment Valuation

The Fund values its investments, upon which its NAV is based, in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, 
which defines fair value as the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820 also provides a framework for measuring fair value, 
establishes a fair value hierarchy based on the observability of inputs used to measure fair value and prescribes disclosure 
requirements for fair value measurements.

Pursuant to Rule 2a-5, the Board has designated the Adviser as the valuation designee responsible for valuing all of the 
Fund’s investments, including making fair valuation determinations as needed. The Adviser has established a fair value 
committee (the “Fair Value Committee”) to carry out the day-to-day fair valuation responsibilities and has adopted policies and 
procedures to govern activities of the Fair Value Committee and the performance of functions required to determine the fair value 
of a fund’s investments in good faith. These functions include periodically assessing and managing material risks associated with 
fair value determinations, selecting, applying, reviewing, and testing fair value methodologies, monitoring for circumstances that 
may necessitate the use of fair value, and overseeing and evaluating pricing services used.

In accordance with the Adviser’s policies and procedures, which have been approved by the Board, investments, including 
debt securities, that are publicly traded but for which no readily available market quotations exist are generally valued on the 
basis of information furnished by an independent third-party pricing service that uses a valuation matrix which incorporates both 
dealer-supplied valuations and electronic data processing techniques. To assess the continuing appropriateness of pricing sources 
and methodologies, the Adviser regularly performs price verification procedures, engages in oversight activities with respect to 
third-party pricing sources used and issues challenges as necessary to independent pricing services or brokers, and any differences 
are reviewed in accordance with the valuation procedures. The Adviser does not adjust the prices unless it has a reason to believe 
market quotations or prices received from third-party pricing services are not reflective of the fair value of an investment.

Investments that are not publicly traded or whose current market prices or quotations are not readily available are valued at 
fair value as determined by the Adviser in good faith pursuant to the Adviser’s Board-approved policies and procedures. Factors 
used in determining fair value vary by investment type and may include market or investment specific events, transaction data, 
estimated cash flows, and market observations of comparable investments. In determining fair value of the Fund’s loan 
investments the types of factors that the Fair Value Committee may take into account generally include comparison to publicly-
traded securities including such factors as yield, maturity and measures of credit quality, the enterprise value of the portfolio 
company, the nature and realizable value of any collateral, the portfolio company’s ability to make payments and its earnings and 
discounted cash flows, the markets in which the portfolio company does business and other relevant factors.

The Fund has engaged an independent valuation firm to prepare month-end valuation recommendations for investments for 
which market quotations are not readily available as of the last calendar day of each month. The independent valuation firm 
undertakes a full analysis of the investments and provides estimated fair values for such investments to the Adviser. The 
independent valuation firm also provides analyses to support their valuation methodology and calculations. The Adviser’s Fair 
Value Committee reviews and approves each valuation recommendation and confirms it has been calculated in accordance with 
the Board-approved policies and procedures. The Fair Value Committee manages the Fund’s fair valuation practices and 
maintains the fair valuation policies and procedures. The Adviser reports to the Board information regarding the fair valuation 
process and related material matters. The Board may determine to modify its designation of the Adviser as valuation designee, 
relating to any or all Fund investments, at any time.
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Investment Transactions

For financial reporting purposes, the Fund’s investment holdings include trades executed through the end of the last 
business day of the period. Realized gains and losses on investments sold are determined using the specific identification method.

Interest Income

Interest income is accrued as earned. Interest income includes coupon interest and amortization of premium and accretion 
of discount on debt securities. Commitment fees, loan origination fees, original issue discount ("OID") and market discount or 
premium are capitalized into the cost of the investment to which it applies and accreted into interest income. For the Fund’s 
investments in revolving credit facilities and delayed draw term loans, the cost basis of the investment is adjusted for any market 
discount or OID on the total balance committed. The fair value is also adjusted for price appreciation or depreciation on the 
unfunded portion. As a result, the purchase of commitments not fully funded may result in a negative cost and fair value until 
funded. Upon prepayment of a loan or debt instrument, any prepayment premium and any unamortized discount or premium are 
recognized through interest income.

Fee Income

The Fund earns certain fees in connection with its direct lending underwriting activities. These fees are in addition to 
interest payments earned and may include amendment fees, consent fees and prepayment fees. Certain fees such as structuring 
fees and syndication fees are recorded as other income when earned. Administrative agent fees received by the Fund are recorded 
as other income when the services are rendered.

Non-Accrual Policy

Debt obligations may be placed on non-accrual status and related interest income may be reduced by ceasing current 
accruals and writing off interest receivables when the collection of all or a portion of interest has become doubtful based on 
consistently applied procedures. A debt obligation is removed from non-accrual status when the issuer resumes interest payments 
or when collectability of interest is reasonably assured. As of December 31, 2023 no loans in the portfolio were on non-accrual 
status.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash or highly liquid assets with original maturities of three months or less from the 
date of purchase. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost which approximates fair value. As December 31, 2023 
and December 31, 2022, the Fund did not hold any cash equivalents.

Expenses

Expenses are recorded on the accrual basis. Expense estimates are accrued in the period to which they relate and 
adjustments are made when actual amounts are known.

Foreign Currency

The Fund may use foreign currency contracts to facilitate transactions in foreign– denominated securities. Gains and losses 
from these transactions may arise from changes in the value of the foreign currency or if the counterparties do not perform under 
the contracts’ terms.

Foreign-denominated assets, including investment securities, and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange 
rate at period end. Purchases and sales of securities, income and dividends received and expenses denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the transaction date.

The effects of exchange rate fluctuations on investments are included with the net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on 
investments. Other foreign currency transactions resulting in realized and unrealized gain (loss) are disclosed separately.



111

New Accounting Pronouncement

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2023-
07 Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. Effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, the amendments enhance required 
disclosures of segment information for public entities on an annual and interim basis. The ASU allows for early adoption with 
updates applied retrospectively. The Fund is currently evaluating the impact on the consolidated financial statements.

 In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09 Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. 
Effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024 for public business entities (PBEs), and December 15, 2025 for 
entities other than PBEs, the amendment requires greater disaggregation of income tax disclosures related to the income tax rate 
reconciliation for PBEs and income taxes paid for all entities. The ASU allows for early adoption and the Fund can elect to apply 
the amendments on a prospective or retrospective basis. The Fund is currently evaluating the impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.   

Note 3. Related Party Agreements and Transactions

Investment Advisory Agreement

The Fund has entered into an Investment Advisory Agreement (the “Advisory Agreement”) with the Adviser, pursuant to 
which the Adviser will manage the Fund on a day-to-day basis. The Adviser is responsible for determining the composition of the 
Fund’s portfolio, making investment decisions, monitoring the Fund’s investments, performing due diligence on prospective 
portfolio companies, exercising voting rights in respect of portfolio securities, obtaining and managing financing facilities and 
other forms of leverage and providing the Fund with such other investment advisory and related services as the Fund may, from 
time to time, reasonably require for the investment of capital.

The Fund will pay the Adviser a fee for its services under the Advisory Agreement consisting of two components, a 
management fee and an incentive fee. The cost of both the management fee and the incentive fee will ultimately be borne by the 
shareholders. 

Management Fee

The management fee is payable monthly in arrears at an annual rate of 1.25% of the value of the Fund’s net assets as of the 
beginning of the first calendar day of the applicable month. For purposes of the Advisory Agreement, net assets mean the Fund’s 
total assets less liabilities determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP. For the first calendar month in which the 
Fund has operations, net assets will be measured as the beginning net assets as of the date on which the Fund breaks escrow.

On August 9, 2023, the Adviser decided to extend the waiver of the Fund’s management fee and incentive fee based on 
income until December 31, 2023. Previously, the Adviser had agreed to waive the management fee and incentive fee based on 
income for the first six months following the date on which the Fund broke escrow, which occurred on March 13, 2023.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, management fees earned were $2,497,365, pro-rated for the period March 13 
through December 31, 2023, all of which were voluntarily waived by the Adviser. There were no management fees earned for the 
period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, no amounts 
were payable to the Adviser for management fees.

In addition, during the period the investment adviser or an affiliate reimbursed and/or waived a portion of management fee 
expenses from underlying funds in the amount of $7,910. 

Incentive Fees

The incentive fee will consist of two components that are independent of each other, with the result that one component 
may be payable even if the other is not. A portion of the incentive fee is based on a percentage of the Fund’s income and a portion 
is based on a percentage of the Fund’s capital gains, each as described below.
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Incentive Fee based on Income

The incentive fee based on the Fund’s income is based on Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns attributable to 
each class of the Fund’s Common Shares. “Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns” means dividends, cash interest or 
other distributions or other cash income and any third-party fees received from portfolio companies such as upfront fees, 
commitment fees, origination fee, amendment fees, ticking fees and break-up fees, as well as prepayments premiums, but 
excluding fees for providing managerial assistance and fees earned by the Adviser or an affiliate accrued during the month, minus 
operating expenses for the month (including the management fee, taxes, any expenses payable under the Advisory Agreement and 
an administration agreement with the Fund’s administrator, any expense of securitizations, and interest expense or other financing 
fees and any dividends paid on preferred stock, but excluding the incentive fee and shareholder servicing and /or distribution 
fees). Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns includes, in the case of investments with a deferred interest feature (such 
as OID, debt instruments with payment-in-kind (“PIK”) interest and zero-coupon securities), accrued income that the Fund has 
not yet received in cash. Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns do not include any realized capital gains, realized 
capital losses or unrealized capital appreciation or depreciation. The impact of expense support payments and recoupments are 
also excluded from Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns.

Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns, expressed as a rate of return on the value of the Fund’s net assets at the 
end of the immediately preceding quarter, is compared to a “hurdle rate” of return of 1.25% per quarter (5.00% annualized).

The Fund will pay the Adviser an income based incentive fee with respect to the Fund’s Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment 
Income Returns in each calendar quarter as follows:

▪ No incentive fee based on Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns in any calendar quarter in which the 
Fund’s Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns attributable to the applicable share class do not exceed the 
hurdle rate of 1.25% per quarter (5.00% annualized);

▪ 100% of the dollar amount of the Fund’s Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns with respect to that portion 
of such Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns attributable to the applicable share class, if any, that exceeds 
the hurdle rate but is less than a rate of return of 1.43% (5.72% annualized). This portion of the Fund’s Pre-Incentive 
Fee Net Investment Income Returns (which exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than 1.43%) is referred to as the “catch-
up.” The “catch-up” is meant to provide the Adviser with approximately 12.5% of the Fund’s Pre-Incentive Fee Net 
Investment Income Returns as if a hurdle rate did not apply if this net investment income exceeds 1.43% in any 
calendar quarter; and

▪ 12.5% of the dollar amount of the Fund’s Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns attributable to the 
applicable share class, if any, that exceed a rate of return of 1.43% (5.72% annualized). This reflects that once the 
hurdle rate is reached and the catch-up is achieved, 12.5% of all Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income Returns 
thereafter are allocated to the Adviser.

These calculations are pro-rated for any period of less than three months and adjusted for any share issuances or 
repurchases during the relevant quarter. On August 9, 2023, the Adviser decided to extend the waiver of the Fund’s management 
fee and incentive fee based on income until December 31, 2023. Previously, the Adviser had agreed to waive the management fee 
and incentive fee based on income for the first six months following the date on which the Fund broke escrow, which occurred on 
March 13, 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2023, incentive fees based on income were $2,683,195, all of which was 
voluntarily waived by the Adviser. There were no incentive fees based on income for the period March 23, 2022 (inception) 
through December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, no amounts were payable to the Adviser for 
incentive fees based on income.

Incentive Fee based on Capital Gains

The second component of the incentive fee, the capital gains incentive fee, is payable at the end of each calendar year in 
arrears. The amount payable equals 12.5% of cumulative realized capital gains attributable to the applicable share class from 
inception through the end of such calendar year, computed net of all realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation on 
a cumulative basis, less the aggregate amount of any previously paid incentive fee on capital gains as calculated in accordance 
with GAAP.
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US GAAP requires that the incentive fee accrual consider the cumulative aggregate unrealized appreciation of investments 
in the calculation, as an incentive fee would be payable if such unrealized appreciation were realized, even though such 
unrealized capital appreciation is not permitted to be considered in calculating the fee actually payable under the Advisory 
Agreement (the “GAAP Incentive Fee”). There can be no assurance that such unrealized appreciation will be realized in the 
future. Accordingly, such fee, as calculated and accrued, would not necessarily be payable under the Advisory Agreement, and 
may never be paid based upon the computation of incentive fees in subsequent period. For the year ended December 31, 2023, 
$868,178, of expense was recognized related to the GAAP Incentive Fee and is recorded in capital gains incentive fees on the 
consolidated statements of operations. There was no expense recognized related to the GAAP Incentive Fee For the period March 
23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2023, $868,178 related to the GAAP Incentive Fee is 
recorded in capital gains incentive fee payable on the consolidated statements of assets and liabilities. As of December 31, 2022, 
there was no amount related to the GAAP Incentive Fee recorded in capital gains incentive fee payable on the consolidated 
statements of assets and liabilities.

Administration Agreement

The Fund has entered into an Administration Agreement (the “Administration Agreement”) with FDS (the 
“Administrator”). Under the terms of the Administration Agreement, the Administrator provides, or oversees the performance of, 
administrative and compliance services necessary for the Fund's operations, including, but not limited to, maintaining financial 
records, overseeing the calculation of NAV, compliance monitoring (including diligence and oversight of our other service 
providers), preparing reports to shareholders and reports filed with the SEC and other regulators, preparing materials and 
coordinating meetings of our Board, managing the payment of expenses, the payment and receipt of funds for investments and the 
performance of administrative and professional services rendered by others and providing office space, equipment and office 
services. In consideration of the administrative services provided by the Administrator to the Fund, the Fund pays the 
Administrator a monthly fee of 0.02666% (0.32% on an annualized basis) of the Fund’s month-end NAV and reimburses the 
Administrator for the costs and expenses of the Fund incurred by the Administrator. The fee paid to the Administrator is an 
expense paid out of the Fund’s net assets and is computed based on the value of the net assets of the Fund as of the close of 
business on the last business day of each month (including any assets in respect of Common Shares that are repurchased as of the 
end of the quarter).

From time to time, FDS, in its capacity as both the Adviser and the Administrator or its affiliates may pay third-party 
providers of goods or services. Unless such expenses are specifically assumed by the Adviser, Administrator or its affiliates under 
the Advisory Agreement or Administration Agreement, the Fund will reimburse the Adviser, the Administrator or such affiliates 
thereof for any such amounts paid on the Fund’s behalf. From time to time, the Adviser or the Administrator may defer or waive 
fees and/or rights to be reimbursed for expenses.

Costs and expenses of FDS in its capacity as both the Administrator and the Adviser that are eligible for reimbursement by 
the Fund will be reasonably allocated to the Fund on the basis of time spent, assets under management, usage rates, proportionate 
holdings, a combination thereof or other reasonable methods determined by the Administrator.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Fund incurred $646,398, in expenses under the Administration Agreement, pro-
rated for the period March 13, 2023 through December 31, 2023, which were recorded as Administration Fees on the 
consolidated statements of operations. No amount was incurred for Administration Fees for the period March 23, 2022 (inception) 
through December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, $109,398 and $0, respectively, was unpaid and 
included in due from affiliates, net in the consolidated statements of assets and liabilities.
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Certain Terms of the Advisory Agreement and Administration Agreement

Each of the Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement has been approved by the Board. Unless earlier 
terminated as described below, each of the Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement will remain in effect for a 
period of two years from the date it first becomes effective and will remain in effect from year-to-year thereafter if approved 
annually by a majority of the Board or by the holders of a majority of the Fund’s outstanding voting securities and, in each case, a 
majority of the Independent Trustees. The Fund may terminate the Advisory Agreement upon 60 days’ written notice, and the 
Administration Agreement upon 120 days’ written notice, without payment of any penalty. The decision to terminate either 
agreement may be made by a majority of the Board or the shareholders holding a majority of the Fund’s outstanding voting 
securities, which means the lesser of (1) 67% or more of the voting securities present at a meeting if more than 50% of the 
outstanding voting securities are present or represented by proxy, or (2) more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities. In 
addition, without payment of any penalty, the Adviser may terminate the Advisory Agreement upon 120 days’ written notice and 
the Administrator may terminate the Administration Agreement upon 120 days’ written notice. The Advisory Agreement will 
automatically terminate within the meaning of the 1940 Act and related SEC guidance and interpretations in the event of its 
assignment.

Transfer Agent Agreement

The Fund has entered into a Transfer Agent Agreement with Fidelity Investments Institutional Operations Company LLC 
(“FIIOC”), an affiliate of the Adviser. In accordance with the Transfer Agent Agreement, FIIOC is the Fund’s transfer agent, 
distribution paying agent and registrar. FIIOC receives an asset-based fee with respect to each class of Common Shares. Each 
class pays a fee for transfer agent services equal to 0.0125% of class-level net assets as of the end of the last business day of the 
month. Such fees are payable in arrears.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, $302,999, of fees were incurred for transfer agency services, pro-rated for the 
period March 13, 2023 through December 31, 2023, and are recorded in other general and administrative expenses. For the period 
March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022 no fees were incurred for transfer agency services. As of December 31, 
2023 and December 31, 2022, $51,238 and $0, respectively, was unpaid and included in due to affiliates in the consolidated 
statements of assets and liabilities.

Managing Dealer Agreement

The Fund has entered into a Managing Dealer Agreement (the “Managing Dealer Agreement”) with Fidelity Distributors 
Company LLC (the “Managing Dealer”). Under the terms of the Managing Dealer Agreement, the Managing Dealer will serve as 
the managing dealer for the Offering. The Managing Dealer will be entitled to receive shareholder servicing and/or distribution 
fees monthly in arrears at a contractual rate of 0.85% per annum of the aggregate value of the Fund’s net assets attributable to 
Class S shares as of the beginning of the first calendar day of the month. The Managing Dealer will be entitled to receive 
shareholder servicing fees monthly in arrears at a contractual rate of 0.25% per annum of the aggregate value of the Fund’s net 
assets attributable to Class D shares as of the beginning of the first calendar day of the month. No shareholder servicing and/or 
distribution fees will be paid with respect to Class I. The shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees will be paid monthly in 
arrears. The shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees will be payable to the Managing Dealer, but the Managing Dealer will 
reallow (pay) all or a portion of the shareholder servicing fees to participating brokers and servicing brokers for ongoing 
shareholder services performed by such brokers and will waive shareholder servicing fees to the extent a broker is not eligible to 
receive it for failure to provide such services.

The Managing Dealer will cease receiving the distribution and/or shareholder servicing fee on Class S shares and Class D 
shares upon the earlier to occur of the following: (i) a listing of Class I shares, (ii) the merger or consolidation of the Fund with or 
into another entity, or the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Fund’s assets, or (iii) the date following the 
completion of the primary portion of the Offering on which, in the aggregate, underwriting compensation from all sources in 
connection with such Offering is equal to 10% of the gross proceeds from our primary shares sold in such Offering, as determined 
in good faith by the Managing Dealer in its sole discretion.
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In addition, at the end of the month in which the Managing Dealer in conjunction with the transfer agent determines that 
total transaction or other fees, including upfront placement fees or brokerage commissions, and shareholder servicing and/or 
distribution fees paid with respect to any single share held in a shareholder’s account would exceed, in the aggregate, 10% of the 
gross proceeds from the sale of such share (or a lower limit as determined by the Managing Dealer or the applicable broker), the 
Managing Dealer shall cease receiving the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fee on either (i) each such share that would 
exceed such limit or (ii) all Common Shares in such shareholder’s account, in the Managing Dealer’s discretion. At the end of 
such month, the applicable Distribution Shares in such shareholder’s account will convert into a number of Class I shares 
(including any fractional shares), with an equivalent aggregate NAV.

The Managing Dealer is a broker-dealer registered with the SEC and is a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory 
Authority. The Managing Dealer Agreement may be terminated at any time, without the payment of any penalty, by vote of a 
majority of the Fund’s trustees who are not “interested persons,” as defined in the 1940 Act, of the Fund and who have no direct 
or indirect financial interest in the Fund’s distribution plan or the Managing Dealer Agreement or by vote a majority of the 
outstanding voting securities of the Fund, on not more than 60 days’ written notice to the Managing Dealer or the Adviser. This 
Agreement will automatically terminate in the event of its assignment, as defined in the 1940 Act.

Either party may terminate the Managing Dealer Agreement upon 60 days’ written notice to the other party or immediately 
upon notice to the other party in the event such other party failed to comply with a material provision of the Managing Dealer 
Agreement. Obligations under the Managing Dealer Agreement to pay the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees with 
respect to the Class S and Class D shares distributed in our Offering as described therein shall survive termination of the 
agreement until such shares are no longer outstanding (including such shares that have been converted into Class I shares, as 
described above).

Shareholder Servicing and/or Distribution Fees

The following table shows the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees the Fund pays the Managing Dealer with 
respect to the Class S, Class D and Class I Common Shares on an annualized basis as a percentage of NAV for such class:

Shareholder Servicing 
and/ or Distribution Fee 

as a % of NAV
Class S shares 0.85%
Class D shares 0.25%
Class I shares —

The shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees will be paid monthly in arrears, calculated using the NAV of the 
applicable class as of the beginning of the first calendar day of the month, subject to FINRA and other limitations on underwriting 
compensation.

The Managing Dealer will reallow (pay) all or a portion of the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees to participating 
brokers and servicing brokers for ongoing shareholder services performed by such brokers, and will waive shareholder servicing 
and/or distribution fees to the extent a broker is not eligible to receive it for failure to provide such services. Because the 
shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees with respect to Class S shares and Class D shares are calculated based on the 
aggregate NAV for all of the outstanding shares of each such class, it reduces the NAV with respect to all shares of each such 
class, including shares issued under our distribution reinvestment plan.

Eligibility to receive the shareholder servicing and/or distribution fee is conditioned on a broker providing the following 
ongoing services with respect to the Class S or Class D shares: assistance with recordkeeping, answering investor inquiries 
regarding us, including regarding distribution payments and reinvestments, helping investors understand their investments upon 
their request, and assistance with share repurchase requests. If the applicable broker is not eligible to receive the shareholder 
servicing and/or distribution fee due to failure to provide these services, the Managing Dealer will waive the shareholder 
servicing fee and/or distribution that broker would have otherwise been eligible to receive. The shareholder servicing and/or 
distribution fees are ongoing fees that are not paid at the time of purchase.

For the period from November 1, 2023 (Class S and Class D inception date) to December 31, 2023, the Fund incurred 
distribution and shareholder servicing fees of $14 and $4 for Class S and Class D, respectively. No amount was incurred for 
distribution and shareholder servicing fees for the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022. As of 
December 31, 2023 there was $9 payable and recorded in shareholder servicing fee payable. As of December 31, 2022, there 
were no amounts payable for distribution and shareholder servicing fees.
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Affiliate Ownership

As of December 31, 2022, an affiliate of the Adviser held 80 shares (100.00%) of the Fund’s Class I Common Shares.

As of December 31, 2023, an affiliate of the Adviser held 395 shares (100.00%) and 395 shares (100.00%) of the Fund’s 
Class D Common Shares and Class S Common Shares, respectively.

Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement

The Fund has entered into an Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement (the “Expense Support 
Agreement”) with the Adviser. Pursuant to the Expense Support Agreement, for the twelve month period commencing the date of 
Agreement, September 23, 2022, and unless terminated, for each successive one year period, the Adviser is obligated to advance 
all of our Other Operating Expenses (including organizational and offering expenses) to the effect that such expenses do not 
exceed 0.70% (on an annualized basis) of the Fund’s NAV. Any Required Expense Payment must be paid by the Adviser to the 
Fund in any combination of cash or other immediately available funds and/or offset against amounts due from the Fund to the 
Adviser or its affiliates. “Other Operating Expenses” means the Fund’s organization and offering expenses, professional fees 
(including accounting, legal, and auditing fees), custodian and transfer agent fees, third party valuation agent fees, insurance 
costs, trustee fees, Administration Fees, and other general and administrative expenses.

Upon the termination of Adviser’s obligation to make Required Expense Payments, the Adviser may elect to pay, at such 
times as the Adviser determines, certain expenses on the Fund’s behalf, provided that no portion of the payment will be used to 
pay any interest expense or distribution and/or shareholder servicing fees of the Fund (referred to as “Voluntary Expense 
Payment” and together with a Required Expense Payment, the “Expense Payments”). Any Voluntary Expense Payment that the 
Adviser has committed to pay must be paid by the Adviser to the Fund in any combination of cash or other immediately available 
funds no later than 45 days after such commitment was made in writing, and/or offset against amounts due from the Fund to the 
Adviser or its affiliates.

Following any calendar month in which Available Operating Funds (as defined below) exceed the cumulative distributions 
accrued to the Fund’s shareholders based on distributions declared with respect to record dates occurring in such calendar month 
(the amount of such excess being hereinafter referred to as “Excess Operating Funds”), the Fund shall pay such Excess Operating 
Funds, or a portion thereof, to the Adviser until such time as all Expense Payments made by the Adviser to the Fund within 3 
years prior to the last business day of such calendar month have been reimbursed. Any payments required to be made by the Fund 
shall be referred to herein as a “Reimbursement Payment.”

“Available Operating Funds” means the sum of (i) the Fund’s net investment company taxable income (including net short-
term capital gains reduced by net long-term capital losses), (ii) the Fund’s net capital gains (including the excess of net long-term 
capital gains over net short-term capital losses) and (iii) dividends and other distributions paid to the Fund on account of 
investments in portfolio companies (to the extent such amounts listed in clause (iii) are not included under clauses (i) and (ii) 
above).

No Reimbursement Payment for any month shall be made if: (1) the Effective Rate of Distributions Per Share declared by 
the Fund at the time of such Reimbursement Payment is less than the Effective Rate of Distributions Per Share at the time the 
Expense Payment was made to which such Reimbursement Payment relates, (2) the Fund’s Operating Expense Ratio at the time 
of such Reimbursement Payment is greater than the Operating Expense Ratio at the time the Expense Payment was made to 
which such Reimbursement Payment relate, or (3) the Fund’s Other Operating Expenses at the time of such Reimbursement 
Payment exceeds 0.70% of the Fund’s NAV. “Effective Rate of Distributions Per Share” means the annualized rate (based on a 
365-day year) of regular cash distributions per share exclusive of returns of capital, distribution rate reductions due to distribution 
and shareholder servicing fees, and declared special dividends or special distributions, if any. The “Operating Expense Ratio” is 
calculated by dividing Operating Expenses, less organizational and offering expenses, management and incentive fees owed to 
the Adviser, shareholder servicing and/or distribution fees, and interest expense, by the Fund’s net assets. “Operating Expenses” 
means all of the Fund’s operating costs and expenses incurred, as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles for investment companies.

The Fund’s obligation to make a Reimbursement Payment shall automatically become a liability of the Fund on the last 
business day of the applicable calendar month, except to the extent the Adviser has waived its right to receive such payment for 
the applicable month.
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Effective from the date the Fund broke escrow, which was March 13, 2023, FDS has voluntarily agreed to waive its right to 
receive any Reimbursement Payment for any Excess Operating Funds incurred in any month prior to a revocation. Any such 
amounts shall not be considered unreimbursed Expense Payments reimbursable in future months pursuant to the terms of the 
Expense Support Agreement. This voluntary arrangement can be terminated at any time, upon thirty days’ prior written notice to 
the Fund. 

The following table presents a summary of Expense Payments and related Reimbursement Payments since the Fund’s 
commencement of operations:

For the three months ended
Amount of 

Expense Support

Amount of 
Reimbursement 

Payment

Amount of 
Unreimbursed 

Expense Support

Reimbursement 
Eligibility 
Expiration

September 30, 2022 $ 497,933 $ — $ — *
December 31, 2022 349,999 — — *
March 31, 2023 677,518 — — *
June 30, 2023 694,335 — — *
September 30, 2023 651,125 — — *
December 31, 2023 521,434 — — *
Total $ 3,392,344 $ — $ —
* Unreimbursed expense support incurred for these periods have been waived and are not eligible for reimbursement.

Affiliated Investments

The table below presents the Fund’s affiliated investments:

Fair 
Value as 

of 
December 
31, 2022

Gross 
Additions

Gross 
Reductions

Change in 
Unrealized 

Appreciation 
(Depreciation)

Realized 
Gains 

(Losses)

Fair Value 
as of 

December 
31, 2023

Dividend 
and 

Interest 
Income

Non-controlled/ Affiliate Investments
Fidelity Floating Rate Central Fund $ — $ 24,436,874 $ — $ 358,609 $ — $24,795,483 $ 949,591
Fidelity Investments Money Market 
Government Portfolio Class I — 124,323,429 (124,323,429) — — — 179,725
Total $ — $148,760,303 $(124,323,429) $ 358,609 $ — $24,795,483 $1,129,316

There were no affiliated holdings at December 31, 2022.

Co-investment Relief

The Fund and the Adviser have received an exemptive order from the SEC that permits the Fund, among other things, to 
co-invest with certain other persons in negotiated transactions, including certain affiliates of the Adviser and certain funds 
managed and controlled by the Adviser and its affiliates, subject to certain terms and conditions. Pursuant to such order, the 
Fund’s Board may establish Board-Established Criteria clearly defining co-investment opportunities in which the Fund will have 
the opportunity to participate with other public or private affiliated funds that target similar assets. If an investment falls within 
the Board-Established Criteria, the Adviser must offer an opportunity for the Fund to participate. The Fund may determine to 
participate or not to participate, depending on whether the Adviser determines that the investment is appropriate for the Fund 
(e.g., based on investment strategy). The co-investment would generally be allocated to the Fund and the other affiliated funds 
that target similar assets in accordance with the Adviser’s allocation policies and procedures. If the Adviser determines that such 
investment is not appropriate for the Fund, the investment will not be allocated to the Fund, but the Adviser will be required to 
report such investment and the rationale for its determination for the Fund to not participate in the investment to the Board at the 
next quarterly board meeting.

Due to Affiliates

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Fund owed $575,749 and $1,306,724, respectively, to various 
affiliates for expenses paid including offering costs, professional fees, Board of Trustees’ fees, Administration Fees, and other 
general and administrative expenses. Such amounts are recorded in due from affiliates, net on the consolidated statements of 
assets and liabilities.
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Note 4. Investments

The composition of the Fund’s investment portfolio at cost and fair value was as follows:

December 31, 2023

Amortized Cost Fair Value
% of Total Investments at 

Fair Value
First lien debt $ 482,753,585 $ 489,101,899 92.0%
Equity investments 2,002,315 2,240,826 0.4%
Mutual funds 39,765,291 40,123,900 7.6%
Total $ 524,521,191 $ 531,466,625 100.0%

The industry composition of investments at fair value was as follows:

December 31, 2023
Advertising 1.6%
Aerospace & Defense 1.7%
Air Freight & Logistics 2.8%
Application Software 19.4%
Automotive Parts & Equipment 3.7%
Building Products 1.2%
Commodity Chemicals 1.6%
Diversified Financial Services 0.9%
Diversified Support Services 8.0%
Education Services 1.4%
Environmental & Facilities Services 3.7%
Food Retail 1.4%
Health Care Facilities 2.4%
Health Care Services 6.4%
Industrial Machinery & Supplies & Components 1.8%
Insurance Brokers 3.8%
Life Sciences Tools & Services 5.2%
Mutual Funds 7.6%
Oil & Gas Refining & Marketing 1.4%
Packaged Foods & Meats 3.7%
Pharmaceuticals 1.9%
Soft Drinks & Non-Alcoholic Beverages 2.1%
Specialized Consumer Services 13.2%
Specialized Finance 1.9%
Trading Companies & Distributors 1.2%
Total 100.0%

The geographic composition of investments at fair value was as follows:

December 31, 2023

Fair Value
% of Total Investments at 

Fair Value
Fair Value as % of Net 

Assets
United States $ 489,333,017 92.1% 120.6%
Australia 31,851,963 6.0% 7.8%
Canada 10,281,645 1.9% 2.5%
Total $ 531,466,625 100.0% 130.9%

As of December 31, 2023, on a fair value basis, 100% of debt investments bore interest at a floating rate and 0% of debt 
investments bore interest at a fixed rate. As of December 31, 2023, there were no investments on non-accrual status.
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Note 5. Fair Value Measurements

The Fund categorizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to value its investments into a disclosure hierarchy consisting 
of three levels as shown below: 

Level 1 — unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical investments
Level 2 — other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices for similar investments, interest rates, prepayment 
speeds, etc.)
Level 3 — unobservable inputs (including the Fund’s own assumptions based on the best information available)

The following is a summary of the inputs used, as of December 31, 2023, involving the Fund’s assets carried at fair value. 
The inputs or methodology used for valuing securities may not be an indication of the risk associated with investing in those 
securities.

December 31, 2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

First lien debt $ — $ 63,355,799 $ 425,746,100 $ 489,101,899
Equity investments — — 2,240,826 2,240,826
Mutual funds 40,123,900 — — 40,123,900
Total Investments $ 40,123,900 $ 63,355,799 $ 427,986,926 $ 531,466,625

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for investments for which fair value was 
determined using Level 3 inputs for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Year Ended December 31, 2023
First Lien Debt Second Lien Debt Equity Total Investments

Fair value, beginning of period $ — $ — $ — $ —
Purchases of investments 420,517,545 — 2,002,315 422,519,860
Proceeds from principal repayments and sales of 
investments (1,267,554) — — (1,267,554)

Accretion of discount/ amortization of premium 885,350 — — 885,350
Transfers into Level 3 — — — —
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) 5,610,759 — 238,511 5,849,270
Fair value, end of period $ 425,746,100 $ — $ 2,240,826 $ 427,986,926
Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) 
included in earnings related to financial instruments 
still held as of December 31, 2023 $ 5,610,759 $ — $ 238,511 $ 5,849,270

The information used in the above reconciliation represents period to date activity for any investments identified as using 
Level 3 inputs at either the beginning or the end of the current fiscal period. Transfers in or out of Level 3 represent the beginning 
value of any security or instrument where a change in the pricing level occurred from the beginning to the end of the period. The 
cost of purchases may include securities received through corporate actions or exchanges.
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The following provides information on Level 3 securities held by the Fund that were valued at December 31, 2023 based on 
unobservable inputs:

December 31, 2023
Range

Fair Value
Valuation 
Technique

Unobservable 
Input Low High

Weighted 
Average

Impact to 
Valuation from an 
Increase in Input*

First Lien Debt $ 425,746,100 Market approach Transaction price $ 73.96 $ 97.50 $ 83.19 Increase

— Indicative market 
price Evaluated bid $ 97.00 $ 99.50 $ 99.09 Increase

— Discounted cash 
flow Yield 9.4% 13.0% 10.9% Decrease

Equities 2,240,826 Market comparable

Enterprise 
value/EBITDA 

multiple 
(EV/EBITDA)

7.50 17.50 11.60 Increase

— Market approach Transaction price $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 Increase
Total $ 427,986,926

* Represents the directional change in the fair value of the Level 3 investments that could have resulted from an increase in the corresponding input as of 
period end. A decrease to the unobservable input would have had the opposite effect. Significant changes in these inputs may have resulted in a 
significantly higher or lower fair value measurement at period end.

Changes in valuation techniques may result in transfers in or out of an assigned level within the disclosure hierarchy.

Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value:

Debt

The carrying value of the Fund’s debt, which would be categorized as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy, as of 
December 31, 2023, approximates fair value.

Note 6. Share Repurchase Program

At the discretion of the Board, the Fund has commenced a share repurchase program in which the Fund may repurchase, in 
each quarter, up to 5% of the NAV of the Fund’s Common Shares outstanding (either by number of shares or aggregate NAV) as 
of the close of the previous calendar quarter. The Board may amend, suspend or terminate the share repurchase program if it 
deems such action to be in the Fund’s best interest and the best interest of the Fund’s shareholders. As a result, share repurchases 
may not be available each quarter.

The Fund expects to repurchase shares pursuant to tender offers each quarter using a purchase price equal to the NAV per 
share as of the last calendar day of the applicable quarter, except that shares that have not been outstanding for at least one year 
will be repurchased at 98% of such NAV (an “Early Repurchase Deduction”). The one-year holding period is measured as of the 
subscription closing date immediately following the prospective repurchase date. The Early Repurchase Deduction may be 
waived, at the Fund’s discretion, in the case of repurchase requests arising from the death, divorce or qualified disability of the 
holder. The Early Repurchase Deduction will be retained by the Fund for the benefit of remaining shareholders. 

The Fund intends to conduct the repurchase offers in accordance with the requirements of Rule 13e-4 promulgated under 
the Exchange Act and the 1940 Act. All shares purchased by the Fund pursuant to the terms of each tender offer will be retired 
and thereafter will be authorized and unissued shares.

The following table summarizes the share repurchases completed during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Repurchase Deadline 
Request

Percentage of 
Outstanding Shares the 

Fund Offered to 
Repurchase (1)

Price Paid Per 
Share

Repurchase 
Pricing Date

Amount 
Repurchased 
(all classes) (2)

Number of 
Shares

Repurchased (all 
classes)

Percentage of 
Outstanding 

Shares 
Repurchased 

(1)

May 31, 2023 5% $ 25.32 June 30, 2023 $ 50,019 2,049 0.05%
August 31, 2023 5% $ 25.52 September 29, 2023 $ 292,938 11,708 0.15%

November 30, 2023 5% $ 25.81 December 29, 2023 $ 27,140 1,071 0.01%

(1) Percentage is based on total shares as of the close of the previous calendar quarter. All repurchase requests were satisfied in full.
(2) Amount shown net of Early Repurchase Deduction
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For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022 there were no share repurchases completed. 

Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Fund enters into contracts that provide a variety of general indemnifications. Any 
exposure to the Fund under these arrangements could involve future claims that may be made against the Fund. Currently, no 
such claims exist or are expected to arise and, accordingly, the Fund has not accrued any liability in connection with such 
indemnifications. 

Commitments

In the normal course of business, the Fund may become party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk to fund 
investments that have unfunded commitments associated with such instruments. These financial instruments may include 
commitments to extend credit on the unused portions of the Fund’s commitments pursuant to the terms of certain of the Fund’s 
investments in revolving credit facilities, delayed draw and other loan financing agreements in connection with the Fund’s 
investments in direct lending instruments. The unfunded commitments are carried at fair value with the unrealized appreciation or 
depreciation on the unfunded portion being included in fair value for each such position disclosed on the schedule of investments, 
and changes in those fair values are recorded in the change in net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investment securities 
on the consolidated statements of operations. The following table detail the unfunded loan commitments at December 31, 2023:

Investments--non-controlled/ non-affiliate Commitment Type Commitment 
Expiration Date

Unfunded 
Commitment ($)

First Lien Debt
 AB Centers Acquisition Corporation  Revolving Credit Facility 9/6/2028 $ 2,068,966
 AB Centers Acquisition Corporation  Delayed Draw Term Loan 9/6/2028 6,724,138
 ACP Avenu Buyer, LLC  Delayed Draw Term Loan 10/2/2029 9,312,500
 ACP Avenu Buyer, LLC  Revolving Credit Facility 10/2/2029 1,000,000
 ACP Falcon Buyer, Inc.  Revolving Credit Facility 8/1/2029 1,000,000
 Alera Group, Inc.  Delayed Draw Term Loan 9/30/2028 2,701,321
 Cadence - Southwick, Inc.  Revolving Credit Facility 5/3/2028 733,333
 CCI Prime, LLC  Delayed Draw Term Loan 10/18/2029 1,996,933
 CCI Prime, LLC  Revolving Credit Facility 10/18/2029 1,000,000
 Door Pro Buyer, LLC  Delayed Draw Term Loan 11/2/2029 10,192,308
 Door Pro Buyer, LLC  Revolving Credit Facility 11/2/2029 3,397,436
 Hobbs & Associates Inc  Delayed Draw Term Loan 4/11/2029 2,185,718
 Houseworks Holdings, LLC  Revolving Credit Facility 12/16/2028 510,204
 Houseworks Holdings, LLC  Delayed Draw Term Loan 12/16/2028 1,428,571
 Infusion Services Management, LLC  Delayed Draw Term Loan 7/7/2028 4,405,014
 Infusion Services Management, LLC  Revolving Credit Facility 7/7/2028 4,969
 MMGY Global LLC  Revolving Credit Facility 4/25/2029 2,044,291
 Omnia Partners LLC  Delayed Draw Term Loan 7/25/2030 637,604
 Pavement Partners Interco, LLC  Revolving Credit Facility 2/7/2028 753,769
 Quick Roofing Acquisition, LLC  Delayed Draw Term Loan 12/22/2029 13,918,033
 Quick Roofing Acquisition, LLC  Revolving Credit Facility 12/22/2029 1,000,000
 Refresh Buyer LLC  Delayed Draw Term Loan 12/23/2028 2,812,944
 SCP WQS Buyer, LLC  Delayed Draw Term Loan 10/2/2028 14,558,511
 SCP WQS Buyer, LLC  Revolving Credit Facility 10/2/2028 1,000,000
 Soteria Flexibles Corporation  Delayed Draw Term Loan 8/15/2029 6,527,725
 Soteria Flexibles Corporation  Revolving Credit Facility 8/15/2029 1,000,000
 USW Buyer, LLC  Delayed Draw Term Loan 11/3/2028 5,350,000
 WCI-BXC Purchaser, LLC  Revolving Credit Facility 11/6/2029 1,000,000
Total Unfunded Commitments $ 99,264,288
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Warehouse Investments

Beginning September 6, 2022, the Fund entered into multiple Purchase Agreements with Macquarie Bank Limited and 
certain of its affiliates (the “Financing Provider”). Under the Purchase Agreements, the Fund had contingent forward obligations 
to settle the purchase of certain investments (the “Warehouse Investments”) from the Financing Provider, who was obligated to 
sell such investments subject to the following conditions: (a) that the Fund had received subscriptions of at least $100 million; 
and (b) that the Board had approved the launch of the Fund and the purchase of the Warehouse Investments. The Warehouse 
Investments primarily consisted of newly originated, privately negotiated senior secured term loans to middle market companies 
consistent with the Fund’s investment strategy.

The Fund’s contingent forward obligations to the Financing Provider under the purchase agreements were guaranteed by an 
affiliate of the Adviser. The Fund satisfied the Warehouse Conditions on March 13, 2023. As of March 31, 2023, there were no 
forward obligations to settle the purchase of portfolio investments from the Financing Provider. 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, all of the income, expenses and mark-to-market gain/loss under all Purchase 
Agreements, in addition to other economic rights and obligations held by the Fund, were recognized in the Fund’s consolidated 
financial statements.

Note 8. Borrowings

In accordance with the 1940 Act, with certain limitations, the Fund is allowed to borrow amounts such that its asset 
coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, is at least 150% after such borrowing. As of December 31, 2023, the Fund’s asset coverage 
was 483%. 

The Fund’s average outstanding debt and weighted average interest rate paid for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 
$33,561,512 and 7.17%. For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022 the Fund did not have any debt 
outstanding. The Fund’s outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2023 were as follows:

December 31, 2023
Aggregate Principal 

Committed (1) Outstanding Principal Carrying Value
Revolving Credit Facility $ 481,000,000 $ 105,848,459 $ 105,848,459
Total $ 481,000,000 $ 105,848,459 $ 105,848,459

(1) Aggregate Principal Committed consists of $460 million USD and $21 million CAD.

Revolving Credit Facility

On March 17, 2023, the Fund entered into a senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility” or 
“Facility”) with JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA (“JPM”) and the lender parties. JPM serves as administrative agent and collateral 
agent under the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Fund may borrow amounts in U.S. dollars or certain other permitted currencies under the Facility. Advances under the 
Facility drawn in U.S. dollars will initially bear interest at a per annum rate equal to 0.75% or 0.875% plus an “alternate base 
rate” (as described in the Agreement) in the case of any ABR Loan and 1.75% or 1.875% plus the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate in 
the case of any other Loan, in each case, depending on the Fund’s rate option election and borrowing base (as of the most recently 
delivered borrowing base certificate delivered under the Agreement). Advances under the Facility drawn in currencies other than 
U.S. dollars will initially bear interest at a per annum rate equal to 1.75% or 1.875%, in each case depending on the Fund’s 
borrowing base (as of the most recently delivered borrowing base certificate delivered under the Agreement), plus any applicable 
credit spread adjustment, plus certain local rates consistent with market standards, each as specified in the Agreement. The Fund 
will also pay a fee of 0.375% on average daily undrawn amounts under the Facility.

The initial principal amount of the Facility is $460,000,000, subject to availability under the borrowing base, which is based 
on the Fund’s portfolio investments and other outstanding indebtedness, with an accordion provision to permit increases to the 
total facility amount up to $1,000,000,000, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions.

The Facility is guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Fund, and will be guaranteed by certain domestic subsidiaries of the 
Fund that are formed or acquired by the Fund in the future (collectively, the “Guarantors”). Proceeds of the Facility may be used 
for general corporate purposes, including, without limitation, repaying outstanding indebtedness, making distributions, 
contributions and investments, and acquisition and funding, and such other uses as permitted under the Agreement.
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The Facility is secured by a perfected first-priority interest in substantially all of the portfolio investments held by the Fund 
and each Guarantor, subject to certain exceptions, and includes a $60,000,000 limit for swingline loans.

The availability period under the Facility will terminate on March 17, 2027 (the “Commitment Termination Date”) and the 
Facility will mature on March 17, 2028 (the “Maturity Date”). During the period from the Commitment Termination Date to the 
Maturity Date, the Fund will be obligated to make mandatory prepayments under the Facility out of the proceeds of certain asset 
sales, other recovery events and equity and debt issuances.

The Agreement includes customary affirmative and negative covenants, including financial covenants requiring the Fund to 
maintain a minimum shareholders’ equity and asset coverage ratio, and certain limitations on the incurrence of additional 
indebtedness and liens, as well as usual and customary events of default for revolving credit facilities of this nature.

The Fund had $105,848,459 outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2023. Under the Revolving 
Credit Facility, the Company is permitted to borrow in USD or certain other currencies. As of December 31, 2023, the Company 
had borrowings denominated in the following non-USD currencies: Canadian Dollars (CAD) $15,848,459. The borrowings 
denominated in foreign currencies were translated into U.S. dollars based on the spot rate at the relevant balance sheet date. The 
$26,357 impact resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates on the Revolving Credit Facility borrowings is included in net 
increase or, decrease in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on assets and liabilities in foreign currencies in the Fund’s 
consolidated statement of operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the components of interest expense were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Borrowing interest expense $ 1,540,559 $ —
Facility unused fees 1,310,078 —
Amortization of financing costs 753,732 —
Total Interest Expense $ 3,604,369 $ —

For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022 no amount of interest expense was incurred.

The following is information about the Company’s senior securities as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

Class and Period

Total Amount 
Outstanding 
Exclusive of 

Treasury 
Securities

Asset Coverage 
per Unit

Involuntary 
Liquidating 

Preference per 
Unit

Average Market 
Value per Unit

Revolving Credit Facility
December 31, 2023 $ 105,848,459 $ 4,834 $ — N/A
December 31, 2022 $ — $ — $ — N/A

Note 9. Net Assets

In connection with its formation, the Fund has the authority to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares at $0.01 per 
share par value.

On September 16, 2022, an affiliate of the Adviser purchased 80 shares of the Fund’s Class I Common Shares at $25.00 per 
share.

On March 13, 2023, the Fund satisfied the minimum offering requirement for the Offering and the Fund’s Board authorized 
the release of proceeds from escrow. As of such date, the Fund issued and sold 4,084,292 Class I Common Shares, and the escrow 
agent released net proceeds of $102,107,308 as payment for such shares, of which $32,000,044 was from an affiliate of the 
adviser. Under the Fund’s Declaration of Trust, all Common Shares have equal rights as to voting and, when they are issued, will 
be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
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The following table summarizes transactions in Common Shares during the year ended December 31, 2023: 

Year Ended December 31, 2023
Shares Amount

CLASS I
Subscriptions 15,375,004 $ 388,786,937
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested 363,349 9,243,679
Share repurchases (14,828) (377,464)
Early repurchase deduction 7,367
Net increase (decrease) 15,723,525 $ 397,660,519
CLASS S
Subscriptions 391 10,000
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested 4 77
Share repurchases — —
Early repurchase deduction — —
Net increase (decrease) 395 $ 10,077
CLASS D
Subscriptions 391 10,000
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested 4 82
Share repurchases — —
Early repurchase deduction — —
Net increase (decrease) 395 $ 10,082
Total net increase (decrease) 15,724,315 $ 397,680,678

The following table summarizes transactions in Common Shares during the year ended December 31, 2022 and for the 
period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022: 

For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through 
December 31, 2022

Shares Amount
CLASS I
Subscriptions 80 $ 2,000
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested — —
Share repurchases — —
Early repurchase deduction — —
Net increase (decrease) 80 $ 2,000
CLASS S — —
Subscriptions — —
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested — —
Share repurchases — —
Early repurchase deduction — —
Net increase (decrease) — $ —
CLASS D — —
Subscriptions — —
Share transfers between classes — —
Distributions reinvested — —
Share repurchases — —
Early repurchase deduction — —
Net increase (decrease) — $ —
Total net increase (decrease) 80 $ 2,000
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Net Asset Value per Share and Offering Price 

The Administrator determines NAV for each class of shares as of the last day of each calendar month. Share issuances 
related to monthly subscriptions are effective the first calendar day of each month. Shares are issued at an offering price 
equivalent to the most recent NAV per share available for each share class, which will be the prior calendar day NAV per share 
(i.e. the prior month-end NAV). The following table summarizes each month-end NAV per share for Class I, Class S, and Class 
D Common Shares of beneficial interest during the year ended December 31, 2023:

NAV Per Share
For the Months Ended Class I Class S Class D
March 31, 2023 $ 25.31 $ - $ -
April 30, 2023 25.27 - -
May 31, 2023 25.24 - -
June 30, 2023 25.32 - -
July 31, 2023 25.32 - -
August 31, 2023 25.40 - -
September 30, 2023 25.52 - -
October 31, 2023 25.54 - -
November 30, 2023 25.56 25.56 25.56
December 31, 2023 25.81 25.81 25.81

Distributions and Distribution Reinvestment

For the year ended December 31, 2023 the Fund made distributions as detailed in the table below:

Class I

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Distribution Per 

Share Distribution Amount
April 26, 2023 April 28, 2023 May 18, 2023 $ 0.2000 $ 950,534
May 25, 2023 May 31, 2023 June 23, 2023 0.2050 1,223,097
June 27, 2023 June 30, 2023 July 25, 2023 0.2050 1,550,697
July 27, 2023 July 31, 2023 August 22, 2023 0.2050 1,844,444

August 28, 2023 August 31, 2023 September 25, 2023 0.2050 2,104,759
September 28, 2023 September 29, 2023 October 23, 2023 0.2150 2,511,949

October 27, 2023 October 31, 2023 November 22, 2023 0.2150 2,721,969
November 29, 2023 November 30, 2023 December 22, 2023 0.2150 3,056,588
December 29, 2023 December 29, 2023 January 24, 2024 0.2150 3,380,805

$ 1.8800 $ 19,344,842

Class S

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Distribution Per 

Share Distribution Amount
November 29, 2023 November 30, 2023 December 22, 2023 $ 0.1969 $ 77
December 29, 2023 December 29, 2023 January 24, 2024 0.1969 78

$ 0.3938 $ 155

Class D

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Distribution Per 

Share Distribution Amount
November 29, 2023 November 30, 2023 December 22, 2023 $ 0.2097 $ 82
December 29, 2023 December 29, 2023 January 24, 2024 0.2097 83

$ 0.4194 $ 165

For the period March 23, 2022 (inception) through December 31, 2022 there were no distributions. 
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With respect to distributions, the Fund has adopted an “opt out” distribution reinvestment plan for shareholders (other than 
shareholders residing in certain states that require an “opt in” plan). As a result, in the event of a declared cash distribution or 
other distribution, each shareholder that has not “opted out” of the distribution reinvestment plan will have their dividends or 
distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares rather than receiving cash distributions. Shareholders who receive 
distributions in the form of shares will be subject to the same U.S. federal, state and local tax consequences as if they received 
cash distributions. Shareholders located in Alabama, Arkansas, Idaho, Kansas, Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, 
Nebraska, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, Oregon, Vermont and Washington, as well as those who are clients of certain 
participating brokers that do not permit automatic enrollment in our distribution reinvestment plan, will automatically receive 
their distributions in cash unless they elect to participate in our distribution reinvestment plan and have their cash distributions 
reinvested in additional Common Shares.

Character of Distributions

Class I Class S Class D
Source of Distribution Per Share Amount Per Share Amount Per Share Amount

Net investment income $ 1.88 $ 19,344,842 $ 0.39 $ 155 $ 0.42 $ 165
Net realized gains — — - - - -
Total $ 1.88 $ 19,344,842 $ 0.39 $ 155 $ 0.42 $ 165

Note 10. Income Taxes 

Taxable income differs from net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations primarily due to: (1) unrealized 
appreciation (depreciation) on investments, as gains and losses are generally not included in taxable income until they are 
realized; (2) income or loss recognition on exited investments; and (3) other non-deductible expenses. 

The Fund makes certain adjustments to the classification of net assets as a result of permanent book-to-tax differences, 
which include differences in the book and tax basis of certain assets and liabilities, and non-deductible expenses, among other 
items. To the extent these differences are permanent, they are charged or credited to additional paid in capital, undistributed net 
investment income or undistributed net realized gains on investments, as appropriate. For the year ended December 31, 2023, 
permanent differences were as follows: 

Year ended 
December 31, 2023

For the period 
March 23, 2022 

(inception) through 
December 31, 2022

Undistributed net investment income (loss) $ 926,689 $ —
Accumulated net realized gain (loss) — —
Paid In Capital $ (926,689) $ —

During the year ended December 31, 2023, permanent differences were principally related to non-deductible expense, non-
deductible excise taxes, and blocker fee income.

The following reconciles the increase in net assets resulting from operations to taxable income for the year ended December 
31, 2023: 

Year ended December 
31, 2023

For the period March 23, 
2022 (inception) through 

December 31, 2022
Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations $ 27,449,812 $ —
Net unrealized (appreciation) depreciation (6,944,914) —
Non-deductible Capital Gains Incentive Fee 868,178 —
Other non-deductible expenses and excise taxes 66,312 —
Blocker fee income for book not included in taxable income (7,801) —
Taxable/distributable income $ 21,431,587 $ —
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The components of accumulated gains / losses as calculated on a tax basis for the year ended December 31, 2023 was as 
follows: 

Year ended December 
31, 2023

For the period March 23, 
2022 (inception) through 

December 31, 2022
Distributable ordinary income $ 2,086,425 $ —
Net unrealized appreciation/(depreciation) on investments 6,944,914 —
Total accumulated under-distributed (over-distributed) earnings $ 9,031,339 $ —

The cost and unrealized gain (loss) of the Fund’s investments, as calculated on a tax basis, at December 31, 2023 is as 
follows:

Year ended 
December 31, 2023

For the period 
March 23, 2022 

(inception) through 
December 31, 2022

Gross unrealized appreciation $ 7,632,691 $ —
Gross unrealized depreciation (687,257) —
Net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments $ 6,945,434 $ —

Tax cost of investments $ 524,521,191 $ —

Of the distributions declared during the year ended December 31, 2023, $19,345,162 was derived from ordinary income as 
determined on a tax basis.

The Fund designates $19,345,162 of distributions paid during the fiscal year ended 2023 as qualifying to be taxed as 
section 163(j) interest dividends.

Management has analyzed the Fund’s tax positions taken, or to be taken, on U.S. federal income tax returns for all open tax 
years and has concluded that no provision for income tax is required in the Fund’s consolidated financial statements. The Fund’s 
U.S. federal income tax returns are subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service for a period of three fiscal years after 
they are filed.
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Note 11. Financial Highlights

The financial highlights for the year ended December 31, 2023 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2023
Class I Class SA Class DA

Per Share Activity
Net asset value, beginning of period $ 25.00 $ 25.54 $ 25.54
Net investment income (loss) B 2.14 0.50 0.52
Net realized and unrealized gain (loss) 0.55 0.16 0.17
Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from 
operations 2.69 0.66 0.69
Distributions (1.88) (0.39) (0.42)
Net asset value, end of period $ 25.81 $ 25.81 $ 25.81
Total return C 11.13% 2.61% 2.71%
Ratios to Average Net Assets: D,H

Net investment income (loss) E 10.40% 10.78% 11.39%
Expenses, gross E 6.54% 5.27% 4.66%
Expenses, net of waivers E,F 2.88% 4.14% 3.54%
Portfolio turnover G,H 0.48% 0.48% 0.48%
Supplemental Data:
Expenses, net of waivers, excluding interest 
expense E,H 1.05% 2.20% 1.59%
Expenses, net of waivers, excluding management 
and incentive fees and interest expense E,H 0.69% 1.53% 0.93%

A. For the period November 1, 2023 (Class inception date) through December 31, 2023.
B. Calculated based on weighted average shares outstanding during the period.  
C. Total returns of less than 1 year are not annualized. 
D. Expense ratios reflect operating expenses of the Fund. 
E. For the year ended December 31, 2023, amounts are annualized except for incentive fees, escrow fees, and organizational costs. 
F. Waivers include expense support, management fees waived and income based incentive fees waived. 
G. The portfolio turnover rate is calculated based on the lesser of purchases or sales of securities year to date divided by the weighted average fair value of 
the portfolio securities, excluding short-term securities. 
H. Annualized.

Note 12. Subsequent Events 

In preparation of these financial statements, management has evaluated the events and transactions subsequent to 
December 31, 2023, through the date when the financial statements were issued, and determined that there are no subsequent 
events or transactions that would require adjustments to or disclosures in the Fund’s financial statements except as disclosed 
below.

Subscriptions  

The Fund received $33.2 million of net proceeds from the issuance of Class I shares for subscriptions effective January 2, 
2024, including $1.9 million of shares purchased through the dividend reinvestment plan.  

The Fund received $25.3 million of net proceeds from the issuance of Class I shares for subscriptions effective February 1, 
2024, including $2.1 million of shares purchased through the dividend reinvestment plan.

Distributions

On January 29, 2024, the Fund declared net distributions of $0.1750 per Class I share, $0.1567 per Class S share, and 
$0.1696 per Class D share, all of which are payable to shareholders of record as of the open of business on January 31, 2023, and 
will be paid on or about February 29, 2024. 

Additionally, on January 29, 2024, the Fund declared variable supplemental distributions for Class I, Class S, and Class D 
common shares in the amount of $0.0425 per share. The variable supplemental distributions are payable to shareholders of record 
as of the open of business on January 31, 2024 and will be paid on or about February 29, 2024.
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On February 29, 2024, the Fund declared net distributions of $0.1750 per Class I share, $0.1567 per Class S share, and 
$0.1696 per Class D share, all of which are payable to shareholders of record as of the open of business on February 29, 2024, 
and will be paid on or about March 28, 2024.

Additionally, on February 29, 2024, the Fund declared variable supplemental distributions for Class I, Class S, and Class D 
common shares in the amount of $0.0425 per share. The variable supplemental distributions are payable to shareholders of record 
as of the open of business on February 29, 2024 and will be paid on or about March 28, 2024.

These distributions will be paid in cash or reinvested in shares of the Fund for shareholders participating in the Fund’s 
distribution reinvestment plan.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

There are not and have not been any disagreements between the Fund and its accountant on any matter of accounting 
principles, practices, or financial statement disclosure.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

(a)     Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In accordance with Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act, the Fund’s management, under the supervision and 
with the participation of our President and Treasurer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial 
officer), carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 
Rule 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual 
Report”) and determined that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of the end of the period covered by the 
Annual Report.

(b)     Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Fund’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with GAAP. 

The Fund’s management, under the supervision and with the participation of our President and Treasurer (principal 
executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer) assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over 
financial reporting at December 31, 2023. In making this assessment, management used criteria set forth in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 COSO 
Framework). Based on this assessment, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as 
of December 31, 2023. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of the Fund’s independent registered public accounting firm 
pursuant to the rules of the SEC. 

(c)     Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our most recently 
completed fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over 
financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

Not Applicable.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not Applicable.
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 PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Board

Our business and affairs are managed under the direction of our Board of Trustees. The Trustees are experienced executives 
who meet periodically throughout the year to oversee the Fund’s activities, including, among other things, the oversight of our 
investment activities, the valuation of our assets, review of contractual arrangements with companies that provide services to the 
Fund, oversight of our financing arrangements and corporate governance activities. Our Board consists of four members, three of 
whom are not “interested persons” of the Fund or of the Adviser as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act and are 
“independent,” as determined by our Board. We refer to these individuals as “Independent Trustees”. Our Board elects our 
executive officers, who serve at the discretion of the Board.

Trustees

Information regarding the Board is as follows:

Name Year of Birth Position Length of Time Served
Interested Trustees
David B. Jones 1962 Chairman of the Board of Trustees Since 2022
Independent Trustees
Jennifer M. Birmingham 1971 Trustee Since 2022
Matthew J. Conti 1966 Trustee Since 2022
Tara C. Kenney 1960 Trustee Since 2022

The address for each trustee is c/o Fidelity Investments, 245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210. While we do 
not intend to list our shares on any securities exchange, if any class of our shares is listed on a national securities exchange, our 
Board will be divided into three classes of trustees serving staggered terms of three years each.

Executive Officers Who are Not Trustees

Information regarding our executive officers who are not Trustees is as follows:

Name Year of Birth Position Length of Time Served
Heather Bonner 1977 President and Treasurer Since 2023
John J. Burke III 1964 Chief Financial Officer Since 2022
David Gaito 1976 Vice President Since 2022
Robert Gannon 1972 Vice President Since 2024
Therese Icuss 1983 Vice President Since 2022
Margaret Carey 1973 Secretary and Chief Legal Officer Since 2023
Ksenia Portnoy 1980 Chief Compliance Officer Since 2022
Christopher Quinlan 1963 Vice President Since 2024
Jeffrey Scott 1975 Vice President Since 2022
Harley Lank 1968 Vice President Since 2023

The address for each executive officer is c/o Fidelity Investments, 245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210.

Biographical Information

The following is information concerning the business experience of our Board and executive officers. Our Trustees have 
been divided into two groups—Interested Trustees and Independent Trustees. Interested Trustees are “interested persons” as 
defined in the 1940 Act.
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Interested Trustees

David B. Jones. Chairman of the Board of Trustees. Mr. Jones also serves as Trustee of other Fidelity® funds. Prior to his 
retirement, Mr. Jones served in a variety of positions at Fidelity Investments (1982-2008), retiring as a Senior Vice President. His 
duties included new product development, serving as a liaison to the board of directors of various Fidelity® funds, and 
development of policies and procedures for fund investments in derivatives and complex securities. He also served on the FMR 
Fair Value Committee, which is responsible for day-to-day valuation activities for various Fidelity® funds.

Independent Trustees

Jennifer M. Birmingham. Trustee. Ms. Birmingham also serves as Trustee of other Fidelity® funds. Ms. Birmingham 
serves as Managing Director of Princeton University Investment Company (PRINCO) (2010-present). Previously, Ms. 
Birmingham served in a variety of positions at Deutsche Bank Asset Management (2002-2010), including Managing Director, 
Global CFO of DB Advisors and Deutsche Insurance Asset Management, Americas CFO of DWS Americas and various legal 
entities (2005-2010). Prior to Deutsche Bank, Ms. Birmingham was an employee of Investors Bank and Trust Company (1997-
2002) and Deloitte & Touche LLP (1993-1997).

Matthew J. Conti. Trustee. Mr. Conti also serves as Trustee of other Fidelity® funds. Prior to his retirement, Mr. Conti 
served in a variety of positions at Fidelity Investments, including as a portfolio manager to certain Fidelity® funds (2000-2018) 
and research analyst (1995-2003). Mr. Conti serves as a member of the Board of Directors of the Rose Kennedy Greenway 
Conservancy (2021-present).

Tara C. Kenney. Trustee. Ms. Kenney also serves as Trustee of other Fidelity® funds. Prior to her retirement, Ms. Kenney 
served as Senior Vice President of Boston Common Asset Management (2017-2020). Previously, Ms. Kenney served as 
Managing Director in a variety of roles for Deutsche Asset Management (2003-2016) as well as Scudder Investments where she 
was a Portfolio Manager (1995-2003). Currently, Ms. Kenney serves as a Board member for a number of non-profit organizations 
and academic institutions, including Catholic Charities USA (2017-present) and the Kellogg Institute for International Studies at 
the University of Notre Dame (2002-present). Ms. Kenney is also an adjunct professor of finance at the University of Notre 
Dame.

Executive Officers Who are not Trustees

Heather Bonner. President and Treasurer. Ms. Bonner also serves as an officer of other funds. Ms. Bonner is a Senior 
Vice President (2022-present) and is an employee of Fidelity Investments (2022-present). Ms. Bonner serves as Vice President, 
Treasurer, or Assistant Treasurer of certain Fidelity entities. Prior to joining Fidelity, Ms. Bonner served as Managing Director at 
AQR Capital Management (2013-2022) and was the Treasurer and Principal Financial Officer of the AQR Funds (2013-2022).

John J. Burke III. Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Burke also serves as Chief Financial Officer of other funds. Mr. Burke is 
Head of Fidelity Fund and Investment Operations (2018-present) and is an employee of Fidelity Investments. Mr. Burke serves as 
President, Executive Vice President, or Director of certain Fidelity entities. Previously Mr. Burke served as head of Asset 
Management Investment Operations (2012-2018).

David Gaito. Vice President. Mr. Gaito also serves as an officer of other funds. Mr. Gaito serves as Head of Direct 
Lending in the High Income and Alternatives division (2021-present). Mr. Gaito also serves as Chief Executive Officer, 
President, Assistant Treasurer or Director of certain Fidelity entities and is an employee of Fidelity Investments (2021-present). 
Prior to joining Fidelity Investments, Mr. Gaito served as an executive vice president and division executive at PNC Corporate 
and Institutional Banking (1999-2021).

Robert Gannon. Vice President, Mr. Gannon also serves as Vice President of other funds. Mr. Gannon is Head of Credit 
Alternatives Investment Services, including Fidelity Agency Services, in Fidelity’s High Income and Alternatives division (2021-
present) and is an employee of Fidelity Investments. Mr. Gannon serves as Assistant Treasurer of Fidelity Direct Lending LLC 
(2022-present).

Therese Icuss. Vice President. Ms. Icuss also serves as an officer of other funds. Ms. Icuss serves as Managing Director of 
underwriting and credit in the High Income and Alternatives division (2021-present). Ms. Icuss also serves as an officer or 
Director of certain Fidelity entities and is an employee of Fidelity Investments (2021-present). Prior to joining Fidelity 
Investments, Ms. Icuss was co-head of underwriting at Twin Brook Capital Partners from 2019-2021, Director (2018-2019) and 
VP (2016-2017).
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Harley Lank. Vice President. Mr. Lank also serves as an officer of other funds. Mr. Lank serves as President of Fidelity 
Investments’ High Income and Alternatives division, is an employee of Fidelity Investments (1996 – present), and a portfolio 
manager of certain Fidelity funds and other privately offered funds. Mr. Lank also serves as Chief Executive Officer, President, or 
Director of certain Fidelity entities. Previously, Mr. Lank managed various Fidelity funds and products.

Margaret Carey. Chief Legal Officer and Secretary. Ms. Carey also serves as an officer of other funds and as CLO of 
certain Fidelity entities. Ms. Carey is a Senior Vice President, Deputy General Counsel (2019-present) and is an employee of 
Fidelity Investments.

Ksenia Portnoy. Chief Compliance Officer. Ms. Portnoy also serves as Chief Compliance Officer of other funds. Ms. 
Portnoy is a Senior Vice President of Asset Management Compliance (2021-present) and is an employee of Fidelity Investments 
(2021-present). Prior to joining Fidelity, Ms. Portnoy worked in the asset management divisions of Morgan Stanley Investment 
Management (investment adviser firm, 2020-2021) and Mizuho (investment adviser firm, 2015-2020).

Christopher Quinlan. Vice President. Mr. Quinlan also serves as Vice President of other funds. Mr. Quinlan is Head of 
Investment Services for Fidelity’s High Income and Alternatives division (2019-present) and is an employee of Fidelity 
Investments. Mr. Quinlan serves as Chief Operating Officer or Assistant Treasurer of certain Fidelity entities.

Jeffrey Scott. Vice President. Mr. Scott also serves as an officer of other funds. Mr. Scott serves as Managing Director of 
originations in the High Income and Alternatives division (2021-present) and is an employee of Fidelity Investments (2021-
present). Prior to joining Fidelity Investments, Mr. Scott was a Managing Director at Madison Capital Funding (now Apogem 
Capital) (2013-2021).

Communications with Trustees

Shareholders and other interested parties may contact any member (or all members) of the Board by mail. To communicate 
with the Board, any individual Trustees or any group or committee of Trustees, correspondence should be addressed to the Board 
or any such individual Trustees or group or committee of Trustees by either name or title. All such correspondence should be sent 
to Fidelity Private Credit Fund, c/o Fidelity Investments, 245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210.

Code of Ethics

We and the Adviser have adopted a code of ethics pursuant to Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act and Rule 204A-1 under the 
Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, respectively, that establishes procedures for personal investments and restricts certain personal 
securities transactions. Personnel subject to the code are permitted to invest in securities for their personal investment accounts, 
including securities that may be purchased or held by us, so long as such investments are made in accordance with the code’s 
requirements.

Committee of the Board

Our Board currently has one committee: an audit committee. We do not have a compensation committee because our 
executive officers do not receive any direct compensation from us. We also do not have a nominating committee; such matters are 
considered by the full Board, including the Independent Trustees, or, when applicable, by only the Independent Trustees. The 
Board will consider nominees for Trustees recommended by shareholders. Recommendations should be submitted to the 
Independent Trustees in care of the Secretary of the Fund.

Audit Committee

The audit committee operates pursuant to a charter approved by the Board. The charter sets forth the responsibilities of the 
audit committee. The primary function of the audit committee is to serve as an independent and objective party to assist the Board 
in selecting, engaging and discharging our independent accountants, reviewing the plans, scope and results of audit engagements 
with our independent accountants, approving professional services provided by our independent accountants (including 
compensation therefore), reviewing the independence of our independent accountants and reviewing the adequacy of our internal 
controls over financial reporting. The audit committee is presently composed of three persons including Jennifer Birmingham, 
Matthew Conti and Tara Kenney, all of whom are considered independent for purposes of the 1940 Act. Jennifer Birmingham 
serves as the chair of the Audit Committee. Our Board has determined that Jennifer Birmingham qualifies as an “audit committee 
financial expert” as defined in Item 407 of Regulation S-X of the Exchange Act. Each of the members of the audit committee 
meet the independence requirements of Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act and, in addition, is not an “interested person” of the 
Fund or of the Adviser as defined in section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act. 
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A copy of the charter of the Audit Committee is available in print to any shareholder who requests it, and it will also be 
available on the Fund’s website at fidcredit.com.

Board Leadership Structure

Our business and affairs are managed under the direction of our Board. Among other things, our Board sets broad policies 
for us, approves the appointment of our investment adviser, administrator and officers, and has oversight of the valuation process 
used to establish the Fund’s NAV. The role of our Board, and of any individual Trustees, is one of oversight and not of 
management of our day-to-day affairs.

Under our bylaws, our Board may designate one of our Trustees as chair to preside over meetings of our Board and 
meetings of shareholders, and to perform such other duties as may be assigned to him or her by our Board. David B. Jones is an 
interested person and currently serves as Chairman. The Trustees have determined that an interested Chairman is appropriate and 
benefits shareholders because an interested Chairman has a personal and professional stake in the quality and continuity of 
services provided to the Fund. Independent Trustees exercise their informed business judgment to appoint an individual of their 
choosing to serve as Chairman, regardless of whether the Trustee happens to be independent or a member of management. The 
Independent Trustees have determined that they can act independently and effectively without having an Independent Trustee 
serve as Chairman and that a key structural component for assuring that they are in a position to do so is for the Independent 
Trustees to constitute a substantial majority for the Board. The Independent Trustees also regularly meet in executive session.

Fidelity® funds are overseen by different Boards of Trustees. Our Board oversees the Fund and certain Fidelity’s alternative 
investment funds. Other Boards oversee Fidelity’s investment-grade bond, money market, asset allocation, high income and 
equity funds. The use of separate Boards, each with its own committee structure, allows the Trustees of each group of Fidelity® 
funds to focus on the unique issues of the funds they oversee, including common research, investment, and operational issues. On 
occasion, the separate Boards establish joint committees to address issues of overlapping consequences for the Fidelity® funds 
overseen by each Board.

Board Role in Risk Oversight

 The Fund’s Board believes that, collectively, the Trustees have balanced and diverse experience, qualifications, attributes, 
and skills, which allow the Board to operate effectively in governing the Fund and protecting the interests of shareholders. 

The Board performs its risk oversight function primarily through (i) its Audit Committee, which reports to the entire Board 
and is comprised solely of Independent Trustees, and (ii) active monitoring by our CCO and our compliance policies and 
procedures.

Oversight of our investment activities extends to oversight of the risk management processes employed by the Adviser as 
part of its day-to-day management of our investment activities. The Board anticipates reviewing risk management processes at 
both regular and special board meetings throughout the year, consulting with appropriate representatives of the Adviser as 
necessary and periodically requesting the production of risk management reports or presentations. The goal of the Board’s risk 
oversight function is to ensure that the risks associated with our investment activities are accurately identified, thoroughly 
investigated and responsibly addressed. Investors should note, however, that the Board’s oversight function cannot eliminate all 
risks or ensure that particular events do not adversely affect the value of investments.

We believe that the role of our Board in risk oversight is generally effective and appropriate given the extensive regulation 
to which we are subject as a BDC. As a BDC, we are required to comply with certain regulatory requirements that control the 
levels of risk in our business and operations. For example, we are limited in our ability to enter into certain transactions with our 
affiliates, including investing in any portfolio company in which one of our affiliates currently has an investment.

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports

Pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, the Fund’s executive officers and trustees, and any persons holding more 
than 10% of the Fund’s shares, are required to report their beneficial ownership and any changes therein to the SEC. Specific due 
dates for those reports have been established, and the Fund is required to report herein any failure to file such reports by those due 
dates. Based on the Fund’s review of Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed by such persons and information provided by the Fund’s executive 
officers and trustees, we believe that during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, all section 16(a) filing requirements 
applicable to such persons were timely filed.
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Dollar Range of Equity Securities Beneficially Owned by Trustees

The following table sets forth the dollar range of the Fund’s equity securities as of March 18, 2024:

Name and Address

Dollar Range of Equity
Securities in

the Fund (1)(2)(3)

Dollar Range of Equity
Securities in

the Fund
Complex (1)(3)(4)

Interested Trustees
David B. Jones over $100,000 over $100,000
Independent Trustees
Jennifer M. Birmingham None None
Matthew J. Conti over $100,000 over $100,000
Tara C. Kenney None None

1) Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with Rule 16-1(a)(2) of the Exchange Act.
2) Dollar ranges were determined using the number of shares that are beneficially owned as of March 18, 2024, multiplied by the Fund’s net asset value 

per share of $25.82.
3) The dollar range of equity securities beneficially owned are: none, $1 - $10,000, $10,001 - $50,000, $50,001 - $100,000, or over $100,000.
4) The “Fund Complex” consists of the Fund, Fidelity Risk Parity Fund, Fidelity Macro Opportunities Fund, Fidelity Hedged Equity Fund, and Fidelity 

Hedged Equity Central Fund, Fidelity Multi-Strategy Credit Fund, Fidelity SAI Convertible Arbitrage Fund, Fidelity SAI Alternative Risk Premia 
Strategy Fund, Fidelity SAI Alternative Risk Premia Commodity Strategy Fund, and Fidelity Private Credit Fund Central Fund LLC.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Executive Compensation

None of the Fund’s officers will receive direct compensation from the Fund.

Compensation of Trustees

The Fund’s Trustees who do not also serve in an executive officer capacity for us or the Adviser are entitled to receive 
annual cash retainer fees, annual fees for serving on committees and annual fees for serving as a committee chairperson. These 
Trustees are Jennifer Birmingham, Matthew Conti and Tara Kenney. The below table sets forth compensation received by each 
Trustee from the Fund Complex for the year ended December 31, 2023:

 Annual Committee Chair Cash Retainer
Annual Cash Retainer Committee Retainer Fee Audit

$ 170,000 $ 10,000 $ 12,000

We also reimburse each of the Trustees for all reasonable and authorized business expenses in accordance with the Fund’s 
policies as in effect from time to time, including reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with 
attending each board meeting and each committee meeting not held concurrently with a board meeting.
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We will not pay compensation to the Fund’s Trustees who also serve in an executive officer capacity for us or the Adviser. 

Name

Total Compensation
earned from the

Fund for the
year ended

December 31, 2023 
(3)

Total Compensation
earned from the
Fund Complex

for the year
ended

December 31, 2023
Interested Trustees
David B. Jones(1) $ — $ —
Independent Trustees
Jennifer M. Birmingham(2) $ 55,234 $ 192,000
Matthew J. Conti $ 51,782 $ 180,000
Tara C. Kenney $ 51,782 $ 180,000

(1) David B. Jones is an interested trustee and, as such, does not receive compensation from the Fund or the Fund Complex for his services as trustee.
(2) Includes compensation as Chairperson of the Audit Committee.
(3) The Fund does not have a profit-sharing plan and trustees do not receive any pension or retirement benefits from the Fund.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The following table sets forth, as of March 18, 2024, information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our Common 
Shares at the time of the satisfaction of the minimum offering requirement by:

• each person known to us to be expected to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding Common Shares;

• each of our Trustees and each executive officers; and

• all of our Trustees and executive officers as a group.

Percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 17,991,632 shares outstanding as of March 18, 2024.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with 
respect to the securities.  

 
Common Shares Beneficially

Owned
Name and Address Number Percentage
Interested Trustees
David B. Jones 6,000 *
Independent Trustees(1)

Jennifer M. Birmingham — —
Matthew J. Conti 47,395 *
Tara C. Kenney — —
Executive Officers who are not Trustees(1)

Heather Bonner — —
John J. Burke III — —
David Gaito 17,367 *
Robert Gannon 1,085 *
Therese Icuss 10,854 *
Margaret Carey — —
Ksenia Portnoy — —
Christopher Quinlan 10,530 *
Jeffrey Scott 10,854 *
Harley Lank 82,563 *
Other
FMR LLC (2) 1,280,002 7.11%
All Trustees and Executive Officers as a group (14 persons) 186,648 1.02%

* Less than 1%.
(1) The address for all of the Fund’s officers and Trustees is Fidelity Private Credit Fund, c/o Fidelity Investments, 245 Summer Street, Boston, 

Massachusetts 02210.
(2) The address for FMR LLC is 245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Advisory Agreement; Administration Agreement; Expense Support Agreement

We have entered into an Advisory Agreement with the Adviser pursuant to which we pay the Adviser a management fee at 
an annual rate of 1.25.% of the value of our net assets as of the beginning of the first calendar day of the applicable month. For 
purposes of the Advisory Agreement, net assets mean the Fund’s total assets less liabilities determined on a consolidated basis in 
accordance with GAAP. We also pay the Adviser a two-part incentive fee based on (i) the amount by which our Pre-Incentive Fee 
Net Investment Income Returns exceed a certain ‘hurdle rate’ and (ii) our capital gains.  

We have entered into an Administration Agreement with the Administrator pursuant to which we pay the Administrator an 
Administration Fees at an annual rate of 0.32% of the Fund’s month-end NAV.

Each of the Advisory and Administration Agreement has been approved by the Board. Unless earlier terminated as 
described below, each of the Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement will remain in effect for a period of two 
years from the date it first became effective and will remain in effect from year-to-year thereafter if approved annually by a 
majority of the Board or by the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities and, in each case, a majority of the 
Independent Trustees. 

 We have entered into an Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement with our Adviser. As of March 13, 
2023, FDS has voluntarily agreed to waive its right to receive any Reimbursement Payment for any Excess Operating Funds 
incurred in any month prior to a revocation. Any such amounts shall not be considered unreimbursed Expense Payments 
reimbursable in future months pursuant to the terms of the Expense Support Agreement. This voluntary arrangement can be 
terminated at any time, upon thirty days’ prior written notice to the Fund. For additional information, see “Item 8. Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data – Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – Note 3. Related Party Agreements and 
Transactions.”

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we accrued $2.5 million of base management fees, which was waived in full by the 
Adviser.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we accrued $2.7 million of income based incentive fees, which was waived in full 
by the Adviser. 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we accrued $0.9 million of capital gain incentive fees.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we accrued $0.6 million of administrative fees.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we reimbursed $1.9 million of expenses advanced by the Adviser.

As of December 31, 2023, the amount of expense support provided by the Adviser since inception was $3,392,344. The 
following table reflects the expense support that may be subject to reimbursement pursuant to the Expense Support Agreement:

For the three months ended
Amount of 

Expense Support

Amount of 
Reimbursement 

Payment

Amount of 
Unreimbursed 

Expense Support

Reimbursement 
Eligibility 
Expiration

September 30, 2022 $ 497,933 $ — $ — *
December 31, 2022 349,999 — — *
March 31, 2023 677,518 — — *
June 30, 2023 694,335 — — *
September 30, 2023 651,125 — — *
December 31, 2023 521,434 — — *
Total $ 3,392,344 $ — $ —

* Unreimbursed expense support incurred for these periods have been waived and are not eligible for reimbursement. 
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Co-Investment Relief

We and the Adviser have received an exemptive order from the SEC that permits us, among other things, to co-invest with 
certain other persons in negotiated transactions, including certain affiliates of the Adviser and certain funds managed and 
controlled by the Adviser and its affiliates, subject to certain terms and conditions. Pursuant to such order, the Fund’s Board may 
establish Board-Established Criteria clearly defining co-investment opportunities in which the Fund will have the opportunity to 
participate with other public or private affiliated funds that target similar assets. If an investment falls within the Board-
Established Criteria, the Adviser must offer an opportunity for the Fund to participate. We may determine to participate or not to 
participate, depending on whether the Adviser determines that the investment is appropriate for the Fund (e.g., based on 
investment strategy). The co-investment would generally be allocated to us and the other affiliated funds that target similar assets 
in accordance with the Adviser’s allocation policies and procedures described above. If the Adviser determines that such 
investment is not appropriate for us, the investment will not be allocated to us, but the Adviser will be required to report such 
investment and the rationale for its determination for us to not participate in the investment to the Board at the next quarterly 
board meeting.

Transactions with Promoters and Certain Control Persons

The Adviser may be deemed a promoter of the Fund. We have entered into the Advisory Agreement with the Adviser and 
the Administration Agreement with the Administrator. The Adviser, for its services to us, are entitled to receive management fees 
and incentive fees in addition to the reimbursement of certain expenses. The Administrator, for its services to us, are entitled to 
receive reimbursement of certain expenses. In addition, under the Advisory Agreement and Administration Agreement, to the 
extent permitted by applicable law and in the discretion of the Fund’s Board, we have indemnified the Adviser and the 
Administrator and certain of their affiliates. See “Item 1. Business.”

Statement of Policy Regarding Transactions with Related Persons

The Board or Audit Committee, as appropriate, reviews potential related party transactions brought to its attention pursuant 
to the Fund’s compliance policies and procedures. The Fund’s policies and procedures and Code of Ethics place significant 
restrictions on related party transactions.  

Trustee Independence

For information regarding the independence of the Fund’s trustees, see “Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and 
Corporate Governance.”

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Audit Fees

The aggregate audit fees billed by Deloitte & Touche LLP (PCAOB ID No. 34) for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022 was $330,000 and $80,350, respectively.

Fees included in the audit fees category are those associated with the seed and annual audit of the Fund’s financial 
statements and services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings.

Audit-Related Fees

The aggregate audit-related fees billed by Deloitte & Touche LLP for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 
31, 2022 were $0 and $0, respectively. 

Audit-related fees are for any services rendered to the Fund that are reasonably related to the performance of the audits or 
reviews of the Fund’s financial statements (but not reported as audit fees above). These services include attestation services that 
are not required by statute or regulation and consultations concerning financial accounting and reporting standards. 

No audit-related fees were billed by Deloitte & Touche LLP to the Adviser, or any entity controlling, controlled by, or 
under common control with, the Adviser, that provides ongoing services to the Fund, for engagements directly related to the 
Fund’s operations and financial reporting, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. 
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Tax Fees

Tax fees of $20,000 and $0 were billed by Deloitte & Touche LLP for services rendered to the Fund for professional tax 
services for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Fees included in the tax fees category comprise all services performed by professional staff in the independent registered 
public accountant’s tax division except those services related to the audits. This category comprises fees for services provided in 
connection with the preparation and review of the Fund’s tax returns.  

No tax fees were billed by Deloitte & Touche LLP to the Adviser, or any entity controlling, controlled by, or under 
common control with, the Adviser, that provides ongoing services to the Fund, for engagements directly related to the Fund’s 
operations and financial reporting, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

All Other Fees

No fees billed by Deloitte & Touche LLP for products and services provided to the Fund, other than the services reported in 
“Audit Fees” above, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

No fees were billed by Deloitte & Touche LLP to the Adviser, or any entity controlling, controlled by, or under common 
control with, the Adviser, that provides ongoing services to the Fund, for engagements directly related to the Fund’s operations 
and financial reporting, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Aggregate Non-Audit Fees

No non-audit fees were billed to the Adviser and service affiliates by Deloitte & Touche LLP for non-audit services for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. This includes any non-audit services required to be pre-approved or 
non-audit services that did not require pre-approval since they did not directly relate to the Fund’s operations or financial 
reporting.

Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services Provided to the Fund

As part of this responsibility, the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services performed by 
the Fund’s independent auditor (the “Independent Auditor”) in order to assure that the performance of these services does not 
impair the auditor’s independence from the Fund. Accordingly, the Audit Committee has adopted policies and procedures, which 
sets forth the conditions and procedures governing the pre-approval services that the Independent Auditor proposes to provide. 

Annual Approval

On an annual basis, at the time of the appointment of the Fund’s Independent Auditor and such other times as determined 
by the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee will consider and approve the services (including audit, audit-related, tax and all 
other services) that the Independent Auditor may initiate. Summary descriptions of the types of services the Audit Committee 
believes are appropriate for annual approval are provided in accordance with adopted policies and procedures. In addition, in 
connection with the annual pre-approval of services, the Audit Committee will supplementally review and approve a detailed 
presentation that sets forth the types of audit, audit-related, tax and other services proposed to be provided by the Independent 
Auditor, which shall include estimates of the fees for such services. The Audit Committee may periodically revise the list of pre-
approved services based on subsequent determinations.

Specific Pre-Approval

Specific pre-approval is required for the provision of certain audit services as described in the policies and procedures. In 
addition, if a service proposed to be performed by the Independent Auditor does not fall within an existing pre-approval, either 
because it is a new type of service or because provision of the service would cause the Independent Auditor to exceed the 
maximum dollar amount approved for a particular type of service, the proposed service will require specific pre-approval by the 
Audit Committee. 
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De Minimis Exception

In the event that the Independent Auditor is inadvertently engaged other than by the Audit Committee for a non-audit 
service, such engagement will not be a violation of the Audit Committee’s Independent Auditor Services Policy if: (i) any and all 
such services do not aggregate to more than 5% of total revenues paid by the Fund to the Independent Auditor in the fiscal year 
when services are provided; (ii) the services were not recognized as non-audit services at the time of the engagement; (iii) the 
services are promptly brought to the attention of the Audit Committee and approved prior to the completion of the audit by the 
Audit Committee or one or more designated representatives; and (iv) separate disclosure of the services retroactively approved 
under this exception is made in accordance with the proxy disclosure rules.

The Audit Committee has considered these fees and the nature of the services rendered, and has concluded that they are 
compatible with maintaining the independence of Deloitte & Touche LLP. The Audit Committee did not approve any of the 
audit-related, tax, or other non-audit fees described above pursuant to the “de minimis exceptions” set forth in Rule 2-
01(c)(7)(i)(C) and Rule 2-01(c)(7)(ii) of Regulation S-X. Deloitte & Touche LLP did not provide any audit-related services, tax 
services or other non-audit services to the Adviser or any entity controlling, controlled by or under common control with the 
Adviser that provides ongoing services to the Fund that the Audit Committee was required to approve pursuant to Rule 2-
01(c)(7)(ii) of Regulation S-X. The Audit Committee considered whether any provision of non-audit services rendered to the 
Adviser and any entity controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the Adviser that provides ongoing services to the 
Fund that were not pre-approved by the Audit Committee because the engagement did not relate directly to the operations and 
financial reporting of the Fund is compatible with maintaining Deloitte & Touche LLP’s independence.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(1) For a list of the financial statements included herein, see Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 92 of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, incorporated into this Item by reference.

(2) Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not required or not applicable or the 
information is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits:

Exhibit 
Number Description

3.1 Declaration of Trust of the Registrant.(1)
3.2 Fourth Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Registrant.(1)
3.3 Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.(1)
4.1 Description of Securities.*
10.1 Second Amended and Restated Investment Advisory Agreement.(5)
10.2 Amended and Restated Administration Agreement.(1)
10.3 Managing Dealer Agreement.(1)
10.4 Form of Selected Intermediary Agreement.(2)
10.5 Amended and Restated Distribution Reinvestment Plan.(6)
10.6 Distribution and Service Plan Class S and Class D Shares.(1)
10.7 Distribution and Service Plan Class I Shares.(1)
10.8 Custodian Agreement, between State Street Bank and Trust Company and Fidelity Private Credit Fund.(4)
10.9 Multiple Class of Shares Plan.(1)
10.10 Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement.(1)
10.11 Amendment to the Expense Support and Conditional Reimbursement Agreement.(1)
10.12 Form of Subscription Agreement.(FI)*
10.13 Form of Subscription Agreement.(PI)*
10.14 Subscription Agreement for Seed Capital.(3)
10.15 Senior Secured Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 17, 2023, by and among Fidelity Private 

Credit Fund, as borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and as collateral agent, the 
lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as lead arrangers 
and bookrunners.(1)(8)

10.16 Amendment No. 1 to the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Agreement.*
10.17 Waiver of Recoupment Letter.(7)
14.1 Code of Ethics of the Fund and the Adviser.*
14.2 Fidelity Funds’ Code of Ethics for President, Treasurer and Principal Accounting Officer.*
21.1 Subsidiaries.*
24.1 Power of Attorney.*
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because 

XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
* Filed herewith.

(1) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Fund’s Form 10-K, filed on March 22, 2023.

(2) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Fund’s Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-267297), filed on September 6, 2022.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex3_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex3_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex3_3.htm
/exhibit
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023001859/ck0001920453-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000119312522239052/d371698dex99h2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000119312523142142/d493579dex99e.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_7.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000119312522315311/d428500dex99j.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_9.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_10.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_11.htm
/exhibit
/exhibit
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000119312522272606/d386212dex99p.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_14.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_14.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_14.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023009135/ck0001920453-ex10_14.htm
/exhibit
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1920453/000095017023041848/ck0001920453-ex10_1.htm
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
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(3) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Fund’s Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-267297), filed on October 28, 2022.

(4) Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Fund’s Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-267297), filed on December 30, 2022.

(5) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Fund’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 6, 2023.

(6) Previously filed as an exhibit to the Fund’s Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-267297), filed on May 11, 2023.

(7) Previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Fund’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 11, 2023.

(8) Schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K. The registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of all 
omitted schedules to the SEC upon its request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”), the Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”) to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

FIDELITY PRIVATE CREDIT FUND

Date: March 22, 2024 By:  /s/ Heather Bonner
Name:  Heather Bonner

Title:  
President and Treasurer 
(principal executive officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, this Annual Report has been signed by the following persons on behalf 
of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature   Title   Date

/s/ Heather Bonner
Heather Bonner   President and Treasurer (principal executive officer)   Date: March 22, 2024
/s/ John J. Burke III
John J. Burke III   Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)   Date: March 22, 2024
/s/ David B. Jones
David B. Jones*   Trustee and Chairman of the Board   Date: March 22, 2024
/s/ Jennifer M. Birmingham
Jennifer M. Birmingham*   Trustee   Date: March 22, 2024
/s/ Matthew J. Conti
Matthew J. Conti*   Trustee   Date: March 22, 2024
/s/ Tara C. Kenney
Tara C. Kenney*   Trustee   Date: March 22, 2024

*By:  /s/ Heather Bonner
As Agent or Attorney-in-Fact

The original power of attorney authorizing Heather Bonner to execute the Annual Report, and any amendments thereto, 
for the trustees of the Registrant on whose behalf this Annual Report is filed have been executed and filed as an Exhibit 
hereto.


